

A Thesis Submitted for the Degree of PhD at the University of Warwick

Permanent WRAP URL:

http://wrap.warwick.ac.uk/158971

Copyright and reuse:

This thesis is made available online and is protected by original copyright. Please scroll down to view the document itself. Please refer to the repository record for this item for information to help you to cite it. Our policy information is available from the repository home page.

For more information, please contact the WRAP Team at: wrap@warwick.ac.uk



The role of vitamin B12 deficiency on obesity, adipocytes and inflammation

Jinous Samavat

A thesis submitted to

the Faculty of Medicine

of the University of Warwick

in partial fulfilment for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy in Medical Sciences

Division of Biomedical Sciences

Warwick Medical School

University of Warwick

December 2019

Table of Contents

Table	e of Contents	i
List o	f Figures	vi
List o	f tables	xi
Ackn	owledgements	xii
Decla	ration	xiv
Abstr	act	XV
List o	f Abbreviations	xvii
Chap	ter 1: Introduction	1
1.1	The Adipose Tissue	2
	1.1.1 Types of Adipose tissue	4
	1.1.2 Plasticity of the adipose tissue	6
1.2 Tł	ne white adipose tissue	7
	1.2.1 Anatomical distribution	8
1.3 Ao	dipose tissue as an endocrine organ	10
1.4 Fa	atty acid biosynthesis, lipolysis and beta oxidation in the adipose tissue	16
	1.4.1 Fatty acid uptake	17
	1.4.2 Lipogenesis	17
	1.4.3 Fatty acid oxidation	19
1.5 O	besity	21
	1.6 Morbid obesity and current management	22
1.7 M	icronutrient deficiency and Obesity	24
1.8 Vi	itamin B12	26
	1.8.1 Definitions of B12 deficiency	31
	1.8.2 B12 deficiency across the globe	31
	1.8.3 Causes of vitamin B12 deficiency	31
	1.8.4 Complications of B12 deficiency	33
	1.8.5 B12 deficiency associated with obesity, diabetes and dyslipidemia	33
	1.8.6 The role of B12 like as an antioxidant and anti-inflammatory molecule	35
	1.8.7 B12 deficiency in Bariatric Surgery	35
	1.8.8 The role of the paternal diet	35
	1.8.9 B12 and male fertility	37
1.9 M	ale infertility	39
	1.9.1 Epidemiology	39

1.9.2 Male hypogonadism	40
1.9.3 Reproductive parameters in obese men	41
1.9.4 Oestrogens of adipocyte origin and hypogonadism	42
1.10 Summary and gaps in evidence	43
1.11 Hypothesis and Aims	44
Chapter 2: Material & Methods	45
2.1 Materials	46
2.1.1 Cell Culture Reagents	46
2.1.2 Reagents and materials for Radioactive flux assay	47
2.1.3 Reagents and materials for seahorse flux assay	48
2.1.4 Reagents and materials for RNA, cDNA and gene expression studies	49
2.1.5 Kits	50
2.1.8 Solutions	51
2.1.9 Primers and oligonucleotides	51
2.1.9.1 Taqman primers for human genes	51
2.1.9.2 Primer sequences for human genes	52
2.1.10 Miscellaneous metarials and reagents	53
2.2 Methods	54
2.2.1 Cell culture	54
2.2.1.1 Human preadipocyte ChubS7 cell line	54
2.2.1.2 Human primary preadipocytes (ScWAT)	54
2.2.1.3 Cell culture media composition	55
2.2.1.4 Harvesting of adipose primary cells and Chubs-S7 for lipid metabolis experiments	m 57
2.2.2 Gene expression assay	57
2.2.2.1 RNA isolation from adipose primary cells and Chubs-S7 cell line	57
2.2.2.2 Reverse transcription	58
2.2.2.3 Gene expression assay – Real-time quantitative PCR (RT-qPCR) Principle:	58
2.2.3 Radioactive flux of TAG synthesized via utilization of radiolabelled-fat acid (14C-oleate) by Chubs-S7 and primary adipocytes	ty 60
2.2.4 Total intra and extracellular vitamin B_{12} quantification by immunoassay technique	61
2.2.5 Mitochondrial dysfunction assessment using seahorse extracellular flux assay	61
2.2.5.1 Cell culture for seahorse assay	64
	ii

2.2.5.2 Seahorse inhibitors	64
2.2.5.3 Sample preparation and seahorse assay	64
2.3 Human adipose tissue study	65
2.3.1 Subjects and study design	65
2.3.2 Adipose tissue collection	65
2.3.3.1 Quantikine ELISA Human CCL2/MCP1	65
2.3.3.2 Quantikine ELISA Human IL-8/CXCL8	66
2.4 Statistical Analysis	66
Chapter 3: Vitamin B12 receptors and transporters	67
3.1 Introduction	68
3.2 Results	71
3.2.1 Assessment of Intracellular B12 levels in Chubs-S7 cells	71
3.2.2 Assessment of gene expression of B12 transporter TCN2 and CD320 in Chubs-S7	l receptor 73
3.2.3 Gene expression of B12 receptor CD320 and transporter TCI primary adipocytes with different degrees of obesity	N2 in human 75
3.2.4 Gene expression of B12 receptor CD320 and transporter TCI omental and subcutaneous adipose tissue	N2 in human 77
3.2.5 Correlation between gene expression of omental and subcuta and CD320 with biochemical parameters	neous TCN2 79
3.3 Discussion	84
Chapter 4: Vitamin B12 and <i>de novo</i> lipid synthesis	
4.1 Introduction	88
4.2 Results	90
4.2.1 In vitro experiments	90
4.2.1.1 Acetyl-CoA Carboxylase Alpha (ACACA)	90
4.2.1.2 Fatty acid synthase (FASN)	92
4.2.1.3 ELOVL Family Member 6, Elongation of long chain fatty	(ELOVL6) 94
4.2.1.4 Stearoyl-CoA Desaturase (SCD)	96
4.2.1.5 Glycerol-3-Phosphate Acyltransferase (GPAT2)	98
4.2.1.6 Phosphatidate Phosphatase LIPIN1	100
4.2.1.7 Diacylglycerol O-Acyltransferase 2 DGAT2	102
4.2.2 In vitro experiments: Flux assay	104
4.2.3: Experiments on the human AT	107
Effect of B12 on mature human adipose tissue - omental and subcu	utaneous
adipose tissue	107

4.2.4 Correlation between relative mRNA expression of de novo lipid syntand biochemical values	nesis 109
4.3 Discussion	114
Chapter 5: Vitamin B12 and the fatty acid β-oxidation	119
5.1 Introduction	120
5.2 Results	121
5.2.1 In vitro experiments:	121
Genes involved in expression of fatty acid transporters and genes involved fatty acid β-oxidation in Chubs-S7 and primary adipocytes	in 121
5.2.1.1 Malonyl-CoA decarboxylase (MCD)	122
5.2.1.2 Carnitine palmitoyltransferase-1 (CPT1β)	124
5.2.1.3 Carnitine palmitoyltransferase-2 (CPT2)	126
5.2.1.4 Acyl-CoA Dehydrogenase Long Chain (ACADL)	128
5.2.1.5 Enoyl-CoA Hydratase, Short Chain 1 (ECHS1)	130
5.2.1.6 Acetyl-CoA Acyltransferase 2 (ACAA2)	132
5.2.2 Effect of B12 deficiency on mitochondrial bioenergetic profiling of h adipocytes	uman 134
5.2.3 Effect of low B12 on fatty acid-driven oxygen consumption in human	126
5.2.4 Experiments in human AT:	130
5.2.4 Experiments in numan A1.	130 R
oxidation in human OmWAT and ScWAT	p- 138
5.2.5 Correlation between human OmWAT and ScWAT fatty acid β -oxida enzymes and biochemical parameters	tion 140
5.3 Discussion	145
Chapter 6: Vitamin B12 and inflammation	149
6.1 Introduction	150
6.2 Results	153
6.2.1 Effect of B12 on gene expression of inflammatory cytokines in Chub	s-S7 153
6.2.2 Effect of B12 on gene expression of inflammatory cytokines in huma primary pre-adipocytes derived from different BMI groups.	n 155
6.2.4 Experiments in human AT:	157
Effect of B12 on gene expression of inflammatory cytokines in mature hun AT from different depots	nan 157
6.2.5 Serum inflammatory cytokines levels detection in the cohort study	159

6.2.6 Association between inflammatory cytokines in AT, circulating B1	2 and
biochemical values	160
6.3 Discussion	168
Chapter 7: Serum and seminal correlation of B12 and holotranscobalamin	levels
with seminal quality in morbid obesity	174
7.1 Introduction	175
7.2 Methods	176
7.2.1 Patients	176
7.2.2 Biochemical and Anthropometric Measurements	177
7.2.3 Seminal analysis	177
7.3 Results	178
7.3.1 Biochemical and anthropometric characteristics of the patients	178
7.3.2 Vitamin B12 and Holotranscobalamin measurements and correlation	on in
serum and seminal fluid	179
7.3.3 Association between seminal parameters and seminal HoloTC and	B12183
7.4 Discussion	188
Chapter 8: General discussion	190
8.1 Discussion	191
8.2 Conclusion and future directions	198
List of references	201
Publications	233
List of manuscripts awaiting publication	248
List of conference presentations	250

List of Figures

Figure 1: Major adipose tissue depots	5
Figure 2: Schematic structure of a white fat cell	8
Figure 3: Paracrine effects of adipose tissue.	16
Figure 4: Adipose de novo lipogenesis	18
Figure 5: Adipose fatty acid β -oxidation	20
Figure 6: Molecular structure of vitamin B12	27
Figure 7: Coenzyme function of B12	28
Figure 8: Schematic representation of the differences between lean and obese subjects of the hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal axis	42
Figure 9: Seahorse assay	63
Figure 10: Intracellular vitamin B12 intake is increased in low B12 treated cells	72
Figure 11: Effect of B12 deficiency on the gene expression receptor CD320 (A) and transporter transcobalamin TCN2 (B) in Chus-S7 cells	74

Figure 12: Effect of B12 deficiency on the gene expression receptor CD320 (A) 76 and transporter transcobalamin TCN2 (B) in primary adipocytes derived from four categories of BMI

Figure 13: Effect of B12 deficiency on the gene expression receptor CD320 (A) 78 and transporter transcobalamin TCN2 (B) in omental and subcutaneous adipose tissue

Figure 14: Positive correlation between TCN2 gene expression and LDL (A) 81 and Cholesterol (B) in subcutaneous adipose tissue

Figure 15: Subcutaneous CD320 gene expression and B12, HDL and Glucose 82 correlate with serum B12

Figure 16: Correlation of omental TCN2 and CD320 gene expression with BMI and B12	83
Figure 17: Catalytic action of Acetyl-CoA carboxylase	90
Figure 18: Gene expression of Acetyl-CoA Carboxylase alpha (ACACA) in human adipocytes	91
Figure 19: Catalytic action of Fatty acid synthase	92
Figure 20: Gene expression of Fatty acid synthase (FASN) is increased in B12 deficient adipocytes	93
Figure 21: Catalytic action of Fatty acid elongase	94
Figure 22: Gene expression of Fatty acid elongase ELOVL6 is increased in B12 deficient adipocytes	95
Figure 23: Catalytic action of Steraoyl-CoA Desaturase	96
Figure 24: Gene expression of Stearoyl-CoA Desaturase (SCD) is increased in B12 deficient adipocytes	97
Figure 25: Catalytic action of Glycerol-3-phosphate acyltransferase	98
Figure 26: Gene expression Glycerol-3-Phosphate Acyltransferase (GPAT2) is upregulated in B12 deficient adipocytes	99
Figure 27: Catalytic action of Phosphatidate phosphatase	100
Figure 28: Phosphatidate Phosphatase LIPIN1 gene expression is upregulated in B12 deficient adipocytes	101
Figure 29: Catalytic action of Diacylglycerol O-Acyltransferase 2	102

Figure 30: Diacylglycerol O-Acyltransferase 2 DGAT2 gene expression is significantly increased in B12 deficient adipocytes	103
Figure 31: Increased real time triglycerides biosinthesys by primary adipocytes under B12 deficiency	105
Figure 32: Amount of triglycerides synthesized in real time by primary adipocytes derived from lean and obese patients cultured under lowB12 (25pM) compared with control (500nM)	106
Figure 33: Effect of B12 deficiency on de novo fatty acid synthesis and triglyceride biosynthesis in omental and subcutaneous adipose tissue	108
Figure 34: Subcutaneous lipid synthesis relative gene expression of ACACA and FASN correlate with serum B12	112
Figure 35: Omental lipid synthesis relative mRNA expression correlate with serum B12	113
Figure 36: Catalytic action of Malonyl-CoA decarboxylase	122
Figure 37: Gene expression of Malonyl-CoA decarboxylase (MCD) is altered in B12 deficient adipocytes	123
Figure 38: Acyl-CoA transport from cytosol to the inner mitochondrial membrane	124
Figure 39: Gene expression of Carnitine palmitoyltransferase-1 (CPT1- β) is downregulated in B12 deficient adipocytes	125
Figure 40: Schematic representation of Acyl-CoA transport from cytosol to the mitochondrial matrix	126
Figure 41: Gene expression of Carnitine palmitoyltransferase-2 (CPT2) is reduced in B12 deficient adipocytes	127

Figure 42: Catalytic action of Acyl-CoA Dehydrogenase	128
Figure 43: Gene expression of Acyl-CoA Dehydrogenase Long Chain (ACADL) is altered in B12 deficient adipocytes	129
Figure 44: Catalytic action of Enoyl-CoA Hydratase130	
Figure 45: Gene expression of Enoyl-CoA Hydratase, Short Chain 1 is decreased in B12 deficient adipocytes	131
Figure 46: Catalytic action of Acetyl-CoA Acyltrasferase 2	132
Figure 47: Gene expression of Enoyl-CoA Hydratase, Short Chain 1 is decreased in B12 deficient adipocytes	133
Figure 48: Low B12 compromises mitochondrial functional integrity of Chubs- S7 in rich-substrate media Figure 49: Low B12 compromises mitochondrial functional integrity of primary adipocytes in rich-substrate media	135
Figure 49: Low B12 compromises mitochondrial functional integrity of primary adipocytes in rich-substrate media	135

Figure 50: B12 deficiency downregulates fatty acid oxidation of Chubs-S7 and 137 primary adipocytes

Figure 51: Effect of B12 deficiency on genes involved in fatty acid oxidation in 139 human omental and subcutaneous adipose tissue

Figure 52: Omental fatty acid oxidation gene expression correlate with serum 143 B12 levels

Figure 53: Subcutaneous fatty acid oxidation gene expression correlate with 144 serum B12 levels

Figure 54: Gene expression of inflammatory markers altered in low B12 treated 154 cells

Figure 55: Effect of B12 deficiency on the gene expression of inflammatory 156 cytokines in primary adipocytes derived from four categories of BMI

Figure 56 Effect of B12 deficiency on inflammatory cytokine gene expression in 158 omental and subcutaneous adipose tissue

Figure 57: Inflammatory cytokines serum levels are increased in B12 deficient 159 patients

Figure 58: Subcutaneous inflammatory cytokines mRNA expression correlate 163 with serum B12

Figure 59: Omental inflammatory cytokines mRNA expression correlate with 164 serum B12

Figure 60: Correlation between serum inflammatory cytokine MCP-1 and IL-8 167 and serum vitamin B12

Figure 61: B12 and holoTC concentrations in serum and seminal samples from 181 morbidly obese and lean subjects

Figure 62: Positive correlations between CBL and holoTC concentrations in 182 semen (A) and serum (B) in all subjects

Figure 63: Seminal parameters stratified for seminal holoTC and B12 in the total 185 population of obese and lean subjects

Figure 64: ROC analysis of seminal holoTC and B12 potency in predicting sperm 186 number and concentration

Figure 65: Potential mechanistic pathway in B12 deficient adipocyte 198

List of tables

Table 1: Intracellular and extracellular levels of B12 in Chubs-S7.	71
Table 2: Clinical and biochemical characteristics according vitamin B12 values.	80
Table 3: Subcutaneous lipid synthesis gene expression correlate with serum biochemical metabolic related values	110
Table 4: Omental lipid synthesis gene expression correlates with serum biochemical metabolic related values	111
Table 5: Subcutaneous fatty acid β -oxidation gene expression correlates with serum biochemical metabolic related values	141
Table 6: Omental fatty acid β -oxidation gene expression correlates with serum biochemical metabolic related values	142
Table 7: Subcutaneous fatty acid β -oxidation gene expression correlates with serum biochemical metabolic related values	161
Table 8: Omental fatty acid β -oxidation gene expression correlates with serum biochemical metabolic related values	162
Table 9: Clinical and biochemical characteristics according to vitamin B12 values	166
Table 10: Biochemical and anthropometric characteristics of the patients	178
Table 11: B12 and holoTC concentrations in serum and semen	180
Table 12: Seminal parameters	184
Table 13: Correlations between seminal holoTC or B12 and seminal parameters	184
Table 14: Stratification of the whole subject cohort according to seminal holoTC and B12 cut-off values identified by ROC analysis	187

Acknowledgements

And here we are to the chapter that for me is the most difficult to write. I finally arrived at this remarkable goal that seemed sometimes to be unreachable, but for which, despite everything, I never stopped fighting. Here it ends an unforgettable chapter of my life filled with fantastic people who knew how to stand beside me in dark and light periods.

First, I would like to thank my supervisors:

Professor Ponnusamy Saravanan, for giving me the opportunity to undertake this research project and his valuable guidance.

Dr Adaikala Antonysunil who had an essential role in guiding my project and in teaching me how to deal with problems one at the time. Her determination is an inspiration

Professor Mark Christian, who was always there to listen to my new ideas and to be always supportive. His enthusiasm for science is contagious and his dedication, as well as his knowledge, nourished my love for science.

I am extremely grateful to the Sir Jules Thorn charitable trust, who provided the funding to undertake this research project

Special gratitude goes to Professor Philip McTernan for providing the "Fat on Fire" samples and Professor Michaela Luconi for giving me the opportunity to work on seminal plasma and for inspiring and increasing my passion for science in these last 10 years.

A special thanks goes to my colleagues in the Diabetes Research Team who in these years provided encouragement and laughter when it was most needed and shared joys and sorrows. Thank you, Joseph, Federica, Raffaella, Maria, Soofiyah, Anoud, Laura, Alice, Sahar, Farah for being my "travel companions". Thank you, Joseph for being the perfect colleague that everyone would wish for! I am particularly grateful to Federica for each moment spent together in the lab for every work and life advice and for her strong personality and tender heart. Thanks for being my friend. Thank you Raffa, for your kindness, you were the sunshine of the lab!

I would like to thank all my beloved friends and family without whom support and guidance this experience wouldn't be possible. Thank you, Maria, for each moment of friendship spent together. Thanks for all the crazy decisions undertaken, for the long chats

about the sense of life and for being supporting to each other in these last three years. Thanks for being my "partner in crime".

Thank you, Gabriele, for being my half, for making me feel at home with you, and for always being by my side when most needed and for being my joy. It was a blessing that our paths crossed. Thanks Francesca my friend for life, Alessandra my headstrong crazy friend, Federica, Checca for always being there for me despite the distance.

I am eternally grateful to my family that without their support I wouldn't be here...my mother who teached me to never give up and to be ambitious. Most of all she suffered and rejoiced with me throughout this period. It is only thanks to her and my father's teachings that I am the woman I have become. Thanks to you Dad ... I know that you're and you always be my angel. Thank you Jiman always next to me in our difficult moments. Always next to me even when I pretended it was ok. Without you I believe that my life would not make any sense.

I would like to finish my acknowledgements with this quote:

"Living away from home is not for everyone. You must have a big heart, big enough to be a suitcase for everything you leave: joys and sorrows, friends and love. This heartbeat that beats even when you touch a ground that doesn't belong to you or when you're lying on a mattress that doesn't have your shape and an uncomfortable pillow, and you look at the ceiling wondering where you're going. Friends who are not yours, a city that is not yours. You must have a big heart, so big to make room for new things. A heart that sometimes fears that others have forgotten, because the present has taken over in their lives. A big heart, but not too strong. Then that's where it stops for a moment. It stops, confuses you and no longer knows who you are. So, you lie down on the mattress which has now taken your shape, and the pillow is softer on one side and you wonder who you are becoming more than where you are going.

Because when you leave, rather than move towards a destination, you go towards a destiny, YOURS."

Declaration

I declare that the entire content of this thesis is presented in agreement with the regulations for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy by the High Degree Committee at the University of Warwick. The thesis is the outcome of my own work and has never been submitted previously for any other degree at the University of Warwick or other institutions. Any other information obtained from other sources either unpublished or published has been duly acknowledged and referenced.

Parts of this thesis have been published by the author:

Samavat, J., Cantini, G., Lorubbio, M., Degl'Innocenti, S., Adaikalakoteswari, A., Facchiano, E., Lucchese, M., Maggi, M., Saravanan, P., Ognibene, A. & Luconi, M. (2019) Seminal but not Serum Levels of Holotranscobalamin are Altered in Morbid Obesity and Correlate with Semen Quality: A Pilot Single Centre Study. *Nutrients*, 11 (7): 1540.

Abstract

Background: Obesity, considered a pandemic disease by the World Health Organization (WHO) is constantly increasing worldwide. Its prevalence has doubled since 1980 and the biggest rise is in the developing world. The change from traditional foods to highcalorie fast food and the more sedentary lifestyle is probably the main mechanism driving this rise of obesity. However, it is not known whether there is an interaction between underlying susceptibility and lifestyle/environmental changes that (for example though epigenetic programming) exacerbates this rate of rise in obesity. The increased availability of unhealthy highly processed food with poor nutritional value can lead to micronutrient deficiency resulting in profound metabolic changes. Micronutrients play an important role in the metabolism of macronutrients and their deficiency can bring about cellular dysfunction. Vitamin B12 (B12) is an essential micronutrient required for optimal hematopoietic, neurologic and other several metabolic reactions. Indeed, in the last decade, animal and clinical studies have revealed a correlation between B12 deficiency and adverse metabolic health profiles. In particular, B12 deficiency in pregnancy has been associated with maternal obesity, development of insulin resistance and dyslipidaemia. Furthermore, studies have also explored the effect of B12 on male infertility. Given the key metabolic role of adipose tissue (AT) in obesity, we hypothesised that B12 deficiency may adversely influence lipid synthesis and metabolism by the adipocytes leading to adipose tissue inflammation. We also hypothesised that low levels of circulating B12, particularly in the presence of obesity, might influence their intracellular levels in this key 'metabolic tissue' as well as in other biological fluids such as seminal fluid. If B12 deficiency adversely affects seminal quality/function, this may also provide evidence towards adverse epigenetic programming through the paternal route. Methods: To test these hypotheses, the human abdominal subcutaneous pre-adipocyte cell line (Chub-S7) and human abdominal subcutaneous primary pre-adipocytes were differentiated under different B12 concentrations and Human omental white adipose tissue (OmWAT), subcutaneous white adipose tissue (ScWAT) and blood samples were collected from 106 pregnant women at delivery. Serum B12 and relevant metabolic risk factors were measured. Gene expression was performed by q-RTPCR, de novo triglyceride synthesis was quantified by radioactive tracing, B-oxidation, palmitate-induced oxygen consumption rate was determined using seahorse-XF analyser, and serum cytokine levels was evaluated with ELISA technique. To test the role of B12 in seminal fluid in obese

patients, we analysed the cross-sectional data of 47-morbidly-obese and 21 lean men. Total B12 and holotranscobalamin (the active form of B12; holoTC) levels in serum and semen has been evaluated. **Results**: Adipocytes cultured in decreasing extracellular B12 media concentrations resulted in progressively increased intracellular B12 and an increased gene expression of B12 receptor CD320 and transporter TCN2 has been shown in adipocytes cultured in low B12 and in ScWAT and OmWAT of B12 deficient pregnant women. Adipocytes cultured in low-B12 conditions showed significantly increased expression (P<0.01) of genes involved in triglyceride biosynthesis, a significantly decreased expression (P<0.01) of genes involved in B-oxidation and an increased expression (P<0.01) of pro-inflammatory cytokines. These data were also confirmed in the AT of B12-deficient pregnant women where an increase of cytokine secretion has been shown. Additionally, real-time fatty acid flux synthesis and fatty acid oxidation (FAO) induced by palmitate were significantly altered (P<0.05) in B12-deficient adipocytes. Furthermore, associations between B12 and metabolic related biochemical values has been found. Moreover, both seminal and serum concentrations of holoTC and B12 were lower in morbidly obese compared to lean men, although the difference did not reach any statistical significance for serum holoTC. Seminal B12 and holoTC were significantly higher than B12 and holoTC serum levels in both groups. Significant positive correlations were observed between seminal holoTC and total sperm motility, sperm concentration, total sperm number and negative correlation with semen pH.ROC analysis supported seminal holoTC as the best predictor of sperm number. Conclusion: Our study highlights that the increased lipogenesis, as well as impaired FAO and mitochondrial dysfunction in low B12, induce uncontrolled lipid accumulation in the AT leading to local increased inflammation in adipocytes and AT. Our data highlights that B12 deficiency has profound effects on adipocyte dysfunction, opening new insights into the pathogenesis of maternal obesity and the relevance of micronutrient supplementation for pregnant mothers. In addition to this, our findings suggest that paternal B12 levels might also important in adverse programming of the offspring, through poor seminal quality. While this is interesting and novel, it requires further work especially in fathers.

List of Abbreviations

1,2-DAG	1,2Diacylglycerol
ABCD4	ATP-binding cassette sub-family D member 4
ACACA	Acetyl-CoA Carboxylase Alpha
ACADL	Acyl-CoA Dehydrogenase Long Chain
ACACA	Acetyl-CoA Carboxylase Alpha
ACE	Angiotensin-converting enzyme
Ado-Cbl	Adenosylcobalamin
AGPAT	Acylglycerol-3-Phosphate O-Acyltransferase
AMN	Amnionless
AMP	Adenosine monophosphate
ANP	Atrial natriuretic peptide
ADIPO Q	Adiponectin
ADIPO Q ASP	Adiponectin Acylation-stimulating protein
ADIPO Q ASP AT	Adiponectin Acylation-stimulating protein Adipose tissue
ADIPO Q ASP AT ATP	Adiponectin Acylation-stimulating protein Adipose tissue Adenosine triphosphate
ADIPO Q ASP AT ATP B12	Adiponectin Acylation-stimulating protein Adipose tissue Adenosine triphosphate Vitamin B12
ADIPO Q ASP AT ATP B12 BAT	AdiponectinAcylation-stimulating proteinAdipose tissueAdenosine triphosphateVitamin B12Brown adipose tissue
ADIPO Q ASP AT ATP B12 BAT BMI	AdiponectinAcylation-stimulating proteinAdipose tissueAdenosine triphosphateVitamin B12Brown adipose tissueBody mass index
ADIPO Q ASP AT ATP B12 BAT BMI BSA	AdiponectinAcylation-stimulating proteinAdipose tissueAdenosine triphosphateVitamin B12Brown adipose tissueBody mass indexBovine serum albumin
ADIPO Q ASP AT ATP B12 BAT BMI BSA CACT	AdiponectinAcylation-stimulating proteinAdipose tissueAdenosine triphosphateVitamin B12Brown adipose tissueBody mass indexBovine serum albuminCarnitine-acylcarnitine translocase
ADIPO Q ASP AT ATP B12 BAT BMI BSA CACT CDNA	AdiponectinAcylation-stimulating proteinAdipose tissueAdenosine triphosphateVitamin B12Brown adipose tissueBody mass indexBovine serum albuminCarnitine-acylcarnitine translocaseComplementary (copy) DNA

- CPT2 Carnitine Palmitoyltransferase 2
- CVD Cardiovascular disease
- DGAT Diglyceride acyltransferase
- DMB Dimethylbenzimidazole
- DMEM Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium
- DNA Deoxyribonucleic acid
- DNAse Deoxyribonuclease
- d NTP Deoxynucleoside triphosphate
- DOHAD Developmental origins of health and disease
- ECAR Extracellular acidification rate
- ECHS1 Enoyl-CoA Hydratase, Short Chain 1
- EGF Epidermal growth factor
- ELOVL6 Very Long Chain 3-Ketoacyl-CoA Synthase 6
- EMEM Eagle's Minimum Essential Medium
- ER Endoplatic reticulm
- FA Fatty acid
- FAO Fatty acid β-oxidation
- FASN Fatty acid synthase
- FATP Free fatty acid transporter protein
- FBS Foetal bovine serum
- FCCP Carbonyl cyanide-p-trifluoromethoxyphenylhydrazone
- FFA Free fatty acid
- FGF Fibroblast growth factor
- FGF21 Fibroblast growth factor 21

FSH	Follicle stimulating hormone
G3P	Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate
GDM	Gestational diabetes mellitus
GnRH	Gonadotropin-releasing hormone
GPAT	Glycerol-3-phosphate acyltransferase
Нсу	Homocysteine
HDL	High-density lipoproteins
HG	Hypogonadism
Holo-TC	Holotranscobalamin
HPT	Hypotalamus, Ptituitary, Testis
HSL	Hormone-sensitive lipase
hTERT	Human telomerase reverse transcriptase
IBMX	3-isobutyl-1-methylxanthine
IDF	International Diabetes Federation
IF	Intrinsic factor
IL-18	Interleukin-18
IL-1β	Interleukin 1 beta
IL-6	Interleukin 6
IL-8	Interleukin 8
IMM	Inner mitochondrial membrane
IQR	Interquartile range
IR	Insulin resistance
LDL	Low-density lipoproteins
LDLR-A	Low density lipoprotein receptor class A

LH	Luteinizing hormone
LIPIN1	Phosphatidate Phosphatase LIPIN1
LMBRD1	LMBR1 Domain Containing 1
LPA	Lysophosphatidic acid
LPL	Lipoproteinlipase
MCM	Methylmalonyl-CoA mutase
MCP-1	Monocyte chemoattractant protein 1
Me-Cbl	Metyl-Cobalamin
miR	MicroRNA
MMA	Methylmalonic acid
M-MLV	Moloney Murine Leukemia Virus Reverse Transcriptase
mRNA	MessengerRNA
MS	Metabolic syndrome
NF-kB	Nuclear Factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells
NHANES	National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey
NIH	National Institutes of Health
OCR	Oxigen consumption rate
OmWAT	Omental white adipose tissue
PAI-1	Plasminogen activator inhibitor-1
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
RIPA	Radioimmunoprecipitation assay
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
rRNA	Ribosomal ribonucleic acid

- RT-qPCR Quantitative reverse transcription PCR
- SAM-e S-adenosyl-L-methionine
- SAT Subcutaneous adipose tissue
- SCD Stearoyl-CoA desaturase
- ScWAT Subcutaneous white adipose tissue
- SD Standard deviation
- SEM Standard error mean
- T2DM Type 2 diabetes mellitus
- TAG Tryacilglycerol
- TC Transcobalamin
- TCN2 Transcobalamin 2
- TGF-β Transforming growth factor beta
- TNF-α Tumour Necrosis Factor alpha
- UCP-1 Uncoupling protein
- UHCW University Hospitals Coventry and Warwickshire
- VLDL Very low-density lipoproteins
- WAT White adipose tissue
- WC Waist circumference
- WHO World health organization

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 The Adipose Tissue

The adipose tissue (AT) functions as a key energy reservoir of the organism in vertebrates and, in particular, in mammals. The energy is stored as triglycerides (TAG), hydrophobic molecules consisting of three esterified fatty acids (FA) and a glycerol molecule that can be stored in big quantities and have an energy yield, per unit of mass, greater than other nutrients.

During evolution, the AT has specialized not only in the trophic function, but also in playing a role of mechanical protection and support for the organism. Furthermore thanks to scientific discoveries, AT is now considered a highly dynamic endocrine organ involved in several physiological and metabolic processes far beyond the paradigm of fuel storage (Berry et al., 2013). White adipocytes secrete indeed several major hormones together with a diverse range of other signal proteins and factors characterized by paracrine, autocrine and endocrine effects. These various protein signals have been given the collective name of "adipokines". The "adipokinome", pool of molecules produced and secreted by fat cells (Trayhurn et al., 2004), is involved in several physiological processes like lipid metabolism, insulin sensitivity, blood pressure regulation and angiogenesis as well as regulation of energy balance.

AT is not only a connective tissue, lacking a particular organization, but it has precise cytological characteristics, peculiar anatomical and specific innervations and vascularisations. Despite being predominantly characterized from mature adjocyte (90%), among the cell types that compose it are elements of the immune system, endothelial cells, fibroblasts, stem cells and adipocytes at different stages of differentiation (Cinti, 2001) (Berry, Stenesen, Zeve, & Graff, 2010). Among the different cell types, adipocytes are the ones responsible of synthesis (lipogenesis), storage and mobility (lipolysis) of lipids; They have in fact, all the enzymes needed to synthesize, store and mobilize fatty acids. The adipocyte picks up FA and TAG from the blood and accumulates them in the form of intracellular lipid drops (lipogenesis) and then demolishes them through the process of beta oxidation which leads to the formation of metabolic energy in the form of ATP (lipolysis). They derive from multipotent stem cells that differentiate in a commissioned stage to preadipocytes and subsequently mature into adipocytes, through a complex process called adipogenesis. Numerous endocrine and paracrine factors regulate adipogenesis, allowing the sequential expression of key genes in adipocyte maturation, such as PPAR gamma.

Any alteration in this process results in dysfunction of the adipose organ that is associated with metabolic pathologies (Wajchenberg BL., 2000). Among the main endocrine hormones regulating adipogenesis, steroid sex hormones play a fundamental role, also leading to gender dimorphism. For example, oestrogens are positive regulators of adipogenesis, stimulating the proliferation of preadipocytes and the growth of already mature adipocytes. In contrast, the differentiation and maturation of adipocytes is negatively regulated by androgens, mainly testosterone. In fact, high androgenic levels stimulate the myogenic differentiation of multi-potent mesenchymal stem cells inhibiting adipogenesis (Karen P Phillips et al., 2010).

1.1.1 Types of Adipose tissue

Mammals present two types of AT, well distinguishable due to anatomical and functional characteristics: white adipose tissue (WAT) and brown adipose tissue (BAT). The morphological differences between the two types of tissue are relative to form, mitochondrial structure and lipid droplets (Frontini and Cinti, 2010). The BAT, characteristic of small mammals and represented in humans, mainly in early childhood, is specialized in thermogenesis, due to the presence of a protein specifically expressed in this tissue, the UCP-1 (uncoupling protein 1), which determines the uncoupling of mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation, leading to heat production. BAT adipocytes are characterized by the presence of numerous mitochondria that release heat through the oxidation of FA and the dark color of this tissue is due to the high concentration of cytochrome oxidase at the mitochondrial level (Cannon & Nedergaard, 2004). On the contrary, WAT is considered a long-term depot of energy stored as TAG in lipid droplets that could be used during starvation. There are two main anatomical and functional sites of WAT: the visceral adipose tissue (VAT) that surrounds the organs and insert itself between the fibers of the muscles, to which it offers mechanical protection by attenuating the impacts of the movements, and the subcutaneous tissue (SAT) located below the dermis. In most of adult mammals, white adipocytes are the most prevalent type in the AT; the relationship between these and brown adipocytes varies, in fact, based on sex, age, nutritional status and environmental conditions (Frontini & Cinti, 2010).



Figure 1: Major adipose tissue depots (obtained and modified from Fuster et al., 2016)

Abdominal fat distribution can be assessed by measuring the waist circumference. A different distribution of fat is also observed according to gender, with a prevalence of accumulation of SAT at the level of the buttocks and hips in women (pear distribution), less associated with cardiovascular disorders, and VAT at trunk level in the male (apple distribution), most associated with cardiovascular risk. The expansion of VAT is in fact associated with an increased risk of cardiovascular and metabolic pathologies, such as T2DM, hypertension, IR (Gesta *et al.*, 2007).

1.1.2 Plasticity of the adipose tissue

A unique feature of the adipose organ is its plasticity, as it undergoes significant and rapid structural changes concerning cellular composition, vascular and nervous supply followed by different stimuli, such as changes in environmental temperature and nutritional requirements.

The number of brown and white adipocytes in the adipose organ is not fixed, but varies according to physiological and pathological conditions, such as the expansion of the BAT sector following the phenomenon of adaptation to cold (acclimatization). The balance between WAT and BAT compartment is regulated by numerous physiological stimuli [lowering of temperature, exercise, excess of lipids, secretion of some hormones such as irisine from muscle, Atrial natriuretic peptide from the heart (ANP), Fibroblast growth factor 21 (FGF21) from the liver and Bone morphogenic protein-7 (BMP7)] that determine an expansion of BAT at the expense of WAT. In particular, the expansion of the BAT compartment is stimulated within deposits of WAT (browning phenomenon). The stimulation of the transformation of excess and dysfunctioning white fat that characterizes the condition of obesity in BAT that dissipates energy in the form of heat and regulates metabolic balance, represents an innovative therapeutic approach to obesity and metabolic diseases (Harms & Seale, 2013; Villarroya & Vidal-Puig, 2013; Whittle *et al.*, 2012).

The appearance of BAT at the level of WAT type accumulations suggests that the two types of AT show a remarkable plasticity. In addition to the browning phenomenon, the opposite phenomenon of reduction of the BAT sector and expansion of the WAT (whitening) has been described. In particular, chronic exposure to cold and stimulation with beta 3 agonists leads to rapid expansion of BAT and its activation, especially in rodents, while WAT increases in obese animals (Cinti, 2001; Cinti, 2002).

However, the nature of the brown cells that form inside the white deposits seems to be different also from the classic brown adipose cell (interascapular deposits, along the neck and the vertebral column and perirenals, in humans). These cells in fact have less marked brown characteristics (less expression and UCP-1 activity, lower density of mitochondria) compared to the classic brown adipocyte and for this reason they have been called BRITE (nor BRown nor whITE) (Cannon & Nedergaard, 2004; Nedergaard *et al.*, 2010; Petrovic *et al.*, 2010) or BEIGE (for the intermediate color between white and brown) (Harms &

Seale, 2013). Furthermore, these cells present early markers different from the classical brown lineage like CD137, TMEM26, Tbx1 (Cawthorn *et al.*, 2012; Wang *et al.*, 2015)

1.2 The white adipose tissue

The white adipose tissue (WAT), also called unilocular tissue, is composed of cells in close contact, with little extracellular matrix, consisting mainly of collagen and reticular fibres (Ahima & Flier, 2000). It is widespread throughout the body, surrounding organs in the abdominal and mediastinal region, infiltrating even between the muscle fibers. In the first case, it offers mechanical protection; in the second, it favours the movement of the fibers, without however compromising the functional integrity. Moreover, it is widely distributed in the dermis and in the subcutaneous zones, with heat insulation function.

AT is responsive to hormonal stimulation, in particular, to sex hormones and glucocorticoids. Furthermore, its distribution varies with age, decreasing in the subcutaneous areas and increasing in intra-abdominal level (Gesta et al., 2007). Considering the morphology, the mature adipocyte is a circular cell, of variable size, characterized by a large cytoplasmic vacuole, within which the TAGs are accumulated, and occupies 85-90% of the cell volume. To synthesize a TAG molecule, a glycerol-3phosphate (G3P) molecule is needed, which is derived from the glycolytic pathway, and three free fatty acids (FFA). The free fatty acids, de novo synthesized or present in the circulation associated with lipoproteins, are internalized by the adipocytes due to the presence of a membrane transporter (CD36) and presented to another transporter protein, FFA transporter protein (FATP), which allows them to reach the cytoplasm where they are esterified with coenzyme A, to form the acylCoA. Then there is the formation of an ester bond with the G3P to obtain TAG, which constitute the intracytoplasmic lipid drops. This lipid drop crushes the nucleus and the other organelles towards the periphery. It is precisely the variable accumulation of TAGs in the form of a lipid droplet, which determines the great variability of cellular dimensions that can vary between 20 and 160 µm (Pond, 2000). The adipocytes have the enzyme lipoproteinlipase (LPL) on their membrane: in the vessel lumen this enzyme acts on the triglyceride component of circulating lipoproteins, especially lipoproteins rich in TAG, such as chylomicrons and VLDL (Very Low Density Lipoprotein), generating di- and mono -glycerides, FFA and intermediate density lipoproteins. Furthermore, these cells contain, within the cytoplasm, the enzyme Hormone-sensitive lipase (HSL) which, when stimulated by glucagon, noradrenaline, adrenaline and thyroxine, breaks down TAG into FA and glycerol.



Figure 2: **Schematic structure of a white fat cell.** The cytoplasm is occupied almost entirely by a single lipid droplet. In the residual area, bounded by the membrane, the decentralized nucleus and the cellular organelles are visible (mitochondria, golgi apparatus and endoplasmic reticulum).

1.2.1 Anatomical distribution

The WAT has two main anatomical localization sites, to which functional differences are also correlated. A subcutaneous adipose tissue (SAT) and a visceral adipose tissue (VAT) can be distinguished.

The distribution of AT, especially the subcutaneous one, undergoes hormonal regulation, in particular from sex hormones, thus presenting a sexual dimorphism. In fact, we talk about the gynoid distribution, in women (mainly hips and buttocks) and android, in men (abdominal level, above the navel). The SAT, which is mainly located below the epidermis, in particular at the abdominal level, in the buttocks and in the femoral area, is made up of large bundles of fibers that create large spaces within which the adipocytes are found (Murano *et al.*, 2008).

Its main function is to maintain constant body temperature and to offer mechanical protection to the underlying dermis. VAT, on the other hand, lies deeper, surrounding organs and systems, offering them mechanical protection and keeping them *in situ* (Lien

& Guyton, 2008). Depending on the anatomical site in which it is located, it is possible to make a further distinction between VAT, in mesenteric, retro peritoneal and omental. Compared to the SAT, it has an abundant vascularization, a high density of nerve fibers and immune system cells (Bruun *et al.*, 2005).

The specific functions, deriving from the different distribution in the organism, are due to different regulatory mechanisms linked in part to local innervation and hormones action. This regulation involves various processes involving the mature adipocyte and the adipocyte precursor, ranging from accumulation to lipid mobilization and response to insulin stimulation, recruitment and differentiation, and adipokine secretion (Kissebah & Krakower, 1994; Wajchenberg, 2000); (Ibrahim, 2010).

The accumulation of fat occurs mainly at the subcutaneous level, as a physiological response to a diet with high energy content, not accompanied by adequate physical activity. In the case of a persistent imbalance between diet and physical inactivity, particularly in the context of a particular genetic structure predisposing to dyslipidaemic dysfunctions, the SAT may no longer be able to accumulate excess lipids, which then accumulate in the deep VAT and even in ectopic sites, such as muscle and liver. This determines an alteration of the metabolic equilibrium, leading to pathological dysfunctions. In this situation the adipose compartment is subjected to hypertrophic (increase in cell size) and hyperplastic (increase in the number of adipocytes) stimulation of lipolysis by catecholamines, but also has a greater capacity for capturing FFA that it stores in TAGs (Jensen et al., 2003; Yang X., 2007). Even the adipose stem cells of the VAT and the SAT present functional differences and potential differentiation, presenting the visceral precursors a reduced differentiation capacity (Baglioni et al, Plos One 2012).

1.3 Adipose tissue as an endocrine organ

For many years, WAT was considered essentially as an energy reserve and as an insulating barrier. However following the discovery of Leptin and its pleiotropic actions (Zhang *et al.*, 1994) AT has been considered also as an endocrine and immune organ.

It is composed primarily by pre-adipocytes and adipocytes, and other types of cells called the stromal-vascular fraction composed by different cell types including macrophages, neutrophils, lymphocytes, fibroblast, and endothelial cells among others. The secreted molecules by the pool of cells that compose the AT, play an important role in metabolism and in the balance between pro- and anti-inflammation to maintain the homeostasis. These molecules called "Adipokines", act locally and systematically with autocrine, paracrine and endocrine functions and have a key role in controlling metabolism. These are a very heterogeneous group of proteins: some are related to the immune system (tumour necrosis factor- α , TNF- α , and interleukin-6, IL-6), others are growth factors (transforming growth factor- β , TGF- β), some are proteins of the alternative pathway of the complement system (adipsin), while others are involved in the regulation of blood pressure (angiotensinogen), in blood coagulation (plasminogen activator inhibitor-1, PAL-1), and in blood glucose homeostasis (adiponectin, leptin, resistin) (Fonseca-Alaniz et al., 2007). In the AT, an overload of energy results in storage of TAGs in preexisting adipocytes leading to hypertrophy. The increased volume of adipocytes leads to abnormal adipokine production, mainly cytokine, resulting in activation of some pro-inflammatory signaling pathways. Several gene expression studies conducted on AT of obese rodents and also proved on humans, confirmed indeed an over expression of genes involved in inflammatory processes that are related to macrophage infiltration in WAT (Ha et al., 2013). ATof obese subjects is indeed characterized by an alteration of the immune cell system composition with an increase of T helper 1 and CD8⁺ lymphocytes that promote pro-inflammatory macrophages infiltration. Macrophages are the responsible for the production and release of inflammatory cytokines like IL-1, IL-6 IL-8 and TNF- α in AT. An accumulation of these cells could thereby represent the cause and/or the consequence of low-grade inflammation state associated with obese status.

Excessive intake of calories as FFA and glucose can also affect intracellular oxidative stress increasing the production of mitochondrial reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Hotamisligil, 2003). Everything considered, these multiple changes in obese AT promote a low-grade inflammation.

Adiponectin

Adiponectin (Adipo Q) is a hormone that controls the energy metabolism of lipids and carbohydrates. It is mainly expressed by mature adipocytes (Savino *et al.*, 2008) and is the protein produced in the greatest quantity by AT. The Adipo Q performs numerous functions, certainly, an important role is related to the increase in insulin sensitivity, since it increases glucose uptake in skeletal muscle, favouring the oxidation of FA through the enzyme pathway adenosine mono-phosphate kinase (adenosine monophosphate, AMP - kinase), and inhibiting the production of glucose by the liver (Schondorf T., 2005). Under conditions of IR or T2DM, a decrease in plasma hormone levels is observed (Schondorf T., 2005). This hormone, therefore, has various mechanisms of action that converge in the protection against atherogenic and insulin-resistant mechanisms. Precisely for this reason, the Adipo Q is considered a "protector" against MS (Garaulet *et al.*, 2007). A further confirmation of this is the fact that there is a negative correlation between obesity and Adipo Q plasma levels: with the increase in body weight in fact its blood concentration decreases (Bacha F., 2004).

In humans, the fact that the circulating levels of Adipo Q, produced by AT, are reduced in obese individuals, which present an extensive development of the adipose compartment, is a real paradox: in reality this contradiction can be explained by the fact that there seems to be a negative feedback mechanism on the production of Adipo Q that is activated when obesity develops (Tilg & Moschen, 2006). It can therefore be assumed that the abnormal development of AT causes dysfunction in the secretion of this adipokine. Among other functions, adiponectin improves the absorption of FA by the skeletal muscle where they are oxidized: this function is very important because it reduces the contribution of the same FAs to the liver, thus reducing the hepatic production of TAGs and favouring one state of greatest insulin sensitivity.

<u>Leptin</u>

Leptin is a 16 kDa cytokine synthesized and released by fat cells following a change in body fat. It is encoded by the LEP gene present in the q31.3 region of chromosome 7. At the hypothalamic level, it binds to receptors that stimulate anorexigenic peptides such as proopiomelanocortin and inhibits orexigenic peptides such as the neuro peptide Y (Ahima & Flier, 2000). It reduces the levels of intracellular lipids of skeletal muscle, liver and β pancreatic cells, thus increasing insulin sensitivity. In the muscle the insulin sensitivity is achieved through the inhibition of Malonyl-CoA, which increases the transposition of FA towards mitochondria for β -oxidation. These modifications are partially mediated by the activation of adrenergic receptors (Minokoshi *et al.*, 2002). Since mature adipocytes express receptors for leptin, it is hypothesized that the hormone has a self / paracrine role: it has in fact been shown in rodents that the autocrine role is to increase the number of mitochondria able to oxidize FA inside the adipocyte and therefore reduce the amount of intracellular lipids up to 95% (Vazquez-Vela *et al.*, 2008).

Therefore, leptin plays an important role in regulating the energy balance, inhibiting nutrient intake and increasing energy consumption. Studies on rodents have indeed shown that knock-out animal models for the ob gene, which therefore do not produce the protein, behave as if they were always fasting and their increased appetite leads them to obesity (Zhang et al., 1994). These mice therefore represent an excellent model for the study of obesity. Environmental factors, such as exposure to cold, can also reduce gene expression. By contrast, leptin synthesis is stimulated by certain hormones such as insulin, estrogens and glucocorticoids. Among the several physiological roles related to the control of metabolism and energy homeostasis, leptin has been shown to regulate also the immune response, innate and adaptive response, both in normal and pathological conditions. The role of leptin in regulating immune response has been assessed in vitro as well as in clinical studies (Lord et al. 1998). It has been shown that conditions of reduced leptin production are associated with increased infection susceptibility. Conversely, immunemediated disorders such as autoimmune diseases are associated with increased secretion of leptin and production of proinflammatory pathogenic cytokines. Thus, leptin is a mediator of the inflammatory response.

Resistin

Resistin is secreted by adipocytes in significant amounts during adipogenesis. It acts both in AT and in skeletal muscle, but neither the role nor the mechanism of action is exactly known. However, its synthesis is associated with an increase in IR and it is hypothesized that the hormone modulates the insulin-dependent signalling pathways (Hotamisligil, 2003). The function of the resistin is not to block the action of insulin when there is availability of food, but rather to make the body adapt to the moments of fasting, when the level of glucose in the blood decreases and the mobilization of the FAs occurs. High levels of resistin in the blood are however associated with atherogenic processes and related complications (Piestrzeniewicz *et al.*, 2008).

Transforming growth Factor beta (TGF-β)

It's implicated in different biological processes like cell migration and adhesion, and tissue remodeling. In the AT an increased expression of this molecule by mature adipocytes is correlated to obesity and its associated complications. A fascinating study conducted on AT of obese mice shown a higher mRNA expression of TGF- β compared the lean group (Kaidar-Person *et al.*, 2008).

Monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 (MCP-1)

Is a chemokine involved in recruiting monocytes, neutrophils and lymphocytes and is highly expressed in VAT and SAT of obese subjects. Its role is to recruit inflammatory cells into the AT causing a worsening of the metabolic phenotype. Meijer *et al* reported that adipocyte derived MCP-1 can stimulate inflammation in human AT independently of macrophages and of interest are the large cohort studies conducted in Caucasians and Chinese population that indicate an increase of CCL2/MCP-1 in T2DM subjects (Jiang *et al.*, 2016; Zietz *et al.*, 2005).

Interleukin 1 beta (IL-1ß)

Cytokine expressed mainly by SAT with an autocrine and/or paracrine role. Speaker *et al* in 2012 showed an increase of IL-1 β in non-visceral AT following acute stress or exposure causing lipid retain and hyperplasia (Speaker & Fleshner, 2012). It has also been suggested that IL-1 β could have important role in the regulation of lipogenesis in the macrophage cell membrane giving to it a central role in the link between lipid metabolism and innate immunity (Ha *et al.*, 2013).

Interleukin 6 (IL-6)
This cytokine has been subject of major interest. It's expressed by cells of the stromal vascular fraction like pre-adipocytes, endothelial cells and monocyte-macrophages and then secreted in the circulation. It is thought that 15 to 30% of circulating IL-6 levels derives from AT production without an acute inflammation. Several *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies conducted both in mice and humans have shown a high expression of this molecule in AT of obese and IR subjects and glycemia results in increased IL-6 levels as well (Bastard *et al.*, 2006; Trayhurn & Wood, 2004).

Interleukin 18 (IL-18)

It's a pro-inflammatory cytokine expressed by several cell types and in the AT has been detected in both areas: SAT and VAT. Studies conducted on mice in the past decade demonstrated a high positive correlation between circulating IL-18 levels and obesity and IR and a decrease of its levels after weight loss (Membrez *et al.*, 2009). Interesting results were also obtained by the group of Wood *et al* in 2005 in which they have assessed a high expression of IL-18 and its receptor IL-18R mostly in visceral adipocytes of morbid obese patients (Netea *et al.*, 2016; Wood *et al.*, 2005).

<u>Tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNF-α)</u>

In humans, TNF- α is mainly secreted by subcutaneous stromal vascular fraction cells. The expression of this cytokine take place in adipocyte precursor cells and differentiation reagents used *in vitro* such as IBMX and thiazolidinediones inhibit its secretion. Several studies conducted on mice confirmed the increase of TNF- α expression in obese models and has been proposed to be linked with IR through the inhibition of the insulin receptor (Sethi & Hotamisligil, 1999). In humans the expression of TNF- α is increased in obesity and IR, but its neutralization through TNF- α antagonist administration does not improve insulin resistance with insulin resistant subjects (Jung & Choi, 2014). It has an autocrine and paracrine influence in a range of processes and plays a pivotal role of stimulation and production of other adipokines like IL-6.

Between adipokines secreted by the AT we can also find:

Acylation-stimulating protein (ASP) which increases lipogenesis and inhibits lipolysis;

- plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1), which causes the formation of vein thrombosis and rupture of unstable atherogenic plaques;
- angiotensinogen, renin and angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE), which take part in adipocyte differentiation and lipogenesis contributing substantially to the AT physiology and investing essential role in the regulation of blood volume and systemic vascular resistance;
- visfatin, which regulates glycaemic homeostasis;
- apelin, involved in the regulation of nutritional entry.

Given the complexity of the pathology of obesity and the multiple factors involved in its onset, the efforts of numerous research groups to clarify the mechanisms that develop in the adipocyte in physiological and pathological conditions are understandable. A dysregulation of adipocyte function is in fact associated with the onset of metabolic pathologies. Therefore, the adipocyte must no longer be considered a mere store of energy but a cell capable of responding to paracrine and endocrine signals, with a specific secretion of hormones and cytokines, capable of regulating numerous metabolic and immune functions (Vazquez-Vela *et al.*, 2008). Therefore, intervening on obesity in the MS means reducing the risk of the development of the disease.



Figure 3 Paracrine effect of adipose tissue. Adipose tissue has multiple effects on several systems in the body fulfilling several critically important roles.

1.4 Fatty acid biosynthesis, lipolysis and beta oxidation in the adipose tissue

The ability to accumulate lipids can be considered as an evolutionary strategy to store energy in order to encounter relatively long periods of food insufficiency. The development of specialised fat depots in mammals implicates a high level of coordination needed to regulate food intake, lipid absorption and transport, fatty acid biosynthesis and oxidation in order to preserve the homeostatic equilibrium. Energy is stored in adipocytes in the form of TAGs and cholesterol esters in single large cytoplasmic vacuoles. Adipose cells contain the "machine" needed for lipid metabolism and since these pathways are altered during overweight and obesity a better understanding of TAG synthesis are critical for the development of strategies to treat this illness and its correlated diseases like T2DM, atherosclerosis and hypertension (Weisberg *et al.*, 2003). Moreover it has been established that FA not only show an energy function but also act as regulatory signals for the gene expression of protein involved in lipid metabolism and are also associated with inflammatory processes (Bastard *et al.*, 2006; Dasu & Jialal, 2011).

1.4.1 Fatty acid uptake

After absorption in the intestine, lipids are transported into the blood stream via the lymphatic system and are packed into lipoproteins such as chylomicrons, very-low-density lipoproteins (VLDL) to reduce hydrophobicity (Mansbach & Gorelick, 2007). In the blood stream, TAGs from the chylomicrons are hydrolysed into monoacylglycerol and FAs due to the action of the extracellular enzyme lipoprotein lipase bound to the wall of capillaries (Wang & Eckel, 2009) before being internalized by the adipocyte. FA's trafficking into adipocytes is regulated by different fatty acid transporter proteins (FATPs) and cluster of differentiation (CD) 36 (CD36) expressed on the cytoplasmic membrane (Thompson *et al.*, 2010). FAs enter then the adipocytes to be esterified with G3P and synthesize the TAG that are stored in the lipid vacuole. In this process insulin stimulates the uptake and metabolism of glucose to G3P.

1.4.2 Lipogenesis

the rate-limiting step in FA synthesis is catalysed by Acetyl-CoA Carboxylase (ACC) an enzyme which favours the carboxylation of acetyl-CoA to malonyl-CoA which is then converted into palmitate (16-carbon fatty acid) by the catalysing action of Fatty acid synthase (FASN). Palmitate is then elongated by the action of Fatty acid elongase ELOVL6, a membrane-bound enzyme located in the endoplasmic reticulum involved in the elongation of saturated and monounsaturated FAs.

FAs are then desaturated through the introduction of double bonds in determined positions of the chain by desaturase enzymes such as stearoyl-CoA desaturase (SCD). At this stage, FAs are esterified to form TAGs. The first step in TAGs synthesis that occurs in the endoplasmic reticulum and mitochondria, is the formation of lysophosphatidic acid (LPA), catalyzed by glycerol-3-phosphate acyltrasnferase (GPAT). In the endoplasmic reticulum LPA is further esterified and converted into phosphatidic acid (PA) in the reaction catalyzed by 1-acylglycerol-3-phosphate acyltransferase (AGPAT). PA is then converted by LIPIN1 in to the intermediate 1,2-diacylglycerol (1,2-DAG). Finally, Diacylglycerolacyltransferase (DGAT) catalyzed the acylation of 1,2-DAG to form TAGs. TAGs are then packaged into lipid droplets (Fig 3).



Figure 4: Adipose de novo lipogenesis. Dietary carbohydrates, lipids, and proteins are used as substrates for de novo lipogenesis. Carbohydrates are metabolized to three carbon intermediates dihydroxyacetone phosphate (DHAP) and glyceraldehyde three phosphate (GA3P) which are further metabolized to pyruvate. Pyruvate enters mitochondria to be used for energy production. When energy stores are plentiful, citrate is transported to cytoplasm where, by the action of ATP citrate lyase (ACL), it is converted to acetyl-CoA. Acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACC) converts acetyl-CoA to malonyl-CoA. Fatty acid synthase (FASN) sequentially adds acetyl-CoA to the growing fatty acid chain to form saturated FAs, mainly palmitate. Palmitate may be further elongated to stearate or longer fatty acids by the action of elongation of very longchain fatty acids (ELOVL6). Stearoyl-CoA desaturase 1 (SCD1) converts saturated FAs to monounsaturated FAs. Glycerol-3-phosphate acyltransferase (GPAT) adds acyl-CoA to glycerol-3 phosphate (G3P) to form lysophosphatidic At this stage, fatty acids are esterified and ready to form of triacylglycerides. The first step in TAG synthesis that occurs in the is the formation of lysophosphatidic acid (LPA) catalyzed by glycerol-3-phosphate acyltrasnferase (GPAT2). LPA is esterified and converted into phosphatidic acid (PA) catalyzed by 1-acylglycerol-3-phosphate acyltransferase (AGPAT). PA is then converted by LIPIN1 in to the intermediate 1,2-diacylglycerol (1,2-DAG). Finally, Diacylglycerolacyltransferase (DGAT) catalyzed the acylation of 1,2-DAG to form triacylglycerol (TAG).

1.4.3 Fatty acid oxidation

When hormones such as glucagon and noradrenaline report an energy metabolism deficit, TAGs kept in lipid droplets in the adipose tissue, are released and metabolized in order to produce energy. Fatty acid β -oxidation (or Fatty acid oxidation FAO) is a mitochondrial aerobic process of breaking down FA into acetyl-CoA units. It occurs in the mitochondrial matrix and it plays an important role in energy metabolism. Longchain acyl-CoAs bound to carnitine enter mitochondria due to Carnitine palmitoyltransferase-1 β (CPT1 β) a carnitine-dependent enzyme located on the outer mitochondrial membrane. In the intermembrane space, the carnitine/acylcarnitine translocase (CACT) transfer the acylcarnitines to Carnitine palmitoyltransferase 2 (CPT2) which reconverts the acylcarnitine into acyil-CoA and releases it in the mitochondrial inner membrane space to be oxidized. The initial step of the FAO consisting in the introduction of trans double-bond between C2 and C3 (α,β dehydrogenation) of the acyl-CoA thioester substrate by Acyl-CoA Dehydrogenase Long Chain (ACADL). 2-trans-enoyl-coenzyme A is then hydrated by the addition of a water molecule to the double bond with formation of L-3-hydroxyacyl-CoAs by Enoyl-CoA Hydratase (ECHS1). L-3-hydroxyacyl CoA is dehydrogenated again to create 3-ketoacyl CoA by 3-hydroxyacyl CoA dehydrogenase. The last step of the mitochondrial FAO is catalysed by Acetyl-CoA Acyltransferase 2 also known as 3-Ketoacyl-CoA Thiolase. It catalyses, using one molecule of coenzyme CoA, the thiolytic cleavage of medium- to long-chain unbranched 3-oxoacyl-CoAs into acetyl-CoA and a fatty acyl-CoA shortened therefore by two carbon atoms. The process continues until all of the carbons in the FA are turned into acetyl CoA. The FAO results in NADH and FADH generation that allow the transfer of electrons to the electron transport chain allowing therefore the creation of proton gradient by proton pumps, used to create ATP.



Figure 5: Adipose fatty acid β-oxidation

Fatty acids are activated to acyl-CoA, transported into the mitochondria as acylcarnitine by the enzyme carnitine palmitoyltransferase-1 (CPT1) carnitine translocase (CACT) and carnitine palmitoyltransferase-2 (CPT2), reconverted back to acyl-CoA and subject to β -oxidation. Each β -oxidation cycle of four reactions generates one acetyl-CoA and an acyl-CoA that is two carbon units shorter.

1.5 Obesity

Obesity is a chronic disease with a multifactorial aetiology, the prevalence of which is constantly increasing and considered a pandemic disease by the World Health Organization (WHO, 2000). Once considered a problem only in high-income countries, overweight and obesity are now dramatically on the rise in low- and middle-income countries. According to estimates by the WHO in 2016, overweight adults (considering a body mass index or BMI ≥ 25 kg / m²) were more than 1.9 billion adults, of these over 650 million adults were clinically obese (WHO, 2016). All this translates into an enormous social impact, as obesity and related metabolic diseases, cause a worsening of the quality of life and increasing therefore health and social costs.

Obesity is characterized by an increase in adipose tissue (AT) in various parts of the body, particularly at a visceral level and in ectopic sites. The diagnosis of obesity is made on the basis of two simple anthropometric measures which are weight and height. With these data it is possible to calculate the body mass index (BMI = weight in kilograms / square of height in meters). A BMI greater than 24.9 kg / m^2 is indicative of overweight, while over 30 kg / m^2 is obesity (WHO, 2000). It is clear however that the problems related to overweight and obesity are continuously linked to weight gain, so even small changes in BMI can have important repercussions in terms of comorbidity for associated pathologies. The BMI also gives an indication on the possible deviation from the ideal weight but doesn't give information regarding the distribution of the adipose mass that plays an important role in the patient's prognosis. In fact, with the same BMI, there can be a predominantly peripheral distribution of fat (gynoid or subcutaneous obesity), a mainly central distribution, or a localization of fat in the abdominal level (android or visceral obesity). There are numerous techniques for the direct and indirect measurement of the quantity of body fat and its distribution, but to date the most used technique in clinical practice is represented by the measurement of the waist circumference (WC). A waist circumference ≥ 102 cm in males and ≥ 88 cm in females indicates a central distribution of fat, an abdominal obesity (WHO, 2000). Among the different types of obesity, visceral obesity seems to play a central role in the pathogenesis of the Metabolic Syndrome (MS), a hypothesis put forward for the first time by Vogue in the 1950s (Bosello & Zamboni, 2000) and confirmed in the last 15 years by numerous studies.

1.6 Morbid obesity and current management

There are different approaches for the treatment of morbid obesity (BMI> 35), such as diet and exercise and drug therapies (Ricci et al., 2016), but today bariatric surgery is the most effective treatment for patients with morbid obesity. There are in fact, countless works that expose the benefits of this surgical technique (Borisenko et al., 2018; Lee & Cha, 2016; Nearing et al., 2017). Recent studies have also shown that, in addition to inducing significant weight loss, it promotes the resolution of many of the diseases associated with obesity such as T2DM, hypertension, dyslipidaemia and sleep apnoea syndrome (Sarkhosh et al., 2013; Spivak et al., 2017; Stefater & Inge, 2017). It has also been shown that in the group of surgically treated patients there is a reduction in mortality, the risk of developing other associated diseases, the use of therapeutic treatments and direct and indirect health and social costs. Bariatric surgery is generally considered for patients with morbid obesity who are refractory to other weight loss interventions. In particular, it is appropriate for adult patients with a BMI equal to or greater than 40 kg / m^2 or with a BMI between 35 and 40 kg / m^2 characterized by comorbidity-dependent obesity such as T2DM, hypertension, cardiomyopathies, sleep apnoea, asthma and dyslipidaemia (WHO, 2000).

These criteria have remained unchanged since 1991, but in 2006 O'Brien and colleagues showed, through a randomized study conducted on 80 patients, that bariatric surgery can be applicable even to adults with moderate obesity, i.e. with a BMI between 30 kg / m² and 35 kg / m² (O'Brien, 2015). According to the Consensus Conference of the National Institutes of Health (NIH), the candidates for bariatric surgery are the pathologically obese subjects (BMI> 40 Kg / m² or BMI> 35 Kg / m² with comorbidity), for which diet attempts have failed, and without any significant psychological illness. Furthermore, the benefits must outweigh the risks. Surgery for morbid obesity has a low failure rate, with an average weight loss of 61.2% on the initial weight (Buchwald *et al.*, 2004). There are no age restrictions, in fact bariatric surgery is also applied to patients over the age of 60, and currently also on patients under the age of 18, due to the increase in obesity even in paediatric age.

Obesity is a metabolic pathology with a multifactorial aetiology that involves genetic, environmental, metabolic and psychological factors. In this regard, the evaluation and therapeutic approach to the obese patient must be carried out by a multidisciplinary team consisting of a surgeon, nutritionist, endocrinologist, anaesthesiologist, pulmonologist and gastroenterologist. This helps to evaluate and optimize the approach to patients before surgery and to provide care after surgery, in case it is necessary.

1.7 Micronutrient deficiency and Obesity

Besides dietary habits, multiple genetic, environmental and behavioral factors lately emerged as possible important players in the development of several diseases including obesity. The theory of foetal programming, suggesting that environmental factors surrounding the foetus during its developmental phase can influence and increase its propensity to develop certain diseases such as T2DM and obesity in later life, has in fact become widely described over the last two decades. Several epidemiological studies have in fact examined the effect of extreme nutritional deprivation (Dutch famine during the 2nd World War) on the offspring during the periconceptual and developmental period. It has been shown that progenies exposed to these conditions showed an increased risk in developing obesity and T2DM compared with their unexposed siblings (Ravelli et al., 1998; Roseboom et al., 2006). Analogous results were obtained also in studies conducted on babies born during the Chinese famine between 1958-1961 (Li et al., 2010). Altogether these data may suggest that a combination of micronutrient deficiency and other wider deficits could be the cause of the development of metabolic related diseases, but the exact mechanism is still not explained. Nutritional-dietary factors seem to play therefore a very important role in affecting epigenetic phenomena. and alter the expression of genes at the transcriptional level. Among the various molecules, folate dependent one-carbon nutrients seem to play a special role in biological methylation reactions since they are fundamental in providing methyl groups (-CH3) for cycle regulation and cell differentiation (Tussing-Humphreys & Nguyen, 2014) and along with recent findings, alterations in the pattern of DNA methylation that occur in-utero are capable of inducing changes in gene expression that contribute to the development of obesity by increasing AT growth and expansion. In a population study conducted in India (Pune Maternal Nutrition Study) (Yajnik et al., 2008) it has been shown that low maternal levels of B12 is associated with increased adiposity and IR development in the offspring, underlying the important role that this micronutrient might play in the AT. It's a common assumption that vitamin and mineral deficiencies are rare in developed countries, however the increased availability of inexpensive, energy-dense, and low-nutrient value foods can lead to micronutrient deficiency and rise of obesity. As an example, In the UK population, B12 deficiency has been found among pregnant women and it has been associated with increased BMI and the risk of developing GDM (Adaikalakoteswari et al., 2014). Similar studies have also shown a relationship between low maternal plasma B12 and increased IR and obesity in a White British, non-diabetic population (Knight *et al.*, 2015; Sukumar *et al.*, 2016).

In vitro studies on 3T3-L1 mouse derived cell line showed that treatment of folic acid and B12 attenuates adipogenic differentiation (Bellner *et al.*, 2015), and a study conducted on Wistar rats showed that offsprings from B12 deficient mothers had an abnormal adiposity with a higher total cholesterol, TAGs and a higher expression of cytokines like IL-6 and TNF- α compared with control offsprings (Ghosh *et al.*, 2016). Similar results were also obtained by experiments conducted on human adipocytes in which it has been shown an effect of B12 deficiency on cholesterol biosynthesis (Adaikalakoteswari *et al.*, 2015; Adaikalakoteswari *et al.*, 2014). With this view micronutrients, and especially B12, seem therefore to play a very important role and an exposure to a deficiency during the fetal programming and development as well as aduring adulthood might lead to metabolic dysfunctions. Therefore, elucidating the mechanism of the effect of B12 deficiency on AT inflammation and the TAGs synthesis will help develop of a novel possible therapeutic target.

1.8 Vitamin B12

Once called "nature's most beautiful cofactor" (Stubbe, 1994), vitamin B12 is an essential micronutrient for human health and it's known to be the most chemically complex coenzyme. It's a hydro soluble molecule with a size of 1300 to 1500 Da and more than 25 enzymes are involved in its synthesis (Roth et al., 1996). The core of the molecule is the corrin ring, similar to porphyrin ring found in heme, characterized by a central cobalt ion which can form between four to six bonds. In particular cobalt bonds not only the nitrogen atoms of the corrin ring surrounding but also able to create upper and lower ligands (Smith et al., 2018). The upper ligand is the cyano group, while the lower ligand is represented by the nitrogen form of dimethyl benzimidazole (DMB) which results to be bound also by a side chain to the corrin ring, conferring a high specificity of the vitamin for intrinsic factor (IF) binding in the lower gastrointestinal tract (Froese & Gravel, 2010). The cyano ligand present above the corrin ring is substituted by an adenosyl group, a methyl group or water to create respectively adenosyl-cobalamin (AdoCbl), methyl-cobalamin and hydroxocobalamin. Through its active forms, methylcobalamin (Me-Cbl) and adenosyl-cobalamin (Ado-Cbl), is involved in essential reactions as nucleic acid synthesis, erythropoiesis in bone marrow and myelination of central nervous system. Me-Cbl is the cofactor of the enzyme methionine synthase in the metabolic homocysteine pathway (HCY) taken place in the cytosolic environment in which HCY is converted in methionine with the involvement of vitamin B6 and folate (Gherasim et al., 2013). A dysfunction of this pathway, critical in the generation of the methyl donor S-adenosylmethionine, affects DNA synthesis and physiological processes that require intense cell replication. Ado-Cbl acts in the mitochondria as a coenzyme of methylmalonyl-CoA mutase in the metabolism of branched-chain amino acids and FAs with an odd number of carbon atoms. A shortage of Ado-Cbl brings to an accumulation of an intermediate molecule of this pathway, methylmalonic acid (MMA), causing neurological defects and dysfunctional nerve transmission (Rizzo et al., 2016).



Figure 6: Structure of vitamin B12: The core of B12 is represented by a corrin ring that encloses a cobalt ion with four nitrogen atom linkages. The R-group at the β -axial (upper) position may be a methyl, 5'-deoxyadenosyl-, hydroxo- or a cyano- group whereas the α -axial (lower) ligand is a 5,6-dimethylbenzimidazole (DMB) linked through phosphoribosyl moiety to the central cobalt ion . Image adopted and modified from (Nielsen *et al.*, 2012).



Figure 7: **Coenzyme function of B12.** B12 serves as a coenzyme in two distinct enzymatic processes: the conversion of homocysteine to methionine by cytosolic methionine synthase in the cytosol and the conversion of methylmalonyl-CoA to succinyl-CoA by mitochondrial methylmalonyl-CoA mutase in the mitochondria

In the plasma, Me-Cbl represents approximately 60 to 80% of total plasma vitamin B12, adenosyl-cobalamin accounts up to 20% and the reminder mainly hydroxycobalamin. Whereas in the tissue the concentrations results inverted, in fact, the major active form of B12 is Ado-Cbl (about 70% in the liver), then hydroxycobalamin represents about 25% and methyl-cobalamin less than 5% (Bender, 2003).

B12 is synthesized by certain bacteria and archaeon through aerobical and anaerobical pathways whereas other B12-utilizing organisms must modify B12 acquired following uptake from other sources (Smith *et al.*, 2018). In humans, these sources are limited to animal products, and therefore a certain proportion of the population, with low intake of animal products, such as vegans and vegetarians, is moderately vitamin B12 deficient, even though dietary requirements are only a few micrograms per day.

Studies regarding the association between B12 sources and serum levels indicate that meat dairy food and fish are rich with this micronutrient. Particularly animal meats derived from ruminants results to be higher in B12 compared to the one derived from ominivorous animals like (pork and poultry). Cattle and sheep are herbivores and are able to absorb their B12 from the enteric bacteria that live in their stomachs. The produced B12 is therefore absorbed in the intestine, transferred into the blood and stored in the liver and muscles of the animal or excreted into the milk (Watanabe & Bito, 2018).

The metabolism of B12 is a complex process that involves almost 20 genes associated in absorption, selection, transport, modification, and utilization of B12 acquired from the diet.

The absorption of dietary B12 consist in a complex gastrointestinal process. After the ingestion of animal products rich in B12, hydrochloric acid and pepsin secreted by gastric parietal cells allow the release of B12 from food proteins and bound to haptocorrin; a B12-binding protein secreted by the salivary glands which protects the vitamin against possible further hydrolysis by the acidic environment (Allen et al., 1978). In the duodenum pancreatic proteases cause the proteolysis of haptocorrin-vitamin B12 complex and the released B12 binds to IF in the proximal ileum. IF is secreted by stomach parietal cells and a deficiency of it, due to genetic errors, autoimmune diseases or bariatric surgeries can cause pernicious anemia (Tanner et al., 2005). The IF-B12 complex binds to IF receptors on the membrane surface of polarized epithelial enterocytes in the terminal ileum. Thereafter B12 is released to bind with plasma binding proteins haptocorrin or transcobalamin (TC) for delivery and storage in the tissues, circulation in the blood and storage in the liver. The greater proportion of B12 (around 80%) is bound to haptocorrin which is thought to transport a surplus to the liver and the remaining 20% is bound to TC for which it has a higher affinity (Rush et al., 2014). B12-TC complex known as holotranscobalamin (holo-TC), considered the active B12, arrives in the blood circulation and circulates until it is taken up by the cells via a cell surface receptor.

The discovery of molecular structure of TC has been made possible due to biocrystallography and kinetic studies conducted in 2006. In particular the crystal structure of the human TC show a two-domain architecture, an N-terminal domain made up of secondary alpha helical structure and a smaller C-terminal beta strand domain able to bind a B12 molecule through a histidine coordinated binding (Wuerges *et al.*, 2006).

The controversial structural architecture of TC receptor CD320, remained although undiscovered until 2016 when Amer Alam's group and it's collaborators conducted genetic engineering and crystallography studies that allowed the discovery of the complex molecule (Alam *et al.*, 2016). CD320 is a member of the Low-density Lipoprotein Receptor Family featuring an N-terminal, extracellular fragment characterized by two LDLR type A (LDLR-A) domains separated by an epidermal growth factor (EGF) homology domain, a single transmembrane helix and a C-terminal cytoplasmic region involved in complex internalization (Jiang *et al.*, 2013). Moreover, TC receptor CD320

results to have an exclusive affinity to TC which interact only with the α -domain (Wuerges *et al.*, 2006).

The cellular uptake is mediated by B12 receptor CD320 in a biphasic process and involve binding of the holo-TC to the cell surface initially followed by internalization of the complex (Quadros & Sequeira, 2013). In the lysosome, the B12–TC complex is digested to create free B12 and is exported in the cytosol via two membrane protein, ABCD4 (ATP-binding cassette sub-family D member 4) and LMBRD1 (limb region 1) that work in synergy. Once in the cytosol, free B12 is bounded to CblC, a protein which has the ability to dealkylate and decyanalate the various forms of B12 and therefore plays an important role for the distribution of this micronutrient in various compartments of the cell (Smith *et al.*, 2018).

1.8.1 Definitions of B12 deficiency

Haematological sign, such as raised mean corpuscular volume or megaloblastic anaemia has been traditionally used as markers for B12 deficiency. However, it was shown that other clinical conditions such as neurological pathologies, characterized by B12 deficiency appear generally also in absence of anaemia. Therefore, anaemia is just one of the possible outcomes related to B12 deficiency, and is incorrect to use it as the only marker (Green, 2017). Even if there isn't a clear value to identify an adverse B12 condition, just as for intricate pathologies risk factors such as metabolic disease and CVD in which "the clinical picture in the most important factor in assessing the significance of test results" (Devalia *et al.*, 2014), recently WHO and the US Institute of Medicine established a cut-off of 148 pmol/L (200 pg/mL) or 150 pmol/L (203 pg/mL) (Smith *et al.*, 2018).

1.8.2 B12 deficiency across the globe

The prevalence of B12 deficiency is becoming widespread among the global population. There is a high prevalence of B12 deficiency in many population groups at all ages, most particularly elderly individuals and lower income communities where a restricted lifelong animal-derived food consumption define a high proportion of the population. According to recent studies, it's been estimated that between 2.5% and 26% of the world population and approximately 6-12 % of British population under the age of 60 is characterized by a subclinical deficiency of B12 (Green *et al.*, 2017; Sukumar & Saravanan, 2019).

Notably, around 12-14% of adults in the UK and more than 70% in India have a poor B12 status (Rogne *et al.*, 2017; Sukumar *et al.*, 2016b; Yajnik *et al.*, 2008). During pregnancy, the B12 deficiency ranges between 20-30% depends on the stages of pregnancy and population across the world (Sukumar et al, 2016), potentially causing harm to both the mother and child. Therefore, since B12 deficiency is related with a series of negative health outcomes, its high prevalence turns to be a matter of concern to the world public health.

1.8.3 Causes of vitamin B12 deficiency

In developed countries, pernicious anaemia results to be the primary risk factor for B12 deficiency. Population studies have confirmed that this disease has a high prevalence in Northern Europe and Scandinavia where epidemiological studies have been conducted (Clausen *et al.*, 1996).

Pernicious anaemia is an autoimmune disease that involves complex environmental and immunological factors leading to a deficit of B12 due to a deficiency of IF. The lack of B12 absorption is caused mainly by gastric autoantibodies directed to parietal cells and IF needed for the intestinal absorption of B12, leading to the development of megaloblastic anaemia and several neurological diseases (Green *et al.*, 2017). However, another cause of pernicious anaemia that brings to B12 deficiency but without the autoimmune involvement is the mutation in B12 Binding Intrinsic Factor (GIF), a gene that encodes a member of the cobalamin transport protein required for adequate absorption of B12.

A lack of B12 is also common in patients undergoing partial gastrectomy, gastric bypass and gastrointestinal surgery, which compromise the absorption of this micronutrient by reducing the gastric mucosa area, and the possibility to secrete IF (Smelt *et al.*, 2017).

B12 deficiency is also common in subjects characterized by a reduced acid secretion in the stomach associated with chronic atrophic gastritis or long-term treatment with proton pump inhibitors and Helicobacter pylori infection that cause malabsorption by reducing the ability to release B12 from its protein-bound form (Lam *et al.*, 2013).

Inflammatory bowel diseases such as Crohn' and Celiac diseases can cause B12 deficiency due to mucosal and villous atrophy. Parasitic infection by fish tapeworm *Diphyllobothrium latum* and protozoan *Giardia lamblia*, caused by recent trend in consuming raw fish and described mostly in Northern Europe, Scandinavia United Stated and Japan are able to cause B12 deficiencies by depletion from the small intestine (Miller *et al.*, 2009).

1.8.3.1 Daily recommendation and storage

B12 is an essential micronutrient required for several biological processes with a recommended daily intake of 2.4 μ g that raise up 6 μ g to in pregnant women (Yajnik *et al.*, 2008). The body can store, mainly in the liver, between 2000-5000 μ g of B12 under the form of adenosylcobalamin. This explains why in populations with short supply of

B12 sources and no malabsorptive problems, the signs of B12 deficiency appear much later.

1.8.4 Complications of B12 deficiency

B12 is involved, through its coenzyme forms (Adenosyl-B12 and Methyl-B12), in several metabolic reactions and a deficit induce impaired DNA methylation, dysregulation of methabolism of methylmalonate (a molecule derived from the catabolism of certain fatty acids and amino acids), homocysteine accumulation and other cellular disruptions leading to cellular stress and apoptosis. This therefore leads to a wide range of clinical consequences from hematological to neurological (Green *et al.*, 2017).

The haematological effect of B12 deficiency is megaloblastic anaemia, which results from a downregulation of DNA synthesis resulting in large erythrocytes (macrocytes) with overgrown cytoplasm and immature nuclei. The synthesis of other haematopoietic cells result to be affected as well with enormous granulocyte precursors in the bone marrow and multilobular neutrophils (Stabler, 2013). In addition to megaloblastic anaemia a decrease of all blood cells numbers may occur (pancytopenia).

Recent studies on genetical defects have shown that the major cause of neurological defects in B12 deficiency could be due to a lack of methyl-B12 and hyperhomocysteinaemia resulting in myeloneuropathy with demyelination of central and peripheral neurons. A deficit of B12 is also associated with hypomethylation of the promoters of the genes encoding amyloid proteins result to be associated with a deficit of B12 increasing the risk of poor memory performance and Alzheimer's Disease (Rafiee *et al.*, 2017). Normal B12 level is crucial for a healthy development of neurological functions in children and recent studies have observed a correlation between B12 deficiency during pregnancy and neuronal tube defects in the offspring confirming therefore its main role in the development (Dror & Allen, 2008).

Studies conducted in the past decade have shown that less common conditions associated with B12 deficiency are psychiatric manifestation, thyroid malfunction, increased thrombotic events and infertility (Lindenbaum *et al.*, 1988; Stabler, 2013).

1.8.5 B12 deficiency associated with obesity, diabetes and dyslipidemia

In the last decade clinical evidence of a correlation between B12 deficiency and adverse metabolic health profiles triggered many scientists to study the role of this micronutrient in the development of obesity. It has been proved that B12 deficiency affects the mitochondrial methyl malonylCoA mutase reaction leading to an increase of levels of MMA and consequently enhancing increased lipogenesis (Watanabe *et al.*, 2003).

Recently a population study involving more than 9000 Danish people showed a negative correlation between B12, BMI waist circumference and body fat percentage (Allin *et al.*, 2017). A clinical study conducted in Israel on three hundred ninety-two children and adolescents revealed a low B12 concentration in obese children compared with normal weight group (Pinhas-Hamiel *et al.*, 2006). Similar results were observed in adult patients with morbid obesity (Li *et al.*, 2018).

Another study involving mice fed with a low B12 diet showed an increased body fat composition, altered lipid profile and elevated stress and adipokines markers. Moreover mother deficient in B12 gave birth to offspring with lower body weight (Ghosh *et al.*, 2016) and our group published recently a systematic meta-analysis showing the negative effect of B12 deficiency during pregnancy on offspring birth weight (Sukumar *et al.*, 2016b).

An interesting study conducted by our research group on human adipose cells, cultured in low or no B12, showed increased gene expression of genes involved in cholesterol biosynthesis. We have also reported that maternal low B12 is associated with adverse HDL levels. These data suggest that B12 can influence lipid metabolism in human adipocytes and may have an important role in obesity development (Adaikalakoteswari *et al.*, 2015).

It has been shown in Europeans and Indians with T2DM that B12 deficiency is associated with adverse lipid profile suggesting that deficiency of B12 plays an important role in development of T2DM (Adaikalakoteswari *et al.*, 2015).

Interesting studies conducted on pregnant women characterized by B12 deficiency confirmed the correlation between this condition and increase risk of developing IR, GDM and obesity (Knight *et al.*, 2015) that can contribute to childhood obesity in the new birth (Yajnik, 2014). Moreover, a recent study conducted on patients with diabetes, vegetarians and omnivores showed a correlation between high levels of B12 with lower levels of fasting glucose and a significant correlation between low B12 levels high oxidative stress and inflammatory markers. These results were reinforced in the vegetarian population (Lee *et al.*, 2016).

1.8.6 The role of B12 like as an antioxidant and anti-inflammatory molecule

Several recent studies have indicated that B12 act as an antioxidant and anti-inflammatory molecule having a function in the immune system. Me-Cbl is a cofactor of methioninesynthase an essential enzyme for the synthesis of nucleotides. This reaction results to be important especially in fast-dividing immune cells. Studies, conducted in both human and animals showing a positive correlation between low number of lymphocytes and impaired NK cells activity, suggests a possible role in acute and chronic inflammation (Partearroyo *et al.*, 2013; Tamura *et al.*, 1999). Although these recent findings led many scientist to investigate the role of B12 in several inflammatory diseases such as CVD, T2DM and obesity (Al-Daghri *et al.*, 2016; Ghosh *et al.*, 2016; Lee *et al.*, 2016), the AT specific role of this micronutrient has not well studied. Since obesity is characterized by an "inflamed" AT and obesity is associated with low B12, result to be fundamental to explore the specific effect of this micronutrient on AT.

1.8.7 B12 deficiency in Bariatric Surgery

Most of the patients experience nutritional deficiencies after any bariatric surgery procedure. Deficiency of B12 is particularly well reported. An interesting study conducted on more than 20.000 patients found an incidence rate of B12 deficiency of 20% 12 months after gastric bypass surgery (Gudzune *et al.*, 2013). The explanation of this deficiency in RYGB is due to the stomach reduction that causes a decreased nutrient absorption and decreased acidity pepsin and IF. These evidence are confirmed by a study conducted on patients undergoing gastric banding and gastric bypass: the prevalence of B12 deficiency was higher among patients submitted to gastric bypass (Silva *et al.*, 2016).

Another fascinating study conducted on morbid obese females who underwent RYGB shows a gene expression modification in TC cubilin and IF expression in stomach duodenum, jejunum and ileum tract, suggesting a genetic reprogramming after this bariatric procedure (Sala *et al.*, 2017).

1.8.8 The role of the paternal diet

DNA methylation is the most widely studied form of epigenetic modification and occurs within the one-carbon metabolism pathway, which is dependent upon several enzymes in the presence of dietary micronutrients as cofactors. According to recent evidence from both epidemiological studies in humans and in vitro and intervention studies in animals, alterations in the pattern of DNA methylation that occur in utero are capable of inducing changes in gene expression that contribute to the development of obesity by increasing AT growth and expansion. Methylation is greatly dependent on availability of SAM-e that are synthesized with the aid of methyl donors such as B12 and folate that play major roles in one-carbon metabolism. This suggest a central role B12 in epigenetic mechanisms and how a deficiency of this micronutrient could contribute to metabolic dysfunction. In support to this, Sinclair and colleagues demonstrated in an animal study conducted on sheep that a reduction of B12, folate and methionine availability from the maternal diet around the time of conception is associated with increased adiposity, IR and altered immune function (Sinclair et al., 2007). Whilst many studies support the concept of the maternal influence on offspring health outcome, not much work been done to understand the underlying mechanisms linking paternal diet with litter health, specifically, its role on spermatogenesis, function and its epigenetic mechanisms. However, there is growing evidence that paternal diet would affect not only the sperm quality but also have an influence in the post-fertilization development, making it a new emerging focus for the Developmental Origins of Health and Disease (DOHAD) hypothesis. It is well known that high BMI is linked with reduced serum testosterone (Luconi et al., 2013) and increased sperm fragmentation (Samavat et al., 2018) and also animal models of paternal high-fat diet and paternal undernutrition revealed an increase in sperm fragmentation and impact on embryonic metabolism and fetal growth (Bakos et al., 2011; Carone et al., 2010; Mitchell et al., 2011). Interestingly, in a recent study conducted on male mice fed with low-protein diet it has been shown that hypomethylated sperm is related withoffspring' elevated growth programming, increased adiposity and disrupted cardiovascular health (Watkins et al., 2018). These observations suggest therefore that not only the maternal diet but also the paternal nutrition could play a role in litter health through epigenetic mechanisms partly also due to B12 deficiency.

1.8.9.1 Male hypogonadism and Bariatric Surgery

Obesity and its associated comorbidities have been exponentially increasing during the last 40 years, representing a medical and socio-economic burden also in developing countries (Farzadfar et al., 2011). Alterations in sex steroid hormones are often associated with male obesity. In particular, low circulating levels of total (TT) and free (FT) testosterone in the presence of reduced gonadotropins, characterized by central secondary hypogonadism (HG), with elevated estrogens, have been described in male MS. Obesity and HG are linked in a vicious cycle, in which low testosterone favors weight gain, and adiposity induces HG. Several studies demonstrated that weight loss and reduction in waist circumference (WC) induce an increase in testosterone levels (Corona et al., 2011; Tajar et al., 2010). Although a clear association between parameters defining obesity (BMI, waist circumference, weight) and reduced fertility in men is still controversial, several recent studies confirmed a general amelioration not only in sex hormones with an increase of androgens in hypogonadal individuals (Samavat et al., 2014), but also in sperm quality and function in subjects undergoing bariatric surgery (Samavat et al., 2014). From a clinical point of view, these data suggest that bariatric surgery results beneficial not only for the treatment of T2DM and CVD but also in HG recovery in morbid obesity.

1.8.9 B12 and male fertility

In the past 4 decades various studies have studied the effect of B12 on semen quality. It has been found that B12 is transferred from the blood to the male reproductive organs which gives a clear idea of the role of this micronutrient on spermatogenesis (Banihani, 2017). Several studies have shown an amelioration in sperm parameters after 8-24 weeks of B12 treatment (Boxmeer *et al.*, 2007; Watson, 1962). In particular, total sperm count, sperm concentration and motility were statistically increased. Moreover studies conducted on patients characterized by oligozoospermia and normozoospermia under long term treatment with Me-Cbl showed an increased sperm motility (Isoyama *et al.*, 1986; Watanabe *et al.*, 2003). Interestingly a recent study showed that infertile men with varicocele supplemented with B12 for three months had a decreased of sperm DNA fragmentation by about 22% (Gual-Frau *et al.*, 2015).

The positive effects of B12 on semen quality may be due to a decreased accumulation of ROS and a decreased inflammation-induced semen impairment. Thus, the results published so far confirm the important role of B12 in male fertility. No research about the role of B12 in sperm quality in bariatric patients has been conducted so far. The aim of my research will be therefore to clarify the role of B12 in sperm quality of morbid obese patients and how this can be effective on male fertility.

1.9 Male infertility

1.9.1 Epidemiology

In 1987 the WHO defined couple infertility as the inability to conceive after a year of unprotected sex intercourse. Epidemiological data show that the prevalence of this condition in the Western world is around 15%: of these values, about 38% of cases are due to female causes, 20% to male causes, 27% involve both partners, while in 15% of cases the gender aetiology is not clear (Vander Borght & Wyns, 2018). Thus, about 50% of cases of couple infertility the "male factor" is at stake. The aetiology of male infertility can be of different nature and not necessarily identified with a defect in spermatogenesis. The levels of alteration can be central and peripheral, thus affecting the central control of gamete production and transport, or directly at the peripheral level. In humans three different causes of infertility can be distinguished, classified according to the level of onset of dysfunction. The dysfunction can, in fact, be determined by:

• **Pre-testicular causes (10%)**: they refer to the alteration of the hypothalamic-pituitarygonadal axis which results in a reduced or altered production of GnRH, and consequently of FSH (hormone that acts on Sertoli cells at an intratubular level, favouring the maturation of spermatozoa) and of LH (a hormone that acts at an interstitial level by stimulating the production of testosterone from Leydig cells). This central alteration causes hypogonadotropic (or central) hypogonadism and can also develop as a consequence of anabolic steroids intake. This category also includes coitus disorders such as erection and / or ejaculation dysfunctions.

• **Post-testicular causes (15%):** are relative to the transport of spermatozoa from the testicle through the male reproductive system and can be linked to congenital or acquired obstructive forms such as those caused by inflammations or infections of the accessory glands and epididymis. They can also involve erection and ejaculation dysfunctions at the local level.

Testicular causes (75%): relative to alterations at the testis, the site of production of spermatozoa and testosterone. It may be associated with congenital disorders that alter testicular function leading to altered sperm production and function. These alterations may derive from congenital defects, such as anorchia or cryptorchidism, from genetic disorders that concern numerical and structural abnormalities of sex chromosomes but

also from autosomes, from mechanical disorders such as varicocele, orchitis or testicular torsion.

1.9.2 Male hypogonadism

Male hypogonadism defined as reduced gonadal function and androgen action has a multifactorial aetiology that includes genetic mutations, anatomical alterations, lesions, infections and cancer. However, still a good part of the causes remains idiopathic (Basaria, 2014). This disorder has been described in 20% of elderly males over the age of 70 and in 4% of the postpubescent male population (Brunton & Sadovsky, 2010). Recent studies have also shown that 30% of subjects diagnosed with T2DM and with a BMI> 30 Kg / m² are characterized by low serum testosterone levels (Zheng *et al.*, 2016). In these subjects, however, the cause of the decrease in androgen levels is not yet clear.

HG is a disease characterized by the presence of poorly functioning gonads and can be distinguished in hypergonadotropic if associated with high levels of secretion of FSH and LH gonadotropins or hypogonadotropic if these levels are low. Furthermore, hypogonadism is also observed in subjects with hyperfunctioning gonad where the dysfunction is due to the lack of action of androgens caused by peripheral resistance to testosterone. In this case, both gonadotropin levels and testosterone levels are high.

The clinical symptoms of hypogonadism depend mainly on the severity and type of the disorder. In adults the symptoms can range from a decrease in libido, bone mineral density, infertility, hair loss and incomplete sexual development. The diagnosis is made through physical examination and by measuring the serum testosterone levels. According to the second international consultation on erectile dysfunction of the WHO (Lue *et al.*, 2004), the blood sampling, for the serum determination of testosterone, must be carried out from 8.00 to 11.00 am, or when the levels of this hormone reach a peak in healthy young males. The blood testosterone value to be considered as a cut-off to diagnose HG is still debated and therefore the diagnosis varies accordingly. In general, the threshold values are considered 8 nM, 10 nM, 12 nM, thus leaving a defined "gray" area between 8nM and 12nM. However, to distinguish between primary and secondary hypogonadism, measurement of FSH and LH levels is necessary.

1.9.3 Reproductive parameters in obese men

Recent studies have suggested overweight and obesity, is associated with changes in sexual male parameters. Research carried out on sperm parameters has shown in fact, a negative association between seminal quality and BMI (Hammoud *et al.*, 2008).

Obesity is characterized by an alteration of the distribution of fat in the visceral area. As is known, adipocytes are the main cells of the AT and play an important role in the regulation of TAG and FFA levels. Oestrogens, are positive regulators of adipogenesis, promoting preadipocyte proliferation and growth of mature adipocytes (Price *et al.*, 1998). On the contrary, adipocyte differentiation and maturation is negatively regulated by androgens, as high androgenic levels favour multipotent cell differentiation towards myogenesis and also inhibit adipogenic differentiation of existing preadipocytes (Mårin *et al.*, 1995). In the AT the local production of oestrogen from the conversion of testosterone is led by the enzyme aromatase.



Figure 8: Schematic representation of the differences between normal weight and obese subjects of the hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal axis

1.9.4 Oestrogens of adipocyte origin and hypogonadism

Oestrogens, derived from the aromatization process in the AT of obese men, cause a negative feedback action at the level of the hypothalamic-pituitary-gonad axis (Hypothalamus, Pituitary, Testis HPT) (Couse *et al.*, 1997). This therefore causes a vicious circle of "hypogonadal obesity", in which an increase in AT leads to an alteration of hormone production at a systemic level. Increased AT results to be a significant peripheral resource of oestrogens which in turn suppress testosterone production with a negative feed-back on the HPT axis. The consequent reduction of circulating testosterone together with the increase in oestrogen favours the increase of VAT. This imbalance in sex hormone levels (assessed by the ratio of blood T / E2 levels) has consequently also an effect on the fertility of the obese male (Mårin *et al.*, 1995).

1.10 Summary and gaps in evidence

In developed countries, the increased availability of unhealthy highly processed food rich in carbohydrates but with poor nutritional value can lead to micronutrient deficiency. The so called "high-calorie malnutrition" could lead to profound metabolic changes by the inability to utilize energy effectively and thus promote increased fat synthesis resulting in weight gain. Micronutrients play an important role in metabolism and a deficiency can bring about cellular dysfunction. In the last decades animal and clinical studies have revealed a correlation between B12 deficiency and adverse metabolic health profiles. In particular, B12 deficiency in pregnancy has been associated with maternal obesity, development of IR and dyslipidaemia. Studies shown that babies born to B12 deficient mothers show a high accumulation of fats at birth with higher risk of developing CVD later in life. Moreover, obesity and morbid obesity is associated with sub-fertility in men, reduced semen quality and impaired sperm acrosome reaction and clinical studies have found correlations between seminal B12 and sperm concentrations According to that, there is no evidence so far whether

(1) dyslipidaemia and increased adiposity due to B12 deficiency are directly linked with regulation in the adipose metabolism of lipids and

(2) if there is a relation between B12/semen quality in morbid obese subjects.

Therefore, given the key metabolic role of AT and the importance of seminal liquid in male fertility, investigating the effect B12 deficiency on *de novo* lipid synthesis and lipid metabolism leading to AT inflammation, will help develop novel biomarkers for the diagnosis of obesity as well as enhanced development of possible therapeutic targets.

1.11 Hypothesis and Aims

The AT functions as a key energy reservoir of the organism in vertebrates and, in particular, in mammals. B12 plays a crucial role as a cofactor in two key metabolic pathways such as the methionine synthase and the methylmalonyl-CoA mutase pathways. Studies have shown that B12 deficiency would lead to disruption of these pathways leading to accumulation of metabolites such as homocysteine and MMA which are known to be associated with metabolic risk including CVD.

AT plays a dominant role in the regulation of lipid metabolism including *de novo* fatty acids (FA), TAG and cholesterol biosynthesis, as well as FAO. An accumulation of dysfunctional fat that occurs during obesity, leads to an expansion of visceral and ectopic fat increasing the risk of cardiovascular and metabolic pathologies and infertility.

There is evidence that low B12 accounts for dysregulation of normal adipocyte integrity and function in the storage of lipids, thereby leading to the accumulation of higher levels of TAGs and cholesterol. Recent studies have also found a correlation between B12 deficiency and poor seminal quality. We, therefore, hypothesize that B12 deficiency may affect AT metabolism of lipids accounting for dysregulation in the lipogenesis (FA, TAG), FAO pathways inducing a local inflammation. Furthermore, we hypothesize the possible relationship between holoTC/B12 status and semen quality.

In order to investigate this, we aimed:

1. To assess the AT regulation of B12 uptake and storage in various circulatory B12 concentrations ranging from deficient to high levels;

2. To assess whether B12 deficiency affects adipose tissue de novo lipogenesis;

3. To assess whether deficiency in B12 affects the adipose tissue FAO pathway;

4. To assess whether the effect of B12 deficiency leads to inflammation in AT;

5. To define the relationship between serum and seminal levels of B12 and seminal quality in morbid obesity.

Chapter 2: Material & Methods

2.1 Materials

2.1.1 Cell Culture Reagents

DMEM/F12 (Gibco, Fisher Scientific, Loughborough, UK)

Advanced DMEM (Gibco, Fisher Scientific, Loughborough, UK)

Eagle's minimal essential media (EMEM) (Custom-made, School of Life Sciences, University of Warwick, UK)

Seahorse XF Base Media (Agilent Technologies, Stockport, UK)

Heat Inactivated Foetal Bovine Serum (Fisher Scientific, Loughborough, UK)

Penicillin/Streptomycin (100X) (Fisher Scientific, Loughborough, UK)

L-Glutamine (100x) (Invitrogen, Fisher Scientific, Loughborough, UK)

Bovine Serum Albumin (Sigma-Aldrich, Haverhill, UK)

0.05% Trypsin-EDTA (Invitrogen, Fisher Scientific, Loughborough, UK)

Vitamin B12 (Fisher Scientific, Loughborough, UK)

Folic acid ≥97% (Sigma-Aldrich, Haverhill, UK)

Fibroblast growth factor-basic (FGF-basic), recombinant human 5 ng/mL (Fisher Scientific #VXPHG0026)

Transferrin, human 5 mg/mL (Fisher Scientific #VX0030124SA)

Preadipocyte Differentiation Medium (Promocell Heidelberg, Germany)

Preadipocyte Nutrition Medium (Promocell Heidelberg, Germany)

2.1.2 Reagents and materials for Radioactive flux assay

Glass TLC Plate (Thermo scientific, Loughborough, UK)

14C 50µCi (1.85MBq) Oleic Acid (Perkin Elmer Las LTD, Seer Green, UK)

Oxygen-Free Nitrogen gas (BOC LTD, Middlesbrough, UK)

100mM L-Carnitine inner salt (Sigma-Aldrich, Gillingham, Dorset, UK)

43mg Glyceryl tripalmitate (Sigma-Aldrich, Gillingham, Dorset, UK) in chloroform (500µl)

70mM Sodium oleate (Sigma-Aldrich, Gillingham, Dorset, UK)

Iodine, ACS reagent (Sigma-Aldrich, Gillingham, Dorset, UK)

Rectangular TLC developing tanks (Sigma-Aldrich, Gillingham, Dorset, UK)

Flat Head Borosilicate Glass (Sigma-Aldrich, Gillingham, Dorset, UK)

0.88 % (w/v) Potassium Chloride (Sigma-Aldrich, Gillingham, Dorset, UK)

Hexane (Sigma-Aldrich, Gillingham, Dorset, UK)

Glycerol (Sigma-Aldrich, Gillingham, Dorset, UK)

Diethyl ether (Sigma-Aldrich, Gillingham, Dorset, UK) 46

Formic acid (Sigma-Aldrich, Gillingham, Dorset, UK)

Chloroform

Methanol

2.1.3 Reagents and materials for seahorse flux assay

Seahorse XF24 FluxPak (Agilent Technologies, Stockport, UK)
Oligomycin D (Sigma-Aldrich, Gillingham, Dorset, UK)
Rotenone (Sigma-Aldrich, Gillingham, Dorset, UK)
Antimycin A (Sigma-Aldrich, Gillingham, Dorset, UK)
Carbonyl cyanide-p-trifluoromethoxyphenylhydrazone (FCCP) (Sigma-Aldrich, Gillingham, Dorset, UK)
Palmitate (Sigma-Aldrich, Gillingham, Dorset, UK)
Bovine Serum Albumin (Sigma-Aldrich, Gillingham, Dorset, UK)
Sodium Pyruvate (Sigma-Aldrich, Gillingham, Dorset, UK)
L-Glutamine (Sigma-Aldrich, Gillingham, Dorset, UK)
Sodium Chloride (Sigma-Aldrich, Gillingham, Dorset, UK)
Glucose (Sigma-Aldrich, Gillingham, Dorset, UK)

2.1.4 Reagents and materials for RNA, cDNA and gene expression studies

Qiazol (Thermo scientific, UK)

Chloroform (Sigma-Aldrich, Gillingham, Dorset, UK)

Isopropanol (Fisher Scientific, Loughborough, UK)

RNAse-free water (Invitrogen, Fisher Scientific, Loughborough, UK)

Enzyme mix (Thermo scientific, Loughborough, UK)

5X Reaction buffer (Thermo scientific, Loughborough, UK)

10mM nucleotides dNTP Mix (Applied Biosystems, Warrington, UK)

Eukaryotic 18S rRNA Endogenous Control (Applied Biosystems, Warrington, UK)

Eukaryotic L19 rRNA Endogenous Control (Fisher Scientific, Loughborough,UK) TaqMan Universal PCR Master Mix (Applied Biosystems, Warrington, UK)

Random Hexamers (Invitrogen, Fisher Scientific, Loughborough, UK)

JumpStart SYBR Green I Mix (Sigma-Aldrich, Haverhill, UK)

MMLV Reverse Transcriptase (Sigma-Aldrich, Haverhill, UK)

RNAse OUT Ribonuclease Inhibitor (Invitrogen, Fisher Scientific, Loughborough, UK)

RiboLock RNase Inhibitor; Recombinant (Applied Biosystems, Warrington, UK)

100x ROX reference dye (Sigma-Aldrich, Haverhill, UK)

Frosted and semi-skirted, thin wall 96 x 0.2ml high profile plate (Geneflow Ltd, Elmhurst, UK)

Amplification grade DNase 1 Kit (Sigma-Aldrich, Gillingham, Dorset, UK)

100x ROX reference dye (Sigma-Aldrich, Gillingham, Dorset, UK)
2.1.5 Kits

Quantikine Elisa Human CCL2/MCP-1 (R&D Systems-Biotechne, Abingdon, UK)

Quantikine Elisa Human IL-8/CXCL8 (R&D Systems-Biotechne, Abingdon, UK)

2.1.6 Media formulations

DMEM/F12 supplemented with 10% v/v FBS and 1% (v/v) Penicillin/Streptomycin

Advanced DMEM/F12 with phenol red supplemented with 3% (v/v) FBS, 1% (v/v)

Penicillin/Streptomycin and 1% (v/v) L-Glutamine.

Custom-made B12-deprived-EMEM media supplemented with compounds such as 1% v/v Penicillin/ Streptomycin, 1% v/v L-Glutamine, 10% v/v FBS and various concentrations of B12.

Seahorse Media for Oxygen Consumption assay (Agilent Technologies, Stockport, UK) Seahorse XF base media, Glucose (25mM), Sodium Pyruvate (1mM), pH 7.4

2.1.7 Buffers

10x DNase I Reaction buffer (Sigma-Aldrich, Haverhill, UK) 200 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.3, 20 mM MgCl₂

DNase Stop solution (Sigma-Aldrich, Haverhill, UK) 50 mM EDTA

MMLV 10x reaction buffer (Sigma-Aldrich, Haverhill, UK) 500 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.3, with 500 mM KCl, 30 mM MgCl2, 50 mM DTT

5X Krebs-Henseleit Buffer (KHB) (Sigma-Aldrich, UK) (1 Litre) - 32.53g Sodium Chloride (NaCl), 1.752g Potassium Chloride (KCl), 1.204g Magnesium Sulphate (MgSO₄) and 0.852g Disodium Hydrogen Phosphate (Na₂HPO₄) dissolved in 1 litre of distilled water, filter sterilized and stored at 4°C.

2.1.8 Solutions

Seahorse Calibrant Solution (Agilent Technologies, Stockport, UK) 75% Ethanol (Sigma-Aldrich, Gillingham, Dorset, UK)

2.1.9 Primers and oligonucleotides

2.1.9.1 Taqman primers for human genes

CD320- <u>HS00213164</u> (Applied Biosystems, Warrington, UK) TCN2- <u>Hs01033097_m1</u> (Applied Biosystems, Warrington, UK) SCD – Hs01682761_m1 (Applied Biosystems, Warrington, UK) DGAT2 - Hs01045913_m1 (Applied Biosystems, Warrington, UK)

2.1.9.2 Primer sequences for human genes

Gene	Forward primer (5'-3')	Reverse primer (5'-3')
Name		
TCN2	AGGCTGGTCTCACAGCTCAA	TGGTAGTAGCTAGTGTGGGGG
CD320	CTTTCCACCCCGACCTCTG	CACTGGAACTTGGTGGGTGG
FASN	CTGCTGCTGGAAGTCACCTA	AGTGTGTGTGTTCCTCGGAGTG
ACACA	AGAGGGAACATCCCTACGCT	CATGGGTCATGCCATAGTGGT
ELOLV6	TGCTAAGCAAAGCACCCGAA	ACAGGAGCACAGTGATGTGG
SCD	CCACCTCTTCGGATATCGTCC	TGGTGGTAGTTGTGGAAGCC
GPAM	CGAGTGGATTTTGCACAGCC	CGCTTGCTCCAGGGAAAGTA
LIPIN1	TTTCCACGTCCGCTTTGGG	GTGGCCAGGTGCATAGGG
DGAT2	GTCGCGCGAGGGGTCTG	AGCTGCTTTTCCACCTTGGAC
ACADL	TGCAATAGCAATGACAGAGCC	CGCAACTACAATCACAACATCAC
<i>CPT-1β</i>	AGGAGCCCTCTCATGGTGAA	TGGCGTGGATGATGTTTCCC
CPT2	GCTGACCAAAGAAGCAGCAAT	GCAAGATGATCCCTTTGGCTG
MCD (MLYCD)	GGTTACCTGGCATTCACCGT	GCGCTTCATGTCCATCCAGT
ECHS1	GCGATGGCCAAAGAATCAGTG	TTCCGGTCATCAGTGGCAAA
IL-1 β	CGCCAGTGAAATGATGGCT	GAGGGCAGAGGTCCAGGTC
IL-6	AGTAGTGAGGAACAAGCCAGA	GTCAGGGGTGGTTATTGCATC
IL-8	GAAGGTGCAGTTTTGCCAAGG	TGGGGTGGAAAGGTTTGGAGTA
TNF-α	GCTGCACTTTGGAGTGATCG	GTCACTCGGGGTTCGAGAAG
TGF-β	CAGTGGTTGAGCCGTGGAG	TGAACCCGTTGATGTCCACTTG

2.1.10 Miscellaneous metarials and reagents

Syringe filters (0.22 µm) (MicroScience)

Seahorse XF24 cell culture microplates and cartridges (Agilent, Technologies,

Stockport, UK)

Cell culture plates (Fisher Scientific)

OptiSeal 32.4 ml tubes system (Beckman Coulter)

RNase-free tubes (Sigma-Aldrich, Haverhill, UK)

Elisa Strip Plate, F16, highbinding (Greiner Bio One)

Optically clear adhesive seals (Appleton Woods)

Sarstedt Scintillation Vial 58mm x 27mm Screw Cap (Sarstedt Ltd, Leicester, UK)

Sterile filter unit, Vacuum Stericup; Filter diameter of 73mm with 500mL funnel and 500mL receiver; Membrane: PVDF; Pore Size: 0.22µm (Thermo Scientific, Loughborough, UK)

Pipette tips (Sigma-Aldrich, Gillingham, Dorset, UK)

Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) (Sigma-Aldrich, Gillingham, Dorset, UK)

Disposable Plastic BioSafe Pipette – 10ml, 25ml (Sigma-Aldrich, Gillingham, Dorset, UK)

50ml Falcon tubes (Sigma-Aldrich, Gillingham, Dorset, UK)

10ml Falcon tubes (Sigma-Aldrich, Gillingham, Dorset, UK)

Disposable latex gloves (Sigma-Aldrich, Gillingham, Dorset, UK)

2.2 Methods

In this section, the general description of principal methods performed in the study will be outlined, however, brief description with specific requirements in each method will be stated accordingly in the respective chapters.

2.2.1 Cell culture

2.2.1.1 Human preadipocyte ChubS7 cell line

The ChubS7 cell line (Nestlé Research Centre, Lausanne, Switzerland) was derived from a preadipocyte extracted from Abd SAT of an obese female subject with a BMI of 54 kg/m² by co-expression of human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT) and papillomavirus E7 oncoprotein (HPV-E7) genes (Darimont, et al., 2003). ChubS7 cells retain the ability to undergo adipogenesis and have been used to study adipocyte metabolic function including glucose uptake (Gathercole, et al., 2007) following a previously described glucose uptake assay method (Liu, et al., 2001). Proliferating Chub-S7 cells were cultured in growth media (DMEM/Ham's F-12 phenol-free medium 500 mL, 10% fetal bovine serum 1% glutamine and 1% pen/strep) in a T75 flask until 90% confluence. At this stage the cells were seeded onto 6 well at a density of 30,000 cells per well grown to confluence (day 0), differentiated in differentiation media (DMEM/Ham's F-12 phenol free medium 500 ml, 3% FBS and Promocell preadipocyte differentiation medium supplement mix: 0.5 µg/ml human insulin, 400 ng/ml dexamethasone, 8 µg/ml d-biotin, 44 µg/ml IBMX, 9 ng/ml L-Thyroxine, 3 µg/ml ciaglitazone) for one week and maintained in nutrition media for the next 7 days (day 14). To analyze B12 deficiency effects, customized media with different B12 concentrations (25pM, 100pM, 200pM, 500pM, 1nM and 500nM) were used. On day 14, the conditioned media was collected, and the cells were harvested for RNA and protein analysis and stored at -80°C until used.

2.2.1.2 Human primary preadipocytes (ScWAT)

Stromal cell isolation from subcutaneous adipose tissue was collected from non-smoking, non-diabetic, premenopausal, Caucasian women with different BMI (lean overweight, obese and morbidly obese subjects) undergoing elective caesarean section at University Hospitals Coventry and Warwickshire (UHCW). Ranges of age and BMI were 25 to 38

years and 21.7 to 41 kg/m², respectively. Primary pre-adipocytes were treated as previously detailed and gene expression detection was performed by RT-qPCR.

The WAT biopsy was digested in collagenase at 37 °C in a shaking water bath. The resulting cell suspension was then centrifuged at 2000 rpm for 5 minutes. The obtained stromal vascular fraction was re-suspended in primary adipocyte growth media (DMEM/Ham's F-12 phenol-free medium 500 ml, 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS), 1% glutamine, fibroblast growth factor-basic (FGF-basic) 5 ng/mL, transferrin 5 µg/ml) and transferred to a 75 cm² tissue culture flask. The flask was kept in a 37°C, 5% CO₂ humidified incubator and the growth media was changed every 2 days until 90% confluency was reached. At this stage the cells were seeded into 6-well plates at a density of 30,000 cells per well and grown to confluence (day 0), differentiated in differentiation media (DMEM/Ham's F-12 phenol free medium 500 ml, 3% FBS and Promocell preadipocyte differentiation medium supplement mix: 0.5 µg/ml human insulin, 400 ng/ml dexamethasone, 8 µg/ml d-biotin, 44 µg/ml IBMX, 9 ng/ml L-Thyroxine, 3 µg/ml ciaglitazone) for one week and maintained in nutrition media for the next 7 days (day 14). To analyze B12 deficiency effects, customized media with different concentrations of B12 were used. On day 14, the conditioned media were collected, and the cells were harvested for RNA and protein analysis and stored at -80°C until used.

2.2.1.3 Cell culture media composition

ChubS7 growth media

DMEM/Ham's F-12 phenol-free medium 500 ml (Invitrogen #11039047)

Eagle's minimal essential media (EMEM) (Custom-made, School of Life Sciences, University of Warwick, UK)

Penicillin/Streptomycin (100X) 5 ml (Fisher Scientific, Loughborough, UK)

L-Glutamine (100x) 5 ml (Invitrogen, Fisher Scientific, Loughborough, UK)

Fetal bovine serum 50 ml

Vitamin B12 at different concentrations (500 nM, 100 nM, 10 nM, 1 nM, 100pM, 25 Pm) Primary adipocyte growth media

DMEM/Ham's F-12 phenol-free medium 500 ml (Invitrogen #11039047)

Eagle's minimal essential media (EMEM) (Custom-made, School of Life Sciences, University of Warwick, UK)

Penicillin/Streptomycin (100X) 5 ml (Fisher Scientific, Loughborough, UK)

L-Glutamine (100x) 5 ml (Invitrogen, Fisher Scientific, Loughborough, UK)

Foetal bovine serum 50 ml

Fibroblast growth factor-basic (FGF-basic), recombinant human 5 ng/ml (Fisher Scientific #VXPHG0026)

Transferrin, human 5 µg/ml (Fisher Scientific #VX0030124SA)

Differentiation media

DMEM/Ham's F-12 phenol-free medium 500 ml (Invitrogen #11039047)

Eagle's minimal essential media (EMEM) (Custom-made, School of Life Sciences, University of Warwick, UK)

Penicillin/Streptomycin (100X) 5 ml (Fisher Scientific, Loughborough, UK)

L-Glutamine (100x) 5 ml (Invitrogen, Fisher Scientific, Loughborough, UK)

Foetal bovine serum, 15 ml (3 %)

Preadipocyte differentiation supplement pack x1 (Promocell #C39436)

Nutrition media

DMEM/Ham's F-12 phenol-free medium 500 ml (Invitrogen #11039047)

Eagle's minimal essential media (EMEM) (Custom-made, School of Life Sciences, University of Warwick, UK

Penicillin/Streptomycin (100X) 5 ml (Fisher Scientific, Loughborough, UK)

L-Glutamine (100x) 5 ml (Invitrogen, Fisher Scientific, Loughborough, UK)

Adipocyte nutrition supplement pack x1 (Promocell #C39439)

2.2.1.4 Harvesting of adipose primary cells and Chubs-S7 for lipid metabolism experiments

Adipose primary cells and Chubs-S7 were scraped at 100% confluency using 500µl of lysis buffer per well and then transferred into 1.5ml centrifuge tubes and stored at -20°C. To prepare the lysis buffer, a cocktail of protease and phosphatase inhibitors was first prepared by dissolving protease inhibitor comprising 2 tablets of Roche Complete-Mini protease inhibitor cocktail (Sigma, UK) and phosphatase inhibitors made up of 8mg Sodium Fluoride (Sigma, UK) and 20mg sodium vanadate (Sigma, UK) in 1ml of milli-Q water and stored at -20 °C in aliquots. 1x of the RIPA buffer was then prepared from 10x RIPA stock (Merck Millipore, UK) and mixed with the cocktail of protease/phosphatase inhibitors at 50:1. Protein quantification – Bradford technique 1:4 dilution of the Bradford reagent (Bio-Rad, UK) and standard BSA of 1mg/ml were prepared. Standard concentration of BSA ($1-7\mu g/\mu l$) were prepared. To 200µl of diluted Bradford reagent, standard BSA/ samples (µl) were added to 96-well microplates. The absorbance was obtained spectrophotometrically (Magellan, UK) at 595 nm. The concentration of the protein was then calculated from the standard curve using the absorbance of samples obtained.

2.2.2 Gene expression assay

2.2.2.1 RNA isolation from adipose primary cells and Chubs-S7 cell line

To isolate total RNA from primary adipocytes and Chubs-S7 the cells were washed 2x with PBS and harvested with 500µl Qiazol (Sigma, UK) transferred into 1.5ml centrifuge tubes and stored at -20 °C. RNA extraction was then carried out by incubating cells in Qiazol suspension with 200µl chloroform for 2-3 minutes following initial vigorous shaking for 15 seconds. The tubes were centrifuged at 12,000xg at 4 °C for 10 minutes leading to phase separation. The upper aqueous phase was carefully transferred into clean RNAse-free tubes and the RNA was precipitated and washed with 300µl of 99% isopropyl alcohol and 800µl of 75% ethanol, respectively. After completely drying the ethanol, the RNA was re-dissolved in 25µl of nuclease-free water and used for the DNAse step with DNAse I amplification grade (Sigma). The DNAse-free RNA was quantified spectrophometrically (NANOdrop, Labtech, UK) and 300ng was used for cDNA synthesis.

2.2.2.2 Reverse transcription

cDNA was synthesized from single stranded RNA by reverse transcribing the RNA in a solution containing a primer and nucleotides (dNTPs), using RNA-dependent DNA polymerase (reverse transcriptase) enzyme. In this assay, 300ng of DNAse-free RNA was incubated with 1µl of random hexamer primer (Thermo scientific, UK) and DNAse-free water (Sigma, UK) in RNAse-free PCR tubes at 65 °C for 5 minutes. A cocktail comprising of 5x Buffer (Thermo scientific, UK), RibolockRNase Inhibitor (Thermo scientific, UK), nucleotides (dNTPs) (Thermo scientific, UK) and Moloney Murine Leukemia Virus (M-MLV) Reverse Transcriptase (Thermo scientific, UK) was prepared. A volume of 7.5µl of the cocktail was added to the content of the PCR tubes, mixed and placed in the iCycler (Bio-Rad, UK). The assay was run following the manufacturer's protocol by programming the equipment to incubate samples at sequential temperatures of 25°C for 10 minutes, 42 °C for 60 minutes and 70 °C for 10 minutes. Synthesized cDNA samples were cooled on ice and stored at -20 °C.

2.2.2.3 Gene expression assay – Real-time quantitative PCR (RT-qPCR) Principle:

TaqMan technique

DNA is amplified and quantified at the exponential phase of the reaction which provides an accurate estimation of amplicons as proportional to the initial quantity of cDNA indicated by the amount of fluorescent emission produced. The probe provided by TaqMan uses the principle of 5'-3' exonuclease action of the enzyme Taq polymerase to cleave the reporter-quencher-labelled probe hybridized complementarily to its target in order to produce fluorescence for detection. In this method, 1µl of cDNA in a 96-well PCR plate (Gene Flow, UK), 24µl cocktail including universal PCR master mix (Applied Biosystems, UK), eukaryotic L19 rRNA endogenous control (Applied Biosystems, UK) and RNAse-free water was added. The mixture was vortex mixed and centrifuged at 10,000 rpm for 15 seconds. The PCR was run using a standard TaqMan-RT PCR analyser (Applied Biosystems, UK) for 90 minutes following the manufacturer's protocol. The results were analyzed using the quantitative comparative threshold cycle method (qCCT). RNA expression was normalized to the housekeeping gene L19rRNA. Data were obtained as cycle threshold (Ct) values and used to determine Δ Ct values (Δ Ct = Ct of gene of interest - Ct of L19). Measurements were carried out on at least three occasions for each sample. To exclude potential bias due to averaging, data was transformed through the equation $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$.

Sybr Green I PCR

Primer design:

Primers for mRNAs of specific genes were designed using the Ensemble Genome Browser Primers tool (http://www.ensembl.org/index.html). Their characteristics were evaluated through USCS Genome In-silico PCR (http://genome.uscs.edu/cgi-bin/hgPcr). These include size of product between 70 and 150 nucleotides and melting temperature around 60 °C. Primers were ordered from Sigma Aldrich and 100 μ M stocks were prepared by dissolving the dried nucleic acids in nuclease-free water. Primers were stored at -20 °C.

Sybr Green I PCR

In this study, Real-Time PCR assays were also performed using Sybr Green I. This fluorophore is an asymmetrical cyanine dye able to bind the DNA. DNA-dye-complex absorbs blue light with a maximum wavelength (λ) of 497 nm and emits green light $(\lambda max = 520 \text{ nm})$. Sybr Green molecules preferentially bind to double stranded DNA intercalating in its minor grooves; hence, fluorescence intensity increases with PCR product accumulation at every cycle. Two microliters of each cDNA sample or nucleasefree water (non-template control) were mixed in a 96 well plate with 18 µl of a master mix previously made and aliquoted in the wells. Master mixes were prepared in different tubes for every target and reference gene with a volume for n+1 sample. Each one contained the following reagents at the following final concentrations in 20 µl final volume: 1X Jumpstart SYBR Green I mix, 300 nM forward and reverse primer for protein-encoding genes and microRNAs, respectively, ROX reference dye 0.1 X, nuclease free-water up to the 20 µl final volume. Every cDNA and non-template sample was tested in duplicate or triplicate. PCR reactions were run in a 7500 Real-Time PCR machine (Applied Biosystem) and thermocycle conditions consisted of an initial denaturation at 95 °C for 2 min followed by 40 cycles at 94 °C for 34 s, 60 °C for 34 s and a final step at 72 °C for 30 seconds at which data were collected. Then a step for melting curves was added to evaluate the presence of single or multiple products.

2.2.3 Radioactive flux of TAG synthesized via utilization of radiolabelled-fatty acid (14C-oleate) by Chubs-S7 and primary adipocytes

The amount of de novo TAG synthesized by cells in an interval of time can be quantified by initially exposing cells to radiolabeled fatty acid (¹⁴C-oleate) in the presence of fatty acid co-transporter (L-Carnitine). Preparation of BSA and oleate cocktail: 497µl each of 70mM oleate and 0.25% BSA was prepared in a glass tube. A volume equal to 32µl of the radioactive compound ¹⁴C-labelled-0.75mM oleate at 2000 dpm/nmol stored at -20 °C was transferred in a glass tube and evaporated under nitrogen gas to obtain a dry residue. The radioactive residue in the glass tube was then placed on a shaker at 37°C and the cocktail was gently transferred dropwise into the glass tube and left on the shaker for 1 hour. Finally, labelled media was prepared including 1mM L-carnitine, 0.75mM cold glycerol and 0.75mM ¹⁴C Oleate in DMEM media. Experimental procedure: at 100% confluency, the conditioned media in each well of primary adipocytes was removed and replaced with 1 ml of the labelled media and incubated at 37 °C for 2 hours and for background correction control cells are incubated for 5 minutes. After the incubation, the labelled media was removed and then the cells were harvested in 2 ml of methanol. The extraction of total lipids from the adipocyte cells was performed using a mixture of chloroform and methanol (2:1 v/v). The resulting layer of chloroform containing the TAG fraction was then transferred into a glass tube and completely dried under nitrogen gas. The dried content in the glass tube was then reconstituted in 500µl of chloroform and finally transferred gradually, 15µl at a time, onto a plate of silica gel 60-coated-TLC plate. The resultant radiolabeled TAG is separated by use of a mobile phase made of formic acid/diethyl ether/hexane (1:30:70, v/v/v). To accurately locate the band of the separated TAG from the total lipids, 10 nMol of glyceryl tripalmitate (tripalmitin), a TAG standard was run alongside the test and included in each sample. Visualization of the TAG bands was aided by use of iodine vapor. The bands were then scraped into scintillation vials and the radioactivity of the TAG fraction was quantified by the scintillation counter. Finally, the TAG concentration was calculated by normalizing with the protein concentration in the chloroform extract by the Bradford method.

2.2.4 Total intra and extracellular vitamin B_{12} quantification by immunoassay technique

B12 was measured using Roche Elecsys immunoassay analyzer, Cobas e 411 (Roche Diagnostics GmbH, Mannheim, Germany) at the George Eliot Hospital, Nuneaton that employs the test principle of competitive electrochemiluminescence immunoassay. The assay has a linearity range of 30–2000 pg/ml. The assay involves binding of B12 in the sample to the ruthenium labeled antibody. Streptavidin coated microparticles (solid phase), binds the biotin labeled B12 and ruthenium labeled antibody. A further wash period leaves the solid phase magnetic microparticles bound with B12-biotin and ruthenium labeled antibody, which generates chemiluminiscent emission signal that is inversely proportional to the concentration of B12 present in the patient sample. The inter-and intra-assay coefficients of variation (CV) for B12 were 3.0% and 3.7%, respectively.

2.2.5 Mitochondrial dysfunction assessment using seahorse extracellular flux assay

This technique measures the oxygen consumption rate (OCR) as well as extracellular acidification rate (ECAR) as an assessment of the mitochondrial respiratory and glycolytic mechanisms respectively. OCR and ECAR results in generation of measurable alteration in the amount of dissolved oxygen as well as liberated protons which could easily be estimated using sensor probes positioned at approximately 200 microns above the monolayer of cells, and finally calculates the respective OCR and ECAR. In the mitochondria of healthy individuals, efficient electron transfer is usually required for energy generation to enhance the proton pumping effect via the inner mitochondrial membrane (IMM) to establish an electrochemical gradient necessary for ATP formation and low amounts of reactive oxygen species (ROS) are produced. Elevated ROS can react with biomolecules such as DNA, proteins and lipids that consequently inhibit biogenesis of the mitochondria as well as increasing the rate of inflammation and or mutagenesis. Studying the OCR relative to the baseline of each treatment also provides information on how the cells respond to particular pharmacological inhibitors as part of a stress test. These metabolic events are detected by the Seahorse XF Analyzer monitoring the changes in oxygen and proton concentrations in the extracellular media. It consists of a 24 well cell culture plate where cells are seeded and a sensor cartridge that is placed on

top of the plate. The cartridge, preincubated overnight or for a minimum of 4 hours with the calibrant solution at 37 °C without CO₂, is inserted first in the instrument to allow the calibration of the probes. At the end of the calibration the cell culture plate is inserted as well after 30 minutes to 1 hour of incubation at 37 °C without CO₂. The cartridge has an individual sensor for each well. Two different fluorophore probes are embedded in polymers at the bottom of each sensor, one quenchable by oxygen and the other one by protons (H⁺). Inside the instrument, the sensor is lowered to 200 μ m above the cell monolayer, creating a micro chamber, which allows the small changes in oxygen and proton concentrations to be detected almost immediately. The detection, based on the quenching chemistry, occurs upon stimulation of the fluorophores embedded in polymers at the bottom of each sensor by a light diffused by optic fibres that are inserted into each sensor sleeve during the measurements. The measurements can be repeated several times and the oxygen consumption rate (OCR) detected and calculated.



Figure 9: **Seahorse assay:** The oxygen consumption rate (OCR) is measured in cells undergoing respiration prior to and/or after addition of inhibitors. OCR measurement is taken every 8 minutes. To ensure reliability of measurements, an average is obtained from about 3-4 readings. The first measurement represents the basal respiration which records the cellular OCR prior addition of inhibitors. Then, Oligomycin, an inhibitor of complex V or ATP synthase is added in order to obtain OCR linked to ATP respiration (Baseline OCR – Oligomycin rate) or respiration due to proton leak (Oligomycin rate – non mitochondrial respiration). Next, the addition of FCCP is undertaken to enhance electron transport chain (ETC) to function to its maximal rate following FCCP-induced shutting off the inner membrane gradient. This results in the derivation of the maximal respiratory capacity (FCCP rate – non mitochondrial respiration). Finally, antimycin (inhibitor of complex III) and rotenone (inhibitor of complex I) are added to shut down the action of the ETC resulting in the measurement of non-mitochondrial respiratory capacity.

2.2.5.1 Cell culture for seahorse assay

Chubs-S7 and primary adipocytes were first cultured by seeding 75 000 cells in T-75 flasks. After confluence was reached, cells were trypsinized and seeded in 24-well (XF-24) seahorse plates at a cell density of 10,000 cells/well under four different B12 concentrations [500nM (Control), 1000pM, 100pM and 25pM] of EMEM media supplemented with 10% FBS, 1% L-Glutamine and 1% streptomycin and/ penicillin and placed under 37°C incubation with 5% CO₂ saturation. The respective B12-media were changed every 48-hours until reaching almost 90-100%.

2.2.5.2 Seahorse inhibitors

After optimisation for concentrations of inhibitors such as oligomycin, carbonyl cyanidep-tri-fluoro-methoxy-phenylhydrazone (FCCP) and rotenone/antimycin-A to be used for the seahorse assay, the optimum 10x concentrations of 4.0 μ M, 7.5 μ M and 4.0 μ M for oligomycin, FCCP and rotenone/antimycin-A respectively were chosen. The 10x concentration (stock) of the inhibitors were therefore prepared in KHB buffer to obtain final concentrations (1x) of oligomycin (0.4µM), FCCP $(0.75 \mu M)$ and rotenone/antimycin (0.4µM) after injection into seahorse XF-24 plates. The inhibitors were loaded into the allocated ports of the seahorse cartridge which was initially hydrated in 1ml calibrant for 24 hours at 37°C without CO₂ saturation.

2.2.5.3 Sample preparation and seahorse assay

On the day of the Seahorse XF experiment, Chubs-S7 and primary adipocytes were washed in KHB buffer by removing 200 μ l EMEM media from the cells in seahorse plates, followed by addition of 1 ml of KHB. Then, 950 μ l of the KHB in 24-well seahorse plates was removed, followed by a final addition of another 675 μ l of KHB to the wells of the plate. The plates were then incubated at 37°C for up to one hour without CO₂ saturation. To run the seahorse assay, the cartridge and the seahorse XF24 plate were loaded into the seahorse analyser for measurement of oxygen consumption rates (OCRs) as previously described.

2.3 Human adipose tissue study

2.3.1 Subjects and study design

106 Caucasian pregnant women undergoing elective caesarean section at the University Hospital Coventry and Warwickshire (UHCW) were enrolled for this study. Inclusion criteria: non-smoking, non-diabetic, premenopausal. Ranges of age and BMI were 25 to 38 years and 21.7 to 41 kg/m2, respectively. The Ethics Committee of UHCW provided ethical approval for the collection human adipose tissue and issued the following approval number: SK06/9309. All the participants provided written and informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. Anthropometric measures: Height and weight, were measured in each subject and blood was drawn before the caesarean section. Biochemical values were measured by immunoassay at George Eliot Hospital, Nuneaton.

2.3.2 Adipose tissue collection

WAT was collected exclusively from non-smoking, non-diabetic, premenopausal, Caucasian women undergoing elective caesarean section at University Hospitals Coventry and Warwickshire (UHCW). Paired abdominal ScWAT and OmWAT was collected. Lean was considered pre-pregnant body mass index (BMI) of less than 25.0 kg/m² and obese was considered pre-pregnant BMI over 30.0 kg/m².

2.3.3 Serum cytokine detection with ELISA technique.

2.3.3.1 Quantikine ELISA Human CCL2/MCP1

MCP-1 serum levels of 106 women enrolled for this study was measured by immunosorbent assay (ELISA, R&D system, Minneapolis, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Standard, control and sample (200 μ l) were added to each well in duplicate and incubated for 2 hours at room temperature. After the incubation each well was washed 3 times with 400 μ l of washing buffer. Subsequently, 200 μ l of human MCP-1 conjugate was added in each well and incubated for 2 hours at room temperature. Washing procedure was repeated for 3 times and 200 μ l of substrate solution was added in each well. An incubation of 30 minutes protected by light was followed. Finally, 50 μ l of stop solution was added and the optical density of each well was determined using a microplate reader at 450 nm.

2.3.3.2 Quantikine ELISA Human IL-8/CXCL8

IL-8 serum levels of 106 women enrolled for this study was measured by immunosorbent assay (ELISA, R&D system, Minneapolis, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Standard, control and sample (50 μ l) were added to each well in duplicate and incubated for 2 hours at room temperature. After the incubation each well was washed 3 times with 400 μ l of washing buffer. Subsequently, 100 μ l of human IL-8 conjugate was added in each well and incubated for 1 hour at room temperature. The washing procedure was repeated for 3 times and 200 μ l of substrate solution was added in each well. An incubation of 30 minutes protected by light was followed. Finally, 50 μ l of stop solution was added and the optical density of each well was determined using a microplate reader at 450 nm.

2.4 Statistical Analysis

Data on adipocytes and adipose tissue were expressed as mean + standard error of mean (SEM). Whereas, data for seminal fluid analysis, was expressed as mean \pm SD and as median (interquartile range, IQR) for normally and non-normally distributed parameters, respectively. All statistical analyses were performed on SPSS 24.0 for Windows (Statistical Package for the Social Sciences, Chicago, USA) software or Prism 8 (GraphPad, San Diego, USA). Kolmogoroff–Smirnov's and Shapiro-Wilk test were used to determine the parametric distribution of data. Data obtained from the scintillation count of the radioactive flux assay were normalized with the total protein concentration (mg) in each sample (n) of Chubs-S7 and adipocytes to alleviate possible variations that might misrepresent the data. B12 and holoTC data and most of the seminal parameters had a non-normal distribution, while BMI, weight, and waist circumference were normally distributed. The Mann-Whitney U test was used for comparing two groups of nonnormally distributed data, while the two-tailed Student's t-test was applied for comparison of normally distributed data. Correlations were assessed using Spearman's method for non-normally distributed parameters. ROC analysis was performed to evaluate accuracy, as well as sensitivity and specificity of the assessment of semen and serum holoTC and CBL concentrations in predicting semen quality. A p < 0.05 value was used for statistical significance.

Chapter 3: Vitamin B12 receptors and transporters

3.1 Introduction

The absorption, transport and metabolism of B12 involve a complex gastrointestinal and cellular process that require several proteins and cellular receptors. Defects at any stage of this process have been found to lead to B12 deficiency in patients and severe developmental defects (Alam *et al.*, 2016a). Cellular uptake of B12 via endocytosis is facilitated by a complex process involving transcobalamin II (TC), a plasma protein that binds B12, and a cell surface receptor, CD320, that specifically binds TC saturated with B12 (Quadros & Sequeira, 2013). CD320 presents a high-affinity for the complex TC-B12 and internalize it by endocytosis with the involvement of vesicles. In the endosome the TC-B12 complex is unbounded from the receptor CD320 which is then recycled on the cell surface. Subsequently, the endosomes carrying the complex TC-B12 fuse to form lysosomes where TC is degraded by proteolysis, and B12 is exported into the cytoplasm of the cell (Jacobsen & Glushchenko, 2009).

Several studies explored the expression of CD320 and transporter (TCN2) that may regulate cellular uptake and storage of B12 in different tissues (Abuyaman et al., 2017; Bernard et al., 2018). The presence of TC/CD320 complex is highly expressed in kidney and liver acting as storage organs (Yamada et al., 1991). Animal and human studies conducted on the cerebrovascular system showed a close relationship between B12 deficiency and increase risk in ischemic stroke events (Casas et al., 2005; Spence, 2016) and it can be associated with neurodevelopmental and neuropsychiatric disorders such autism and schizophrenia (Zhang et al., 2016). A high CD320 expression has been observed in the placenta allowing therefore to compensate any possible lack of B12 in the foetus crossing the placental barrier (Bose et al., 1995). On the other hand, low maternal B12 status in early pregnancy is associated with major foetus complications such a neural tube defects, (Tang et al., 2015) low birth weight (Sukumar et al., 2016a) and preterm birth (Rogne et al., 2017). The presence of both TC and its receptor has been widely reported to be expressed in highly proliferating cells and upregulated in many forms of cancers (Alam et al., 2016a; Cho et al., 2008). Animal and clinical studies have been shown in fact, that mammalian carcinoma cells show an up-regulation in B12 metabolic pathway and increased cellular uptake (Collins, 2019; Woolley, 1953). These results were confirmed also by experiments conducted on adenocarcinoma cells Caco-2 (Ramanujam et al., 1991).

Population studies have shown that maternal B12 deficiency induces major health complications in their offspring (Bellows *et al.*, 2017; Lee *et al.*, 2018; Mittal *et al.*, 2017). In the Pune Maternal Nutrition Study, mothers with low B12 and high folate are associated with risk factors for the development of obesity and IR in the children at the age of 6 (Yajnik *et al.*, 2008), suggesting an important role of B12 in foetal programming. Moreover animal studies on Wistar rats showed that offspring from B12 deficient mothers had higher adiposity and altered lipid metabolism and hypothesised that this could be due to dysfunctional adipocytes (Kumar *et al.*, 2013). More recently, *in vitro* studies on human pre-adipocyte cell line showed that B12 deficiency lead to increased expression of genes involved in adipogenesis and lipogenesis and an aberrant expression of miRs involved in IR (Adaikalakoteswari *et al.*, 2017), showing therefore the potential epigenetic role of B12 in the AT metabolism.

Given therefore the possible role of B12 involvement in the adipose metabolism and in the development of metabolic diseases, the investigation of the expression of B12 transporter TCN2 and B12 receptor CD320 and intracellular B12 levels in human adipocytes is required.

As discussed in the introduction chapter, B12 appears to have tissue specific actions, especially with predilection towards red blood cells (RBCs) and neuronal cells. Previous studies have shown that rapidly dividing cells such as RBCs and neurons are more sensitive to drop in B12 levels resulting in anaemia and neuronal dysfunction (Mollin & Ross, 1953; Nuru *et al.*, 2018). However, not many studies have looked in detail of B12's tissue specific actions in other tissues such as adipocytes, hepatocytes and muscle cells. Similarly, although extreme B12 deficiency has also been associated with sub-fertility (Najafipour *et al.*, 2017), the exact mechanisms are not been studied.

Our group's previous studies show that adipocyte B12 potentially plays a major role in metabolic functions (Adaikalakoteswari *et al.*, 2017). Tissue levels rely on circulating levels of B12. However, data from the maternal-cord blood levels show that there might be active transport of B12 from the mother to the offspring through the placenta. These studies consistently show that cord blood B12 levels are higher than maternal levels (Molloy *et al.*, 2008). Whether such process happens in the adipocytes is not known. It is also not known what happens to the B12 receptors and transporters in the membrane of the AT. There is no data that has elucidated the role of the CD320 and TCN2 with intracellular levels of B12 in adipocytes.

- (1) Therefore, the aim of this study is to investigate and understand the relationship between the circulating B12 levels, the intracellular B12 levels and the gene expression of CD320 and TCN2 in *in vitro* human adipocyte cell line
- (2) Endorse these findings in cultures of human primary pre-adipocytes taken from subjects with different degrees of obesity and
- (3) Endorse these findings in mature AT from different depots of human subjects such as omental and subcutaneous.

3.2 Results

3.2.1 Assessment of Intracellular B12 levels in Chubs-S7 cells

Methods

In order to discover the cellular B12 uptake efficiency, Chub-S7 cell line pre-adipocytes were seeded at low density (30,000 cells/well in 6-well plate) and treated with six different concentration of B12 as described in session 2.2.1.1. On day 14 the conditioned media were collected, and cells were harvested with 250µl PBS after a double wash with cold PBS. Intracellular and fresh media B12 was then measured in George Eliot Hospital, Nuneaton using a competitive electro-chemiluminiscence immunoassay.

Results

As seen in table 1 and fig 10 adipocytes cultured in low B12 (25pM and 100pM) showed 167-271% higher intracellular levels of B12 concentrations. Increasing concentrations of B12 (1nM, 10nM, 100nM, and 500nM) resulted in progressive reduction of intracellular uptake of B12 to 2.5%, 3.9%, 1.6%, and 1.3%, respectively. However, the intracellular levels are still higher than the normal physiological levels seen in humans.

B12 concentrations (pM)	Fresh media (pM) (Mean± SD)	Intracellular B12 (pM) (Mean± SD)	% intake
25	65 ±1.9	177±12.4	271
100	135 ±6.0	225±68.7	167
1000	7383±353.2	189±39.5	2.5
10000	19099±73	747±116.3	3.9
100000	95394±2349.2	1548±249.6	1.6
500000	1233198±4135	16305±1615.7	1.3

Table 1: Intracellular and extracellular levels of B12 in Chubs-S7

Cells are treated with six different concentrations of B12 as reported in the table. Fresh media and intracellular B12 concentrations are represented in pM.



B12 concentration

Figure 10: Intracellular vitamin B12 intake is increased in low B12 treated cells: Chus-S7 cells were treated with six different concentrations of B12 from seeding to complete differentiation. and intracellular level of B12 was measured with a competitive electro-chemiluminiscence immunoassay. Data are expressed as mean \pm SD and significance levels are indicated as follows; ***P <0.0001 according to multiple comparison one-way ANOVA comparing against the control (500 nM).

3.2.2 Assessment of gene expression of B12 transporter TCN2 and receptor CD320 in Chubs-S7

Methods

In order to assess the effect of B12 deficiency on the gene expression of CD320 receptor and B12 transporter (TCN2) in Chubs-S7 cells, RT-qPCR assay was performed. Adipogenesis was induced in Chub-S7 preadipocytes as described in session 2.2.1.1 and gene expression was determined by RT-qPCR.

Results

As seen in figure 11 we observed a significant increase in the mRNA expression of CD320 in adipocytes treated with low (25 pM, 1nM) B12 conditions (p<0.01) compared with the control. An overall trend towards increase has been observed in other concentrations of B12 but not significant. Similarly, mRNA expression of TCN2 was increased in low B12 adipocytes compared to the control (figure 11B).





Figure 11: Effect of B12 deficiency on the gene expression receptor CD320 (A) and transporter transcobalamin TCN2 (B) in Chus-S7 cells.

Chubs-S7 adipocytes were seeded and differentiated with 6 different concentrations of B12 and mRNA expression was measured by RT-qPCR. Control= 500nM. Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM and significance levels are indicated as follows; **P<0.01, ***P <0.001 compared to control, according to Mann-Whitney U' test.

3.2.3 Gene expression of B12 receptor CD320 and transporter TCN2 in human primary adipocytes with different degrees of obesity

Methods

To understand the effect of B12 deficiency in different categories of BMI, human preadipocytes were derived from lean, overweight, obese and morbidly obese subjects (three cultures per BMI group) and cultured in control and low B12 levels. For details please refer to chapter 2.2.1.2.

Results

Our findings revealed, as shown in figure 12 A, that the relative mRNA expression of receptor CD320 significantly increased in adipocytes derived from all the categories of BM1 in low concentrations of B12 (25pM) compared to control cells (500 nM treatment).

A similar trend was observed for the mRNA expression of TCN2 transporter, showing a significant increase in B12 deficient adipocytes from overweight, obese and morbidly obese patients (figure 12 B). Lean B12 deficient adipocytes showed a nonsignificant increase. These results are in line with previous findings in Chub-S7 adipocytes.



B12 concentration

TCN2 in human pre-adipocytes cultured in control and low b12



D12 concentration

Figure 12: Effect of B12 deficiency on the gene expression receptor CD320 (A) and transporter transcobalamin TCN2 (B) in primary adipocytes derived from four categories of BMI.

Primary adipocytes derived for lean, overweight, obese and morbidly obese patients, where seeded and differentiated with 2 different concentrations of B12 (three cultures per BMI group) and mRNA expression was measured by RT-qPCR. Control= 500 nM. Data are expressed as mean ± SEM and significance levels are indicated as follows; *P<0.05, ***p<0.001 compared to control (500nm), according to Mann-Whitney test.

3.2.4 Gene expression of B12 receptor CD320 and transporter TCN2 in human omental and subcutaneous adipose tissue

Methods

In order to further validate the extent of the data obtained in Chubs-S7 cell line and human primary adipocytes with mature human AT, we assessed the gene expression of CD320 and TCN2 on OmWAT and ScWAT from 106 pregnant women who underwent c-section. After a blood analysis test, patient's AT were divided into two groups according to their B12 values (<200pg/mL and >200pg/mL) and gene expression assay was undertaken.

<u>Results</u>

Our findings revealed that, as shown also in Chub-S7 and primary adipocytes, the relative mRNA expression of both CD320 receptor and TCN2 transporter were significantly increased (p<0.05) in both OmWAT and ScWAT of B12 deficient patients compared with patients with adequate levels of B12 (figure 13).



Figure 13: Effect of B12 deficiency on the gene expression receptor CD320 (A) and transporter transcobalamin TCN2 (B) in omental and subcutaneous adipose tissue.

OmWAT and ScWAT obtained from 106 pregnant women were used to assess gene expression of both CD320 and TCN2 through RT-qPCR. In order to understand the effect of B12 deficiency on these two genes, patients were divided into 2 groups according to their vitamin B12 levels [Normal B12=60 (green dots) and Low B12=46 (red dots)] and gene expression assay was assessed. Data are not-normally distributed and reported as box charts for TCN2 (A) and CD320 (B); p derived from Mann-Whitney U-test is indicated. Normal B12 (200pg/ml) low B12 (<200pg/ml).

3.2.5 Correlation between gene expression of omental and subcutaneous TCN2 and CD320 with biochemical parameters

Table 2 shows the clinical characteristics of the cohort based on the vitamin B12. There are no significant differences in mean age and weight between the two groups but a significant different has been shown in BMI (p=0.041). HDL-cholesterol was lower in the B12 deficient group (p=0.0002) and TAGs were higher (p=0.0094) compared with the non-deficient group. Serum folate was significantly lower in the B12 deficient group (p=0.0009).

The correlation analysis revealed the relationship between biochemical values and B12 transporter TCN2 and receptor CD320 gene expression. In the ScWAT, the correlation analysis showed a significant and positive association between TCN2 gene expression and LDL (r= 0.208, p= 0.041) and cholesterol (r= 0.205, p= 0.039) serum levels (figure 14). ScWAT B12 receptor CD320 gene expression showed a negative correlation with B12 (r=-0.210, p=0.033) serum levels and negative correlation with HDL (r= 0.209, p= 0.036) and positive correlation with glucose (r= 0.205, p= 0.040) (figure 15).

Moreover, in the OmWAT, as shown in figure 16, TCN2 positively correlated with BMI (r=0.209, p=0.027) and B12 receptor CD320 gene expression negatively correlated with B12 (r= -0.268, p= 0.004).

	B12 non-	B12 deficient	
Variables	deficient group	group	D voluo
variables	(>200pg/ml)	(<200pg/ml) n=52	r -value
	n=63		
Age (yrs)	32.1±5.7	31.5±6.5	0.296
[mean±SD]			
Weight (kg)	73.2±14.6	75.6±19.4	0.708
[mean±SD]			
BMI (kg/m ²)	26.5±3.9	28.5±6.37	0.041
[mean±SD]			
Glucose (mmol/l)	3.68±0.6	3.71±0.6	0.787
[mean±SD]			
Cholesterol (mmol/l)	6.6±1.4	6.7±1.5	0.947
[mean±SD]			
HDL (mmol/l)	1.7±0.4	1.4±0.2	0.0002
[mean±SD]			
LDL (mmol/l)	4.3±1.2	4.8±1.6	0.722
[mean±SD]			
Triglycerides	2.9±0.9	3.5±1.0	0.0094
[mean±SD]			
Folate (ng/ml)	9.9±5.4	6.6±4.3	0.0009
[mean±SD]			

Table 2 Clinical and biochemical characteristics according vitamin B12 values.

P-value from Mann-Whitney U-test. Abbreviations: SD, standard deviation; BMI, body mass index; HDL, high density lipoprotein; LDL, low-density lipoprotein;



Figure 14: Positive correlation between TCN2 gene expression and LDL (A) and Cholesterol (B) in **subcutaneous adipose tissue.** Correlation analysis for all subjects was undertaken between the gene expression of ScTCN2 and metabolic-related biochemical values. ScTCN2 and LDL (A), scTCN2 and cholesterol (B). Correlations were evaluated by Spearman's test for not-normally distributed data in univariate analysis: r and p from linear regression are indicated.



Figure 15: Subcutaneous AT CD320 gene expression and B12, HDL and Glucose correlate with serum B12 Correlation between ScCD320 and serum vitamin B12, HDL and Glucose. Dots depict individual study subjects and data are presented as Spearman's R values: r and p from linear regression are indicated. HDL: High density lipoprotein.



Figure 16: Correlation of omental AT TCN2 and CD320 gene expression with BMI and B12 Correlation of Om TCN2 and OmCD320 and BMI serum vitamin B12, HDL and Glucose. Dots depict individual study subjects and data are presented as Spearman's R values: r and p from linear regression are indicated.

3.3 Discussion

The purpose of this study was to examine the relationship between the circulating B12 levels, the intracellular B12 levels and the gene expression of CD320 and TCN2 in *in vitro* human cell line adipocytes, in human primary adipocyte derived from different metabolic phenotypes cell and in mature AT of human subjects obtained from different depots such as OmWAT and ScWAT. In this study, 1) we found that human pre-adipocytes (Chubs-S7) in decreasing extracellular B12 media concentrations resulted in progressively increased intracellular B12 uptake; 2) Gene expression of B12 receptor CD320 and transporter TCN2 increased in decreasing extracellular B12 media concentrations. Human adipocytes from different degrees of obesity when cultured in low levels of B12 and mature human AT from different depots such as OmWAT and ScWAT from B12 deficient subjects demonstrated increased levels of gene expression of CD320 gene expression, which in turn could be associated with metabolic risk variables such as HDL, LDL, cholesterol and glucose.

The cellular uptake of B12 bound to TC endocytosis is mediated by the transcobalamin receptor CD320 (Bloch et al., 2017; Seetharam & Li, 2000). Recent studies on knockout mice and on human placenta proposed endocytosis, transcytosis and exocytosis as important alternative mechanisms for the transport and transfer of B12 from the mother to the foetus (Arora et al., 2017; Schneider & Miller, 2010). In this study, we measured the uptake of B12 in Chubs-S7 cultured in six different B12 media. Adipocytes cultured in B12 deficient media such as 100 pM- 25 pM showed 150-300% increase in intracellular uptake, whereas increasing concentrations of B12 media to 100-500 nM resulted in a progressive reduction of intracellular uptake to 1.6 -1.3%. Our result is in line with a recent research study on rats showing an increase in B12 endogenous ratio (tissue/plasma) in several tissues, although AT was not studied (Kornerup et al., 2018). Similarly, a study conducted on spinal cord astrocytes and oligodendrocytes derived from B12 deficient rat showed a decreased B12 content in the medium after 24 h of incubation and increased B12 cellular uptake (Buccellato et al., 2004; Quadros & Sequeira, 2013). Another study showed higher TC levels in cord blood compared with maternal blood suggesting the increasing demand of the micronutrient for the foetus (Obeid et al., 2006). These evidences therefore support our findings indicating that increased intracellular accumulation in B12 deficient adipocytes may be due to active transport of B12 from the circulation through these receptors and transporters leading to intracellular accumulation within adipocytes.

Furthermore, we investigated the gene expression of both B12 receptor and transporter under different B12 conditions. Surprisingly, in this study, increased gene expression of both TCN2 and CD320 has been observed in both cell lines and primary adipocytes under low circulating B12 concentrations (100 pM, 25 pM). A similar result was obtained in primary adipocytes derived from all categories of BMI and, in the same way, AT of B12 deficient patients showed significantly increased levels of gene expression compared to non-deficient patients. These results may suggest that the increased gene expression of both B12 transporter and receptor in adipocytes under low circulating B12 levels and in AT derived from B12 deficient patients may be an attempt to facilitate the cellular uptake of B12 as a consequence of B12 deficiency. The increased demand of B12 by the foetus growth during pregnancy could lead to a development of B12 deficiency in the mother. In that regard, a recent study showed in fact, a progressive increase in serum levels of CD320 receptor up to 35 weeks of gestation (Abuyaman et al., 2013), in agreement with our results. High serum CD320 receptors in pregnancy might be derived from the placenta where higher expression of the receptor has been shown (Quadros et al., 2009). Similarly, a recent study has shown that serum levels of the B12 co-receptor [amnionless (AMN)], which plays a key role in anchoring the transport complex of B12 to epithelial cell membranes (Pannerec et al., 2018), were increased in aged humans presenting B12 deficiency (Pannerec et al., 2018). In the same study, a negative association was observed between serum AMN and B12 levels in rats (Pannerec et al., 2018). In support to our findings earlier studies in hepatocytes showed that alterations in the number of cellular receptors rather than affinity is the result of the cellular uptake of B12 (Hall et al., 1987). An increase expression of TCN2 has been observed also in xenograft tumour tissues (Sysel et al., 2013) and in maternal cord blood suggesting a potential role in vitamin B12 transport to the foetus (Layden et al., 2016). Similarly, a clinical study shown that the level of total serum transcobalamin (TC) following B12 supplementation was observed to be higher in low B12 patients (Arendt, 2012). Our results are supported by studies on human and rat tissue where the expression of transcobalamin has been detected (Li et al., 1994). In support to these studies, our data indicates that the receptor and transporter levels only uptake the B12 levels to a certain level showing a threshold at cellular membrane entry and suggests the cellular uptake is limited even though high levels of B12 are in circulation.
Studies in the last decade have confirmed the importance of B12 for the foetal health. Maternal B12 deficiency can lead in fact to an increased risk of development of a series of neurological and metabolic pathologies. Recently genetic studies on B12 status have suggested its deficiency as a multifactorial trait, characterized by single nucleotide polymorphisms in genes involved in its metabolic pathway (Surendran *et al.*, 2018) and a study conducted on Sri Lankan population have suggested an impact of genetically lowered B12 on central obesity (Surendran *et al.*, 2019a). To the best of our knowledge no study so far has investigated the relationship between B12 transporter and receptor and metabolic related biochemical values and in that regard, and in line with these notions, we evaluated the association of serum laboratory values with vitamin B12 transporter and receptor gene expression in our cohort study .

Correlation analysis showed a negative association between Sc320 and B12 levels and same trend has been seen also in the Omental compartment (negative association between OmCD320 and B12 levels), in accordance with the studies (Pannerec *et al.*, 2018)

Interestingly, the gene expression of both receptor and transporter are associated with an increase in lipid levels and glucose, in accordance with results obtained on B12 deficient diabetic patients (Adaikalakoteswari *et al.*, 2014a). Our results are also supported by a recent study on non-diabetic patients in which a negative correlation between B12 and LDL and a positive correlation with HDL has been found (Y1lmaz Sezgin1, 2018) although no correlation with genetic expression of receptor and transporter has been evaluated.

Our study thus provides novel evidence that when extracellular B12 levels are low (25 pM-100pM), the intracellular B12 levels and the gene expression of receptor and transporter are higher, whereas opposite effects are seen at higher extracellular B12 levels (1-500nM). This suggests active transport of B12 in adipocytes at low concentrations. In addition, there might be a threshold for the B12 entry at the membrane level in higher concentrations of B12. Our findings support that optimal physiological levels of B12 are required. This will open new avenues into the pathogenesis of maternal obesity and the relevance of micronutrient supplementation and strategies for therapeutics for pregnant mothers

Chapter 4: Vitamin B12 and *de novo* lipid synthesis

4.1 Introduction

White adipose tissue (WAT) is considered a long-term depot of energy storage in the form of TAGs. It is able to expand and contract during adult life providing the energy requirements of the body. TAG have the highest energy content among the reserve substances, more than 38 kJ/g. They are produced from two precursors (acyl-CoA and Lglycerol-3-phosphate) and are stored in WAT in single large cytoplasmic lipid droplets. In obesity, the energy input surpasses energy output, with most of the additional calories converted into TAGs and stored in the AT. When WAT capacity is exceeded there is ectopic fat accumulation which contribute to obesity-associated IR. Moreover, obesity is also attributed to adipocyte hypertrophy occurring when TAGs synthesis (esterification), exceeds TAG breakdown (lipolysis) resulting in dyslipidaemia (Smith & Kahn, 2016). The synthesis of FAs and TAGs is a coordinated process that involves multiple enzymes. Adipocytes contain the "machine" needed for lipid metabolism which is altered during overweight and obesity leading to development of diseases like T2DM, atherosclerosis and hypertension (Ahmadian et al., 2007). It has been established that FAs not only function as energy but also act as regulatory signals of protein gene expression involved in lipid metabolism and are associated with inflammatory processes (Duplus et al., 2000; Sheehan & Jensen, 2000).

Human longitudinal studies and animal models show that maternal B12 deficiency is associated with the maternal obesity, development of IR and MS phenotype. Studies show independent association of TAGs with B12 in Indian and Europeans patients with T2DM (Adaikalakoteswari *et al.*, 2014). A study conducted by Khaire et al. showed increased cholesterol synthesis in B12 deficient wistar rats (Khaire *et al.*, 2015). According to Spence, B12 deficiency was considered a contributor to stroke by increasing homocysteine levels and increasing the risk of carotid plaque formation (Spence, 2016). These studies suggest a potential role of this micronutrient in lipid metabolism which may lead to adipocyte dysfunction and development of metabolic diseases (Kumar *et al.*, 2013; Sukumar *et al.*, 2016b). These are association studies and does not prove causality. However, if this is true and the mechanisms are understood, it offers a potential way of reducing the burden of metabolic diseases by a simple intervention. We therefore hypothesise that B12 deficiency may alter *de novo* lipogenesis in adipocytes adversely to cause adipocyte dysfunction.

Therefore, the aim of this study was to investigate and understand:

- The relationship between B12 and the processes involved in fatty acid synthesis in *in vitro* human adipocytes;
- (2) Endorse these findings in cultures of human primary pre-adipocytes;
- (3) Determine the effect of adipocytes taken from humans with different degrees of obesity and
- (4) Endorse these findings in mature AT from different depots of human subjects such as OmWAT and ScWAT.

4.2 Results

4.2.1 In vitro experiments

Effect of B12 on fatty acid biosynthesis genes in human Chubs-S7 and human primary adipocytes with different degrees of obesity

Methods

To investigate the expression of genes required for *de novo* lipogenesis under B12 deficiency conditions, Chubs-S7 and primary adipocytes were seeded at low density (30.000 cells/well in 6 well plates) and treated with different concentrations of B12 as mentioned in section 2.2.1.1.

4.2.1.1 Acetyl-CoA Carboxylase Alpha (ACACA)

Acetyl-CoA Carboxylase (ACC) is an enzyme which catalyses the carboxylation of acetyl-CoA to malonyl-CoA, the rate-limiting step in FA synthesis (Fig. 17). There are two ACC forms, alpha and beta, encoded by two different genes. ACC-alpha is highly enriched in lipogenic tissues such as AT.



Figure 17: Catalytic action of Acetyl-CoA carboxylase

Figure 18 shows B12 deficiency has induced a significant upregulation of ACACA in Chub-S7 adipocytes compared to control. An overall increased ACACA expression was observed in B12 deficient adipocytes from primary cultures derived from different metabolic phenotypes, reaching statistical significance in morbid obese derived adipocytes.



Figure 18: Gene expression of Acetyl-CoA Carboxylase alpha (ACACA) in human adipocytes:

The graphs show mRNA expression of ACACA in Chubs-S7 and primary adipocytes (three cultures per BMI group) derived from subcutaneous depots. The adipocytes were seeded and differentiated with different concentrations of B12 as indicated, and mRNA expression was measured by RT-qPCR. The mRNA levels were normalized to L19. Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM and significance levels are indicated as follows; *p<0.05, ***p<0.001compared to control (500nM) according to Mann-Whitney U' test.

4.2.1.2 Fatty acid synthase (FASN)

Fatty acid synthase (FASN), is a multienzyme catalysing the synthesis of palmitate (16carbon fatty acid) from acetyl-CoA and malonyl-CoA, in the presence of NADPH, (figure 19). FASN plays a role in the pathophysiology of human obesity and its related metabolic alterations.

As represented in figure 20 Chubs-S7 adipocytes cultured in low B12 condition (25 pM) showed a significant increase in the gene expression of FASN along with an overall trend towards increase with low concentrations of B12 (figure 20A). A general trend towards increase was found in B12 deficient primary adipocytes derived from different metabolic phenotypes and a statistical significance was reached in lean, overweight and morbid obese derived adipocytes (figure 20B).



Figure 19: Catalytic action of Fatty acid synthase





Figure 20: Gene expression of Fatty acid synthase (FASN) is increased in B12 deficient adipocytes: The graphs show mRNA expression of FASN in Chubs-S7 and primary adipocytes (three cultures per BMI group) derived from subcutaneous depots. The adipocytes were seeded and differentiated with different concentrations of B12, as indicated and mRNA expression was measured by RT-qPCR. Expression levels were normalised to L19 and bars represent the fold changes means \pm SEM and significance levels are indicated as follows; *p<0.05, **p<0.01 compared to control (500nM) according to Mann-Whitney U' test.

4.2.1.3 ELOVL Family Member 6, Elongation of long chain fatty (ELOVL6)

Fatty acid elongase ELOVL6, is a membrane-bound enzyme located in the endoplasmic reticulum involved in the elongation of saturated and monounsaturated fatty acids with 12, 14 and 16 carbons using malonyl-CoA as a 2-carbon donor in the first and rate-limiting step of FA elongation (Fig 21).



Figure 21: Catalytic action of Fatty acid elongase

As shown in figure 22A B12 deficiency has induced a significant upregulation of ELOVL6 in Chubs-S7 adipocytes compared to control. Same results were obtained in B12 deficient primaries derived from different metabolic phenotypes where a statistical significance was reached in all the categories of BMI (figure 22B).



B12 concentration

B ELOVL6 human primary adipocytes



Figure 22: Gene expression of Fatty acid elongase ELOVL6 is increased in B12 deficient adipocytes: The graphs show mRNA expression of ELOVL6 in Chubs-S7 and primary adipocytes (three cultures per BMI group) derived from subcutaneous depots. The adipocytes were seeded and differentiated with different concentrations of B12 and mRNA expression was measured with RT-qPCR. Expression levels were normalised to L19, bars represent the fold changes means \pm SEM and significance levels are indicated as follows; *p<0.05, **p<0.01, *** compared to control (500nM) according to Mann-Whitney U' test.

4.2.1.4 Stearoyl-CoA Desaturase (SCD)

Stearoyl-CoA desaturase is an integral membrane protein located in the endoplasmic reticulum and plays an important role in lipid biosynthesis catalysing the synthesis of unsaturated FAs. It catalyses, through a series of redox reactions, the formation of a single double bond between C8 and C9 of a long-chain fatty acyl-CoA, giving rise to palmitolate (16:0) from palmitate and Oleate (18:0) from stearate (Fig 23).



Figure 23: Catalytic action of Steraoyl-CoA Desaturase

As described in figure 24, SCD gene expression significantly upregulated in B12 deficient Chubs-S7 adipocytes. Similar results have been found in B12 deficient primary adipocytes derived from all categories of BMI. Interestingly, adipocytes derived from overweight subjects showed a strong significant increment with a fold increase of up to 26 times.



Figure 24: Gene expression of Stearoyl-CoA Desaturase (SCD) is increased in B12 deficient adipocytes: The graphs show SCD mRNA expression of in Chubs-S7 and primary adipocytes (three cultures per BMI group) derived from subcutaneous depots. The adipocytes were seeded and differentiated with different concentrations of B12, as indicated and mRNA expression was measured by RT-qPCR. Expression levels were normalised to L19, bars represent the fold changes means \pm SEM and significance levels are indicated as follows; *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001 compared to control (500nM) according to Mann-Whitney U's test.

4.2.1.5 Glycerol-3-Phosphate Acyltransferase (GPAT2)

Glycerol-3-phosphate acyltransferase (GPAT2) is an enzyme localized in the mitochondrial outer membrane and participates in the catalytic reaction of glycerolipid synthesis. In particular, it esterifies the acyl-group from acyl-ACP to the sn-1 position of glycerol-3-phosphate, an essential step in glycerolipid biosynthesis (Fig 25).



Figure 25: Catalytic action of Glycerol-3-phosphate acyltransferase

In vitro experiments showed a strong upregulation of GPAT gene expression in low B12 treated Chubs-S7 compared to the control (figure 26A,). This result was confirmed in all the metabolic phenotype derived adipocytes with a maximum increase in adipocytes derived from overweight subjects (6.6 folds higher, figure 26B).



Figure 26: Gene expression Glycerol-3-Phosphate Acyltransferase (GPAT2) is upregulated in B12 deficient adipocytes: The graphs show GPAT2 mRNA expression of in Chubs-S7 and primary adipocytes (three cultures per BMI group) derived from subcutaneous depots. The adipocytes were seeded and differentiated with different concentrations of B12 and mRNA expression was measured by RT-qPCR. Expression levels were normalised to L19, bars represent the fold changes means \pm SEM and significance levels are indicated as follows; **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, compared to control (500nM) according to Mann-Whitney U'test.

4.2.1.6 Phosphatidate Phosphatase LIPIN1

Phosphatidate phosphatase is a magnesium-ion-dependent enzyme required for adipocyte differentiation. It catalyses the dephosphorylation of phosphatidic acid, the penultimate step of the TAG biosynthesis and plays important role in controlling the metabolism of FAs at different levels (Fig 27).



Phosphatidic acid

1 2 Diacylglycerol

Figure 27: Catalytic action of Phosphatidate phosphatase

As described in figure 28 *LIPIN1* gene expression is progressively increased in Chubs-S7 cultured in decreasing B12 conditions (significance reached in 25pM condition, figure 28A) A strong significant increment was observed in the adipocytes derived from all the four metabolic phenotype categories and particularly, a fold increase up to 17 times has been reached in adipocytes derived from overweight subjects (figure 28B).



Figure 28: Phosphatidate Phosphatase LIPIN1 gene expression is upregulated in B12 deficient adipocytes: The graphs show *LIPIN1* mRNA expression of in Chubs-S7 and primary adipocytes (three cultures per BMI group) derived from subcutaneous depots. The adipocytes were seeded and differentiated with different concentrations of B12 and mRNA expression was measured by RT-qPCR. Expression levels were normalised to L19, bars represent the fold changes means \pm SEM and significance levels are indicated as follows; *p<0.05, **p<0.01, compared to control (500nM) according to Mann-Whitney U' test.

4.2.1.7 Diacylglycerol O-Acyltransferase 2 DGAT2

Diacylglycerol O-Acyltransferase 2 is membrane-embedded hairpin acyltransferase localised on the ER-membrane which catalyses the final reaction in the synthesis of TAGs in which diacylglycerol is covalently bound to long chain fatty acyl-CoAs. It plays a central role in the synthesis and storage of TAGs (Fig 29).



Figure 29: Catalytic action of Diacylglycerol O-Acyltransferase 2

As described in figure 30A in vitro experiments showed a significant upregulation of DGAT2 gene expression in Chubs-S7 cultured in B12 deficient media with a 7-fold increase. B12 deficient adipocytes from all the categories of BMI primary adipocytes showed a significant increase in DGAT2 gene expression and particularly the adipocytes derived from morbid obese subjects showed a 21-fold increase compared to the control (figure 30B).



Figure 30: Diacylglycerol O-Acyltransferase 2 DGAT2 gene expression is significantly increased in B12 deficient adipocytes: The graphs show DGAT2 mRNA expression of in Chubs-S7 and primary adipocytes (three cultures per group of BMI) derived from subcutaneous depots. The adipocytes were seeded and differentiated respectively with four and two different concentrations of B12 and mRNA expression was measured with RT-qPCR. Expression levels were normalised to L19, bars represent the fold changes means ± SEM and significance levels are indicated as follows; *p<0.05, ***P<0.001 compared to control (500nM) according to Mann-Whitney U's test.

4.2.2 In vitro experiments: Flux assay

In mammalian cells TAGs are stored as lipid droplets mainly in the AT, acting as energy reservoir. However, overaccumulation of FAs is toxic and leads to local inflammation (Duncan, 2008). The gene expression data pointed to elevated TAGs synthesis. We wanted to quantify this finding and to further explore whether the actual biosynthesis of triglycerides is upregulated in low B12 conditions. We determined this by assessing the uptake and incorporation of FA into TAGs. We estimated the *de novo* TAG synthesis in low B12 treated cell lines (Chubs-S7) first and then in primary adipocytes compared to control by quantification of the radio-labelled TAGs extracted from adipocytes after cellular incorporation of ¹⁴C-oleate for two hours at 37 °C. Adipocyte cells exposed in B12 deficient and control (500nM) conditions were subjected to incubation of 14C-oleate in the presence of L-carnitine.

As in figure 31, cellular uptake of radio-labelled fatty acid (14 C-oleate) significantly increased (p<0.001) in Chubs-S7 cultured in decreasing B12 conditions (100pM and 25pM). These results were confirmed in both obese and lean derived adipocytes where the cellular uptake for *de novo* TAG biosynthesis was significantly higher (p<0.01) in low B12 condition, indicating increased expression of genes involved in TAG biosynthesis in adipocytes (figure 32).





Chubs-S7 adipocytes were seeded and differentiated in four different concentrations of B12 and exposed to ¹⁴C-oleate. Expression levels were normalised to protein concentration. Bars represent the means \pm SEM and significance levels are indicated as follows; ***P<0.001 compared to control (500nM) according to Mann-Whitney U's test.

Synthesized triglycerides in human adipocyes from lean subjects



Synthesized triglycerides in human adipocyes from obese subjects





Primary adipocytes (three cultures per BMI group) derived from subcutaneous depots were seeded and differentiated in two different concentrations of B12 and exposed to radiolabelled oleate. Expression levels were normalised to protein concentration. Bars represent the means \pm SEM and significance levels are indicated as follows; **P<0.01 compared to control (500nM) according to Mann-Whitney U's test.

4.2.3: Experiments on the human AT

Effect of B12 on mature human adipose tissue - omental and subcutaneous adipose tissue

Multiple genetic, environmental and behavioral factors contribute to the increasing trend of obesity. It is a common assumption that vitamin and mineral deficiencies are rare in developed countries, however the increased availability of unhealthy high processed food rich in carbohydrates but with poor nutritional value can lead to micronutrient deficiency. Micronutrients therefore play a very important role and would lead to metabolic dysfunctions. As our study in human Chubs-S7 pre-adipocyte cell line and pre-adipocytes derived from human AT treated with low and normal B12, as well as different degrees of obesity (lean-overweight-obese-morbidly obese), showed that these adipocytes in low B12 condition lipogenesis is induced, we would like to further explore the gene expression of lipogenesis in mature human AT exposed to different levels of B12. To date, no clinical studies have examined the gene expression of *de novo* lipid synthesis and TAG biosynthesis enzymes genes in the AT of non-diabetic pregnant women. Therefore, to further investigate the extent of *in vitro* data obtained in Chubs-S7 cell line and human primary adipocytes, gene expression was performed on human OmWAT and ScWAT tissue-derived from our cohort study.

Our findings revealed, as confirmed by the observations in cell line and primary adipocytes, a significant increase in mRNA expression of genes involved in the *de novo* FA synthesis pathway (ACACA and FASN), elongation and desaturation process (ELOVL6 and SCD) and TAG biosynthesis pathway (GPAT2, LIPIN1 and DGAT2) in both OmWAT and ScWAT of B12 deficient patients compared with subjects with adequate levels of the B12 (figure 33). Though, a significant upregulation of DGAT2 gene expression has been seen in OmWAT of B12 deficient patients, no significant difference was observed in the ScWAT.



Figure 33: Effect of B12 deficiency on de novo fatty acid synthesis and triglyceride biosynthesis in omental and subcutaneous adipose tissue. Omental and subcutaneous adipose tissue obtained from 106 pregnant women were used to assess gene expression of enzymes involved in fatty acid and triglyceride biosynthesis through RT-qPCR. Patients were divided into two groups according to their vitamin B12 levels (Normal B12= 60 patients(green) and LowB12= 46 patients (red)) and gene expression assay was assessed. Data are not-normally distributed and reported as box charts. *P*-value derived from Mann-Whitney U-test is indicated as * p<0.05, *** p< 0.001. Normal B12 (> 200pg/ml) low B12 (<200pg/ml).

4.2.4 Correlation between relative mRNA expression of de novo lipid synthesis and biochemical values.

In order to investigate the relation between the gene expression of lipogenesis, specific to mature AT and the serum levels of B12 and the biochemical parameters, we performed correlation analysis.

Relationship in ScAT

As shown in table 3 and in figure 34, in the human ScAT the correlation analysis showed a negative association between B12 and gene expression of ACACA (r=-0.235, p=0.012) and FASN (r=-0.205, p=0.030). A positive correlation has been found between ScACACA and cholesterol (r=0.201 p=0.036), LDL (r=0.221, p= 0.031) triglycerides (r=0.211, p= 0.031). A positive correlation has also been found between ScGPAT2 and glucose (r=0.222, p=0.019) (table 3).

Relationship in OmAT

In the human OmAT (table 4 and figure 35), a negative correlation between B12 and gene expression of ACACA (r=-0.235, p=0.0123), FASN (r=-0.261, p= 0.005), SCD (r=-0.202, p= 0.032), GPAT2 (r=-0.192, p=0.042), LIPIN1 (r=-0.201, p= 0.035) and DGAT2 (r=-0.262, p=0.005). A negative correlation between OmACACA and HDL (r=-0.209, p=0.040) has been found. Moreover, positive correlation between OmFASN and TAGs (r=0.220, p= 0.025) has been seen. OmELOVL6 positively correlated with cholesterol (r=0.247, p=0.009), LDL (r= 0.298, p=0.002) and TAGs (r=0.210, p=0.027). Additionally, OmSCD positively correlated with TAGs (r=0.220, p=0.022), OmLIPIN1 negatively correlated with HDL (r=-0.217, p=0.036), and OmDGAT2 positively correlated with triglycerides (r=0.194, p=0.044).

Relative Subcutaneous mRNA expression	Serum biochemical values								
	B12 (pg/ml)	Glucose (mmol/l)	Cholesterol (mmol/l)	HDL (mmol/l)	LDL (mmol/l)	Triglycerides (mmol/l)			
ACACA	-0.234*	0.115	0.201*	0.002	0.221*	0.211*			
FASN	-0.205*	-0.040	0.092	0.097	0.107	0.083			
ELOVL6	0.028	0.060	0.011	0.136	0.005	-0.057			
SCD	0.009	0.048	-0.013	0.066	0.021	-0.092			
GPAT2	-0.100	0.222*	-0.053	0.003	-0.073	-0.042			
LIPIN1	-0.149	-0.025	-0.086	-0.064	-0.051	-0.163			
DGAT2	0.132	0.102	0.066	-0.000	0.075	-0.097			

Table 3: Subcutaneous lipid synthesis gene expression correlate with serum biochemical metabolic related values

Correlation between subcutaneous *de novo* FA synthesis and TAGs biosynthesis pathway gene expression and serum metabolic related biochemical values. Data are represented as Spearman's R values. Abbreviation: ACACA Acetyl-CoA Carboxylase Alpha, FASN Fatty Acid Synthase, ELOVL6 ELOVL Fatty Acid Elongase 6, SCD Stearoyl-CoA Desaturase, GPAT2 Glycerol-3-Phosphate Acyltransferase 2, Mitochondrial, LIPIN1 Phosphatidate Phosphatase LPIN1 DGAT2 Diacylglycerol O-Acyltransferase 2, B12 vitamin B12, HDL high-Density Lipoprotein, LDL Low-Density Lipoprotein.

Relative Omental mRNA expressio n	Serum biochemical values									
	B12	Glucose	Chol.	HDL	LDL	Triglycerides				
	(pg/mL)	(mmol/l)	(mmol/l)	(mmol/l)	(mmol/l)	(mmol/l)				
ACACA	-0.235*	-0.084	0.047	-0.209*	0.085	0.024				
FASN	-0.261**	-0.040	-0.032	-0.090	-0.046	0.220				
ELOVL6	-0.054	-0.118	0.247**	-0.010	0.298**	0.210*				
SCD	-0.203*	-0.113	0.023	-0.102	0.105	0.220*				
GPAT2	-0.192*	-0.028	-0.051	-0.014	-0.109	-0.001				
LIPIN1	-0.201*	-0.038	-0.103	-0.217*	-0.071	0.009				
DGAT2	-0.262**	0.004	0.018	0.044	0.035	0.194*				

Table 4: Omental lipid synthesis gene expression correlates with serum biochemical metabolic related values

Correlation between omental *de novo* FA synthesis and TAG biosynthesis pathway gene expression and serum metabolic related biochemical values. Data are represented as Spearman's R values. Abbreviation: ACACA Acetyl-CoA Carboxylase Alpha, FASN Fatty Acid Synthase, ELOVL6 ELOVL Fatty Acid Elongase 6, SCD Stearoyl-CoA Desaturase, GPAT2 Glycerol-3-Phosphate Acyltransferase 2, Mitochondrial, LIPIN1 Phosphatidate Phosphatase LPIN1 DGAT2 Diacylglycerol O-Acyltransferase 2, B12 vitamin B12, HDL high-Density Lipoprotein, LDL Low-Density Lipoprotein.





Correlation between ScACACA, and ScFASN and serum B12. Dots depict individual study subjects and data are presented as Spearman's R values. ACACA Acetyl-CoA Carboxylase Alpha, FASN Fatty Acid Synthase.



Figure 35: Omental lipid synthesis relative mRNA expression correlate with serum B12

Correlation between omental ACACA, FASN, SCD1, GPAT, LIPIN1, DGAT2, and serum vitamin B12. Dots depict individual study subjects and data are presented as Spearman's R values: ACACA Acetyl-CoA Carboxylase Alpha, FASN Fatty Acid Synthase, ELOVL6 ELOVL Fatty Acid Elongase 6, SCD Stearoyl-CoA Desaturase, GPAT2 Glycerol-3-Phosphate Acyltransferase 2, Mitochondrial, LIPIN1 Phosphatidate Phosphatase LPIN1 DGAT2 Diacylglycerol O-Acyltransferase 2.

4.3 Discussion

In this study, our key findings are, 1) B12 deficiency in human adipocyte cell lines (Chubs-S7) showed higher mRNA expressions of genes involved in FA synthesis, fatty acid elongation and TAG synthesis; 2) Higher synthesis of actual amount of FAs; 3) Confirmation of these findings in adipocytes from humans with B12 deficiency and in adipocytes extracted from AT of humans with varying degrees of obesity; 4) Quantification of the lipogenesis in both ScWAT and OmWAT and 5) The association of these with lipid profiles in the circulation.

Micronutrients play an important role in metabolism and a deficiency can bring about cellular dysfunction. Among the micronutrients, vitamin B12, a fundamental component together with folate in the one-carbon metabolism, is essential for several metabolic processes including energy metabolism. In the last decade clinical evidences of a correlation between B12 deficiency and adverse metabolic health profiles triggered many scientists to study the role of this micronutrient in the development of obesity. Recently a population study involving more than 9000 Danish people showed a negative correlation between B12, BMI waist circumference and body fat percentage (Allin et al., 2017). A clinical study conducted in Israel revealed a low B12 concentration in obese children compared with normal weight group (Pinhas-Hamiel et al., 2006). Similar results were observed in adult patients with morbid obesity (Madan et al., 2006). Interesting studies conducted on pregnant women characterized by B12 deficiency confirmed the correlation between this condition and increase risk of developing IR, GDM, adverse HDL levels and obesity (Adaikalakoteswari et al., 2015c; Knight et al., 2015). These data suggest therefore that B12 influences lipid metabolism and may have an important role in obesity development.

Acetyl-CoA Carboxylase alpha (ACACA) has been the first target of investigation, it's involved in the FA synthesis pathway together with FASN and is considered a promising target for the treatment of obesity. In this study, we observed that B12 deficiency, in preadipocytes cultures (cell lines and primaries derived from different metabolic phenotypes), has induced a significant upregulation of ACACA. These observations were confirmed in the two compartments of mature AT derived from B12 deficient patients, where the OmAT resulted the most affected compartment. These findings are in agreement with in vivo studies conducted in vitro and on ACACA knockout mice showing a significant reduction in malonyl-CoA levels in skeletal muscle, AT and heart tissue, along with corresponding increase in FAO (Bourbeau & Bartberger, 2015). These findings are in accordance with in vitro studies by Adaikalakoteswari on Chubs-S7 adipocytes showing an increase in cholesterol biosynthesis in B12 deficient cells due to an increase expression of SREBPF-1 and subsequent hypomethylation of this transcriptor factor which controls the genes encoding for cholesterol and TAG enzymes (Adaikalakoteswari *et al.*, 2017).

We then focused our attention on the study of Fatty acid synthase (FASN) gene, a multienzyme involved in the catalysis of the synthesis of palmitate from acetyl-CoA and malonyl-CoA. It plays a role in the pathophysiology of human obesity and its related metabolic alterations. In this study, we observed that B12 deficiency, in pre-adipocytes cultures (cell lines and primaries derived from different metabolic phenotypes), has induced a significant upregulation of FASN. These observations were also confirmed in the two compartments of mature AT derived from B12 deficient patients. The current study is in line with experiments that have shown association between FASN gene expression in AT and increased omental fat accumulation and impaired insulin sensitivity (Mayas *et al.*, 2010). Mobbs et al confirmed in FASNKO mice, that the regulation of some nutrition-sensitive hypothalamic pathways, control the thermogenic programming both in WAT and BAT (Guilherme *et al.*, 2017; Mobbs & Makimura, 2002).

We further observed the effect of B12 deficiency on the elongation pathway by analysing the key gene involved in this pathway, the Fatty acid elongase ELOVL6 which plays an important role in FA synthesis and insulin sensitivity. It has been shown, in this study, a significant increase of the gene expression in low B12 treated adipocytes (both cell line and primaries) and confirmed in human ScWAT and OmWAT. These findings are similar with experiments conducted on cultured human hepatocytes and murine models of hyperhomocysteinemia (which is caused by B12 deficiency) with an increase in ER stress and local accumulation of lipids (Werstuck *et al.*, 2001). This study also observed the desaturation process of the FA by analysing Stearoyl-CoA desaturase (SCD), showing an upregulation of the gene expression in both B12 deficient adipocytes and on both human AT compartments derived from B12 deficient patients. These findings are in accordance with animal and human studies reporting that SCD seems to play a role in the development of metabolic diseases increasing AT inflammation by inducing methylation changes in inflammatory genes (Malodobra-Mazur *et al.*, 2014; Thon *et al.*, 2017) and inducing leptin resistance in neuronal cells associated with obesity (Thon *et al.*, 2017)

We further analysed the effect of B12 deficiency on TAG biosynthesis analysing the gene expression of the enzymes involved in the process (GPAT2, LIPIN1, DGAT2), on adipocytes and AT derived from the population study confirming a strong upregulation under B12 deficiency status. These results are in line with several in vitro and in vivo studies confirming the pivotal role of those gene in the TAG and phospholipid synthesis and their important role in development of obesity (Kuhajda et al., 2011) (Yu et al., 2018), IR, lipid biosynthesis and systemic inflammatory responses (Kajimoto et al., 2016; Meana et al., 2014), adipocyte hypertrophy and lipid accumulation (Suzuki et al., 2005; Zhao et al., 2017). A population study conducted in north India showed an association between low levels of B12 and HDL, although no gene expression has been taken in consideration (Saraswathy et al., 2018) and similar finding also obtained in a study conducted on British and Indian subjects with T2DM (Adaikalakoteswari et al., 2014b). B12 deficiency leads to epigenetic changes in genes associated in lipid metabolism, as suggested by recent studies (Adaikalakoteswari et al., 2017; Fukuoka & Kubota, 2018). In this study, it has been observed that B12 deficiency in both primary adipocytes and mature AT is associated with an increase gene expression of enzymes involved in FA synthesis. These findings are in accordance with in vitro studies by Adaikalakoteswari on Chubs-S7 adipocytes showing an increase in cholesterol biosynthesis in B12 deficient cells due to an increase expression of SREBP-1 and subsequent hypomethylation of this transcriptor factor which controls the genes encoding cholesterol and TAG enzymes. Similar results were seen on experiments conducted on severely B12 deficient female mice showing a significantly higher levels of plasma cholesterol and TAGs after 4 and 12 weeks compared to control mice (Ghosh et al., 2016). In support to these experiments a study conducted by a Norwegian group on zebrafish showed that parental micronutrient deficiency (folate and vitamin B12) leads to modification in DNA methylation and lipid accumulation in adult F1 male offspring (Skjærven et al., 2018).

Moreover in order to support the findings that triglycerides biosynthesis is upregulated in low B12 conditions, we estimated *de novo* TAG synthesis in low B12 treated cell lines (Chubs-S7) and primary adipocytes compared to control by quantification of the amount of radio-labelled TAGs extracted. The quantification showed a significant upregulation in B12 deficient adipocytes, in line with animal studies conducted on B12 deprived rats in which an increase in odd-numbered FAs has been found in both liver and nervous tissue (Fehling *et al.*, 1978) but in contrast with a more recent study in which no increase in TAG has been seen in B12 deficient mice (Khaire *et al.*, 2016).

We have further explored the clinical and biochemical characteristics of our cohort study based on B12 status and correlated the gene expression of *de novo* lipid synthesis enzymes with serum biochemical values, in order to understand a possible relationship between metabolic disorders and B12 deficiency. In the ScWAT, the correlation approach showed that only FA synthesis genes, FASN and ACACA, were correlated with B12. Differently, in the OmWAT compartment the gene expression of all the enzymes involved in FA synthesis, elongation and TAG biosynthesis resulted to be upregulated in B12 deficiency patients, showing therefore a major exasperation in the OmWAT compartment. Significant associations between ScWAT and OmWAT mRNA expression of enzymes involved in lipid synthesis and total cholesterol, HDL, LDL have been shown, in line with a recent study conducted on British non GDM women in which B12 resulted to be positively correlated with HDL and negatively correlated with TAG but no correlation with gene expression was investigated (Knight *et al.*, 2015).

The results of the present study provide novel evidence that vitamin B_{12} plays a vital role in the biosynthesis of *de novo* fatty acids and triglyceride biosynthesis. Specifically, we have demonstrated that low vitamin B_{12} (a) induce an increased expression of genes involved in de novo fatty acid and triglyceride biosynthesis in Chubs-S7; (b) induce an increased expression of genes involved in de novo fatty acid and triglyceride biosynthesis in human primary adipocytes derived from different categories of BMI with a prominent increased susceptibility of this category of BMI to B12 deficiency); (c) increased expression of genes responsible for *de novo* and triglyceride biosynthesis in both omental and subcutaneous human adipose tissue ; (d) increased biosynthesis of triglycerides in Chus-S7 and in human adipocytes with a prominent increment in adipose cells derived from

Adjpose tissue is the biggest reservoir of triglycerides which is used as form of energy from the body. For instance, during pregnancy the enlistment of stored fat depots provide a source of FAs, essential for the foetal growth However, high levels of triglycerides in the blood circulation, and maternal hypercholesterolemia are associated with an increased risk for maternal-foetal complications such as GDM, preeclampsia, increased risk in developing metabolic related disease in the offspring, preterm birth (Wilson *et al.*, 1998). Moreover, studies also found associations between poor levels of B12 and dyslipidaemia

(Sukumar et al., 2016), hence, the diagnosis and treatment of dyslipidaemia before and during pregnancy results the best chance to reduce associated metabolic diseases.

The exact biochemical explanation by which of cellular B12 deficiency leads to an increment in triglycerides biosynthesis is still not clearly understood. Between the possible explanations would be 1) the increased levels of MMA due to a disruption of the mitochondrial methyl malonylCoA mutase reaction leading to an increase of levels of MMA and consequently enhancing increased lipogenesis, as suggested by a study conducted by Ruderman and colleagues (Ruderman *et al.*, 2003); 2) increased levels of homocysteine with an increase in ER stress and local accumulation of lipids, as previously shown on in vitro studies conducted on human hepatocytes and on murine models (Werstuck *et al.*, 2001).

Our data highlights that low B12 induces a dysregulation of fatty acid metabolism by upregulating *de novo* FA synthesis and TAGs biosynthesis, which might lead to adipocyte dysfunction suggesting therefore a possible role of B12 deficiency in metabolic disorders and opening new insights into the pathogenesis of maternal obesity and the relevance of micronutrient supplementation for pregnant mothers.

Chapter 5: Vitamin B12 and the fatty acid β-oxidation

5.1 Introduction

Fatty acid β-oxidation (FAO) is an aerobic multi-step process consisting of breaking down FAs into acetyl-CoA units. It occurs in the mitochondrial matrix and plays an important role in energy metabolism. When hormones such as glucagon and noradrenaline report an energy metabolism deficit, TAGs kept in lipid droplets in the AT, are released and metabolized in order to produce energy. During obesity, the disruption of energy balance which leads to AT expansion and excessive fat accumulation increases TAG synthesis, translating in a negative impact on health. Studies on abdominal muscle cells derived from obese patients showed a decreased FAO and an increased SCD1 implying a reduced FA metabolism in obesity (Hulver *et al.*, 2005; Thyfault *et al.*, 2004). Together, these findings imply that a reduced capacity for fat oxidation is with obesity.

Studies on micronutrient deficiency such as B12 confirmed the essential role that it plays in mitochondrial energy production. It's involved in the 1-C metabolism in the form of AdoCbl which is required for the synthesis of succinyl-CoA and in Krebs cycle. It has been also shown that a B12 deficiency leads to an increase CoA and FA synthesis (Tahiliani & Beinlich, 1991). These findings are reinforced by animal and human studies, lead to the conclusion that B12 play a role in lipid regulation and may play a role in obesity and metabolic related diseases. Regardless the role of B12 on oxidation of FA, some pre-clinical studies have shown evidence of association between B12 deficiency and FAO impairment. In ananimal study conducted on rats liver tissues, a disruption in the oxidation of FAs resulting from deficiency in methyl donors (B12 and folate) was demonstrated (Pooya *et al.*, 2012)..

However, there are no studies on the role of B12 and FAO in human adipocytes, therefore we investigated the role of B12 in *in vitro* human cell line and human adipose explants. The purpose of the present study is to (1) investigate the role of B12 deficiency on FAO *in vitro* human adipocyte cell, (2) endorse these findings in cultures of human primary pre-adipocytes derived from adipose tissue of individuals with different degrees of BMI, (3) endorse these findings in mature AT from different depots of human subjects such as OmWAT and ScWAT with different levels of B12 and (5) evaluating cellular bioenergetics by determining the effect of B12 deficiency on mitochondrial function in adipocyte cells.

5.2 Results

5.2.1 In vitro experiments:

Genes involved in expression of fatty acid transporters and genes involved in fatty acid β -oxidation in Chubs-S7 and primary adipocytes

Methods

To investigate the gene expression of both mitochondrial FA transporters and genes involved in β -oxidation under B12 deficiency conditions, Chubs-S7 and primary preadipocytes were seeded at low density (30.000 cells/well in 6 well plates) and treated respectively with four (25 pM, 100 pM, 1 nM, 500 nM) and two different concentrations of B12 (25 pM and 500 nM), from the seeding to the full differentiation. In order to investigate the role of B12 deficiency on different metabolic phenotypes, human preadipocytes derived from lean, overweight, obese and morbidly obese subjects were selected and used for our experiments. Primary pre-adipocytes were treated with two different condition of B12 (25 pM and 500 nM) as previously explained. Gene expression detection was performed by RT-qPCR and data were analyzed with Mann-Whitney U-test.
5.2.1.1 Malonyl-CoA decarboxylase (MCD)

Malonyl-CoA decarboxylase catalyses the conversion of malonyl-CoA to acetyl-CoA and CO₂. It's localized in the cytoplasm and it plays a role in the regulation of mitochondrial FAO, by regulating the concentration of malonyl-CoA, an inhibitor of CPT1 (Fig 36).



Figure 36: Catalytic action of Malonyl-CoA decarboxylase

As shown in figure 37A, B12 deficiency has induced a significant downregulation of MCD in Chubs-S7 adipocytes. A similar significant decrease has been observed in B12 deficient adipocytes derived from different metabolic phenotypes (figure 37B).



Figure 37: Gene expression of Malonyl-CoA decarboxylase (MCD) is altered in B12 deficient adipocytes: The graphs show mRNA expression of MCD in Chubs-S7 and primary adipocytes (three cultures per group of BMI) derived from subcutaneous depots. The adipocytes were seeded and differentiated respectively with four and two different concentrations of B12 and mRNA expression was measured with RT-qPCR. The mRNA levels were normalized to L19. Data are expressed as mean \pm SE and significance levels are indicated as follows; *p<0.05, **p<0.01 compared to control (500nM) according to Mann-Whitney U's test.

5.2.1.2 Carnitine palmitoyltransferase-1 (CPT1β)

Carnitine palmitoyltransferase-1 (CPT1 β) is a carnitine-dependent enzyme located on the outer mitochondrial membrane involved in the transport of long-chain FA into mitochondria for β -oxidation, hence a key factor in the mitochondrial FAO (Warfel *et al.*, 2016) (Fig 38).



Figure 38: Acyl-CoA transport from cytosol to the inner mitochondrial membrane

The in vitro experiments showed a strong downregulation of CPT1- β gene in low B12 treated Chubs-S7 (figure 39A) compared to the control. This result was confirmed in all the metabolic phenotype derived adipocytes where a significant decrease up to 70% in the gene expression was observed compared to lean derived adipocytes (figure 39B).





Figure 39: Gene expression of Carnitine palmitoyltransferase-1 (CPT1- β) is downregulated in B12 deficient adipocytes: The graphs show mRNA expression of CPT1- β in Chubs-S7 and primary adipocytes (three cultures per group of BMI) derived from subcutaneous depots. The adipocytes were seeded and differentiated respectively with four and two different concentrations of B12 and mRNA expression was measured with RT-qPCR. The mRNA levels were normalized to L19. Data are expressed as mean ± SE and significance levels are indicated as follows; *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001 compared to control (500nM) according to Mann-Whitney U's test.

5.2.1.3 Carnitine palmitoyltransferase-2 (CPT2)

Carnitine palmitoyltransferase 2 (CPT2) is a nuclear protein which is transported to the mitochondrial inner membrane together with carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1 is involved in the transport and oxidation of long-chain FA in the mitochondria (Fig 40).



Figure 40: Schematic representation of Acyl-CoA transport from cytosol to the mitochondrial matrix

As described in figure 41, CPT2 relative mRNA expression was progressively reduced in Chubs-S7 cultured in low B12 conditions with significance reached in 100pM and 25pM conditions (figure 41A). These results were also confirmed in B12 deficient primary adipocytes where a 50% reduction was shown in lean, obese and morbid obese derived cells compared to control.







5.2.1.4 Acyl-CoA Dehydrogenase Long Chain (ACADL)

Acyl-CoA Dehydrogenase Long Chain (ACADL) is an enzyme that belongs to the acyl-CoA dehydrogenase family, mitochondrial enzymes that function to catalyse the initial step of the fatty acid β -oxidation involved in the introduction of trans double-bond between C2 and C3 (α , β -dehydrogenation) of the acyl-CoA thioester substrate (Indo *et al.*, 1991). It has a homotetrameric structure with each monomer containing a FAD molecule required for the oxidation reaction (Fig 42).



Figure 42: Catalytic action of Acyl-CoA Dehydrogenase

As seen in figure 43, Chubs-S7 cultured in low B12 conditions showed a progressive decrease in ACADL gene expression with a statistic significance reached in 100pM and 25pM conditions (figure 43A). A similar result was obtained in B12 deficient primary cells, reaching more than 80% reduction in adipocytes derived from obese individuals.









5.2.1.5 Enoyl-CoA Hydratase, Short Chain 1 (ECHS1)

The protein encoded by this gene catalyses the second step of the mitochondrial FAO pathway. This enzyme is localized in the mitochondrial matrix and catalyses the hydration of 2-trans-enoyl-coenzyme A to L-3-hydroxyacyl-CoAs by the addition of a water molecule to the double bond of a *trans*-2-enoyl-CoA thioester (Fig 44).



Figure 44: Catalytic action of Enoyl-CoA Hydratase

As described in figure 45A ECHS1 relative mRNA expression results to be progressively reduced in Chubs-S7 cultured in low B12 conditions with significance reached in 100pM and 25pM conditions. These results were confirmed in B12 deficient primary adipocytes where a 50% reduction has been shown in lean, obese and morbid obese derived cells (figure 45B).







Figure 45: Gene expression of Enoyl-CoA Hydratase, Short Chain 1 is decreased in B12 deficient adipocytes. The graphs show mRNA expression of ECHS1 in Chubs-S7 and primary adipocytes (three cultures per group of BMI) derived from subcutaneous depots. The adipocytes were seeded and differentiated respectively with four and two different concentrations of B12 and mRNA expression was measured with RT-qPCR. The mRNA levels were normalized to L19. Data are expressed as mean \pm SE and significance levels are indicated as follows; *p<0.05, **p<0.01, compared to control (500nM) according to Mann-Whitney U's test.

5.2.1.6 Acetyl-CoA Acyltransferase 2 (ACAA2)

Acetyl-CoA Acyltransferase 2 also known as 3-Ketoacyl-CoA Thiolase catalyses the last step of the mitochondrial FAO spiral. It catalyses, using one molecule of coenzyme CoA, the thiolytic cleavage of medium- to long-chain unbranched 3-oxoacyl-CoAs into acetyl-CoA resulting in a fatty acyl-CoA shortened by two carbon atoms (Fig 46).



Figure 46: Catalytic action of Acetyl-CoA Acyltrasferase 2

The *in vitro* experiments showed a significant downregulation of the relative mRNA expression ACAA2 in B12 deficient Chubs-S7 compared to the control (figure 47A). This result was confirmed in all the metabolic phenotype derived adipocytes where the gene expression was shown in a 4-fold decrease in adipocytes derived from obese subjects compared to adipocytes derived from lean subjects (figure 47B).



B12 concentration



Figure 47: Gene expression of Enoyl-CoA Hydratase, Short Chain 1 is decreased in B12 deficient adipocytes. The graphs show mRNA expression of ECHS1 in Chubs-S7 and primary adipocytes (three cultures per group of BMI) derived from subcutaneous depots. The adipocytes were seeded and differentiated respectively with four and two different concentrations of B12 and mRNA expression was measured with RT-qPCR. The mRNA levels were normalized to L19. Data are expressed as mean \pm SE and significance levels are indicated as follows; *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***P<0.001 compared to control (500nM) according to Mann-Whitney U's test.

5.2.2 Effect of B12 deficiency on mitochondrial bioenergetic profiling of human adipocytes

Cells require energy in the form of ATP to support the biological processes of life, like growth, division, differentiation and many physiological activities. Mitochondria plays a central role in a variety of essential cell functions including FAO and oxidative phosphorylation and hence measurement of mitochondrial function would provide information of the cellular energy metabolism.

Chubs-S7 and primary pre-adipocytes were seeded at low density (10, 000 cells/well in 24 well seahorse XF plates) and treated respectively with four (25 pM, 100 pM, 1 nM, 500 nM) and two different concentrations of B12 (25 pM and 500 nM), from the seeding to the full differentiation.

Analysing oxygen consumption rate (OCR) results, following application of stress test chemicals, provided information on aspects of mitochondrial function, as described in Figure 48. In Chubs-S7 adipocytes, an overall decrease of (OCR) was found in B12 deficient cells. Adipocytes cultured in 25 pM B12 media showed a 160% decrease in OCR, whilst cells grown in 100 pM media showed a 70% decrease compared to control (500 nM) as shown in figure 48 A. Similar results were obtained in primary adipocytes were B12 deficiency (25 pM) resulted in a 320% decrease of OCR compared with the control (figure 49 A).

We further analyzed the spare respiratory capacity, a measure of the ability of the cell to respond to an increased energy demand under stressful conditions. Spare respiratory capacity was progressively reduced in Chubs-S7 cultured in low B12 conditions and was significantly lower in 100pM and 25pM conditions (figure 48B). Similar results were obtained also in primary adipocytes where cell treated in B12 deficient media showed 140% decrease in spare respiratory capacity compared with the control as seen in figure 49B.



Figure 48: Low B12 compromises mitochondrial functional integrity of Chubs-S7 in rich-substrate media: The spare respiratory capacity (A) and oxygen consumption rate (OCR) (B) of Chubs-S7 in various conditions of B12 such as [500nM (control), 1nM (1000pM), 100pM and 25pM] and a rich-substrate KHB media containing glucose (2.5mM), pyruvate (1mM), amino acid (L-Glutamine) (2mM) and BSA (0.1%) at pH 7.4 and 37°C temperature,. The data is representative of mean \pm SEM (n=6), and * indicates significance compared to control; * p < 0.05, *** p < 0.001 according to Mann-Whitney U's test.



Figure 49: Low B12 compromises mitochondrial functional integrity of primary adipocytes in richsubstrate media: The spare respiratory capacity (A) and oxygen consumption rate (OCR) (B) of primary adipocytes in various conditions of B12 such as [500nM (control) and 25pM] and a rich-substrate KHB media containing glucose (2.5mM), pyruvate (1mM), amino acid (L-Glutamine) (2mM) and BSA (0.1%) at pH 7.4 and 37°C temperature. The data is representative of mean \pm SEM (n=6), and * indicates significance compared to control; *** p< 0.001 according to Mann-Whitney U's test.

5.2.3 Effect of low B12 on fatty acid-driven oxygen consumption in human adipocytes

A negative modulation of fatty acid beta oxidation can be related to adverse effects such as liver injury, T2DM and obesity. Hence, in vitro assays that are able to identify elements that affect FAO results to be valuable. A disruption in FAO enzymes gene expression by B12 deficiency has been previously shown in this chapter. Therefore, in order to measure fatty acid-driven oxygen consumption, Seahorse XF FAO assay was used in Chubs-S7 and primary adipocytes as described in section 2.2.5. After the basal respiration (OCR) was measured in adipocytes, the cells were then exposed to 200 μ M Palmitate or 33.3 μ M BSA (basal control) in the substrate medium to assess how adipocytes efficiently uptake palmitate for ATP production. As shown in figure 50, fatty acid stress test using palmitate revealed that Chubs-S7 and primary adipocytes cultured in B12 deficient media have a lower spare respiratory capacity increase in response to palmitate than adipocytes cultured in 500 nM B12 media (control group) where a significant increase in the oxygen consumption has been shown compared to basal control (BSA). These data suggest a disruption of FAO in B12 deficient adipocytes.



Figure 50: B12 deficiency downregulates fatty acid oxidation of Chubs-S7 and primary adipocytes. Measurement and quantification of mitochondrial spare respiratory capacity in Chubs-S7 and primary adipocytes with fatty acid stress test using palmitate versus BSA control. The data is representative of mean \pm SEM (n=6), and * indicates significance compared to control; ** p< 0.01 according to Mann-Whitney U's test.

5.2.4 Experiments in human AT:

Gene expression of fatty acid transporters and genes involved in fatty acid β-oxidation in human OmWAT and ScWAT

To further investigate the extent of the *in vitro* data obtained in Chubs-S7 cell line and human primary adipocytes, expression of genes involved in FAO was performed on OmWAT and ScWAT derived from our cohort study.

After blood analysis test, patients' AT were divided into two groups according to their B12 values (<200pg/mL and >200pg/mL) and gene expression assay was undertaken.

Our findings revealed, as confirmed by the observations in Chubs-S7 and primary adipocytes, that the relative mRNA expression of FAO enzymes MCD, CPT1 β , CPT2, ACADL, ECHS1 and ACAA2 significantly decreased in both OmWAT and ScWAT of B12 deficient patients compared with subjects with adequate levels of B12 (figure 51).



Figure 51: Effect of B12 deficiency on genes involved in fatty acid oxidation in human omental and subcutaneous adipose tissue. Human OmWAT and ScWAT obtained from 106 pregnant women were used to assess gene expression of FAO enzymes through RT-qPCR. Patients were divided into two groups according to their vitamin B12 levels [Normal B12 (green)= 60 patients and LowB12 (red) = 46 patients] and gene expression assay was assessed. Data are not-normally distributed and reported as box charts. *P*-value derived from Mann-Whitney U-test is indicated as * p<0.05, **p<0.01, *** p< 0.001. Normal B12 (> 200pg/ml) low B12 (<200pg/ml).

5.2.5 Correlation between human OmWAT and ScWAT fatty acid βoxidation enzymes and biochemical parameters.

The correlation analysis revealed the relationship between biochemical values and FAO enzymes gene expression both in OmWAT and ScWAT.

As shown in table 5 and figure 53, in the human ScWAT, a positive correlation between B12 and gene expression of MCD (r=0.203, p=0.033), CPT1 β (r=0.212, p=0.026) CPT2 (r=0.325, p=0.0004), ACADL (r=0.213, p=0.027), ECHS1 (r=0.222, p=0.023) and ACAA2 (r=0.200, p=0.036) has been found. A positive correlation was found between HDL and ScCPT2 (r= 0.231, p= 0.015) and ScECHS1 (r=0.192, p=0.044).

Furthermore, In the human OmWAT (table 6 and figure 52), the correlation analysis showed a positive association between B12 and gene expression of MCD (r=0.199, p=0.039), CPT1 β (r=0.209, p=0.026), CPT2 (r=0.195, p=0.046) and ACAA2 (r=0.289, p=0.001).

Relative Subcutaneous mRNA expression	Serum biochemical values				
	B12 (pg/mL)	Glucose (mmol/L)	Triglycerides (mmol/L)	HDL (mmol/ L)	
MCD	0.203*	0.041	0.022	0.129	
CPT1β	0.212*	0.010	0.086	-0.114	
СРТ2	0.325***	-0.062	-0.067	0.231*	
ACADL	0.213*	0.014	0.048	0.114	
ECHS1	0.222*	0.052	-0.009	0.192*	
ACAA2	0.200*	0.014	0.048	0.114	

Table 5: Subcutaneous fatty acid β -oxidation gene expression correlates with serum biochemical metabolic related values: Correlation between subcutaneous FAO gene expression and serum metabolic related biochemical values. Data are represented as Spearman's R values. Abbreviation: MCD Malonyl-CoA decarboxylase, CPT1 β Carnitine palmitoyltransferase-1, CPT2 Carnitine palmitoyltransferase-2, ACADL Acyl-CoA Dehydrogenase Long Chain, ECHS1 Enoyl-CoA Hydratase, Short Chain 1, ACAA2 Acetyl-CoA Acyltransferase 2, B12 vitamin B12.ECHS1 Enoyl-CoA Hydratase, Short Chain 1, ACAA2 Acetyl-CoA Acyltransferase 2, B12 vitamin B12, HDL high-Density lipoprotein.

Relative Omental mRNA expression	Serum biochemical values					
	B12	Glucose	Triglycerides	HDL		
	(pg/mL)	(mmol/L)	(mmol/L)	(mmol/L)		
MCD	0.199*	-0.050	0.113	-0.072		
CPT1 β	0.209*	0.155	0.047	0.019		
CPT2	0.195*	-0.202*	-0.217*	0.106		
ACADL	0.004	0.074	0.079	0.088		
ECHS1	0.095	0.007	-0.066	0.113		
ACAA2	0.289**	0.023	-0.215*	-0.025		

Table 6: Omental fatty acid β-oxidation gene expression correlates with serum biochemical metabolic related values: Correlation between omental FAO gene expression and serum metabolic related biochemical values. Data are represented as Spearman's R values. Abbreviation: MCD Malonyl-CoA decarboxylase, CPT1β Carnitine palmitoyltransferase-1, CPT2 Carnitine palmitoyltransferase-2, ACADL Acyl-CoA Dehydrogenase Long Chain, ECHS1 Enoyl-CoA Hydratase, Short Chain 1, ACAA2 Acetyl-CoA Acyltransferase 2, B12 vitamin B12, HDL high-Density lipoprotein



Figure 52: Omental fatty acid oxidation gene expression correlate with serum B12 levels

Correlation between omental MCD, CPT1 β , CPT2, ACAA2 and serum B12. Dots depict individual study subjects and data are presented as Spearman's R values. MCD Malonyl-CoA decarboxylase, CPT1 β Carnitine palmitoyltransferase-1, CPT2 Carnitine palmitoyltransferase-2, ACAA2 Acetyl-CoA Acyltransferase 2.



Figure 53: Subcutaneous fatty acid oxidation gene expression correlate with serum B12 levels

Correlation between subcutaneous MCD, CPT1 β , CPT2, ACADL, ECHS1, ACAA2 and serum vitamin B12. Dots depict individual study subjects and data are presented as Spearman's R values. MCD Malonyl-CoA decarboxylase, CPT1 β Carnitine palmitoyltransferase-1, CPT2 Carnitine palmitoyltransferase-2, ACADL Acyl-CoA Dehydrogenase Long Chain, ECHS1 Enoyl-CoA Hydratase, Short Chain 1 ACAA2 Acetyl-CoA Acyltransferase.

5.3 Discussion

The purpose of this study was to examine the effects of vitamin B12 deficiency on FAO. Here we have demonstrated that human pre-adipocytes cell line and the pre-adipocytes derived from different metabolic phenotypes when exposed to low levels of B12 showed lower levels of expression of genes involved in FAO. Similarly, human mature AT from different depots, such as OmWAT and ScWAT, showed a decrease in FAO in patients with B12 deficiency. Moreover, we have demonstrated, in both cell line and primary adipocytes, that low B12 resulted in reduced mitochondrial function. In addition, correlation study findings indicate an association between FAO gene expression and B12 in both depots of AT.

Decrements in FAO capacity have been reported in obese humans and rodents demonstrating lipid accumulation and lipotoxicity (Adams *et al.*, 2009; Tanaka *et al.*, 2013). FAO plays an important role in energy metabolism and among obesity-derived AT dysfunctions, has been hypothesized to contribute to metabolic related disorders. For this reason, we investigated the role of B12 deficiency on the gene expression of each key metabolic enzyme involved in this mechanism.

Malonyl-CoA decarboxylase (MCD) has been the first target of investigation because it reduces the concentration of malonyl-CoA, a potent endogenous inhibitor of carnitine palmitoyl transferase 1, the rate-limiting enzyme of FAO (Ussher & Lopaschuk, 2008). In this study, we observed that B12 deficiency, in pre-adipocytes cultures (cell lines and primaries), has induced a significant downregulation of MCD. These observations were confirmed in the two compartments of mature AT derived from B12 deficient patients, where the OmWAT resulted to be more affected by B12 deficiency. These findings are in line with animal model studies in which an acute inhibition of FAO has been related with a decrease in FAO in the heart (Ussher *et al.*, 2016). This study is also in line with clinical studies conducted on IR muscle in which elevated malonyl-CoA levels and decreased FAO has been observed (Bandyopadhyay *et al.*, 2006) and on ScWAT of patients with T2DM where an increase of malonyl-CoA decarboxylase has been observed after treatment with Thiazolidenediones (Bogacka *et al.*, 2005). In this view, a deficiency of B12 would be involved in a decrease of malonyl-CoA by downregulating MCD, and upregulating ACACA, as shown in the previous chapter.

We then focused our interest on the study of carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1 (CPT1- β), the rate limiting enzyme that controls the entry of long-chain fatty acyl CoA into mitochondria. a strong downregulation of the gene expression has been observed in both Chubs-S7 cell lines and primary adipocytes treated in low B12 conditions. These observations were established in OmWAT and ScWAT derived from B12 deficient patients. This study is in line with animal studies on CPT1 knockout mice which showed a diminished fat oxidation capacity and an increased lipid levels (Wicks *et al.*, 2015). A study conducted on liver tissue of wistar rat offspring where a deficiency of B12 led to increased cholesterol levels and reduced liver mRNA levels of CPT-1 (Khaire *et al.*, 2015). In the current study, the downregulation of CPT1- β due to reduced B12 levels would reduce the passage of Acyl-CoA for β -oxidation leading therefore to lipid accumulation.

In this study, a significant downregulation of carnitine palmitoyltransferase 2 (CPT2) gene expression, gene involved in the transport of long-chain FAs in the mitochondria has been observed in low B12 treated adipocytes and in both human AT compartments of B12 deficient patients. This study is in line with recent *in vitro* studies on hepatocytes in which a downregulation of CPT2 has been associated with acylcarnitine accumulation causing FA accumulation and obesity driven steatohepatits (Fujiwara *et al.*, 2018). An accumulation of acylcarnitine has been also observed in B12 deficient rats in which an increase has been observed in serum and liver, confirming that changes in carnitine metabolism were consistent with the changes in CoA metabolism known to occur with B12 deficiency (Brass & Stabler, 1988).

Then we analysed the expression of Acyl-CoA Dehydrogenase Long Chain (ACADL), the mitochondrial enzyme that function to catalyse the initial step of the FAO (Indo *et al.*, 1991). In low B12 conditions, a downregulation of the gene expression in both Chubs-S7 cell lines and primary adipocytes cultured in B12 deficient conditions has been shown. These observations were confirmed in the two compartments of mature AT derived from B12 deficient patients. ACAD family enzymes has been negatively associated with T2DM and metabolic related diseases as confirmed by a study on ACAD10 deficient mice where impaired glucose tolerance, peripheral IR, and abnormal weight gain has been shown (Bloom *et al.*, 2018).

The effect of B12 deficiency on the second step of the mitochondrial FAO Enoyl-CoA Hydratase, Short Chain 1 (ECHS1), has been analysed on human adipocytes cell line, primaries and in OmWAT and ScWAT where a significant downregulation has been seen. A decrease in ECHS1 gene expression by B12 deficiency would lead to a reduction of FA metabolism, translating in lipid accumulation and then in obesity. In support to this is an *in vitro* study conducted on the AT of induced obese mice where a dysregulation of ECHS1 has been seen (Moreno-Viedma *et al.*, 2016).

We lastly investigated the role of vitamin B12 deficiency on Acetyl-CoA Acyltransferase 2 (ACAA2), the enzyme that catalyses the last step of mitochondrial FAO, discovering a downregulation of the gene expression both in human adipocytes and in OmWAT and ScWAT. This study is in line with clinical studies where a dysregulation of this enzyme has been associated with increased risk for coronary artery diseases and abnormal blood lipid levels (Kathiresan *et al.*, 2008; Willer *et al.*, 2008). Similar findings were observed in rat models where B12 deficiency resulted in decreased oxidation rate of palmitoyl-CoA and palmitoyl-L-carnitine in liver (Pooya *et al.*, 2012)..

B12 is required for the conversion of MMA to succinyl-CoA through the action of methylmalonyl-CoA mutase. During a B12 deficiency state the enzyme function of methylmalonyl-CoA mutase in inhibited, causing therefore an accumulation of MMA which is, along with other health diseases, hypothesized to affect mitochondrial respiration decreasing mitochondrial complexes II and I activity (Brito et al., 2017; Kolker et al., 2003; Preynat et al., 2010; Wajner & Coelho, 1997). These data suggest the key role that B12 might play in the cellular respiration. According to these findings, the effect of B12 deficiency on mitochondrial health of human cell line and primary adipocytes has been explored through Seahorse XF technology. As predicted low B12 decreased the oxygen consumption rate and the spare respiratory capacity, translating in a reduced ability of the cell to respond to an increased energy demand under stressful conditions. This finding is in line with studies on rat liver where an inhibition of succinate dehydrogenase (respiratory complex II) has been shown after mitochondrial MMA accumulation secondary to vitamin B12 deficiency (Toyoshima et al., 1995) and an in vivo and in vitro study conducted on B12 deficient mice in which a decreased respiration rate has been shown in liver mitochondria (Gessler et al., 1992). Furthermore, this study highlighted through FA stress test, that B12 deficient adipocytes have a lower spare respiratory capacity increase in response to palmitate than adipocytes cultured in 500 nM B12 media (control group) confirming therefore that adipocytes under B12 deficiency are

inefficient in oxidising the fatty acid palmitate thereby implying FAO disruption in low B12 status.

In order to understand a possible relationship between B12 deficiency and metabolic disorder, we have further explored the clinical and biochemical characteristics of our cohort study based on B12 status and correlated with β -oxidation gene expression. Interestingly, in ScWAT all the genes involved in β -oxidation and taken in consideration in this study, result to be positively correlated with B12. A similar result has been observed also in OmWAT where MCD, CPT1 β , CPT2 and ECHS1 genes are associated positively with B12. This result validates the hypothesis of the important impact of B12 on management of lipid metabolism.

The correlation approach showed a positive association between ScWAT mRNA expression of CPT2 and ECHS1 with serum HDL levels, whereas in the OmWAT, a negative correlation has been observed between CPT2 and Glucose. Omental CPT2 gene expression, as well as ACAA2 negatively correlated with TAGs. These findings are in accordance with the theory that obesity decreases FAO and increases dyslipidaemia (Berggren *et al.*, 2008; Houmard, 2008; Serra *et al.*, 2013).

The exact biochemical explanation by which of cellular B12 deficiency leads to impairment in FAO and mitochondrial respiration is still well understood. According to the result of the present study the possible explanations that would be suggested are the following:

1) Decreased gene expression of malonyl-CoA decarboxylase that leads to increased malonyl-CoA levels that brings to downregulation of carnitine palmitoyl transferase (CPT-1) (Ruderman *et al.*, 2003);

2) Impairment in the biosynthesis of carnitine, molecule that plays an important role in facilitating the entry of long-chain FAs into the mitochondria via the carnitine shuttle (Brito *et al.*, 2017)..

3) Increase in MMA levels due to reduced mitochondrial chain respiration, translating therefore in a decreased respiratory capacity and mitochondrial health (Kolker *et al.*, 2003).Our data highlights therefore that low B12 induces a dysregulation of FA metabolism by downregulating FAO genes and inducing mitochondrial damage, which might lead to adipocyte dysfunction and suggest a possible role of B12 deficiency in metabolic disorders.

Chapter 6: Vitamin B12 and inflammation

6.1 Introduction

The adipose tissue is highly heterogeneous and besides its role as energy reservoir and endocrine organ, it's recognized as an important immune organ. AT is able to secrete both anti- and pro-inflammatory adipokines and comprises a large diversity of immune cells which allows the crosstalk between metabolism and immunity (Stolarczyk, 2017). The primary role of AT is to control energy balance and secrete a large number of hormones, proteins and lipids to coordinate and regulate other tissues. During over nutrition status, adipocytes enlarge in size for extra lipid storage causing hypertrophy and also ectopically accumulates in perivascular regions and liver (Reilly & Saltiel, 2017). The increased volume of adipocytes leads to an abnormal adipokine production, mainly cytokines, which results in activation of some pro-inflammatory signaling pathways. This develops into a low-grade chronic inflammation, typical of many of the comorbidities of obesity, including T2DM, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease, cancer, CVD, and neurodegenerative diseases.

According to the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES III) in the United States, the prevalence of low serum vitamin B12 status was in fact 3.2% among adults and rising up to 4.4% for those aged >50 years in 2010 (Evatt *et al.*, 2010). B12 deficiency in pregnant women is increasingly common and has been shown to be associated with higher BMI, GDM, and T2DM (Adaikalakoteswari *et al.*, 2014a; Sukumar *et al.*, 2016a; Yajnik *et al.*, 2008). Moreover, recent studies have indicated that B12 is an antioxidant and lower status of B-12 might be a potential trigger contributing to increased oxidative stress, particularly in patients with T2DM, a diseased condition related to oxidative stress and chronic inflammatory disease (Birch *et al.*, 2009). This antioxidant or anti-inflammation activity of B12 might, therefore, modulate oxidative and inflammatory stress responses. However, there are no studies on the role of B12 on pro-inflammatory genes in AT.

A recent clinical study showed association between B12 deficiency and high oxidative stress and inflammatory markers in diabetic and obese patients, suggesting a crucial role of this micronutrient in the development of metabolic related diseases (Al-Daghri *et al.*, 2016). B12, is an essential micronutrient required for several metabolic reactions (Saravanan & Yajnik, 2010), it acts as an essential cofactor for the mitochondrial conversion of methylmalonyl-CoA to succinyl-CoA, and its deficiency blocks this reaction and leading to FAO inhibition, resulting in AT enlargement through lipogenesis

(Adaikalakoteswari *et al.*, 2014a). Our group has also shown that B12 deficiency dysregulates cholesterol biosynthesis which may lead to adipocyte dysfunction (Adaikalakoteswari *et al.*, 2014) and cellular inflammation (Kumar *et al.*, 2013; Sukumar *et al.*, 2016).

Several animal and human studies have demonstrated that dyslipidemia can trigger proinflammatory status and increase production of pro-inflammatory cytokines developing into chronic diseases such as atherosclerosis (Catapano et al., 2017; Fatkhullina et al., 2016; Jung & Choi, 2014). Many cytokines play in fact a crucial role in inflammation of AT. IL-1 β is responsible of hyperplasia in ScWAT and protagonist of the regulation of lipogenesis in the macrophage cell membrane playing a central role between lipid metabolism and innate immunity (Speaker & Fleshner, 2012). TGF-B is implicated in different biological processes like cell migration and adhesion, tissue remodeling and controls multiple aspects of adipose biology. It's highly expressed in AT of obese patients and contribute to AT fibrosis (Lee, 2018). IL-6 cytokine is expressed by cells of the stromal vascular fraction like pre-adipocytes, endothelial cells and monocytemacrophages and then secreted in the circulation. It is thought that 15 to 30% of circulating IL-6 levels is derived from AT without an acute inflammation. Several studies conducted both in mice and humans have shown high expression of this molecule in AT of obese and insulin-resistant subjects and *in vivo* and *in vitro* hyperglycemic models (Bastard et al., 2006; Trayhurn & Wood, 2004). IL-8 is a pro-inflammatory cytokine produced mainly by macrophages and monocytes. It induces adhesion of monocytes to endothelium causing atherosclerosis and plays an important role in the modulation of inflammatory response. It's highly expressed in the AT of obese and insulin-resistant patients and correlates positively with visceral fat mass in obese subjects (Bruun et al., 2004; Cimini et al., 2017). IL-18 is a pro-inflammatory cytokine expressed in both ScWAT and OmWAT tissue and highly correlated with obesity and IR. Studies reported that IL-18 predict cardiovascular events and mortality in a population with metabolic syndrome (Ahmad et al., 2017; Wood et al., 2005). MCP1 is involved in inflammatory cells recruitment in AT of obese subjects. Meijer et al reported that adipocyte-derived MCP-1 can stimulate inflammation in human AT independently of macrophages. Large cohort studies conducted in Caucasians and Chinese population indicated that an increase of CCL2/MCP-1 in T2DM subjects (Meijer et al., 2011; Raina et al., 2015). TNF-α is mainly secreted by subcutaneous stromal vascular fraction cells. It has an autocrine and paracrine influence in a range of processes and plays a pivotal role in the stimulation and production of other adipokines like IL-6. Several studies conducted on mice confirmed the increase of TNF- α expression in obese models and is linked to IR through the inhibition of the insulin receptor (Hotamisligil, 2003). Studies in humans show expression of TNF- α is increased in obesity and IR (Jung & Choi, 2014).

Since the association between B12 deficiency and BMI and lipid metabolism is shown in previous chapters, we hypothesize that B12 deficiency might play a role in inflammation. Hence, we decided to study the role of B12 on the major cytokines that play an important role in obesity and metabolic diseases. The aim of this study is to investigate and understand (1) the relationship between B12 and the processes involved in inflammation in *in vitro* human adipocyte cell; (2) endorse these findings in cultures of human primary pre-adipocytes taken from subjects with different degrees of BMI; (3) endorse these findings in mature AT from subjects with low and normal levels of B12 indifferent adipose depots such as ScWAT and OmWAT; (4) evaluate serum cytokine expression in patients with low and normal levels of B12.

6.2 Results

6.2.1 Effect of B12 on gene expression of inflammatory cytokines in Chubs-S7 <u>Methods</u>

To investigate the gene expression of inflammatory cytokines in Chubs-S7 pre-adipocytes under B12 deficiency conditions, were seeded in 6-well plates and differentiated as described in the methods section. Changes in mRNA expression of IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-8, IL-18, MCP-1, TGF- β and TNF- α in the four different condition of B12 were observed. Different cytokine mRNA levels measured were compared with the control (500 nM).

Results

As shown in figure 54, pre-adipocytes cultured in low B12 conditions (25 pM) showed significantly increased gene expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-8, IL-18, MCP-1, TGF- β and TNF- α compared to control.



Figure 54: Gene expression of inflammatory markers altered in low B12 treated cells: The graphs show mRNA expression of IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-8, IL-18, MCP-1, TGF- β and TNF- α in Chubs-S7. The adipocytes where seeded and differentiated with four different concentrations of B12 and mRNA expression was measured by RT-qPCR. The mRNA levels of each gene were normalized to L19. Data are expressed as mean ± SE and significance levels are indicated as follows; *p<0.05, **P<0.01, ***P<0.001, according to Mann-Whitney U' test.

6.2.2 Effect of B12 on gene expression of inflammatory cytokines in human primary pre-adipocytes derived from different BMI groups.

Methods

To further assess the effect of B12 deficiency on the gene expression of inflammatory cytokines, and confirm the results observed in Chub-S7 cell line, we performed our experiments in human subcutaneous primary pre-adipocytes derived from subjects with different degrees of obesity. Primary preadipocytes were treated with two different concentrations of B12 such as 25 pM (low B12) and 500 nM (considered the control), Different cytokine mRNA levels were compared with the control (500 nM).

Results

Our findings revealed that adipocytes from all the categories of BMI showed a significant increment in relative mRNA expression of inflammatory cytokines IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-8, IL-18, MCP-1, TGF- β and TNF- α when treated in B12 deficiency condition. Interestingly, morbidly obese and overweight derived adipocytes showed higher gene expression of cytokines in low B12. In particular, overweight derived adipocytes showed a 20-fold increase in IL-8 and MCP-1 mRNA expression. Morbid obese derived adipocytes showed 30-fold increase in IL-8 mRNA levels (figure 55).

500 nM B12 (control) 25 pM B12



Figure 55: Effect of B12 deficiency on the gene expression of inflammatory cytokines in primary adipocytes derived from four categories of BMI. Primary subcutaneous derived adipocytes from lean, overweight, obese and morbidly obese patients (3 cultures per group), where seeded and differentiated with two different concentrations of B12 and mRNA expression was measured byRT-qPCR. Data are expressed as mean ± SEM and significance levels are indicated as follows; *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, compared to control (500nm), according to Mann-Whitney U's test.

6.2.4 Experiments in human AT:

Effect of B12 on gene expression of inflammatory cytokines in mature human AT from different depots

Methods

In order to investigate the extent of the data obtained in Chubs-S7 cell line and human primary adipocytes, we performed the study on human OmWAT and ScWAT taken from pregnant women. Different cytokine mRNA levels measured in different depots in low B12 AT and compared with the normal B12.

Results

Our findings revealed, as confirmed in cell line and primary adipocytes, a significant increase of mRNA expression of inflammatory cytokines IL-1, IL-6, IL-8, IL-18, MCP-1, TGF- β , TNF- α in both OmWAT and ScWAT of B12 deficient patients compared with subjects with adequate levels of B12 (figure 56) except TGF- β in OmWAT (figure 56F).


Figure 56 Effect of B12 deficiency on inflammatory cytokine gene expression in omental and subcutaneous adipose tissue. Omental and subcutaneous adipose tissue obtained from 106 pregnant women were used to assess gene expression of inflammatory cytokines by RT-qPCR. Patients were divided into two groups according to their vitamin B12 levels (Normal B12= 60 (green) and LowB12=46 (red)) and gene expression assay was assessed. Data are not-normally distributed and reported as box charts. *P*-value derived from Mann-Whitney U-test is indicated as * p<0.05, ** p< 0.01. Normal B12 (> 200pg/ml) low B12 (<200pg/ml).

6.2.5 Serum inflammatory cytokines levels detection in the cohort study

To further validate the results obtained from the gene expression assay on the AT, we examined the serum levels of MCP1 and IL-8 pro-inflammatory cytokines. Elisa technique as described in section 2.3.3. As seen in figure 57, we found a significant increase of MCP1 and IL-8 in the serum of B12 deficient patients than the normal B12 level. This indicates that micronutrient B12 deficiency affects circulatory cytokines. On the other hand, current evidence demonstrated that B12 deficiency is linked with increased risk in the development of CVD and IR through hyperhomocysteinemia (Lai & Kan, 2015).





(A) MCP1 and (B) IL-8 serum concentrations. Patients were divided into two groups according to their vitamin B12 levels (Normal B12 (control)=63 (red) and LowB12=52 (green)) serum cytokines concentrations were assessed. Data are not-normally distributed. Dots depict individual study subjects, the line represents the mean and the whiskers depict the standard error mean. *P*-value derived from Mann-Whitney U-test is indicated as ***p < 0.001. Normal B12 (> 200pg/ml) low B12 (<200pg/ml).

6.2.6 Association between inflammatory cytokines in AT, circulating B12 and biochemical values

Next in order to investigate the relation between the gene expression of inflammatory cytokines, specific to mature AT and the serum levels of B12 and the biochemical parameters, we performed Spearman' correlation analysis.

Subcutaneous Adipose Tissue:

In ScWAT the correlation analysis showed a negative association between B12 and mRNAs of IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-18, MCP-1 and TNF- α but not IL-8 and TNF- β (Figure 58). A positive correlation has been found between ScIL-1 β and LDL as well as circulating MCP-1 and IL-8. A positive correlation has been ScIL-8 positively correlated with glucose and triglycerides and negatively with HDL. ScMCP-1 negatively correlated with serum HDL (Table 7).

Omental adipose tissue:

Figure 59 shows a negative association between B12 and mRNAs of IL-1 β , IL-18, and MCP-1 but not with IL-6, IL-8, TGF- β and TNF- α . In addition, OmIL-6 positively correlated with LDL and negatively with serum IL-8. OmIL-8 negatively correlated with glucose and HDL. OmIL-18 negatively correlated with HDL and positively correlated with TAGs and serum IL-8. OmTGF- β negatively correlated with cholesterol and LDL. OmTNF α positively correlated with glucose and HDL (Table 8).

Relative Sub. mRNA expressi on	Serum biochemical values						
-	Glucose	Chol.	HDL	LDL	Triglyce	MCP-1	IL-8
	(mmol/l)	(mmol/l)	(mmol/l)	(mmol/l)	rides (mmol/l)	(pg/ml)	(pg/ml)
IL-1β	0.080	0.136	0.056	0.263**	-0.063	0.325**	0.234*
IL-6	0.097	0.025	-0.029	0.026	0.026	-0.000	0.132
IL-8	-0.206*	-0.109	-0.203*	0.012	0.201*	0.138	0.121
IL-18	0.120	-0.005	-0.022	0.028	-0.030	0.009	0.122
MCP-1	-0.002	-0.063	-0.255**	0.011	0.134	-0.015	0.054
TGF-β	-0.087	-0.026	0.082	-0.060	-0.073	0.120	0.135
TNF-α	-0.031	0.156	0.110	0.138	0.030	0.006	0.0061

Table 7: Subcutaneous fatty acid β-oxidation gene expression correlates with serum biochemical metabolic related values

Correlation between subcutaneous inflammatory cytokines mRNA expression and serum metabolic related biochemical values. Data are represented as Spearman's R values. Abbreviation: IL-1 β interleukin-1 beta, IL-6 interleukin-6 IL-8, interleukin-8; IL-18, interleukin-18 MCP-1, monocyte chemoattractant protein-1, TGF- β transforming growth factor beta, TNF- α tumour necrosis factor alpha,HDL high-Density lipoprotein, LDL low-Density lipoprotein.

Relative Omental mRNA expressio n	Serum biochemical values						
	Glucose (mmol/ L)	Cholester ol (mmol/L)	HDL (mmol/ L)	LDL (mmol/ L)	Triglycerid es (mmol/L)	MCP- 1 (pg/ml)	IL-8 (pg/ml)
IL-1β	-0.060	0.196*	0.027	0.212*	-0.040	-0.250*	-0.013
IL-6	-0.083	0.077	0.070	0.203*	-0.044	-0.083	-0.257*
IL-8	-0.206*	-0.109	-0.203*	0.012	0.020	0.138	0.121
IL-18	0.006	0.029	- 0.333***	0.122	0.361**	0.160	0.232*
MCP-1	0.113	-0.008	-0.084	0.090	-0.033	0.145	0.030
TGF-β	0.049	-0.232*	-0.091	-0.215*	-0.061	0.140	0.140
ΤΝΓ-α	0.203*	-0.037	0.198*	-0.070	-0.029	0.077	0.069

Table 8: Omental fatty acid β -oxidation gene expression correlates with serum biochemical metabolic related values

Correlation between omental inflammatory cytokines mRNA expression and serum metabolic related biochemical values. Data are represented as Spearman's R values. Abbreviation: IL-1 β interleukin-1 beta, IL-6 interleukin-6 IL-8, interleukin-8; IL-18, interleukin-18 MCP-1, monocyte chemoattractant protein-1, TGF- β transforming growth factor beta, TNF- α tumour necrosis factor alpha. , HDL high-Density lipoprotein, LDL low-Density lipoprotein.



Figure 58: Subcutaneous inflammatory cytokines mRNA expression correlate with serum B12 Correlation between subcutaneous IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-18, MCP-1, TNF- α and serum vitamin B12. Dots depict individual study subjects and data are presented as Spearman's R values: IL-1 β interleukin-1 beta, IL-6 interleukin-6 IL-8, interleukin-8; MCP-1, monocyte chemoattractant protein-1, TNF- α tumour necrosis factor alpha.



Figure 59: Omental inflammatory cytokines mRNA expression correlate with serum B12

Correlation between omental IL-1 β , IL-18, MCP-1 and serum vitamin B12. Dots depict individual study subjects and data are presented as Spearman's R values: IL-1 β interleukin-1 beta, IL-8, interleukin-8; MCP-1, monocyte chemoattractant protein-1.

To understand the clinical and cardiometabolic variables in low and normal B12 levels, Table 9 shows these characteristics based on these circulating B12 status (This is also shown in chapter 3). HDL were lower TAGs were higher in the deficient group with similar levels of age, BMI and glucose levels. Serum folate was significantly higher in the normal B12 group (Table 9).

Interestingly, as shown in figure 60, serum MCP-1 and IL-8 were highly negatively correlated with B12 and a positive correlation has been found with glucose suggesting, therefore, a possible association of these parameters. Moreover, the inflammatory markers were significantly correlated with each other. No correlation has been found with other biochemical values.

	B12 non-	B12 deficient		
Variables	deficient group (>200pg/ml) n=63	group (<200pg/ml) n=52	P-value	
Age (yrs.)	32.1±5.7	31.5±6.5	0.296	
[mean±SD]				
Weight (kg)	73.2±14.6	75.6±19.4	0.708	
[mean±SD]				
BMI (kg/m ²)	26.5±3.9	28.5±6.37	0.041	
[mean±SD]				
Glucose (mmol/l)	3.68±0.6	3.71±0.6	0.787	
[mean±SD]				
Cholesterol (mmol/l)	6.6±1.4	6.7±1.5	0.947	
[mean±SD]				
HDL (mmol/l)	1.7±0.4	1.4±0.2	0.0002	
[mean±SD]				
LDL (mmol/l)	4.3±1.2	4.8±1.6	0.722	
[mean±SD]				
Triglycerides	2.9±0.9	3.5±1.0	0.0094	
(mmol/l)				
[mean±SD]				
Folate (ng/ml)	9.9±5.4	6.6±4.3	0.0009	
[mean±SD]				

Table 9: Clinical and biochemical characteristics according to vitamin B12 values.P-value fromMann-Whitney U-test. Abbreviations: SD, standard deviation; BMI, body mass index; HDL, high-densitylipoprotein; LDL, low-density lipoprotein.



Figure 60: Correlation between serum inflammatory cytokine MCP-1 and IL-8 and serum vitamin B12

Correlation between serum levels of MCP-1 and IL-8 and serum B12. Dots depict individual study subjects and data are presented as Spearman's R values. IL-8, interleukin-8; MCP-1, monocyte chemoattractant protein-1.

6.3 Discussion

The purpose of this study was to examine the effects of B12 deficiency on inflammatory genes in the AT and circulating levels. In this study, we found increased gene expression of inflammatory cytokines in human pre-adipocyte cell line, pre-adipocytes derived from human mature AT from individuals with different degrees of obesity and exposed to low levels of B12 as well as in human mature AT from different depots such as OmWAT and ScWAT. In addition, the circulatory cytokines levels were higher in subjects with B12 deficiency.

There is a well-organized interaction between the metabolic and immune system and an unbalanced nutritional status can bring instability in this well tight synergy. Over and under-nutrition status can, in fact, influence the proper immune functions by activating a low-grade stress condition that would lead to an activation of the immune system, or on the contrary a suppression (under-nutrition status). The activation of AT inflammation induces, therefore, a low-grade systemic inflammation leading to IR and development of metabolic related diseases. In this scenario, micronutrients seem to play a key role with several studies demonstrating the possible influence of an unbalanced micronutrient diet on health. For this reason, we investigated the role of B12 deficiency on key cytokine gene expression.

Interleukin 1 beta (IL-1 β) has been the first target of investigation, it's a cytokine expressed mainly by ScWAT with an autocrine and/or paracrine role. It has also been suggested that IL-1 β could have important role in the regulation of lipogenesis in the macrophage cell membrane giving to it a central role in the link between lipid metabolism and innate immunity (Speaker & Fleshner, 2012). In this study, we observed that B12 deficiency, in pre-adipocytes cultures (cell lines and primaries derived from different metabolic phenotypes), has induced a significant upregulation of IL-1 β . These observations were confirmed in the two compartments of mature AT derived from B12 deficient patients, where the ScWAT resulted the most affected compartment, confirming the literature. This study is in line with an in vitro study conducted on non-visceral AT in which lipid retain, hyperplasia and IL- 1 β has been observed after acute stress induction (Ha *et al.*, 2013). We then focused our attention on the study of interleukin 6 (IL-6) gene expression, cytokine expressed by cells of the stromal vascular fraction like pre-

adipocytes, endothelial cells and monocyte-macrophages and then secreted in the circulation. It is thought that 15 to 30% of circulating IL-6 levels derives from AT production without an acute inflammation (Trayhurn & Wood, 2004). In this study, we observed that B12 deficiency, in pre-adipocytes cultures (cell lines and primaries derived from different metabolic phenotypes), has induced a significant upregulation of IL-6. These observations were also confirmed in the two compartments of mature AT derived from B12 deficient patients where the ScWAT resulted the most affected. This study is in line with studies conducted both in mice and humans where a high expression of this molecule in AT of obese and insulin resistant subjects has been shown and hyperglycemia results in increased IL-6 levels as well (Bastard *et al.*, 2006).

This study observed also effect of B12 deficiency on Interleukin 8 (IL-8), a proinflammatory cytokine produced mainly by macrophages and monocytes and induce adhesion of monocytes to endothelium causing atherosclerosis. An upregulation of the gene expression has been shown in both B12 deficient adipocytes (Chubs-S7 and primary adipocytes) and on both human AT compartments derived from B12 deficient patients. These findings are in accordance with animal and human studies reporting that IL-8 seems to strongly correlate with visceral fat mass in obese subjects (Ha *et al.*, 2013; Straczkowski *et al.*, 2002).

Interleukin 18 (IL-18) gene expression has been observed in B12 deficiency showing an increase in B12 deficient chubs-S7 and primary adipocyte derived from different metabolic phenotypes. These results were also confirmed in both ScWAT and OmWAT derived from B12 deficient patients. IL-18 is pro-inflammatory cytokine detected in bothScWAT and OmWAT and it has been positively correlated with obesity and IR. Studies conducted on mice in the past decade demonstrated a high positive correlation between circulating IL-18 levels and obesity and IR and a decrease of its levels after weight loss, in accordance with this study (Netea *et al.*, 2016; Wood *et al.*, 2005)

We further analysed the effect of B12 deficiency on Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein-1 (MCP-1) a chemokine highly expressed in OmWat and ScWAT of obese subjects and involved in recruiting monocytes, neutrophils and lymphocytes (Shimobayashi *et al.*, 2018). An upregulation of the gene expression in both B12 deficient adipocytes (Chubs-S7 and primary adipocytes, in which a strong upregulation has been seen in adipocytes derived from overweight patients probably due to an increased susceptibility of this category of BMI to B12 deficiency) and on both human AT compartments derived from B12 deficient patients has been shown. This study is in accordance with *in vitro* and clinical studies in which an increase of MCP1 has been seen in T2DM subjects (Meijer *et al.*, 2011; Raina *et al.*, 2015).

This study observed also the effect of B12 deficiency on TGF- β gene expression, cytokine which expression in upregulated in obesity and its associated complications (Yadav *et al.*, 2011). It has been observed that B12 deficiency, in pre-adipocytes cultures (cell lines and primaries derived from different metabolic phenotypes), has induced a significant upregulation of TGF- β . These observations were confirmed in the ScWAT derived from B12 deficient patients. This finding is in line with studies on animal models in which an increase in relative mRNA expression of TGF- β in obese mice compared the lean group has been observed (Trayhurn & Wood, 2004).

We finally analysed the effect of B12 deficiency on tumour necrosis factor alpha TNF- α showing a significant increased gene expression of this cytokine in Chubs-S7 and adipocytes derived from different BMI categories cultured in low B12 conditions. Similar results were found in both of the AT compartments derived from B12 deficient patients with the OmWAT resulted more affected.

This study is in line with studies conducted on mice confirming the increase of TNF- α expression in obesity and has been proposed to be linked with IR through the inhibition of the insulin receptor (Hotamisligil, 2003a), whereas in humans the expression of TNF- α is increased in obesity and IR (Jung & Choi, 2014).

Our findings are in line with *in vitro* experiments conducted on SK-HEP-1, human hepatic adenocarcinoma cell line, which showed the B12 protective anti-oxidant role against exposure of high dosage of the pro-oxidants homocysteine and hydrogen peroxide (Birch *et al.*, 2009). Moreover, our results are in line with an earlier study conducted on rats showing that myelinolytic lesions in the spinal cord of rats made totally deficient of B12 by gastrectomy, is associated with increase in TNF- α (Scalabrino *et al.*, 1999). Studies have also shown an increase of serum transcobalamin levels in inflammatory diseases and an upregulation of CD320 receptor by pro-inflammaroty cytokines (Kalra *et al.*, 2007; S. *et al.*, 1999). Experiments conducted on liver and spinal cord of B12 deficient rats confirmed the upregulation of TNF- α which induce an increase in nuclear NF-kB (Veber *et al.*, 2008). Interestingly, the results obtained in cell line adipocytes where also confirmed in the adipocytes derived from all the four main categories of BMI. Since B12 deficiency causes an increase of inflammation in all categories of BMI, leads us to think

about its peculiar anti-inflammatory effect and the importance of this micronutrient in the prevention of metabolic related diseases.

Furthermore, the pro-inflammatory cytokines secretion in the peripheral blood has been examined showing a significant increase of MCP1 and IL-8 in the serum of B12 deficient patients, in accordance with the study on C57BL/6 mice with severe deficiency of B12 where an increase of inflammatory cytokines has been shown (Ghosh *et al.*, 2016). In support to our results, clinical findings on diabetic patient with B12 deficiency showed an increase in higher levels of glucose, inflammation markers and lower antioxidant enzymes activity than those with higher B12 status, thus suggesting that a deficiency of this micronutrient would increase the risk of having lower antioxidant capacity and higher inflammatory status (Lee *et al.*, 2016). Our findings are consistent with a series of intesting investigations conducted by Solini and colleauges, showing that a supplementation of folic acid (a methyildonor) in overweight patients contibutes to a reduction of inflammatory cytokines (Solini *et al.*, 2006).

During pregnancy, the increased concentrations of progesterone and oestrogen and the increased hepatic lipase activity, contribute to the rise in total cholesterol, LDL cholesterol and TAGs (Bartels & O'Donoghue, 2011; Brizzi *et al.*, 1999).

Recent animal and human studies revealed that maternal hypercholesterolemia is linked with increased risks of preterm delivery, GDM, and preeclampsia, as well as the later development of atherosclerosis in offspring giving the idea of how an unbalanced nutritional status could be harmful to both maternal and foetal health. Moreover, during pregnancy, the maternal immune system undergoes significant changes to maintain a healthy body. Pregnancy is in fact characterized by an increase, depending on the stage, in both pro and anti-inflammatory cytokines levels which may lead to the activation of the immune system (Christian & Porter, 2014). Studies have been suggested that increased production of pro-inflammatory cytokines is associated with recruitment of immune cell to AT inducing an elevated risk of metabolic diseases in the mother and increase the risk of obesity in early childhood (Polari *et al.*, 2018). Nutrition play an important role in the development of the foetus and on maternal health. Recent studies have in fact demonstrated that unbalanced micronutrients factors and dyslipidaemia leads to maternal and foetal metabolic related diseases (Adaikalakoteswari *et al.*, 2017; Baker *et al.*, 2018). Among maternal micronutrient deficiencies, B12 is known to be associated

with poor pregnancy outcomes associated with a higher risk of T2DM, obesity and IR in babies.

In line with these notions, we aimed to examine, in our cohort study, the association between local AT pro-inflammatory gene expression, lipid profile, serum proinflammatory cytokines and metabolic values in our cohort study. To determine associations between biomarkers, Spearman's correlations were conducted.

In the OmWAT a positive association between the gene expression of most of the proinflammatory cytokines and cholesterol, LDL and TAGs has been found, whereas in the ScWAT compartment only IL-1 and MCP-1 showed a correlation with lipid profile values. Our results may suggest a major involvement of the omental compartment in the increase of susceptibility in the development of dyslipidemia as suggested by the literature. A study by Adaikalakoteswari and colleagues demonstrated that B12 deficiency in type 2 diabetes is associated with adverse lipid parameters and higher risk of CVD (Adaikalakoteswari *et al.*, 2014) but no correlation with pro-inflammatory cytokines was evalueted. Similar results were found in a study conducted on a population with coronary hearth disease in which B12 result to be associated with an increase of inflammatory cytokines and cardiovascular risk factors (Mahalle *et al.*, 2013). These findings are in line with various studies confirming the presence of altered lipid metabolism in some chronic inflammatory diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis, systemic lupus erythematosus, psoriasis and inflammatory bowel disease increasing therefore the risk of CVD (Feingold K, 2017 Feb 24).

In order to understand a possible relationship between metabolic disorders and B12 deficiency, we have further explored the clinical and biochemical characteristics of our cohort study based on B12 status and correlated serum laboratory values with serum proinflammatory cytokines. A significant difference in variables related to energy metabolism and folate in the blood has been observed in our population study stratified by B12 in accordance with a study comparing non-vegetarians population with vegetarians that shows an improved profile of CVD factors (Pawlak, 2015).

The results of the present study provide novel evidence that vitamin B_{12} deficiency may be involved in the increased local inflammation. Specifically, we have demonstrated that low vitamin B_{12} (a) induce an increased expression of pro-inflammatory genes in Chubs-S7; (b) induce an increased expression of pro-inflammatory genes in human primary adipocytes derived from different categories of BMI with a prominent increment in adipocytes derived from the overweight group (maybe due to an increased susceptibility of this category of BMI to B12 deficiency); (c) increased expression of pro-inflammatory genes in both compartments of the human adipose tissue studied (ScWAT and OmWAT) ; (d) increased serum secretion of MCP-1 and IL-8 in B12 deficient patients.

The exact biochemical process by which cellular B12 deficiency leads to an increment in local inflammation is not clearly understood. A hypothetical explanation would be that the increased lipid accumulation due to an increased triglyceride biosynthesis and a decreased fatty acid oxidation caused by a lack of B12 would lead to increase in proinflammatory cytokines biosynthesis with a local activation of immune system. A lack of B12 (an anti-inflammatory molecule) would indeed lead to an upregulation of the transcription factor nuclear factor-kappa B (NF-kB), of nitric oxide synthase, and downregulation of oxidative phosphorylation (Veber *et al.*, 2008).

In conclusion, the data obtained from the study confirm the hypothesis of a possible role of B12 on inflammatory adipokines secretion which might lead to adipocyte dysfunction and therefore suggesting a possible role of this molecule in obesity. The exact mechanism of such dysfunction needs to be studied which could open new insights into the pathogenesis of maternal obesity and the relevance of micronutrient supplementation for pregnant mothers. Chapter 7: Serum and seminal correlation of B12 and holotranscobalamin levels with seminal quality in morbid obesity

7.1 Introduction

B12 and Obesity:

Vitamin B12 is crucial for homeostasis and growth as it acts as a coenzyme for the synthesis of methionine, a precursor of S-adenosyl methionine which provides the methyl groups for the methylation processes of macromolecules such as DNA, lipids, proteins, and neurotransmitters acting in the one-carbon-metabolism (Banerjee & Matthews, 1990; Gherasim *et al.*, 2013). Around 10%–30% of circulating B12 is bound to the carrier transcobalamin in a complex named holotranscobalamin (holoTC), which is considered the bioactive B12 and it has been proposed to represent a good marker vitamin deficiency status (Heil *et al.*, 2012; Nexo & Hoffmann-Lücke, 2011). Various studies have supported an association between B12 and metabolic pathologies, including obesity. Morbidly obese subjects and patients with IR present low concentrations of serum B12 (Knight *et al.*, 2015; Krzizek *et al.*, 2018). Moreover, the recent analysis of the data from the nationwide population-based study in the U.S (National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, NHANES), demonstrated the association of serum B12 with obesity by showing that those individuals with higher serum B12 levels were less likely to be obese (Sun *et al.*, 2019).

Obesity and Sub-fertility:

It is known that morbid obesity is associated with sub-fertility (Belloc *et al.*, 2014; Bieniek *et al.*, 2016; Luconi *et al.*, 2013) reduced semen quality (Ramaraju *et al.*, 2018; Samavat *et al.*, 2018) impaired sperm acrosome reaction (Samavat *et al.*, 2014b), and sperm fatty acid composition and functions (Andersen *et al.*, 2016)Scientists have also linked the obesity related increased inflammation to impaired sperm production and function (Fan *et al.*, 2018; Kahn & Brannigan, 2017; Pearce *et al.*, 2019; Wellen & Hotamisligil, 2005)

In the past four decades various studies have examined the effect of B12 on semen quality (Boxmeer *et al.*, 2007; Isoyama *et al.*, 1984; Watson, 1962). It has been found that B12 is transferred from the blood to the male reproductive organs which gives a clear idea of the role of this micronutrient on spermatogenesis (Banihani, 2017). However conflicting data is still present in the literature about the relation between low circulating B12 and male infertility (Dhillon *et al.*, 2007; Murphy *et al.*, 2011), a strong correlation was found

between seminal B12 and sperm concentrations in a cohort of couples undergoing assisted reproductive techniques for infertility (Boxmeer *et al.*, 2007).

Altered absorption of B12 has been described in morbid obesity (Li *et al.*, 2018), however B12 and holoTC in serum and semen of these subjects have never been investigated and related to semen quality.

We aimed to explore the combined effect of B12 deficiency on male infertility as the effect of infertility in obesity is thought to be mediated through inflammation (Setayesh *et al.*, 2018). In the previous chapters we showed that low B12 is adversely associated with lipogenesis as well as excess circulatory inflammatory cytokines in the pregnant mothers. It is conceivable that similar pattern may exist in the fathers too. So we hypothesises that paternal circulating B12 levels affect the seminal B12 levels and in B12 deficiency states it reduces seminal quality and function. Therefore, the aim of the present study is to test this hypothesis in a cross-sectional observational study to determine the relationship between B12 status and semen quality in a cohort of 47 morbidly obese versus 21 lean men. We studied holoTC, functional part of the circulating B12.

7.2 Methods

7.2.1 Patients

Morbidly obese men who were on the waiting list for bariatric surgery at the Bariatric Unit of Careggi University Hospital in Florence (AOUC) were recruited to the study. Any bias with infertility was avoided as the morbidly obese patients were not recruited in andrology centres. Inclusion criteria: BMI \geq 38 Kg/m², age between 20 and 65 years. Exclusion criteria: restrictive diet regimen, gastric balloon insertion, previous bariatric intervention, vitamin B12 supplementation, and tumour pathologies. A standard non-restrictive balanced diet had been prescribed to all patients by the Unit's dieticians. Lean men were enrolled among subjects undergoing routine semen analysis for couple infertility at the Andrology Unit at AOUC. Inclusion criteria: 18.5 Kg/m² \leq BMI < 25 Kg/m², age between 20 and 65 years. Exclusion criteria: couple infertility due to male factor, restrictive diet regimen, vitamin B12 supplementation, and tumour pathologies. The study was approved by the Local Ethical Committee and Institutional Review Board (approval protocol number 83/13 of 10.25.2003). All patients provided signed informed consent after receiving written and oral information on the study.

7.2.2 Biochemical and Anthropometric Measurements

1) Anthropometric measures: Height, weight, and waist circumference were measured in each subject and blood was drawn in the morning before seminal analysis.

2) Vitamin B12: CBL and holoTC concentrations were measured in frozen serum and semen samples using the respective competitive and chemiluminescent enzyme immunoassays (ADVIA Centaur B12 and ADVIA Centaur Active-B12 Assays, Siemens Healthcare, Milan, Italy) based on LOCI technology on the Dimension Vista System (Siemens). Before holoTC determination, semen samples were diluted (1:3) with Multi-Diluent 13 (Siemens), centrifuged at 2,700g for 10 minutes and the supernatant was analysed. CBL and holoTC concentrations were expressed in pmol/l.

3) Biochemical and sex steroid hormones: Glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c) was measured on the whole-blood samples by high-performance liquid chromatography ion exchange chromatography on a VARIANT II instrument (Biorad Laboratories, Milan, Italy). HbA1c values were used for the diagnosis of T2DM at the 6.5% threshold. Serum levels of total testosterone (TT), sex-hormone-binding-globulin (SHBG), oestradiol (E2), and the gonadotropin follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH) and luteinizing hormone (LH) were measured by immunoassay (Immulite 2000, M-Medical System, Italy); assay analytical sensitivity: 0.5 nM (TT), 55 pM (E2), 0.02 nM (SHBG), 20.1 mIU/ml (FSH) and 0.05 mIU/ml (LH). Free testosterone (cFT) was calculated on SHBG and TT, as previously described (Samavat *et al.*, 2019; Vermeulen *et al.*, 1999).

7.2.3 Seminal analysis

Human semen was obtained by masturbation according to the World Health Organization procedure (Cao *et al.*, 2011) together with a blood sample on the same day or within one week. Semen parameters were analysed by a routine procedure (Cao *et al.*, 2011; Samavat *et al.*, 2018). Briefly, sperm morphology and motility were assessed by optical microscopy. Sperm morphology was evaluated as the percentage of normal and abnormal forms with Diff-Quick staining, scoring at least 100 spermatozoa/slide. Sperm motility was reported as the percentage of progressive motile, non-progressive motile, and immotile spermatozoa on at least 200 sperm/slide, total sperm motility was defined as progressive and non-progressive motile (Cao *et al.*, 2011; Samavat *et al.*, 2019).

7.3 Results

7.3.1 Biochemical and anthropometric characteristics of the patients

As shown in table 10 a significant difference between the two group subjects has been shown in the anthropometric measurements such as BMI, weight and waist circumference (p=0.0001) whereas the prevalence of T2DM and hypogonadism was 28% and 66% respectively in the morbidly obese cohort, while in the lean cohort was 0% and 22% respectively.

	Morbidly Obese n=47	Lean n=21	р
Age (years)	42.0±11.6	38.4 ±7.9	0.207
BMI (Kg/m ²)	46.5±7.7	25.2 ±3.9	0.0001
Weight (Kg)	149.5±26.6	79.1 ±10.0	0.0001
WC (cm)	142.7±18.5	96.6±4.0	0.0001
FSH (mIU/L)	4.47 ±2.88	4.10±1.47	0.740
LH (mIU/L)	2.98 ±1.93	3.21 ±1.86	0.757
TT (nM)	9.19 ±4.31	14.44 ±6.39	0.005
fT (nM)	0.219±0.104	0.319±0.104	0.015
E2 (pM)	139.2±53.4	101.8±35.2	0.024
SHBG (nM)	23.0 ±9.8	28.3 ±10.5	0.168
HbA1c(%)	6.2±1.2	4.8± 0.3	0.0001
Hypogonadism (%)	66	22	0.029
T2D (%)	28	0	0.045
Smokers (%,)	16	19	0.786
Alcohol consumers (%)	21	15	0.567

Table 10: Biochemical and anthropometric characteristics of the patients: Anthropometric data and circulating levels of sex steroid hormones, SHBG and HbA1c are reported along with the prevalence of hypogonadism (TT < 12 nM), T2DM (HbA1c $_$ 6.5), smokers (at least 1 cigarette/day), and alcohol consumers (at least 2 drinks/day) in each cohort. Data was normally distributed and reported as mean ±SD. Two-tailed Student's t-test p values for comparison between obese and lean subjects are shown; X² was applied for comparison of non-continuous parameters (hypogonadism, T2DM, smokers, alcohol consumers). Significant p values are indicated in italics. Abbreviations: BMI: body mass index; WC: waist circumference; FSH: follicle stimulating hormone; LH: luteinizing hormone; TT: testosterone; fT: free-testosterone; T2DM: type 2 diabetes mellitus.

7.3.2 Vitamin B12 and Holotranscobalamin measurements and correlation in serum and seminal fluid

Vitamin B12 and holoTC concentrations were further measured in the serum and semen of morbidly obese and lean subjects. As shown in Table 11, in both cohorts, B12 and holoTC concentrations were significantly higher in semen versus serum (B12: p < 0.001, and holoTC: p < 0.005).

In the seminal fluid Morbidly obese subjects presented significantly lower concentrations of both B12 (p = 0.006) and holoTC (p = 0.025) in semen compared to lean subjects (table 11, figure 61), while in the serum the differences between the two cohorts reached a statistical significance for B12 only (p = 0.012, Table 11, Figure 61). Moreover B12 deficiency, defined as <148 pmol/L serum concentrations (Hannibal *et al.*, 2016), was present in 8% of the morbidly obese men and not in the lean cohort. Next, in order to investigate the relation between HoloTC and B12 Spearman' correlation analysis was performed. As shown in figure 62 in both semen and serum HoloTC strongly correlated with B12 in the whole population.

Not-statistically significant correlations were found between holoTC/B12 and BMI, weight, waist circumference (WC), sex steroid hormones and HbA1c.

	Morbidly Obese	Lean	р	
	n=47	n=21	Mann Whitney U	
Serum concentrations				
holoTC (pmol/L)	64.5[51.7]	95.1[52.1]	0.780	
B12 (pmol/L)	233.5[99.2]	328.0[259.0]	0.012	
Semen concentrations				
holoTC (pmol/L)	83.9[95.1]	148.3[67.0]	0.025	
	*	*		
B12 (pmol/L)	811.3[477.0] **	1074[456.0] **	0.006	

Table 11: B12 and holoTC concentrations in serum and semen: HoloTC and B12 concentrations are reported for morbidly obese and lean subjects as median (IQR) for not-normally distributed parameters and the Mann–Whitney U test was applied for comparison between obese and lean subjects. Statistical significance between seminal and circulating concentrations of holoTC and B12: Significant p values are indicated in italics for comparison between morbidly obese and lean subjects. Abbreviations B12: Vitamin B12; holoTC: holotranscobalamin; * p < 0.005 and ** p < 0.001.



Figure 61: B12 and holoTC concentrations in serum and seminal samples from morbidly obese and lean subjects. Data is not-normally distributed and reported as box charts for holoTC (A) and B12 (B) serum and semen concentrations; p derived from the Mann-Whitney U test analysis is indicated. MOB: morbidly obese subjects; LEAN: lean subjects.

A. Seminal levels

B. Circulating levels



Figure 62: Positive correlations between B12 and holoTC concentrations in semen (A) and serum (B) in all subjects. Correlations were evaluated by Spearman's test for not-normally distributed data in a univariate analysis: r, r2, and p from linear regression are indicated. B12: vitamin B12; holoTC: holotranscobalamin.

7.3.3 Association between seminal parameters and seminal HoloTC and B12

As shown in table 12 the quality of seminal parameters was significantly reduced in the morbidly obese cohort compared to the lean subjects, in particular when considering total sperm motility, vitality, concentration, and total number, as well as semen volume and pH (Samavat *et al.*, 2019).

Moreover, in order to investigate the relationship between HoloTC, B12 and semen quality, seminal characteristics and sperm parameters were evaluated in the whole population (table 13). Both seminal HoloTC and B12 positively correlated with total sperm motility (HoloTC: p=0.012; B12: p=0.027) total sperm number (HoloTC: p=0.009; B12: p=0.001) and sperm concentration (HoloTC: p=0.028; B12: p=0.002). A significant negative correlation has been found between seminal HoloTC (p=0.0001), seminal B12 (p=0.001) and pH.

Subsequently, the whole cohort of morbidly obese and lean subjects were stratified in two classes according to the seminal holoTC (118 pmol/L) and seminal B12 median value (1,069 pmol/L). According to the median value of holoTC derived from the seminal distribution of the whole cohort, total sperm number and seminal volume were significantly higher and pH significantly lower in those subjects with high seminal holoTC (Figure 63A–C). Similar results were obtained for total sperm number and pH (Figure 3D, E) but not for semen volume (Figure 63F) when subjects were stratified according to the median seminal B12 levels.

Finally, a ROC analysis was performed in order to compare the sensitivity and specificity of seminal and serum holoTC and CBL in predicting semen quality. As seen in figure 64A–D seminal holoTC and B12 shown a statistically significant accuracy in predicting sperm number and concentration. On the contrary, serum values of holoTC and B12 were not able to predict semen quality. In addition, the cut-off values that identify the best combination of sensitivity and specificity were similar to the median values of holoTC and B12 in semen.

Table 14 reports the mean values of the different parameters when all subjects were stratified by the best cut-off values of seminal holoTC and B12, as identified in the ROC analysis.

Seminal Parameter	Morbidly Obese n=47	Lean n=21	p Mann Whitney U
Progressive Motility	45.0[31.0]	55.0[19.5]	0.017
(%) Total Motility	52.0[25.0]	65.0[18.5]	0.004
(%)	2.0(5.0)		0.1/7
(%)	3.0[5.0]	5.0[6.0]	0.167
Vitality	69.0[29.0]	80.0[6.0]	0.013
(%) Total Sperm Number	34.5[161.8]	220.0[328.5]	0.001
(millions)			
Sperm Concentration (million/ml)	10.0[52.6]	52.5[75.0]	0.013
Volume (ml)	3.1±1.7	4.2±1.4	0.019
pH	7.6±0.3	7.4±0.2	0.001
Abstinence (days)	4.5 ±3.8	3.8± 2.0	0.707

Table 12: Seminal parameters: Seminal parameters of morbidly obese and lean subjects are reported as mean \pm SD for normally distributed and median (IQR) for not-normally distributed parameters and analysed with the Mann–Whitney U test for comparison between obese and lean subjects. Significant p values are indicated in italics.

	Seminal	Seminal
	holoTC	B12
Total Sperm Motility (%)	r=0.394	r=0.345
	p=0.012	<i>p</i> =0.027
Total Snorm Number (millions)	r=0.401	r=0.482
i otal Sperin Number (millions)	p=0.009	p=0.001
Snorm Concentration (mil/ml)	r=0.343	r=0.465
	<i>p</i> =0.028	0.002
лЦ	r=-0.535	r=-0.481
pn	p=0.0001	<i>p</i> =0.001

 Table 13: Correlations between seminal holoTC or B12 and seminal parameters. r and p values of

 Spearman's correlation are indicated. The analysis was performed on the whole population.



Figure 63 Seminal parameters stratified for seminal holoTC and B12 in the total population of obese and lean subjects. Data reported as box charts indicates sperm number (**A**,**B**), seminal pH (**C**,**D**), and volume (**E**,**F**) in all subjects stratified for low and high seminal holoTC (**A**,**C**,**E**) and B12 (**B**,**D**,**F**), respectively. Cut-off values were chosen as the median value of holoTC (118 pmol/L) and B12 (1,069 pmol/L) distribution in the whole population; p values were calculated with the Mann-Whitney U test.



Figure 64: ROC analysis of seminal holoTC and B12 potency in predicting sperm number and concentration. ROC analysis of seminal holoTC predictive power for sperm number (A) and sperm concentration (B), and for seminal CBL predictive power for sperm number (C) and sperm concentration (D). Accuracy±SD (AUC) and p value are indicated for each analysis, along with the cut-off value of holoTC and B12 associated with the best value of sensitivity (sens) and specificity (spec) of the method.

		Seminal		Seminal		
		holoTC	B12			
	≥85.7	<85.7	р	≥958	<958	р
	(pmol/L)	(pmol/L)	_	(pmol/L)	(pmol/L)	_
BMI	40.1[39.0]	42.6[15.8]	0.120	30.8[27.1]	43.2[36.1]	0.005
(Kg/m^2)						
WC	120.0[83.5]	142.0[58.0]	0.032	120.0[67.5]	144.0[81.8]	0.018
(cm)						
Total Motility	60.0[79.0]	52.0[75.0]	0.034	65.[61.0]	54.0[75.0]	0.066
(%)						
Total Sperm	166.5[567.7]	30.8[281.0]	0.001	162.4[567.6]	41.6[408.0]	0.018
Number						
(millions)						
Sperm	44.0[306.0]	9.5[70.0]	0.001	44.0[178.1	10.0[213.0]	0.03
Concentration						
(million/ml)						
pH	7.4[1.2]	7.8[0.6]	0.0001	7.4[1.2]	7.6[0.8]	0.005

Table 14: Stratification of the whole subject cohort according to seminal holoTC and B12 cut-off values identified by ROC analysis. Data is reported as median (IQR) for each parameter when all subjects were stratified in two groups according to the indicated cut-off values of seminal holoTC and B12 identified by ROC analysis. Significant p values after the Mann–Whitney U test are indicated.

7.4 Discussion

This study showed interesting and novel findings. In line with the higher holoTC and B12 concentrations found in semen compared to serum in the whole population of subjects studied, it is likely that B12 may actively transported from the circulation to the seminal compartment. The higher concentrations found for holoTC and B12 in semen might support a role of B12 in controlling semen quality. Accordingly, a recent review showed that B12 and antioxidant supplementation can improve semen quality, in particular enhancing sperm count and motility (Banihani, 2017).

Secondly, we found that seminal B12 and holoTC concentrations were significantly lower than serum levels in morbidly obese compared to lean subjects. This suggests that alterations associated with high grades of obesity may somehow affect the process of local concentration in the reproductive tract, at least in the ejaculate, thus contributing to the reduced semen quality observed in morbidly obese men (Belloc et al., 2014; Luque et al., 2017; Samavat et al., 2018). Regarding this, a significant positive correlation between seminal holoTC/B12 and some seminal parameters has been found, which lost statistical significance when serum holoTC/B12 concentrations were considered. In particular, this was found for both holoTC and B12 and total sperm motility, total number, concentration, and seminal pH. Conversely, a not-statistically significant correlation with normal sperm morphology was found. These findings indicate an active role of seminal B12 in controlling semen quality at the post-testicular level, such as in the epididymis, where spermatozoa are concentrated and acquire active motility (Luconi et al., 2006), as well as in semen production, acting on the prostate and seminal vesicles. Interestingly, alterations at the post-testicular level in the control of sperm maturation have also been hypothesized to contribute to the reduced semen quality found in morbid obesity (Belloc et al., 2014; Luque et al., 2017; Samavat et al., 2018).

The extreme obesity may affect sperm quality at a post-testicular level, which was confirmed by the absence of any effect on the normal morphology parameter and conversely related to testicular maturation as previously shown (Belloc *et al.*, 2014; Rosenblatt *et al.*, 2015). The correlation between morbid obesity and hypogonadism has been extensively validated (Li *et al.*, 1994; Rosenblatt *et al.*, 2015; Samavat *et al.*, 2014a) and the high prevalence of hypogonadism in this type of obesity has been further confirmed. However, in our study no significant correlations were found between seminal holoTC or B12 and sex steroid hormones, and no influence of hypogonadism on B12 was

evident, suggesting that hypogonadism does not contribute to regulate holoTC and B12 concentrations. The role of seminal B12 in the post-testicular control of semen quality was further suggested by the significant difference observed in total sperm number and semen pH between subjects stratified according to low and high holoTC and B12. In particular, seminal holoTC, but not CBL concentrations, significantly differentiated patients for semen volume, which was substantially lower in subjects with low seminal holoTC. Interestingly, semen volume was one of the parameters strictly associated with prostate and seminal vesicle functionality (Lotti et al., 2012). Finally, according to the higher level of accuracy and best sensitivity/specificity associated with seminal holoTC evaluation compared to B12, seminal holoTC turned out to be the best predictor of semen quality (sperm number and concentration), suggesting that this parameter could be considered as a potential useful marker of patients' fertility. In conclusion, our findings suggest that seminal rather than serum holoTC might represent a good marker of semen quality in morbidly obese subjects, whereby, despite the normal serum levels, low B12 and holoTC were found. Further studies investigating the local levels of holoTC on large populations including mildly obese/overweight subjects and elucidating the mechanisms which could affect semen quality are warranted.

Chapter 8: General discussion

8.1 Discussion

Obesity is a chronic relapsing disorder according to a recent statement of the World Obesity Federation and the increasing prevalence, variable pathogenesis, progressive natural history, and complications related to this disease emphasise the urgent need for new treatment strategies. According to estimates by the World Health Organization in 2016, overweight adults (considering a body mass index or BMI \ge 25 kg / m²) were more than 1.9 billion adults, of these over 650 million adults were clinically obese [WHO, 2016]. All this translates into an enormous social impact, as obesity and related metabolic diseases, cause a worsening of the quality of life and increasing therefore health and social costs. Growing evidence have also shown the association of B12 deficiency with obesity (Allin et al., 2017; Li et al., 2018), dyslipidaemia (Adaikalakoteswari et al., 2015b; Ghosh et al., 2016) GDM (Sukumar et al., 2016b; Yajnik et al., 2008) and T2DM (Jayabalan & Low, 2016). In particular, earlier experimental studies conducted on adipocytes have shown an association between B12 deficiency and altered lipid handling, resulting in increased cholesterol accumulation as well as hypomethylation of regulatory genes of lipid biosynthesis (Adaikalakoteswari et al., 2017). Moreover, a clinical study conducted on British and South Asian populations showed high TAG levels in B12 deficient patients (Adaikalakoteswari et al., 2014b). Furthermore, various studies have also explored the effect of B12 on semen quality (Banihani, 2017), with conflicting data still present in the literature about the relation between low circulating B12 and male infertility (Dhillon et al., 2007; Murphy et al., 2011). Adipocytes play a pivotal role in energy storage as well as in the energy metabolism through lipid handling, therefore the current study was designed to explore cellular and tissue expression of B12 transporter and receptors, lipid metabolism and cytokine gene expression under B12 deficient status. Moreover, in this study, it has also been questioned whether B12 deficiency had any systemic effect in the circulation such as circulating inflammatory markers. In addition, its effect on other tissues such as seminal fluid was also explored.

B12 receptor and transporter

In pregnancy, maternal B12 levels tend to drop partly due to hemodilution, increased utilisation by the mother as well as partly due to high foetal demand. However, several studies consistently showed that cord blood B12 levels are higher than maternal levels, presumably to protect the growing foetus. It is likely this is due to upregulation of placental B12 transporter although this has been studies in detail. It is also likely that increased expression of B12 receptors in the target tissues also contribute to maintain such relatively higher levels in the cord blood In deed, higher serum levels of soluble CD320 were observed in mothers which was suggested to have originated from the placenta (Abuyaman et al., 2013). Similar observation was reported for TCN2 in the circulation of pregnant mothers with low B12, accounting for high cord blood and foetal B12 concentrations (Finkelstein et al., 2019). Although several studies explored the expression of cellular B12 receptor (CD320) and transporters (TCN2) that may regulate cellular uptake and storage of B12 in several tissues like placenta, liver and brain, no study have been conducted on adipocytes so far. Therefore, we aimed to investigate the intracellular B12 levels in human adipocytes and the expression of B12 receptor and transporter in human adipocytes and in human ScWAT and OmWAT. Intracellular levels of B12 in adipocytes was assessed in relation to circulating B12 levels in adipocytes. Human pre-adipocyte cell line (Chubs-S7) in decreasing extracellular B12 media concentrations resulted in progressively increased intracellular B12 levels. In particular, intracellular levels of B12 increased up to three times in adipocytes cultured in B12 deficient media such as 100 pM- 25 pM, whereas increasing concentrations of B12 media to 100-500 nM resulted in a progressive reduction of intracellular levels. Similar evidence has also been seen in a recent study conducted on several tissues (but not in adipose tissue) in rats (Kornerup et al., 2018) and in cord blood of pregnant women (Obeid et al., 2006). An increased gene expression of B12 receptor CD320 and transporter TCN2 has been shown in adipocytes (both cell line and primaries) cultured with low concentrations of B12. Similar results were observed in ScWAT and OmWAT of B12 deficient pregnant women compared with B12 non-deficient patients. In this study it has also been found an association between Sc and Om CD320 gene expression and metabolic risk variables such as HDL, LDL, cholesterol and glucose. Altogether, evidence from this current study shows that intracellular levels of B12 in adipocytes is modulated by the expression of B12 transporters and receptors. Our findings suggest that 1) increased intracellular accumulation in B12 deficient adipocytes may be due to active transport of B12 through these receptors and transporters 2) B12 receptor (CD320) and transporters (TCN2) are *de novo* synthesized in the adipocytes. This indicates that compensatory upregulation of B12 receptor and transporter occurs when low B12 is in circulation in order to maintain intracellular B12 levels. It also indicates that this transport mechanism is designed to protect extremely high levels entering adipocytes, probably to prevent cell death.

B12 and de novo lipid synthesis

We then went on to investigate, the effect of B12 deficiency on lipid metabolism, targeting de novo lipid synthesis and the fatty acid oxidation (FAO), in adipocytes. Low B12 in adjpocytes, resulted in increased gene expression of enzymes involved in FA synthesis, elongation and TAG synthesis and higher levels of synthesized fatty acids, confirmed by increased synthesis of radio-labelled TAGs in a dynamic flux assay. This was also confirmed inhuman mature AT from different depots such as ScWAT and OmWAT showing increased lipogenesis in patients with B12 deficiency. Several preclinical and clinical studies have reported the association of B12 with obesity (Kaidar-Person et al., 2008; Surendran et al., 2019b) and dyslipidaemia (Kumar et al., 2014). It has been shown recently that epigenetic modification such as hypo-methylation near the promoter regions of SREBF1 and LDLR genes (key genes in cholesterol and lipid synthesis) in low B12 adipocytes would be a justification for their upregulation leading to increased lipid synthesis (Adaikalakoteswari et al., 2014a). It has been demonstrated that B12 deficiency affects the mitochondrial methyl malonylCoA mutase reaction leading to an increase of levels of methyl-malonylCoA and consequently enhancing increased lipogenesis (Ruderman et al., 2003). Clinical and biochemical characteristics of our cohort study were further explored and correlated with de novo lipid synthesis genes. Interestingly, the gene expression in the ScWAT and OmWAT compartment of this metabolic pathway resulted significantly associated with lipid profile values such as total cholesterol, HDL and LDL, in line with a recent study conducted on British pregnant women in which B12 resulted to be positively correlated with HDL and negatively correlated with TAGs (Knight et al., 2015). Therefore, our findings suggest that low B12 induce lipid accumulation by upregulating the de novo lipogenesis potentially leading to development of dyslipidaemia.
B12 and the fatty acid β-oxidation

We observed that low B12 impaired FAO by decreasing the expression of the rate limiting enzymes MCD, CPT1β, CPT2 and downstream genes crucial in the FAO pathway. Similarly, human mature AT from different depots, such as ScWAT and OmWAT, showed a decrease in FAO in patients with B12 deficiency. Similar studies conducted on hepatic tissue (Dahlhoff et al., 2014) and myocardial cell (Garcia et al., 2011) have shown that methyl donor (B12 and folate) deficiency resulted in impaired FAO by decreasing the level of enzymes crucial in FAO the pathway. B12 is required for the conversion of MMA to succinyl-CoA through the action of methylmalonyl-CoA mutase. During a B12 deficiency state the enzyme function of methylmalonyl-CoA mutase in inhibited, causing therefore an accumulation of MMA which is, known to be a potent inhibitor of CPT1 (Brito et al., 2017). Another hypothesis would be due to the impairment in the biosynthesis of carnitine, molecule that plays an important role in facilitating the entry of long-chain fatty acids into the mitochondria via the carnitine shuttle (Brito et al., 2017). However, the precise mechanism of B12 regulation of downstream FAO enzymes requires further investigation. The increase in MMA due to a deficiency of B12 has been also hypothesized to affect mitochondrial respiration decreasing mitochondrial complexes II and I activity (Brito et al., 2017; Kolker et al., 2003; Preynat et al., 2010; Wajner & Coelho, 1997).

In our experiments, we have demonstrated, that the mitochondrial functional integrity was compromised in low B12 accounting for impaired utilization of long chain FA (palmitate) for energy metabolism. Similar results were also obtained in studies conducted on rat liver (Toyoshima *et al.*, 1995). Correlation were found also between clinical and biochemical characteristics of our cohort study based on B12 and FAO gene expression in both depots of AT, validating the hypothesis of the potential importance of B12 on lipid metabolism management, especially early in the development of dyslipidaemia Altogether, the increased lipogenesis with altered FA and triglyceride profile, as well as impaired FAO and mitochondrial dysfunction in low B12, induce uncontrolled lipid accumulation in the AT. This may therefore explain the observation in several clinical studies indicating that B12 deficiency is associated with obesity and dyslipidaemia, predisposing subjects to a higher risk of GDM, T2DM and CVD.

B12 and inflammation

In this part of the study, we hypothesised that if B12 deficiency induces lipogenesis and impairs FAO, this may result in adipocyte dysfunction causing inflammation. We found increased gene expression of inflammatory cytokines in human pre-adipocyte cell line, pre-adipocytes derived from different degrees of obesity exposed to low levels of B12 and in human mature AT from different depots such as ScWAT and OmWAT, in patients with B12 deficiency. In the AT the activation of immune system due to low-grade stress condition lead IR and development of metabolic syndrome. In this scenario, several studies have reported the association of B12 deficiency with increased pro-inflammatory cytokines (Kalra et al., 2007; S. et al., 1999). It has also been shown in pre-clinical studies on rat that a total deficiency of B12 is associated with increase in TNF-α (Scalabrino et al., 1999). The results obtained in cell line adipocytes where also confirmed in the adipocytes derived from all the four main categories of BMI. In view of the fact that B12 deficiency causes an increase of inflammation in all categories of BMI, leads us to think about its peculiar anti-inflammatory effect and the importance of this micronutrient in the prevention of cardiovascular and metabolic diseases. In addition, the circulatory cytokines levels of MCP1 and IL-8 were higher in subjects with B12 deficiency compared with the control group. Several clinical studies (Lee et al., 2016, (Solini et al., 2006) support our hypothesis. In order to understand a possible relationship between metabolic disorders and B12 deficiency, we have further explored the clinical and biochemical characteristics of our cohort study based on B12 status and correlated serum laboratory values with serum pro-inflammatory cytokines. A possible explanation of the antiinflammation action of B12 could be the down regulation of the transcription factor nuclear factor-kappa B (NF-kB), of nitric oxide synthase, and promotion of oxidative phosphorylation. These results thus suggest that the lipid accumulation, as a consequence of B12 deficiency, has induced an increased local inflammation in adipocytes, leading to adipocyte dysfunction.

Serum and seminal correlation of B12 and holotranscobalamin levels with seminal quality in morbid obesity

Lastly, we wanted to study the paternal influence of B12 deficiency. We hypothesised that if maternal levels of B12 is inversely associated with obesity (Knight *et al.*, 2015; Krzizek *et al.*, 2018), a similar process might present in the fathers. If that is the case such lower levels in paternal circulation might cause lower levels of B12 in seminal fluid, leading to poor seminal quality and function. We studied this in a cross-section study of morbidly obese patients presenting to bariatric surgery, who also had detailed assessment of their seminal function.

It is known that morbid obesity is associated with sub-fertility (Belloc et al., 2014; Bieniek et al., 2016; Luconi et al., 2013) reduced semen quality (Ramaraju et al., 2018; Samavat et al., 2018) impaired sperm acrosome reaction (Samavat et al., 2014b), and sperm fatty acid composition and functions (Andersen et al., 2016). Scientist have also related the obesity related increased inflammation to impaired sperm production and function (Fan et al., 2018; Kahn & Brannigan, 2017; Pearce et al., 2019; Wellen & Hotamisligil, 2005). Clinical data have also shown a strong correlation between seminal B12 and sperm concentrations (Boxmeer et al., 2007). In our study, we observed, firstly, higher holoTC and B12 concentrations found in semen compared to serum in the whole population. This indicates, similar to the observation seen on maternal - cord blood studies (Adaikalakoteswari et al., 2015), B12 is actively transported from the circulation to the seminal compartment. Secondly, we found that seminal B12 and holoTC concentrations were significantly lower than serum levels in morbidly obese compared to lean subjects. This suggests that alterations associated with high grades of obesity may somehow affect the process of local concentration in the reproductive tract, at least in the ejaculate, thus contributing to the reduced semen quality observed in morbidly obese men. These findings suggest that seminal rather than serum holoTC might represent a good marker of semen quality in morbidly obese subjects.

The findings in adipocytes and adipose tissue in this study support the hypothesis that an overexpression of fatty acids and triglycerides biosynthesis and repression of fatty acid oxidation might exist during B12 deficiency leading to an upregulated local proinflammatory response.

The potential mechanistic pathway triggered by a B12 deficient status suggested by the results obtained in this project might be the following:

- Increased gene expression of Acetyl-CoA carboxylase and decreased gene expression of Malonyl-CoA decarboxylase leads to an increment in malonyl-CoA levels translating to (1) aberrant FA and TAG biosynthesis (2) downregulation of carnitine palmitoyl transferase (CPT-1β) in the mitochondria leaning to a decrease in fatty acid oxidation and therefore incapacity of the cell to burn FA to produce energy in form of ATP, as suggested also by Ruderman and colleagues (Ruderman *et al.*, 2003);
- Downregulation of the mitochondrial respiratory chain complex activities due to increased MMA levels due to lack of B12 translating therefore in a decreased repiratory capacity and mitochondrial health, as suggested also by Kolker and colleagues (Kolker *et al.*, 2003).

Moreover, increased gene expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines might be due not only by harmful accumulation of lipids accumulation that would lead to with a local activation of immune system but also by the lack of B12 A lack of B12, an antiinflammatory molecule, leading to an upregulation of the transcription factor nuclear factor-kappa B (NF-kB), of nitric oxide synthase, and downregulation of oxidative phosphorylation (Veber *et al.*, 2008). The potential mechanistic pathway is summarised in figure 65.

Our findings support that optimal physiological levels of B12 are required for the maintenance of a metabolically healthy adipocyte. B12 is involved in essential reactions as nucleic acid synthesis, erythropoiesis in bone marrow and myelination of central nervous system. In adipocytes, through its active forms, methylcobalamin (Me-Cbl) and adenosylcobalamin (Ado-Cbl), serve as coenzymes in two significant pathways regulating energy metabolism. Intracellular levels of B12 in adipocytes and the adipose tissue is however less explored, therefore, our study is the first to characterize the cellular and tissue levels of B12 with respect to varying circulating B12 levels. Moreover, we showed an active role of seminal B12 in controlling semen quality and seminal levels of holoTC, might representing a good marker of semen quality in morbidly obese subjects.



Figure 65: Potential mechanistic pathway in B12 deficient adipocyte

B12 deficiency leads to an increased gene expression of Acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACC) and a decreased gene expression of Malonyl-CoA carboxylase (MCD) translating in an increased synthesis of Malonyl-CoA. The increased levels of Malonyl-CoA induce either a downregulation of CPT-1 β which translate in decreased fatty acid oxidation and to increased fatty acid and triglyceride biosynthesis. The decreased levels of B12 cause also an accumulation of MMA in the mitochondria causing downregulation of the mitochondrial respiratory chain complex capacity leading to a local damage. The overload of fatty acids and triglycerides in adipocytes leads to a hypertrophic and hyperplastic status bringing to activation of local immune system with increased expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines.

8.2 Conclusion and future directions

This study provides novel evidence of the possible role of B12 deficiency in the epxression of B12 receptors and transporters in adipocytes, disruption of adipose lipid metabolism leading to inflammation which could contribute to the development of metabolic disorder such as obesity, T2DM and other metabolic related diseases. This project also allowed us also to conclude that holoTC can be considered as good marker of semen quality in morbidly obese subjects. Clinical and pre-clinical studies have been shown the association of B12 deficiency and the manifestation of metabolic risk. Moreover, studies conducted on human adipocytes have demonstrated a possible role of epigenetic mechanisms due to B12 deficiency which may dysregulate lipid metabolism (Adaikalakoteswari *et al.*, 2015).

The current study provide novel evidence of intracellular adipose B12 levels and storage *via* modulation of B12 transporters and receptors with repsect to various circulatory levels including low and high B12. Low B12 accounted for increased adipose lipogenesis with increased evidence of higher total intracellular TAG level and utilization of radiolabelled-FA for TAG synthesis. Alongside, oxidation of FAs (FAO) and mitochondrial functional efficiency were impaired in low B12 in adipocytes and both omental and subcutaneous adipose tissue of B12 deficient subjects. Moreover, as a consequence of an enlarged adipocyte with an increase lipid synthesis and a disrupted FAO, increased adipose inflammation has been seen. The current study also provides novel evidence that seminal levels of both B12 and holoTC result to be higher compared to serum levels. Furthermore, it also indicate holoTC as a predictor of semen quality in subjects caractherized by morbid obesity.

In conclusion, given the pivotal role of AT in total body energy metabolism, the current evidence highlights that low B12 induces a dysregulation of fatty acid metabolism, leading to adipocyte dysfunction, opening new insights into the pathogenesis of maternal obesity higher adiposity and T2DM. Therefore, this study will provide novel evidence about the link between B12 deficiency and metabolic inflammation. opening new avenues into the pathogenesis of maternal obesity and the relevance of micronutrient supplementation and strategies for therapeutics for pregnant mothers and patients who undergo bariatric surgery. Furthermore, our findings suggest that paternal B12 levels (through the seminal quality and function) may also play a crucial role in the adverse programming of the offspring. However, to quantify this we may have to measure the seminal rather than serum holoTC. Further studies investigating the levels of holoTC on large populations including mildly obese/overweight subjects and elucidating the mechanisms which could affect semen quality are warranted.

Regardless of the novel evidence shown by the current study, few questions remain unanswered therefore requiring further investigation. It is therefore suggested that future studies should be designed for;

- Elucidation of underlying epigenetic mechanisms induced by B12 deficiency in regulation of adipocyte lipid metabolism
- 2. Exploration of exact mechanisms induced by B12 deficiency in regulation of adipocyte inflammation

- 3. Evaluation of the epigenetic mechanisms of maternal B12 on offspring metabolic health mediating through inflammatory cytokines (such as DNA methylation and miRNA).
- 4. Exploring the potential benefits of optimizing B12 levels in pregnancy on the metabolic health of pregnant women and their offspring
- 5. Investigation of the role of vitamin B12 deficiency on brown adipose tissue as well as in other tissues such as hepatocytes and myocytes, tissues that are metabolically more active than white adipose tissues.

List of references

Abbassi-Ghanavati, M., Greer, L. G. & Cunningham, F. G. (2009) Pregnancy and laboratory studies: a reference table for clinicians. *Obstet Gynecol*, 114 (6): 13261331.

Abuyaman, O., Andreasen, B. H., Kronborg, C., Vittinghus, E. & Nexo, E. (2013) The soluble receptor for vitamin B12 uptake (sCD320) increases during pregnancy and occurs in higher concentration in urine than in serum. *PLoS One*, 8 (8): e73110.

Abuyaman, O., Combrinck, M., Smith, A. D. & Nexo, E. (2017) The soluble transcobalamin receptor (sCD320) in relation to Alzheimer's disease and cognitive scores. *Scand J Clin Lab Invest*, 77 (5): 332-337.

Adaikalakoteswari, A., Finer, S., Voyias, P. D., McCarthy, C. M., Vatish, M., Moore, J., Smart-Halajko, M., Bawazeer, N., Al-Daghri, N. M., McTernan, P. G., Kumar, S., Hitman, G. A., Saravanan, P. & Tripathi, G. (2015a) Vitamin B12 insufficiency induces cholesterol biosynthesis by limiting s-adenosylmethionine and modulating the methylation of SREBF1 and LDLR genes. *Clin Epigenetics*, 7 14.

Adaikalakoteswari, A., Jayashri, R., Sukumar, N., Venkataraman, H., Pradeepa, R., Gokulakrishnan, K., Anjana, R. M., McTernan, P. G., Tripathi, G., Patel, V., Kumar, S., Mohan, V. & Saravanan, P. (2014a) Vitamin B12 deficiency is associated with adverse lipid profile in Europeans and Indians with type 2 diabetes. *Cardiovasc Diabetol*, 13 129.

Adaikalakoteswari, A., Vatish, M., Alam, M. T., Ott, S., Kumar, S. & Saravanan, P. (2017a) Low Vitamin B12 in Pregnancy Is Associated With Adipose-Derived Circulating miRs Targeting PPARgamma and Insulin Resistance. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 102 (11): 4200-4209.

Adaikalakoteswari, A., Vatish, M., Lawson, A., Wood, C., Sivakumar, K., McTernan, P. G., Webster, C., Anderson, N., Yajnik, C. S., Tripathi, G. & Saravanan, P. (2015a) Low maternal vitamin B12 status is associated with lower cord blood HDL cholesterol in white Caucasians living in the UK. *Nutrients*, 7 (4): 2401-2414.

Adams, S. H., Hoppel, C. L., Lok, K. H., Zhao, L., Wong, S. W., Minkler, P. E., Hwang, D. H., Newman, J. W. & Garvey, W. T. (2009) Plasma acylcarnitine profiles suggest incomplete long-chain fatty acid beta-oxidation and altered tricarboxylic acid cycle activity in type 2 diabetic African-American women. *J Nutr*, 139 (6): 1073-1081.

Agnihotri, G. & Liu, H. W. (2003) Enoyl-CoA hydratase. reaction, mechanism, and inhibition. *Bioorg Med Chem*, 11 (1): 9-20.

Ahima, R. S. & Flier, J. S. (2000a) Leptin. Annu Rev Physiol, 62 413-437.

Ahmad, R., Thomas, R., Kochumon, S. & Sindhu, S. (2017) Increased adipose tissue expression of IL-18R and its ligand IL-18 associates with inflammation and insulin resistance in obesity. *Immun Inflamm Dis*, 5 (3): 318-335.

Ahmadian, M., Duncan, R. E., Jaworski, K., Sarkadi-Nagy, E. & Sul, H. S. (2007) Triacylglycerol metabolism in adipose tissue. *Future lipidology*, 2 (2): 229-237. Al-Daghri, N. M., Rahman, S., Sabico, S., Yakout, S., Wani, K., Al-Attas, O. S.,

Saravanan, P., Tripathi, G., McTernan, P. G. & Alokail, M. S. (2016c) Association of Vitamin B12 with Pro-Inflammatory Cytokines and Biochemical Markers Related to Cardiometabolic Risk in Saudi Subjects. *Nutrients*, 8 (9): 460.

Alam, A., Woo, J. S., Schmitz, J., Prinz, B., Root, K., Chen, F., Bloch, J. S., Zenobi, R. & Locher, K. P. (2016) Structural basis of transcobalamin recognition by human CD320 receptor. *Nat Commun*, 7 12100.

Allen, L. H., Miller, J. W., de Groot, L., Rosenberg, I. H., Smith, A. D., Refsum, H. & Raiten, D. J. (2018) Biomarkers of Nutrition for Development (BOND): Vitamin B-12 Review. *J Nutr*, 148 (suppl_4): 1995s-2027s.

Allen, R. H., Seetharam, B., Allen, N. C., Podell, E. R. & Alpers, D. H. (1978) Correction of cobalamin malabsorption in pancreatic insufficiency with a cobalamin analogue that binds with high affinity to R protein but not to intrinsic factor. In vivo evidence that a failure to partially degrade R protein is responsible for cobalamin malabsorption in pancreatic insufficiency. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, 61 (6): 1628-1634.

Allin, K. H., Friedrich, N., Pietzner, M., Grarup, N., Thuesen, B. H., Linneberg, A., Pisinger, C., Hansen, T., Pedersen, O. & Sandholt, C. H. (2017) Genetic determinants of serum vitamin B12 and their relation to body mass index. *Eur J Epidemiol*, 32 (2): 125-134.

Andersen, J. M., Ronning, P. O., Herning, H., Bekken, S. D., Haugen, T. B. & Witczak, O. (2016) Fatty acid composition of spermatozoa is associated with BMI and with semen quality. *Andrology*, 4 (5): 857-865.

Anon (2000) Obesity: preventing and managing the global epidemic. Report of a WHO consultation. *World Health Organ Tech Rep Ser*, 894 i-xii, 1-253.

Arendt, J. F. B. (2012) Cobalamin Related Parameters and Disease Patterns in Patients with Increased Serum Cobalamin Levels.

Arora, K., Sequeira, J. M. & Quadros, E. V. (2017) Maternofetal transport of vitamin B12: role of TCblR/CD320 and megalin. *Faseb j*, 31 (7): 3098-3106.

Bacha, F., Saad, R., Gungor, N. & Arslanian, S. A. (2004) Adiponectin in youth: relationship to visceral adiposity, insulin sensitivity, and beta-cell function. *Diabetes Care*, 27 (2): 547-552.

Bai, Y. & Sun, Q. (2015) Macrophage recruitment in obese adipose tissue. *Obes Rev*, 16 (2): 127-136.

Baker, B. C., Hayes, D. J. & Jones, R. L. (2018) Effects of micronutrients on placental function: evidence from clinical studies to animal models. *Reproduction*, 156 (3): R69r82.

Bakos, H. W., Mitchell, M., Setchell, B. P. & Lane, M. (2011) The effect of paternal dietinduced obesity on sperm function and fertilization in a mouse model. *Int J Androl*, 34 (5 Pt 1): 402-410.

Bandyopadhyay, G. K., Yu, J. G., Ofrecio, J. & Olefsky, J. M. (2006) Increased MalonylCoA Levels in Muscle From Obese and Type 2 Diabetic Subjects Lead to Decreased Fatty Acid Oxidation and Increased Lipogenesis; Thiazolidinedione Treatment Reverses These Defects. *Diabetes*, 55 (8): 2277.

Banerjee, R., Gherasim, C. & Padovani, D. (2009) The tinker, tailor, soldier in intracellular B12 trafficking. *Current opinion in chemical biology*, 13 (4): 484-491.

Banerjee, R. V. & Matthews, R. G. (1990) Cobalamin-dependent methionine synthase. *Faseb j*, 4 (5): 1450-1459.

Banihani, S. A. (2017) Vitamin B(12) and Semen Quality. *Biomolecules*, 7 (2): 42.

Bartels, A. & O'Donoghue, K. (2011) Cholesterol in pregnancy: a review of knowns and unknowns. *Obstet Med*, 4 (4): 147-151.

Basaria, S. (2014) Male hypogonadism. Lancet, 383 (9924): 1250-1263.

Bastard, J. P., Maachi, M., Lagathu, C., Kim, M. J., Caron, M., Vidal, H., Capeau, J. & Feve, B. (2006) Recent advances in the relationship between obesity, inflammation, and insulin resistance. *Eur Cytokine Netw*, 17 (1): 4-12.

Bellner, L., Nichols, A., Pandey, V., Vanella, L., Gilliam, C., Gupte, R. & Abraham, N. (2015) Effect of Vitamin B12 and Nutrients on Adipogenesis-adipogenic Markers in 3T3 Cells. *The FASEB Journal*, 29 (1_supplement): 996.992.

Belloc, S., Cohen-Bacrie, M., Amar, E., Izard, V., Benkhalifa, M., Dalleac, A. & de Mouzon, J. (2014) High body mass index has a deleterious effect on semen parameters except morphology: results from a large cohort study. *Fertil Steril*, 102 (5): 12681273.

Bellows, A. L., Smith, E. R., Muhihi, A., Briegleb, C., Noor, R. A., Mshamu, S., Sudfeld, C., Masanja, H. & Fawzi, W. W. (2017) Micronutrient Deficiencies among Breastfeeding Infants in Tanzania. *Nutrients*, 9 (11):

Bender, D. A. (2003) *Nutritional Biochemistry of the Vitamins, Second Edition*. Cambridge University Press.

Berggren, J. R., Boyle, K. E., Chapman, W. H. & Houmard, J. A. (2008) Skeletal muscle lipid oxidation and obesity: influence of weight loss and exercise. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*, 294 (4): E726-732.

Bernard, D. J., Pangilinan, F. J., Cheng, J., Molloy, A. M. & Brody, L. C. (2018) Mice lacking the transcobalamin-vitamin B12 receptor, CD320, suffer from anemia and

reproductive deficits when fed vitamin B12-deficient diet. *Hum Mol Genet*, 27 (20): 3627-3640.

Berndt, J., Kovacs, P., Ruschke, K., Kloting, N., Fasshauer, M., Schon, M. R., Korner, A., Stumvoll, M. & Bluher, M. (2007) Fatty acid synthase gene expression in human adipose tissue: association with obesity and type 2 diabetes. *Diabetologia*, 50 (7): 1472-1480.

Bieniek, J. M., Kashanian, J. A., Deibert, C. M., Grober, E. D., Lo, K. C., Brannigan, R. E., Sandlow, J. I. & Jarvi, K. A. (2016) Influence of increasing body mass index on semen and reproductive hormonal parameters in a multi-institutional cohort of subfertile men. *Fertil Steril*, 106 (5): 1070-1075.

Birch, C. S., Brasch, N. E., McCaddon, A. & Williams, J. H. (2009a) A novel role for vitamin B(12): Cobalamins are intracellular antioxidants in vitro. *Free Radic Biol Med*, 47 (2): 184-188.

Blaise, S. A., Nedelec, E., Schroeder, H., Alberto, J. M., Bossenmeyer-Pourie, C., Gueant, J. L. & Daval, J. L. (2007) Gestational vitamin B deficiency leads to homocysteine-associated brain apoptosis and alters neurobehavioral development in rats. *Am J Pathol*, 170 (2): 667-679.

Bloch, J. S., Ruetz, M., Krautler, B. & Locher, K. P. (2017) Structure of the human transcobalamin beta domain in four distinct states. *PLoS One*, 12 (9): e0184932.

Bloom, K., Mohsen, A.-W., Karunanidhi, A., El Demellawy, D., Reyes-Múgica, M., Wang,Y., Ghaloul-Gonzalez, L., Otsubo, C., Tobita, K., Muzumdar, R., Gong, Z., Tas, E., Basu,S., Chen, J., Bennett, M., Hoppel, C. & Vockley, J. (2018) Investigating the link of ACAD10 deficiency to type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Journal of inherited metabolic disease*, 41 (1): 49-57.Bogacka, I., Xie, H., Bray, G. A. & Smith, S. R. (2005) Pioglitazone induces mitochondrial biogenesis in human subcutaneous adipose tissue in vivo. *Diabetes*, 54 (5): 1392-1399.

Borisenko, O., Lukyanov, V. & Ahmed, A. R. (2018) Cost-utility analysis of bariatric surgery. *Br J Surg*, 105 (10): 1328-1337.

Bose, S., Seetharam, S. & Seetharam, B. (1995) Membrane expression and interactions of human transcobalamin II receptor. *J Biol Chem*, 270 (14): 8152-8157.

Bosello, O. & Zamboni, M. (2000) Visceral obesity and metabolic syndrome. *Obes Rev*, 1 (1): 47-56.

Bourbeau, M. P. & Bartberger, M. D. (2015) Recent advances in the development of acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACC) inhibitors for the treatment of metabolic disease. *J Med Chem*, 58 (2): 525-536.

Bouzakri, K., Austin, R., Rune, A., Lassman, M. E., Garcia-Roves, P. M., Berger, J. P., Krook, A., Chibalin, A. V., Zhang, B. B. & Zierath, J. R. (2008) Malonyl CoenzymeA decarboxylase regulates lipid and glucose metabolism in human skeletal muscle. *Diabetes*, 57 (6): 1508-1516.

Boxmeer, J. C., Smit, M., Weber, R. F., Lindemans, J., Romijn, J. C., Eijkemans, M. J., Macklon, N. S. & Steegers-Theunissen, R. P. (2007) Seminal plasma cobalamin significantly correlates with sperm concentration in men undergoing IVF or ICSI procedures. *J Androl*, 28 (4): 521-527.

Boxmeer, J. C., Smit, M., Weber, R. F., Lindemans, J., Romijn, J. C., Eijkemans, M. J., Macklon, N. S. & Steegers-Theunissen, R. P. (2007) Seminal plasma cobalamin significantly correlates with sperm concentration in men undergoing IVF or ICSI procedures. *J Androl*, 28 (4): 521-527.

Brandt, C., McFie, P. J. & Stone, S. J. (2016) Biochemical characterization of human acyl coenzyme A: 2-monoacylglycerol acyltransferase-3 (MGAT3). *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 475 (3): 264-270.

Brass, E. P. & Stabler, S. P. (1988) Carnitine metabolism in the vitamin B-12-deficient rat. *The Biochemical journal*, 255 (1): 153-159.

Brindle, N. P., Zammit, V. A. & Pogson, C. I. (1985) Regulation of carnitine palmitoyltransferase activity by malonyl-CoA in mitochondria from sheep liver, a tissue with a low capacity for fatty acid synthesis. *Biochem J*, 232 (1): 177-182.

Brito, A., Grapov, D., Fahrmann, J., Harvey, D., Green, R., Miller, J. W., Fedosov, S. N., Shahab-Ferdows, S., Hampel, D., Pedersen, T. L., Fiehn, O., Newman, J. W., Uauy, R. & Allen, L. H. (2017) The Human Serum Metabolome of Vitamin B-12 Deficiency and Repletion, and Associations with Neurological Function in Elderly Adults. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 147 (10): 1839-1849.

Brizzi, P., Tonolo, G., Esposito, F., Puddu, L., Dessole, S., Maioli, M. & Milia, S. (1999) Lipoprotein metabolism during normal pregnancy. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*, 181 (2): 430434.

Bruce, C. R., Mertz, V. A., Heigenhauser, G. J. & Dyck, D. J. (2005a) The stimulatory effect of globular adiponectin on insulin-stimulated glucose uptake and fatty acid oxidation is impaired in skeletal muscle from obese subjects. *Diabetes*, 54 (11): 31543160.

Brunton, S. A. & Sadovsky, R. (2010) Late-onset male hypogonadism and testosterone replacement therapy in primary care. *J Fam Pract*, 59 (7 Suppl): S1-8.

Bruun, J. M., Lihn, A. S., Madan, A. K., Pedersen, S. B., Schiott, K. M., Fain, J. N. & Richelsen, B. (2004) Higher production of IL-8 in visceral vs. subcutaneous adipose tissue. Implication of nonadipose cells in adipose tissue. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*, 286 (1): E8-13.

Bruun, J. M., Lihn, A. S., Pedersen, S. B. & Richelsen, B. (2005) Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 release is higher in visceral than subcutaneous human adipose tissue (AT): implication of macrophages resident in the AT. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 90 (4): 2282-2289.

Buccellato, F. R., Foi, L., Veber, D., Pravettoni, G. & Scalabrino, G. (2004) Different uptake of cobalamin (vitamin B12) by astrocytes and oligodendrocytes isolated from rat spinal cord. *Glia*, 45 (4): 406-411.

Buchwald, H., Avidor, Y., Braunwald, E., Jensen, M. D., Pories, W., Fahrbach, K. & Schoelles, K. (2004) Bariatric surgery: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Jama*, 292 (14): 1724-1737.

Cannon, B. & Nedergaard, J. (2004) Brown adipose tissue: function and physiological significance. *Physiol Rev*, 84 (1): 277-359.

Cao, X. W., Lin, K., Li, C. Y. & Yuan, C. W. (2011) [A review of WHO Laboratory Manual for the Examination and Processing of Human Semen (5th edition)]. *Zhonghua Nan Ke Xue*, 17 (12): 1059-1063.

Carone, B. R., Fauquier, L., Habib, N., Shea, J. M., Hart, C. E., Li, R., Bock, C., Li, C., Gu, H., Zamore, P. D., Meissner, A., Weng, Z., Hofmann, H. A., Friedman, N. & Rando, O. J. (2010) Paternally induced transgenerational environmental reprogramming of metabolic gene expression in mammals. *Cell*, 143 (7): 1084-1096.

Casas, J. P., Bautista, L. E., Smeeth, L., Sharma, P. & Hingorani, A. D. (2005) Homocysteine and stroke: evidence on a causal link from mendelian randomisation. *Lancet*, 365 (9455): 224-232.

Catapano, A. L., Pirillo, A. & Norata, G. D. (2017) Vascular inflammation and lowdensity lipoproteins: is cholesterol the link? A lesson from the clinical trials. *Br J Pharmacol*, 174 (22): 3973-3985.

Chow, B. F. & Stone, H. H. (1957) The relationship of vitamin B12 to carbohydrate metabolism and diabetes mellitus. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 5 (4): 431-439.

Cawthorn, W. P., Scheller, E. L. & MacDougald, O. A. (2012) Adipose tissue stem cells meet preadipocyte commitment: going back to the future. *J Lipid Res*, 53 (2): 227-246.

Cho, W., Choi, J., Park, C. H., Yoon, S. O., Jeoung, D. I., Kim, Y. M. & Choe, J. (2008) Expression of CD320 in human B cells in addition to follicular dendritic cells. *BMB Rep*, 41 (12): 863-867.

Christian, L. M. & Porter, K. (2014) Longitudinal changes in serum proinflammatory markers across pregnancy and postpartum: effects of maternal body mass index. *Cytokine*, 70 (2): 134-140.

Cimini, F. A., Barchetta, I., Porzia, A., Mainiero, F., Costantino, C., Bertoccini, L., Ceccarelli, V., Morini, S., Baroni, M. G., Lenzi, A. & Cavallo, M. G. (2017) Circulating IL8 levels are increased in patients with type 2 diabetes and associated with worse inflammatory and cardiometabolic profile. *Acta Diabetol*, 54 (10): 961-967.

Cinti, S. (2001) The adipose organ: endocrine aspects and insights from transgenic models. *Eat Weight Disord*, 6 (3 Suppl): 4-8.

Cinti, S. (2002) Adipocyte differentiation and transdifferentiation: plasticity of the adipose organ. *J Endocrinol Invest*, 25 (10): 823-835.

Clausen, N., Kreuger, A., Salmi, T., Storm-Mathisen, I. & Johannesson, G. (1996) Severe aplastic anaemia in the Nordic countries: a population based study of incidence, presentation, course, and outcome. *Arch Dis Child*, 74 (4): 319-322.

Collins, D. A. (2019) Imaging Cobalamin Uptake within Malignant Breast Tumors In Vivo. *Mol Imaging Biol*, 21 (2): 356-367.

Corona, G., Rastrelli, G., Morelli, A., Vignozzi, L., Mannucci, E. & Maggi, M. (2011) Hypogonadism and metabolic syndrome. *J Endocrinol Invest*, 34 (7): 557-567.

Couse, J. F., Lindzey, J., Grandien, K., Gustafsson, J. A. & Korach, K. S. (1997) Tissue distribution and quantitative analysis of estrogen receptor-alpha (ERalpha) and estrogen receptor-beta (ERbeta) messenger ribonucleic acid in the wild-type and ERalpha-knockout mouse. *Endocrinology*, 138 (11): 4613-4621.

Craciunescu, C. N., Johnson, A. R. & Zeisel, S. H. (2010) Dietary choline reverses some, but not all, effects of folate deficiency on neurogenesis and apoptosis in fetal mouse brain. *J Nutr*, 140 (6): 1162-1166.

Dahlhoff, C., Worsch, S., Sailer, M., Hummel, B. A., Fiamoncini, J., Uebel, K., Obeid, R., Scherling, C., Geisel, J., Bader, B. L. & Daniel, H. (2014) Methyl-donor supplementation in obese mice prevents the progression of NAFLD, activates AMPK and decreases acylcarnitine levels. *Mol Metab*, 3 (5): 565-580.

Dasu, M. R. & Jialal, I. (2011) Free fatty acids in the presence of high glucose amplify monocyte inflammation via Toll-like receptors. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*, 300 (1): E145-154.

De Souza, C. O., Vannice, G. K., Rosa Neto, J. C. & Calder, P. C. (2018) Is Palmitoleic Acid a Plausible Nonpharmacological Strategy to Prevent or Control Chronic Metabolic and Inflammatory Disorders? *Mol Nutr Food Res*, 62 (1):

Depeint, F., Bruce, W. R., Shangari, N., Mehta, R. & O'Brien, P. J. (2006) Mitochondrial function and toxicity: role of B vitamins on the one-carbon transfer pathways. *Chem Biol Interact*, 163 (1-2): 113-132.

Devalia, V., Hamilton, M. S. & Molloy, A. M. (2014) Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of cobalamin and folate disorders. *Br J Haematol*, 166 (4): 496-513.

Dhillon, V. S., Shahid, M. & Husain, S. A. (2007) Associations of MTHFR DNMT3b 4977 bp deletion in mtDNA and GSTM1 deletion, and aberrant CpG island hypermethylation of GSTM1 in non-obstructive infertility in Indian men. *Mol Hum Reprod*, 13 (4): 213222.

Dror, D. K. & Allen, L. H. (2008) Effect of vitamin B12 deficiency on neurodevelopment in infants: current knowledge and possible mechanisms. *Nutr Rev*, 66 (5): 250-255.

Duncan, J. G. (2008) Lipotoxicity: what is the fate of fatty acids? *J Lipid Res*, 49 (7): 1375-1376.

Duplus, E., Glorian, M. & Forest, C. (2000) Fatty acid regulation of gene transcription. *J Biol Chem*, 275 (40): 30749-30752.

Esteve, E., Ricart, W. & Fernandez-Real, J. M. (2005) Dyslipidemia and inflammation: an evolutionary conserved mechanism. *Clin Nutr*, 24 (1): 16-31.

Evatt, M. L., Terry, P. D., Ziegler, T. R. & Oakley, G. P. (2010) Association between vitamin B12-containing supplement consumption and prevalence of biochemically defined B12 deficiency in adults in NHANES III (third national health and nutrition examination survey). *Public Health Nutr*, 13 (1): 25-31.

Fan, W., Xu, Y., Liu, Y., Zhang, Z., Lu, L. & Ding, Z. (2018) Obesity or Overweight, a Chronic Inflammatory Status in Male Reproductive System, Leads to Mice and Human Subfertility. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 8 1117.

Farzadfar, F., Finucane, M. M., Danaei, G., Pelizzari, P. M., Cowan, M. J., Paciorek, C. J., Singh, G. M., Lin, J. K., Stevens, G. A., Riley, L. M. & Ezzati, M. (2011) National, regional, and global trends in serum total cholesterol since 1980: systematic analysis of health examination surveys and epidemiological studies with 321 country-years and 3.0 million participants. *Lancet*, 377 (9765): 578-586.

Fatkhullina, A. R., Peshkova, I. O. & Koltsova, E. K. (2016) The Role of Cytokines in the Development of Atherosclerosis. *Biochemistry (Mosc)*, 81 (11): 1358-1370.

Fehling, C., Jagerstad, M., Akesson, B., Axelsson, J. & Brun, A. (1978) Effects of vitamin B12 deficiency on lipid metabolism of the rat liver and nervous system. *Br J Nutr*, 39 (3): 501-513.

Feingold K, B. E., Grunfeld C. (2017 Feb 24) The Effect of Endocrine Disorders on Lipids and Lipoproteins.

Finkelstein, J. L., Guillet, R., Pressman, E. K., Fothergill, A., Guetterman, H. M., Kent, T. R. & O'Brien, K. O. (2019) Vitamin B(12) Status in Pregnant Adolescents and Their Infants. *Nutrients*, 11 (2): 397.

Fonseca-Alaniz, M. H., Takada, J., Alonso-Vale, M. I. & Lima, F. B. (2007) Adipose tissue as an endocrine organ: from theory to practice. *J Pediatr (Rio J)*, 83 (5 Suppl): S192-203.

Froese, D. S. & Gravel, R. A. (2010) Genetic disorders of vitamin B(1)(2) metabolism: eight complementation groups--eight genes. *Expert Rev Mol Med*, 12 e37.

Frontini, A. & Cinti, S. (2010) Distribution and development of brown adipocytes in the murine and human adipose organ. *Cell Metab*, 11 (4): 253-256.

Fujiwara, N., Nakagawa, H., Enooku, K., Kudo, Y., Hayata, Y., Nakatsuka, T., Tanaka, Y., Tateishi, R., Hikiba, Y., Misumi, K., Tanaka, M., Hayashi, A., Shibahara, J., Fukayama, M., Arita, J., Hasegawa, K., Hirschfield, H., Hoshida, Y., Hirata, Y., Otsuka, M., Tateishi, K. & Koike, K. (2018) CPT2 downregulation adapts HCC to lipid-rich environment and promotes carcinogenesis via acylcarnitine accumulation in obesity. *Gut*, 67 (8): 14931504.

Fukuoka, H. & Kubota, T. (2018) One-Carbon Metabolism and Lipid Metabolism in DOHaD. In: Kubota, T. & Fukuoka, H., eds. *Developmental Origins of Health and Disease (DOHaD) : From Biological Basis to Clinical Significance*. Singapore: Springer Singapore: 3-9.

Fuster, J. J., Ouchi, N., Gokce, N. & Walsh, K. (2016) Obesity-Induced Changes in Adipose Tissue Microenvironment and Their Impact on Cardiovascular Disease. *Circ Res*, 118 (11): 1786-1807.

Garaulet, M., Hernandez-Morante, J. J., de Heredia, F. P. & Tebar, F. J. (2007) Adiponectin, the controversial hormone. *Public Health Nutr*, 10 (10a): 1145-1150.

Garcia, M. M., Gueant-Rodriguez, R. M., Pooya, S., Brachet, P., Alberto, J. M., Jeannesson, E., Maskali, F., Gueguen, N., Marie, P. Y., Lacolley, P., Herrmann, M., Juilliere, Y., Malthiery, Y. & Gueant, J. L. (2011a) Methyl donor deficiency induces cardiomyopathy through altered methylation/acetylation of PGC-1alpha by PRMT1 and SIRT1. *J Pathol*, 225 (3): 324-335. Gessler, N. N., Fedotcheva, N. I., Kondrashova, M. N. & Bykhovskii, V. (1992) [Effect of propionate pathway metabolites on the oxidative activity of liver mitochondria under normal conditions and in vitamin B12 deficiency]. *Prikl Biokhim Mikrobiol*, 28 (4): 607613.

Gesta, S., Tseng, Y. H. & Kahn, C. R. (2007a) Developmental origin of fat: tracking obesity to its source. *Cell*, 131 (2): 242-256.

Gherasim, C., Lofgren, M. & Banerjee, R. (2013) Navigating the B(12) road: assimilation, delivery, and disorders of cobalamin. *The Journal of biological chemistry*, 288 (19): 13186-13193.

Ghosh, S., Sinha, J. K., Khandelwal, N., Chakravarty, S., Kumar, A. & Raghunath, M. (2018) Increased stress and altered expression of histone modifying enzymes in brain are associated with aberrant behaviour in vitamin B12 deficient female mice. *Nutr Neurosci*, 1-10.

Ghosh, S., Sinha, J. K., Muralikrishna, B., Putcha, U. K. & Raghunath, M. (2017) Chronic transgenerational vitamin B12 deficiency of severe and moderate magnitudes modulates adiposity-probable underlying mechanisms. *Biofactors*, 43 (3): 400-414.

Ghosh, S., Sinha, J. K., Putcha, U. K. & Raghunath, M. (2016a) Severe but Not Moderate Vitamin B12 Deficiency Impairs Lipid Profile, Induces Adiposity, and Leads to Adverse Gestational Outcome in Female C57BL/6 Mice. *Front Nutr*, 3 1.

Grant, R. W. & Dixit, V. D. (2015) Adipose tissue as an immunological organ. *Obesity* (*Silver Spring*), 23 (3): 512-518.

Green, R. (2017) Vitamin B12 deficiency from the perspective of a practicing hematologist. *Blood*, 129 (19): 2603-2611.

Green, R., Allen, L. H., Bjorke-Monsen, A. L., Brito, A., Gueant, J. L., Miller, J. W., Molloy, A. M., Nexo, E., Stabler, S., Toh, B. H., Ueland, P. M. & Yajnik, C. (2017) Vitamin B12 deficiency. *Nat Rev Dis Primers*, 3 17040.

Gual-Frau, J., Abad, C., Amengual, M. J., Hannaoui, N., Checa, M. A., Ribas-Maynou, J., Lozano, I., Nikolaou, A., Benet, J., Garcia-Peiro, A. & Prats, J. (2015) Oral antioxidant treatment partly improves integrity of human sperm DNA in infertile grade I varicocele patients. *Hum Fertil (Camb)*, 18 (3): 225-229.

Gudzune, K. A., Huizinga, M. M., Chang, H. Y., Asamoah, V., Gadgil, M. & Clark, J. M. (2013) Screening and diagnosis of micronutrient deficiencies before and after bariatric surgery. *Obes Surg*, 23 (10): 1581-1589.

Guest, J., Bilgin, A., Hokin, B., Mori, T. A., Croft, K. D. & Grant, R. (2015) Novel relationships between B12, folate and markers of inflammation, oxidative stress and

NAD(H) levels, systemically and in the CNS of a healthy human cohort. *Nutr Neurosci*, 18 (8): 355-364.

Guest, J., Bilgin, A., Hokin, B., Mori, T. A., Croft, K. D. & Grant, R. (2015) Novel relationships between B12, folate and markers of inflammation, oxidative stress and NAD(H) levels, systemically and in the CNS of a healthy human cohort. *Nutr Neurosci*, 18 (8): 355-364.

Guilherme, A., Pedersen, D. J., Henchey, E., Henriques, F. S., Danai, L. V., Shen, Y., Yenilmez, B., Jung, D., Kim, J. K., Lodhi, I. J., Semenkovich, C. F. & Czech, M. P. (2017) Adipocyte lipid synthesis coupled to neuronal control of thermogenic programming. *Molecular metabolism*, 6 (8): 781-796.

Ha, V., Jayalath, V. H., Cozma, A. I., Mirrahimi, A., de Souza, R. J. & Sievenpiper, J. L. (2013) Fructose-containing sugars, blood pressure, and cardiometabolic risk: a critical review. *Curr Hypertens Rep*, 15 (4): 281-297.

Hall, C. A., Colligan, P. D. & Begley, J. A. (1987) Cyclic activity of the receptors of cobalamin bound to transcobalamin II. *J Cell Physiol*, 133 (1): 187-191.

Hammoud, A. O., Gibson, M., Peterson, C. M., Meikle, A. W. & Carrell, D. T. (2008) Impact of male obesity on infertility: a critical review of the current literature. *Fertil Steril*, 90 (4): 897-904.

Hannibal, L., Lysne, V., Bjorke-Monsen, A. L., Behringer, S., Grunert, S. C., Spiekerkoetter, U., Jacobsen, D. W. & Blom, H. J. (2016) Biomarkers and Algorithms for the Diagnosis of Vitamin B12 Deficiency. *Front Mol Biosci*, 3 27.

Harms, M. & Seale, P. (2013) Brown and beige fat: development, function and therapeutic potential. *Nat Med*, 19 (10): 1252-1263.

Heil, S. G., de Jonge, R., de Rotte, M. C., van Wijnen, M., Heiner-Fokkema, R. M., Kobold, A. C., Pekelharing, J. M., Adriaansen, H. J., Sanders, E., Trienekens, P. H., Rammeloo, T. & Lindemans, J. (2012) Screening for metabolic vitamin B12 deficiency by holotranscobalamin in patients suspected of vitamin B12 deficiency: a multicentre study. *Ann Clin Biochem*, 49 (Pt 2): 184-189.

Hotamisligil, G. S. (2003a) The irresistible biology of resistin. *J Clin Invest*, 111 (2): 173-17

Hotamisligil, G. S. (2003) Inflammatory pathways and insulin action. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord*, 27 Suppl 3 S53-55.

Houmard, J. A. (2008) Intramuscular lipid oxidation and obesity. *American journal of physiology. Regulatory, integrative and comparative physiology*, 294 (4): R1111R1116.

Hulver, M. W., Berggren, J. R., Carper, M. J., Miyazaki, M., Ntambi, J. M., Hoffman, E. P.,

Thyfault, J. P., Stevens, R., Dohm, G. L., Houmard, J. A. & Muoio, D. M. (2005) Elevated stearoyl-CoA desaturase-1 expression in skeletal muscle contributes to abnormal fatty acid partitioning in obese humans. *Cell Metab*, 2 (4): 251-261.

Hunt, A., Harrington, D. & Robinson, S. (2014a) Vitamin B12 deficiency. *Bmj*, 349 g5226.

Ibrahim, M. M. (2010) Subcutaneous and visceral adipose tissue: structural and functional differences. *Obes Rev*, 11 (1): 11-18.

Indo, Y., Yang-Feng, T., Glassberg, R. & Tanaka, K. (1991) Molecular cloning and nucleotide sequence of cDNAs encoding human long-chain acyl-CoA dehydrogenase and assignment of the location of its gene (ACADL) to chromosome 2. *Genomics*, 11 (3): 609-620.

Isoyama, R., Baba, Y., Harada, H., Kawai, S., Shimizu, Y., Fujii, M., Fujisawa, S., Takihara, H., Koshido, Y. & Sakatoku, J. (1986) [Clinical experience of methylcobalamin (CH3-B12)/clomiphene citrate combined treatment in male infertility]. *Hinyokika Kiyo*, 32 (8): 1177-1183.

Isoyama, R., Kawai, S., Shimizu, Y., Harada, H., Takihara, H., Baba, Y. & Sakatoku, J. (1984) [Clinical experience with methylcobalamin (CH3-B12) for male infertility]. *Hinyokika Kiyo*, 30 (4): 581-586.

Iyer, A., Fairlie, D. P., Prins, J. B., Hammock, B. D. & Brown, L. (2010) Inflammatory lipid mediators in adipocyte function and obesity. *Nat Rev Endocrinol*, 6 (2): 71-82.

Jacobsen, D. W. & Glushchenko, A. V. (2009) The transcobalamin receptor, redux. *Blood*, 113 (1): 3-4.

Jayabalan, B. & Low, L. L. (2016) Vitamin B supplementation for diabetic peripheral neuropathy. *Singapore Med J*, 57 (2): 55-59.

Jiang, W., Nakayama, Y., Sequeira, J. M. & Quadros, E. V. (2013) Mapping the functional domains of TCblR/CD320, the receptor for cellular uptake of transcobalaminbound cobalamin. *Faseb j*, 27 (8): 2988-2994.

Jiang, Z., Hennein, L., Xu, Y., Bao, N., Coh, P. & Tao, L. (2016) Elevated serum monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 levels and its genetic polymorphism is associated with diabetic retinopathy in Chinese patients with Type 2 diabetes. *Diabet Med*, 33 (1): 84-90.

Jung, U. J. & Choi, M. S. (2014) Obesity and its metabolic complications: the role of adipokines and the relationship between obesity, inflammation, insulin resistance, dyslipidemia and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Int J Mol Sci*, 15 (4): 6184-6223.

Kahn, B. E. & Brannigan, R. E. (2017) Obesity and male infertility. *Curr Opin Urol*, 27 (5): 441-445.

Kaidar-Person, O., Person, B., Szomstein, S. & Rosenthal, R. J. (2008) Nutritional deficiencies in morbidly obese patients: a new form of malnutrition? Part A: vitamins.*Obes Surg*, 18 (7): 870-876.

Kajimoto, K., Suemitsu, E., Sato, Y., Sakurai, Y. & Harashima, H. (2016) Liver-Specific Silencing of Lipin1 Reduces Fat Mass as Well as Hepatic Triglyceride Biosynthesis in Mice. *Biol Pharm Bull*, 39 (10): 1653-1661.

Kalra, S., Ahuja, R., Mutti, E., Veber, D., Seetharam, S., Scalabrino, G. & Seetharam, B. (2007) Cobalamin-mediated regulation of transcobalamin receptor levels in rat organs. *Arch Biochem Biophys*, 463 (1): 128-132.

Karalis, K. P., Giannogonas, P., Kodela, E., Koutmani, Y., Zoumakis, M. & Teli, T. (2009) Mechanisms of obesity and related pathology: linking immune responses to metabolic stress. *Febs j*, 276 (20): 5747-5754.

Kathiresan, S., Melander, O., Guiducci, C., Surti, A., Burtt, N. P., Rieder, M. J., Cooper, G. M., Roos, C., Voight, B. F., Havulinna, A. S., Wahlstrand, B., Hedner, T., Corella, D., Tai, E. S., Ordovas, J. M., Berglund, G., Vartiainen, E., Jousilahti, P., Hedblad, B.,

Taskinen, M.-R., Newton-Cheh, C., Salomaa, V., Peltonen, L., Groop, L., Altshuler, D. M. & Orho-Melander, M. (2008) Six new loci associated with blood low-density lipoprotein cholesterol, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol or triglycerides in humans. *Nature genetics*, 40 (2): 189-197.

Khaire, A., Rathod, R., Kale, A. & Joshi, S. (2015a) Vitamin B12 and omega-3 fatty acids together regulate lipid metabolism in Wistar rats. *Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids*, 99 7-17.

Khaire, A., Rathod, R., Randhir, K., Kale, A. & Joshi, S. (2016) A combined supplementation of vitamin B12 and omega-3 fatty acids across two generations improves cardiometabolic variables in rats. *Food Funct*, 7 (9): 3910-3919.

Khovidhunkit, W., Kim, M. S., Memon, R. A., Shigenaga, J. K., Moser, A. H., Feingold, K. R. & Grunfeld, C. (2004) Effects of infection and inflammation on lipid and lipoprotein metabolism: mechanisms and consequences to the host. *J Lipid Res*, 45 (7): 11691196.

Kiema, T. R., Harijan, R. K., Strozyk, M., Fukao, T., Alexson, S. E. & Wierenga, R. K. (2014) The crystal structure of human mitochondrial 3-ketoacyl-CoA thiolase (T1): insight into the reaction mechanism of its thiolase and thioesterase activities. *Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr*, 70 (Pt 12): 3212-3225.

Kim, J. & Kim, K. J. (2016) Crystal structure and biochemical characterization of a 3ketoacyl-CoA thiolase from Ralstoniaeutropha H16. *Int J Biol Macromol*, 82 425-431.

Kissebah, A. H. & Krakower, G. R. (1994) Regional adiposity and morbidity. *Physiol Rev*, 74 (4): 761-811.

Knight, B. A., Shields, B. M., Brook, A., Hill, A., Bhat, D. S., Hattersley, A. T. & Yajnik, C. S. (2015) Lower Circulating B12 Is Associated with Higher Obesity and Insulin Resistance during Pregnancy in a Non-Diabetic White British Population. *PLoS One*, 10 (8): e0135268.

Knight, B. A., Shields, B. M., Brook, A., Hill, A., Bhat, D. S., Hattersley, A. T. & Yajnik, C. S. (2015e) Lower Circulating B12 Is Associated with Higher Obesity and Insulin Resistance during Pregnancy in a Non-Diabetic White British Population. *PLoS One*, 10 (8): e0135268.

Kolker, S., Schwab, M., Horster, F., Sauer, S., Hinz, A., Wolf, N. I., Mayatepek, E., Hoffmann, G. F., Smeitink, J. A. & Okun, J. G. (2003) Methylmalonic acid, a biochemical hallmark of methylmalonic acidurias but no inhibitor of mitochondrial respiratory chain. *J Biol Chem*, 278 (48): 47388-47393.

Kornerup, L. S., Fedosov, S. N., Juul, C. B., Greibe, E., Heegaard, C. W. & Nexo, E. (2018) Tissue distribution of oral vitamin B12 is influenced by B12 status and B12 form: an experimental study in rats. *Eur J Nutr*, 57 (4): 1459-1469.

Krzizek, E. C., Brix, J. M., Herz, C. T., Kopp, H. P., Schernthaner, G. H., Schernthaner, G. & Ludvik, B. (2018) Prevalence of Micronutrient Deficiency in Patients with Morbid Obesity Before Bariatric Surgery. *Obes Surg*, 28 (3): 643-648.

Kuhajda, F. P., Aja, S., Tu, Y., Han, W. F., Medghalchi, S. M., El Meskini, R., Landree, L.E., Peterson, J. M., Daniels, K., Wong, K., Wydysh, E. A., Townsend, C. A. & Ronnett, G. V. (2011) Pharmacological glycerol-3-phosphate acyltransferase inhibition decreases food intake and adiposity and increases insulin sensitivity in diet-induced obesity. *American journal of physiology. Regulatory, integrative and comparative physiology*, 301 (1): R116-R130.

Kumar, K. A., Lalitha, A., Pavithra, D., Padmavathi, I. J., Ganeshan, M., Rao, K. R., Venu, L., Balakrishna, N., Shanker, N. H., Reddy, S. U., Chandak, G. R., Sengupta, S. & Raghunath, M. (2013a) Maternal dietary folate and/or vitamin B12 restrictions alter body composition (adiposity) and lipid metabolism in Wistar rat offspring. *J Nutr Biochem*, 24 (1): 25-31. Kumar, K. A., Lalitha, A., Reddy, U., Chandak, G. R., Sengupta, S. & Raghunath, M. (2014) Chronic maternal vitamin B12 restriction induced changes in body composition & glucose metabolism in the Wistar rat offspring are partly correctable by rehabilitation. *PloS one*, 9 (11): e112991-e112991. L., B.

Lai, W. K. & Kan, M. Y. (2015) Homocysteine-Induced Endothelial Dysfunction. *Ann Nutr Metab*, 67 (1): 1-12.

Lam, J. R., Schneider, J. L., Zhao, W. & Corley, D. A. (2013) Proton pump inhibitor and histamine 2 receptor antagonist use and vitamin B12 deficiency. *Jama*, 310 (22): 2435-2442.

Lauterbach, M. A. & Wunderlich, F. T. (2017) Macrophage function in obesity-induced inflammation and insulin resistance. *Pflugers Arch*, 469 (3-4): 385-396.

Layden, A. J., O'Brien, K. O., Pressman, E. K., Cooper, E. M., Kent, T. R. & Finkelstein, J. L. (2016) Vitamin B12 and placental expression of transcobalamin in pregnant adolescents. *Placenta*, 45 1-7.

Lee, G. K. & Cha, Y. M. (2016) Cardiovascular benefits of bariatric surgery. *Trends Cardiovasc Med*, 26 (3): 280-289.

Lee, M. J. (2018) Transforming growth factor beta superfamily regulation of adipose tissue biology in obesity. *Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis*, 1864 (4 Pt A): 11601171.

Lee, Y. J., Wang, M. Y., Lin, M. C. & Lin, P. T. (2016a) Associations between Vitamin B12 Status and Oxidative Stress and Inflammation in Diabetic Vegetarians and Omnivores. *Nutrients*, 8 (3): 118.

Lee, Y. Q., Collins, C. E., Gordon, A., Rae, K. M. & Pringle, K. G. (2018) The Relationship between Maternal Nutrition during Pregnancy and Offspring Kidney Structure and Function in Humans: A Systematic Review. *Nutrients*, 10 (2):

Li, N., Seetharam, S., Rosenblatt, D. S. & Seetharam, B. (1994) Expression of transcobalamin II mRNA in human tissues and cultured fibroblasts from normal and transcobalamin II-deficient patients. *Biochem J*, 301 (Pt 2) 585-590.

Li, Z., Gueant-Rodriguez, R. M., Quilliot, D., Sirveaux, M. A., Meyre, D., Gueant, J. L. & Brunaud, L. (2018) Folate and vitamin B12 status is associated with insulin resistance and metabolic syndrome in morbid obesity. *Clin Nutr*, 37 (5): 1700-1706.

Lien, L. F. & Guyton, J. R. (2008) Metabolic syndrome. Dermatol Ther, 21 (5): 362375.

Lindenbaum, J., Healton, E. B., Savage, D. G., Brust, J. C., Garrett, T. J., Podell, E. R., Marcell, P. D., Stabler, S. P. & Allen, R. H. (1988) Neuropsychiatric disorders caused by cobalamin deficiency in the absence of anemia or macrocytosis. *N Engl J Med*, 318 (26): 1720-1728.

Lord, G. M., Matarese, G., Howard, J. K., Baker, R. J., Bloom, S. R. & Lechler, R. I. (1998) Leptin modulates the T-cell immune response and reverses starvation-induced immunosuppression. *Nature*, 394 (6696): 897-901.

Lotti, F., Corona, G., Colpi, G. M., Filimberti, E., Innocenti, S. D., Mancini, M., Baldi, E., Noci, I., Forti, G. & Maggi, M. (2012) Seminal vesicles ultrasound features in a cohort of infertility patients. *Hum Reprod*, 27 (4): 974-982.

Luconi, M., Forti, G. & Baldi, E. (2006) Pathophysiology of sperm motility. *Front Biosci*, 11 1433-1447.

Luconi, M., Samavat, J., Seghieri, G., Iannuzzi, G., Lucchese, M., Rotella, C., Forti, G., Maggi, M. & Mannucci, E. (2013) Determinants of testosterone recovery after bariatric surgery: is it only a matter of reduction of body mass index? *Fertil Steril*, 99 (7): 1872-1879.e1871.

Lue, T. F., Giuliano, F., Montorsi, F., Rosen, R. C., Andersson, K. E., Althof, S., Christ, G., Hatzichristou, D., Hirsch, M., Kimoto, Y., Lewis, R., McKenna, K., MacMahon, C., Morales, A., Mulcahy, J., Padma-Nathan, H., Pryor, J., de Tejada, I. S., Shabsigh, R. & Wagner, G. (2004) Summary of the recommendations on sexual dysfunctions in men. *J Sex Med*, 1 (1): 6-23.

Luque, E. M., Tissera, A., Gaggino, M. P., Molina, R. I., Mangeaud, A., Vincenti, L. M., Beltramone, F., Larcher, J. S., Estofan, D., Fiol de Cuneo, M. & Martini, A. C. (2017) Body mass index and human sperm quality: neither one extreme nor the other. *Reprod Fertil Dev*, 29 (4): 731-739.

Madan, A. K., Orth, W. S., Tichansky, D. S. & Ternovits, C. A. (2006) Vitamin and trace mineral levels after laparoscopic gastric bypass. *Obes Surg*, 16 (5): 603-606.

Magoulas, P. L. & El-Hattab, A. W. (2012) Systemic primary carnitine deficiency: an overview of clinical manifestations, diagnosis, and management. *Orphanet J Rare Dis*, 7 68.

Mahalle, N., Kulkarni, M. V., Garg, M. K. & Naik, S. S. (2013) Vitamin B12 deficiency and hyperhomocysteinemia as correlates of cardiovascular risk factors in Indian subjects with coronary artery disease. *J Cardiol*, 61 (4): 289-294.

Malodobra-Mazur, M., Dziewulska, A., Kozinski, K., Dobrzyn, P., Kolczynska, K., Janikiewicz, J. & Dobrzyn, A. (2014a) Stearoyl-CoA desaturase regulates inflammatory gene expression by changing DNA methylation level in 3T3 adipocytes. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol*, 55 40-50.

Malodobra-Mazur, M., Dziewulska, A., Kozinski, K., Dobrzyn, P., Kolczynska, K., Janikiewicz, J. & Dobrzyn, A. (2014b) Stearoyl-CoA desaturase regulates inflammatory gene expression by changing DNA methylation level in 3T3 adipocytes. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol*, 55 40-50.

Mansbach, C. M., 2nd & Gorelick, F. (2007) Development and physiological regulation of intestinal lipid absorption. II. Dietary lipid absorption, complex lipid synthesis, and the intracellular packaging and secretion of chylomicrons. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol*, 293 (4): G645-650.

Marino, F., Maresca, A. M., Castiglioni, L., Cosentino, M., Maio, R. C., Schembri, L., Klersy, C., Mongiardi, C., Robustelli Test, L., Grandi, A. M. & Guasti, L. (2014) Simvastatin down-regulates the production of interleukin-8 by neutrophil leukocytes from dyslipidemic patients. *BMC cardiovascular disorders*, 14 37-37.

Malodobra-Mazur, M., Dziewulska, A., Kozinski, K., Dobrzyn, P., Kolczynska, K., Janikiewicz, J. & Dobrzyn, A. (2014) Stearoyl-CoA desaturase regulates inflammatory gene expression by changing DNA methylation level in 3T3 adipocytes. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol*, 55 40-50.

Mansbach, C. M., 2nd & Gorelick, F. (2007) Development and physiological regulation of intestinal lipid absorption. II. Dietary lipid absorption, complex lipid synthesis, and the intracellular packaging and secretion of chylomicrons. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol*, 293 (4): G645-650.

Matsuzaka, T. & Shimano, H. (2009) Elovl6: a new player in fatty acid metabolism and insulin sensitivity. *Journal of Molecular Medicine*, 87 (4): 379-384.

Mayas, M. D., Ortega, F. J., Macías-González, M., Bernal, R., Gómez-Huelgas, R., Fernández-Real, J. M. & Tinahones, F. J. (2010) Inverse relation between FASN expression in human adipose tissue and the insulin resistance level. *Nutrition & Metabolism*, 7 (1): 3.

McLean, E., de Benoist, B. & Allen, L. H. (2008) Review of the magnitude of folate and vitamin B12 deficiencies worldwide. *Food Nutr Bull*, 29 (2 Suppl): S38-51.

Meana, C., Pena, L., Lorden, G., Esquinas, E., Guijas, C., Valdearcos, M., Balsinde, J. & Balboa, M. A. (2014) Lipin-1 integrates lipid synthesis with proinflammatory responses during TLR activation in macrophages. *J Immunol*, 193 (9): 4614-4622.

Meijer, K., de Vries, M., Al-Lahham, S., Bruinenberg, M., Weening, D., Dijkstra, M., Kloosterhuis, N., van der Leij, R. J., van der Want, H., Kroesen, B. J., Vonk, R. & Rezaee, F. (2011) Human primary adipocytes exhibit immune cell function: adipocytes prime inflammation independent of macrophages. *PLoS One*, 6 (3): e17154.

Membrez, M., Ammon-Zufferey, C., Philippe, D., Aprikian, O., Monnard, I., Mace, K. & Darimont, C. (2009) Interleukin-18 protein level is upregulated in adipose tissue of obese mice. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*, 17 (2): 393-395.

Miller, J. W., Garrod, M. G., Allen, L. H., Haan, M. N. & Green, R. (2009) Metabolic evidence of vitamin B-12 deficiency, including high homocysteine and methylmalonic acid and low holotranscobalamin, is more pronounced in older adults with elevated plasma folate. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 90 (6): 1586-1592.

Minokoshi, Y., Kim, Y. B., Peroni, O. D., Fryer, L. G., Muller, C., Carling, D. & Kahn, B. B. (2002) Leptin stimulates fatty-acid oxidation by activating AMP-activated protein kinase. *Nature*, 415 (6869): 339-343.

Mittal, M., Bansal, V., Jain, R. & Dabla, P. K. (2017) Perturbing Status of Vitamin B12 in Indian Infants and Their Mothers. *Food and Nutrition Bulletin*, 38 (2): 209-215.

Mobbs, C. V. & Makimura, H. (2002) Block the FAS, lose the fat. In: *Nat Med*. United States: 335-336.

Moon, Y. A., Shah, N. A., Mohapatra, S., Warrington, J. A. & Horton, J. D. (2001) Identification of a mammalian long chain fatty acyl elongase regulated by sterol regulatory element-binding proteins. *J Biol Chem*, 276 (48): 45358-45366.

Moreno-Viedma, V., Amor, M., Sarabi, A., Bilban, M., Staffler, G., Zeyda, M. & Stulnig, T. M. (2016) Common dysregulated pathways in obese adipose tissue and atherosclerosis. *Cardiovasc Diabetol*, 15 (1): 120.

Molloy, A. M., Kirke, P. N., Brody, L. C., Scott, J. M. & Mills, J. L. (2008) Effects of folate and vitamin B12 deficiencies during pregnancy on fetal, infant, and child development. *Food Nutr Bull*, 29 (2 Suppl): S101-111; discussion S112-105.

Murano, I., Barbatelli, G., Parisani, V., Latini, C., Muzzonigro, G., Castellucci, M. & Cinti, S. (2008) Dead adipocytes, detected as crown-like structures, are prevalent in visceral fat depots of genetically obese mice. *J Lipid Res*, 49 (7): 1562-1568.

Murphy, L. E., Mills, J. L., Molloy, A. M., Qian, C., Carter, T. C., Strevens, H., WideSwensson, D., Giwercman, A. & Levine, R. J. (2011) Folate and vitamin B12 in idiopathic male infertility. *Asian J Androl*, 13 (6): 856-861.

Mårin, P., Odén, B. & Björntorp, P. (1995) Assimilation and mobilization of triglycerides in subcutaneous abdominal and femoral adipose tissue in vivo in men: effects of androgens. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 80 (1): 239-243.

Najafipour, R., Moghbelinejad, S., Aleyasin, A. & Jalilvand, A. (2017) Effect of B9 and B12 vitamin intake on semen parameters and fertility of men with MTHFR polymorphisms. *Andrology*, 5 (4): 704-710.

Nasioudis, D., Doulaveris, G. & Kanninen, T. T. (2019) Dyslipidemia in pregnancy and maternal-fetal outcome. *Minerva Ginecol*, 71 (2): 155-162.

Nearing, E. E., 2nd, Santos, T. M., Topolski, M. S., Borgert, A. J., Kallies, K. J. & Kothari, S. N. (2017) Benefits of bariatric surgery before elective total joint arthroplasty: is there a role for weight loss optimization? *Surg Obes Relat Dis*, 13 (3): 457-462.

Nedergaard, J., Bengtsson, T. & Cannon, B. (2010) Three years with adult human brown adipose tissue. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 1212 E20-36.

Netea, M. G., Joosten, L. A., Latz, E., Mills, K. H., Natoli, G., Stunnenberg, H. G., O'Neill, L. A. & Xavier, R. J. (2016) Trained immunity: A program of innate immune memory in health and disease. *Science*, 352 (6284): aaf1098.

Nexo, E. & Hoffmann-Lücke, E. (2011) Holotranscobalamin, a marker of vitamin B-12 status: analytical aspects and clinical utility. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 94 (1): 359S-365S.

Nguyen, M. T., Favelyukis, S., Nguyen, A. K., Reichart, D., Scott, P. A., Jenn, A., LiuBryan, R., Glass, C. K., Neels, J. G. & Olefsky, J. M. (2007) A subpopulation of macrophages infiltrates hypertrophic adipose tissue and is activated by free fatty acids via Toll-like receptors 2 and 4 and JNK-dependent pathways. *J Biol Chem*, 282 (48): 35279-35292.

Nielsen, M. J., Rasmussen, M. R., Andersen, C. B., Nexo, E. & Moestrup, S. K. (2012) Vitamin B12 transport from food to the body's cells--a sophisticated, multistep pathway. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol*, 9 (6): 345-354.

Nishimura, S., Manabe, I. & Nagai, R. (2009) Adipose tissue inflammation in obesity and metabolic syndrome. *Discov Med*, 8 (41): 55-60.

Nuru, M., Muradashvili, N., Kalani, A., Lominadze, D. & Tyagi, N. (2018) High methionine, low folate and low vitamin B6/B12 (HM-LF-LV) diet causes neurodegeneration and subsequent short-term memory loss. *Metab Brain Dis*, 33 (6): 1923-1934.

O'Brien, P. E. (2015) Controversies in bariatric surgery. Br J Surg, 102 (6): 611-618.

O'Brien, P. E., Dixon, J. B., Laurie, C., Skinner, S., Proietto, J., McNeil, J., Strauss, B., Marks, S., Schachter, L., Chapman, L. & Anderson, M. (2006a) Treatment of mild to moderate obesity with laparoscopic adjustable gastric banding or an intensive medical program: a randomized trial. *Ann Intern Med*, 144 (9): 625-633.

O'Brien, P. E., McPhail, T., Chaston, T. B. & Dixon, J. B. (2006b) Systematic review of medium-term weight loss after bariatric operations. *Obes Surg*, 16 (8): 1032-1040.

Obeid, R., Morkbak, A. L., Munz, W., Nexo, E. & Herrmann, W. (2006) The cobalaminbinding proteins transcobalamin and haptocorrin in maternal and cord blood sera at birth. *Clin Chem*, 52 (2): 263-269.

Obeid, R., Murphy, M., Solé-Navais, P. & Yajnik, C. (2017) Cobalamin Status from Pregnancy to Early Childhood: Lessons from Global Experience. *Adv Nutr*, 8 (6): 971979.

Orlich, M. J., Singh, P. N., Sabate, J., Jaceldo-Siegl, K., Fan, J., Knutsen, S., Beeson, W. L. & Fraser, G. E. (2013) Vegetarian dietary patterns and mortality in Adventist Health Study 2. *JAMA Intern Med*, 173 (13): 1230-1238.

Panee, J. (2012) Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein 1 (MCP-1) in obesity and diabetes. *Cytokine*, 60 (1): 1-12.

Pannerec, A., Migliavacca, E., De Castro, A., Michaud, J., Karaz, S., Goulet, L., Rezzi, S., Ng, T. P., Bosco, N., Larbi, A. & Feige, J. N. (2018) Vitamin B12 deficiency and impaired expression of amnionless during aging. *J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle*, 9 (1): 41-52.

Partearroyo, T., Úbeda, N., Montero, A., Achón, M. & Varela-Moreiras, G. (2013) Vitamin B(12) and folic acid imbalance modifies NK cytotoxicity, lymphocytes B and lymphoprolipheration in aged rats. *Nutrients*, 5 (12): 4836-4848.

Pawlak, R. (2015) Is Vitamin B₁₂ Deficiency a Risk Factor for Cardiovascular Disease in Vegetarians? *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 48 (6): e11-e26.

Pearce, K. L., Hill, A. & Tremellen, K. P. (2019) Obesity related metabolic endotoxemia is associated with oxidative stress and impaired sperm DNA integrity. *Basic Clin Androl*, 29 6.

Phillips, K. P. & Tanphaichitr, N. (2010) Mechanisms of obesity-induced male infertility. *Expert Review of Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 5 (2): 229-251.

Petrovic, N., Walden, T. B., Shabalina, I. G., Timmons, J. A., Cannon, B. & Nedergaard, J. (2010) Chronic peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPARgamma) activation of epididymally derived white adipocyte cultures reveals a population of thermogenically competent, UCP1-containing adipocytes molecularly distinct from classic brown adipocytes. *J Biol Chem*, 285 (10): 7153-7164.

Piestrzeniewicz, K., Luczak, K., Komorowski, J., Maciejewski, M., Jankiewicz Wika, J. & Goch, J. H. (2008) Resistin increases with obesity and atherosclerotic risk factors in patients with myocardial infarction. *Metabolism*, 57 (4): 488-493.

Pinhas-Hamiel, O., Doron-Panush, N., Reichman, B., Nitzan-Kaluski, D., Shalitin, S. & Geva-Lerner, L. (2006a) Obese children and adolescents: a risk group for low vitamin B12 concentration. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med*, 160 (9): 933-936.

Polari, L., Kumar, H., Rautava, S., Salminen, S. & Isolauri, E. (2018) Increase in serum Interleukin-10 does not alleviate pro-inflammatory MCP-1 production in obese pregnancies. *Cytokine*, 108 67-70.

Pond, C. M. (2000) Adipose tissue, the anatomists' Cinderella, goes to the ball at last, and meets some influential partners. *Postgrad Med J*, 76 (901): 671-673.

Pooya, S., Blaise, S., Moreno Garcia, M., Giudicelli, J., Alberto, J. M., Gueant-Rodriguez, R. M., Jeannesson, E., Gueguen, N., Bressenot, A., Nicolas, B., Malthiery, Y., Daval, J.L., Peyrin-Biroulet, L., Bronowicki, J. P. & Gueant, J. L. (2012) Methyl donor deficiency impairs fatty acid oxidation through PGC-1alpha hypomethylation and decreased ERalpha, ERR-alpha, and HNF-4alpha in the rat liver. *J Hepatol*, 57 (2): 344-351.

Preynat, A., Lapierre, H., Thivierge, M. C., Palin, M. F., Cardinault, N., Matte, J. J., Desrochers, A. & Girard, C. L. (2010) Effects of supplementary folic acid and vitamin

B(12) on hepatic metabolism of dairy cows according to methionine supply. *J Dairy Sci*, 93 (5): 2130-2142.

Price, T. M., O'Brien, S. N., Welter, B. H., George, R., Anandjiwala, J. & Kilgore, M. (1998) Estrogen regulation of adipose tissue lipoprotein lipase--possible mechanism of body fat distribution. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*, 178 (1 Pt 1): 101-107.

Quadros, E. V., Nakayama, Y. & Sequeira, J. M. (2009) The protein and the gene encoding the receptor for the cellular uptake of transcobalamin-bound cobalamin. *Blood*, 113 (1): 186-192.

Quadros, E. V. & Sequeira, J. M. (2013) Cellular uptake of cobalamin: transcobalamin and the TCblR/CD320 receptor. *Biochimie*, 95 (5): 1008-1018.

Quan, Y., Jiang, C. T., Xue, B., Zhu, S. G. & Wang, X. (2011) High glucose stimulates TNFalpha and MCP-1 expression in rat microglia via ROS and NF-kappaB pathways. *Acta Pharmacol Sin*, 32 (2): 188-193.

Rafiee, S., Asadollahi, K., Riazi, G., Ahmadian, S. & Saboury, A. A. (2017) Vitamin B12 Inhibits Tau Fibrillization via Binding to Cysteine Residues of Tau. *ACS Chem Neurosci*, 8 (12): 2676-2682.

Raina, P., Matharoo, K. & Bhanwer, A. J. S. (2015) Monocyte chemoattractant protein-(MCP-1) g.-2518A>G polymorphism and susceptibility to type 2 diabetes (T2D) and end stage renal disease (ESRD) in the North-West Indian population of Punjab. *Annals of Human Biology*, 42 (3): 278-284.

Ramanujam, K. S., Seetharam, S., Ramasamy, M. & Seetharam, B. (1991) Expression of cobalamin transport proteins and cobalamin transcytosis by colon adenocarcinoma cells. *Am J Physiol*, 260 (3 Pt 1): G416-422.

Ramaraju, G. A., Teppala, S., Prathigudupu, K., Kalagara, M., Thota, S., Kota, M. & Cheemakurthi, R. (2018) Association between obesity and sperm quality. *Andrologia*, 50 (3)

Ravelli, A. C., van der Meulen, J. H., Michels, R. P., Osmond, C., Barker, D. J., Hales, C. N. & Bleker, O. P. (1998) Glucose tolerance in adults after prenatal exposure to famine. *Lancet*, 351 (9097): 173-177.

Reilly, S. M. & Saltiel, A. R. (2017) Adapting to obesity with adipose tissue inflammation. *Nat Rev Endocrinol*, 13 (11): 633-643.

Ricci, M. A., De Vuono, S., Scavizzi, M., Gentili, A. & Lupattelli, G. (2016) Facing Morbid Obesity: How to Approach It. *Angiology*, 67 (4): 391-397.

Rizzo, G., Laganà, A. S., Rapisarda, A. M. C., La Ferrera, G. M. G., Buscema, M., Rossetti, P., Nigro, A., Muscia, V., Valenti, G., Sapia, F., Sarpietro, G., Zigarelli, M. & Vitale, S. G. (2016) Vitamin B12 among Vegetarians: Status, Assessment and Supplementation. *Nutrients*, 8 (12): 767. Rogne, T., Tielemans, M. J., Chong, M. F., Yajnik, C. S., Krishnaveni, G. V., Poston, L.,
Jaddoe, V. W., Steegers, E. A., Joshi, S., Chong, Y. S., Godfrey, K. M., Yap, F.,
Yahyaoui, R., Thomas, T., Hay, G., Hogeveen, M., Demir, A., Saravanan, P., Skovlund,
E., Martinussen, M. P., Jacobsen, G. W., Franco, O. H., Bracken, M. B. & Risnes, K. R.
(2017) Associations of Maternal Vitamin B12 Concentration in Pregnancy With the Risks
of Preterm Birth and Low Birth Weight: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of
Individual Participant Data. *Am J Epidemiol*, 185 (3): 212-223.

Roseboom, T., de Rooij, S. & Painter, R. (2006) The Dutch famine and its long-term consequences for adult health. *Early Hum Dev*, 82 (8): 485-491.

Rosenblatt, A., Faintuch, J. & Cecconello, I. (2015) Abnormalities of Reproductive Function in Male Obesity Before and After Bariatric Surgery-A Comprehensive Review. *Obes Surg*, 25 (7): 1281-1292.

Rosenblatt, D. S., Cooper, B. A., Schmutz, S. M., Zaleski, W. A. & Casey, R. E. (1985) Prenatal vitamin B12 therapy of a fetus with methylcobalamin deficiency (cobalamin E disease). *Lancet*, 1 (8438): 1127-1129.

Roth, J. R., Lawrence, J. G. & Bobik, T. A. (1996) Cobalamin (coenzyme B12): synthesis and biological significance. *Annu Rev Microbiol*, 50 137-181.

Roy, S., Kale, A., Dangat, K., Sable, P., Kulkarni, A. & Joshi, S. (2012) Maternal micronutrients (folic acid and vitamin B(12)) and omega 3 fatty acids: implications for neurodevelopmental risk in the rat offspring. *Brain Dev*, 34 (1): 64-71.

Ruderman, N. B., Park, H., Kaushik, V. K., Dean, D., Constant, S., Prentki, M. & Saha, A. K. (2003) AMPK as a metabolic switch in rat muscle, liver and adipose tissue after exercise. *Acta Physiologica Scandinavica*, 178 (4): 435-442.

Rush, E. C., Katre, P. & Yajnik, C. S. (2013) Vitamin B12: one carbon metabolism, fetal growth and programming for chronic disease. *European Journal Of Clinical Nutrition*, 68 2.

Rush, E. C., Katre, P. & Yajnik, C. S. (2014) Vitamin B12: one carbon metabolism, fetal growth and programming for chronic disease. *Eur J Clin Nutr*, 68 (1): 2-7.

S., R., E., Q. & A., R. (1999) Transcobalamin II, in Chemistry and Biochemistry of B12 (ed R. Banerjee).

Samavat, J., Cantini, G., Lorubbio, M., Degl'Innocenti, S., Adaikalakoteswari, A.,Facchiano, E., Lucchese, M., Maggi, M., Saravanan, P., Ognibene, A. & Luconi, M. (2019) Seminal but not Serum Levels of Holotranscobalamin are Altered in Morbid Obesity and Correlate with Semen Quality: A Pilot Single Centre Study. *Nutrients*, 11 (7): 1540.

Sala, P., Belarmino, G., Torrinhas, R. S., Machado, N. M., Fonseca, D. C., Ravacci, G. R., Ishida, R. K., Guarda, I. F. M. S., de Moura, E. G., Sakai, P., Santo, M. A., da Silva, I. D. C. G., Pereira, C. C. A., Logullo, A. F., Heymsfield, S., Giannella-Neto, D. &

Waitzberg, D. L. (2017) Gastrointestinal Transcriptomic Response of Metabolic Vitamin B12 Pathways in Roux-en-Y Gastric Bypass. *Clinical and translational gastroenterology*, 8 (1): e212-e212.

Samavat, J., Cantini, G., Lotti, F., Di Franco, A., Tamburrino, L., Degl'Innocenti, S., Maseroli, E., Filimberti, E., Facchiano, E., Lucchese, M., Muratori, M., Forti, G., Baldi, E.,Maggi, M. & Luconi, M. (2018) Massive Weight Loss Obtained by Bariatric Surgery Affects Semen Quality in Morbid Male Obesity: a Preliminary Prospective Double-Armed Study. *Obes Surg*, 28 (1): 69-76.

Samavat, J., Facchiano, E., Lucchese, M., Forti, G., Mannucci, E., Maggi, M. & Luconi, M. (2014) Hypogonadism as an additional indication for bariatric surgery in male morbid obesity? *Eur J Endocrinol*, 171 (5): 555-560.

Samavat, J., Natali, I., Degl'Innocenti, S., Filimberti, E., Cantini, G., Di Franco, A., Danza, G., Seghieri, G., Lucchese, M., Baldi, E., Forti, G. & Luconi, M. (2014) Acrosome reaction is impaired in spermatozoa of obese men: a preliminary study. *Fertil Steril*, 102 (5): 1274-1281.e1272.

Saraswathy, K. N., Joshi, S., Yadav, S. & Garg, P. R. (2018) Metabolic distress in lipid & one carbon metabolic pathway through low vitamin B-12: a population based study from North India. *Lipids in Health and Disease*, 17 (1): 96.

Saravanan, P. & Yajnik (**2010**) Role of maternal vitamin B12 on the metabolic health of the offspring: a contributor to the diabetes epidemic?

Sarkhosh, K., Switzer, N. J., El-Hadi, M., Birch, D. W., Shi, X. & Karmali, S. (2013) The impact of bariatric surgery on obstructive sleep apnea: a systematic review. *Obes Surg*, 23 (3): 414-423.

Savino, F., Petrucci, E. & Nanni, G. (2008) Adiponectin: an intriguing hormone for paediatricians. *Acta Paediatr*, 97 (6): 701-705.

Scalabrino, G., Carpo, M., Bamonti, F., Pizzinelli, S., D'Avino, C., Bresolin, N., Meucci,
G., Martinelli, V., Comi, G. C. & Peracchi, M. (2004) High tumor necrosis factor-alpha
[corrected] levels in cerebrospinal fluid of cobalamin-deficient patients. *Ann Neurol*, 56
(6): 886-890.

Scalabrino, G., Nicolini, G., Buccellato, F. R., Peracchi, M., Tredici, G., Manfridi, A. & Pravettoni, G. (1999) Epidermal growth factor as a local mediator of the neurotrophic action of vitamin B(12) (cobalamin) in the rat central nervous system. *Faseb j*, 13 (14): 2083-2090.

Schneider, H. & Miller, R. K. (2010) Receptor-mediated uptake and transport of macromolecules in the human placenta. *Int J Dev Biol*, 54 (2-3): 367-375.

Schondorf, T., Maiworm, A., Emmison, N., Forst, T. & Pfutzner, A. (2005) Biological background and role of adiponectin as marker for insulin resistance and cardiovascular risk. *Clin Lab*, 51 (9-10): 489-494.

Seetharam, B. & Li, N. (2000) Transcobalamin II and its cell surface receptor. *Vitam Horm*, 59 337-366.

Serra, D., Mera, P., Malandrino, M. I., Mir, J. F. & Herrero, L. (2013) Mitochondrial fatty acid oxidation in obesity. *Antioxid Redox Signal*, 19 (3): 269-284.

Setayesh, T., Nersesyan, A., Misik, M., Ferk, F., Langie, S., Andrade, V. M., Haslberger, A. & Knasmuller, S. (2018) Impact of obesity and overweight on DNA stability: Few facts and many hypotheses. *Mutat Res*, 777 64-91.

Sethi, J. K. & Hotamisligil, G. S. (1999) The role of TNF alpha in adipocyte metabolism. *Semin Cell Dev Biol*, 10 (1): 19-29.

Sheehan, M. T. & Jensen, M. D. (2000) Metabolic complications of obesity. Pathophysiologic considerations. *Med Clin North Am*, 84 (2): 363-385, vi.

Shi, H., Kokoeva, M. V., Inouye, K., Tzameli, I., Yin, H. & Flier, J. S. (2006) TLR4 links innate immunity and fatty acid-induced insulin resistance. *J Clin Invest*, 116 (11): 3015-3025.

Shimobayashi, M., Albert, V., Woelnerhanssen, B., Frei, I. C., Weissenberger, D., Meyer-Gerspach, A. C., Clement, N., Moes, S., Colombi, M., Meier, J. A., Swierczynska, M. M., Jenö, P., Beglinger, C., Peterli, R. & Hall, M. N. (2018) Insulin resistance causes inflammation in adipose tissue. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, 128 (4): 15381550.

Silva, R. A., Malta, F. M., Correia, M. F. & Burgos, M. G. (2016) SERUM VITAMIN B12, IRON AND FOLIC ACID DEFICIENCIES IN OBESE INDIVIDUALS SUBMITTED TO DIFFERENT BARIATRIC TECHNIQUES. *Arq Bras Cir Dig*, 29Suppl 1 (Suppl 1): 62-66.

Sinclair, K. D., Allegrucci, C., Singh, R., Gardner, D. S., Sebastian, S., Bispham, J., Thurston, A., Huntley, J. F., Rees, W. D., Maloney, C. A., Lea, R. G., Craigon, J., McEvoy, T. G. & Young, L. E. (2007) DNA methylation, insulin resistance, and blood pressure in offspring determined by maternal periconceptional B vitamin and methionine status. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 104 (49): 19351-19356.

Skjaerven, K. H., Jakt, L. M., Fernandes, J. M. O., Dahl, J. A., Adam, A. C.,

Klughammer, J., Bock, C. & Espe, M. (2018) Parental micronutrient deficiency distorts liver DNA methylation and expression of lipid genes associated with a fatty-liver-like phenotype in offspring. *Sci Rep*, 8 (1): 3055.

Smelt, H. J., Pouwels, S. & Smulders, J. F. (2017) Different Supplementation Regimes to Treat Perioperative Vitamin B12 Deficiencies in Bariatric Surgery: a Systematic Review. *Obes Surg*, 27 (1): 254-262.

Smith, A. D., Warren, M. J. & Refsum, H. (2018) Vitamin B12. *Adv Food Nutr Res*, 83 215-279.

Smith, U. & Kahn, B. B. (2016) Adipose tissue regulates insulin sensitivity: role of adipogenesis, de novo lipogenesis and novel lipids. *J Intern Med*, 280 (5): 465-475.

Solini, A., Santini, E. & Ferrannini, E. (2006) Effect of short-term folic acid supplementation on insulin sensitivity and inflammatory markers in overweight subjects. *Int J Obes (Lond)*, 30 (8): 1197-1202.

Speaker, K. J. & Fleshner, M. (2012) Interleukin-1 beta: a potential link between stress and the development of visceral obesity. *BMC Physiol*, 12 8.

Spence, J. D. (2016) Metabolic vitamin B12 deficiency: a missed opportunity to prevent dementia and stroke. *Nutr Res*, 36 (2): 109-116.

Spivak, H., Sakran, N., Dicker, D., Rubin, M., Raz, I., Shohat, T. & Blumenfeld, O. (2017) Different effects of bariatric surgical procedures on dyslipidemia: a registrybased analysis. *Surg Obes Relat Dis*, 13 (7): 1189-1194.

Stabler, S. P. (2013) Clinical practice. Vitamin B12 deficiency. *N Engl J Med*, 368 (2): 149-160.

Stefater, M. A. & Inge, T. H. (2017) Bariatric Surgery for Adolescents with Type 2 Diabetes: an Emerging Therapeutic Strategy. *Curr Diab Rep*, 17 (8): 62.

Stolarczyk, E. (2017) Adipose tissue inflammation in obesity: a metabolic or immune response? *Curr Opin Pharmacol*, 37 35-40.

Stolarczyk, E. (2017) Adipose tissue inflammation in obesity: a metabolic or immune response? *Curr Opin Pharmacol*, 37 35-40.

Straczkowski, M., Dzienis-Straczkowska, S., Stepien, A., Kowalska, I., Szelachowska, M. & Kinalska, I. (2002) Plasma interleukin-8 concentrations are increased in obese subjects and related to fat mass and tumor necrosis factor-alpha system. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 87 (10): 4602-4606.

Stubbe, J. (1994) Binding site revealed of nature's most beautiful cofactor. *Science*, 266 (5191): 1663-1664.

Sukumar, N., Rafnsson, S. B., Kandala, N. B., Bhopal, R., Yajnik, C. S. & Saravanan, P. (2016) Prevalence of vitamin B-12 insufficiency during pregnancy and its effect on offspring birth weight: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 103 (5): 1232-1251.

Sukumar, N. & Saravanan, P. (2019) Investigating vitamin B12 deficiency. *Bmj*, 365 11865.

Sukumar, N., Venkataraman, H., Wilson, S., Goljan, I., Selvamoni, S., Patel, V. & Saravanan, P. (2016) Vitamin B12 Status among Pregnant Women in the UK and Its Association with Obesity and Gestational Diabetes. *Nutrients*, 8 (12):

Sun, Y., Sun, M., Liu, B., Du, Y., Rong, S., Xu, G., Snetselaar, L. G. & Bao, W. (2019) Inverse Association Between Serum Vitamin B12 Concentration and Obesity Among Adults in the United States. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)*, 10 414.

Surendran, S., Adaikalakoteswari, A., Saravanan, P., Shatwaan, I. A., Lovegrove, J. A. & Vimaleswaran, K. S. (2018) An update on vitamin B12-related gene polymorphisms and B12 status. *Genes Nutr*, 13 2.

Surendran, S., Alsulami, S., Lankeshwara, R., Jayawardena, R., Wetthasinghe, K., Sarkar, S., Ellahi, B., Lovegrove, J. A., Anthony, D. J. & Vimaleswaran, K. S. (2019) A genetic approach to examine the relationship between vitamin B12 status and metabolic traits in a South Asian population. *International Journal of Diabetes in Developing Countries*

Surendran, S., Jayashri, R., Drysdale, L., Bodhini, D., Lakshmipriya, N., Shanthi Rani,
C. S., Sudha, V., Lovegrove, J. A., Anjana, R. M., Mohan, V., Radha, V., Pradeepa, R.
& Vimaleswaran, K. S. (2019c) Evidence for the association between FTO gene variants and vitamin B12 concentrations in an Asian Indian population. *Genes & nutrition*, 14 26-26.

Suzuki, R., Tobe, K., Aoyama, M., Sakamoto, K., Ohsugi, M., Kamei, N., Nemoto, S., Inoue, A., Ito, Y., Uchida, S., Hara, K., Yamauchi, T., Kubota, N., Terauchi, Y. & Kadowaki, T. (2005) Expression of DGAT2 in white adipose tissue is regulated by central leptin action. *J Biol Chem*, 280 (5): 3331-3337.

Sysel, A. M., Valli, V. E., Nagle, R. B. & Bauer, J. A. (2013) Immunohistochemical quantification of the vitamin B12 transport protein (TCII), cell surface receptor (TCIIR) and Ki-67 in human tumor xenografts. *Anticancer Res*, 33 (10): 4203-4212.

Tahiliani, A. G. & Beinlich, C. J. (1991) Pantothenic acid in health and disease. *Vitam Horm*, 46 165-228.

Tajar, A., Forti, G., O'Neill, T. W., Lee, D. M., Silman, A. J., Finn, J. D., Bartfai, G., Boonen, S., Casanueva, F. F., Giwercman, A., Han, T. S., Kula, K., Labrie, F., Lean, M. E., Pendleton, N., Punab, M., Vanderschueren, D., Huhtaniemi, I. T. & Wu, F. C. (2010) Characteristics of secondary, primary, and compensated hypogonadism in aging men: evidence from the European Male Ageing Study. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 95 (4): 1810-1818.

Tajik, N., Keshavarz, S. A., Masoudkabir, F., Djalali, M., Sadrzadeh-Yeganeh, H. H., Eshraghian, M. R., Chamary, M., Ahmadivand, Z., Yazdani, T. & Javanbakht, M. H. (2013) Effect of diet-induced weight loss on inflammatory cytokines in obese women. *J Endocrinol Invest*, 36 (4): 211-215.

Takeda, K., Kaisho, T. & Akira, S. (2003) Toll-like receptors. *Annu Rev Immunol*, 21 335-376.

Tamura, J., Kubota, K., Murakami, H., Sawamura, M., Matsushima, T., Tamura, T., Saitoh, T., Kurabayshi, H. & Naruse, T. (1999) Immunomodulation by vitamin B12: augmentation of CD8+ T lymphocytes and natural killer (NK) cell activity in vitamin B12-deficient patients by methyl-B12 treatment. *Clin Exp Immunol*, 116 (1): 28-32.

Tanaka, S., Yamazaki, T., Asano, S., Mitsumoto, A., Kobayashi, D., Kudo, N. & Kawashima, Y. (2013) Increased lipid synthesis and decreased beta-oxidation in the liver of SHR/NDmcr-cp (cp/cp) rats, an animal model of metabolic syndrome. *Lipids*, 48 (11): 1115-1134.

Tang, K. F., Li, Y. L. & Wang, H. Y. (2015) Quantitative assessment of maternal biomarkers related to one-carbon metabolism and neural tube defects. *Sci Rep*, 5 8510.

Tanner, S. M., Li, Z., Perko, J. D., Oner, C., Cetin, M., Altay, C., Yurtsever, Z., David, K.

L., Faivre, L., Ismail, E. A., Grasbeck, R. & de la Chapelle, A. (2005) Hereditary juvenile cobalamin deficiency caused by mutations in the intrinsic factor gene. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 102 (11): 4130-4133.

Thompson, B. R., Lobo, S. & Bernlohr, D. A. (2010) Fatty acid flux in adipocytes: the in's and out's of fat cell lipid trafficking. *Molecular and cellular endocrinology*, 318 (12): 24-33.

Thon, M., Hosoi, T., Chea, C. & Ozawa, K. (2017) Loss of Stearoyl-CoA Desaturase-1 Activity Induced Leptin Resistance in Neuronal Cells. *Biol Pharm Bull*, 40 (8): 11611164.

Thyfault, J. P., Kraus, R. M., Hickner, R. C., Howell, A. W., Wolfe, R. R. & Dohm, G. L. (2004) Impaired plasma fatty acid oxidation in extremely obese women. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*, 287 (6): E1076-1081.

Tilg, H. & Moschen, A. R. (2006) Adipocytokines: mediators linking adipose tissue, inflammation and immunity. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 6 (10): 772-783.

Tong, L. (2005) Acetyl-coenzyme A carboxylase: crucial metabolic enzyme and attractive target for drug discovery. *Cell Mol Life Sci*, 62 (16): 1784-1803.

Torres, S., Fabersani, E., Marquez, A. & Gauffin-Cano, P. (2019) Adipose tissue inflammation and metabolic syndrome. The proactive role of probiotics. *Eur J Nutr*, 58 (1): 27-43.

Toyoshima, S., Watanabe, F., Saido, H., Miyatake, K. & Nakano, Y. (1995) Methylmalonic Acid Inhibits Respiration in Rat Liver Mitochondria. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 125 (11): 2846-2850.

Trayhurn, P. & Wood, I. S. (2004) Adipokines: inflammation and the pleiotropic role of white adipose tissue. *Br J Nutr*, 92 (3): 347-355.

Tussing-Humphreys, L. & Nguyen, V. T. Q. (2014) Obesity and Micronutrient Deficiencies. In: Fantuzzi, G. & Braunschweig, C., eds. *Adipose Tissue and Adipokines in Health and Disease*. Totowa, NJ: Humana Press: 129-155.

Ussher, J. R., Fillmore, N., Keung, W., Zhang, L., Mori, J., Sidhu, V. K., Fukushima, A., Gopal, K., Lopaschuk, D. G., Wagg, C. S., Jaswal, J. S., Dyck, J. R. B. & Lopaschuk, G. D. (2016) Genetic and Pharmacological Inhibition of Malonyl CoA Decarboxylase Does Not Exacerbate Age-Related Insulin Resistance in Mice. *Diabetes*, 65 (7): 1883.

Ussher, J. R. & Lopaschuk, G. D. (2008) The malonyl CoA axis as a potential target for treating ischaemic heart disease. *Cardiovasc Res*, 79 (2): 259-268.

Vander Borght, M. & Wyns, C. (2018) Fertility and infertility: Definition and epidemiology. *Clin Biochem*, 62 2-10.

Vazquez-Vela, M. E., Torres, N. & Tovar, A. R. (2008) White adipose tissue as endocrine organ and its role in obesity. *Arch Med Res*, 39 (8): 715-728.

Veber, D., Mutti, E., Tacchini, L., Gammella, E., Tredici, G. & Scalabrino, G. (2008) Indirect downregulation of nuclear NF-??B levels by cobalamin in spinal cord and liver of the rat. *Journal of neuroscience research*, 86 1380-1387.

Vermeulen, A., Verdonck, L. & Kaufman, J. M. (1999) A Critical Evaluation of Simple Methods for the Estimation of Free Testosterone in Serum. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 84 (10): 3666-3672.

Vetter, M. L., Faulconbridge, L. F., Webb, V. L. & Wadden, T. A. (2010) Behavioral and pharmacologic therapies for obesity. *Nat Rev Endocrinol*, 6 (10): 578-588.

Villarroya, F. & Vidal-Puig, A. (2013) Beyond the sympathetic tone: the new brown fat activators. *Cell Metab*, 17 (5): 638-643.

Wajchenberg, B. L. (2000) Subcutaneous and visceral adipose tissue: their relation to the metabolic syndrome. *Endocr Rev*, 21 (6): 697-738.

Wajner, M. & Coelho, J. C. (1997) Neurological dysfunction in methylmalonic acidaemia is probably related to the inhibitory effect of methylmalonate on brain energy production. *J Inherit Metab Dis*, 20 (6): 761-768.

Wang, H. & Eckel, R. H. (2009) Lipoprotein lipase: from gene to obesity. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*, 297 (2): E271-288.
Wang, J., Yu, L., Schmidt, R. E., Su, C., Huang, X., Gould, K. & Cao, G. (2005) Characterization of HSCD5, a novel human stearoyl-CoA desaturase unique to primates. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 332 (3): 735-742.

Wang, Q. & Wu, H. (2018) T Cells in Adipose Tissue: Critical Players in Immunometabolism. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 9 2509.

Wilson, P. W., D'Agostino, R. B., Levy, D., Belanger, A. M., Silbershatz, H. & Kannel,W. B. (1998) Prediction of coronary heart disease using risk factor categories. *Circulation*, 97 (18): 1837-1847.

Warfel, J. D., Bermudez, E. M., Mendoza, T. M., Ghosh, S., Zhang, J., Elks, C. M., Mynatt, R. & Vandanmagsar, B. (2016) Mitochondrial fat oxidation is essential for lipidinduced inflammation in skeletal muscle in mice. *Scientific Reports*, 6 37941.

Watanabe, F. & Bito, T. (2018) Vitamin B. Exp Biol Med (Maywood), 243 (2): 148-158.

Watanabe, T., Ohkawa, K., Kasai, S., Ebara, S., Nakano, Y. & Watanabe, Y. (2003) The effects of dietary vitamin B12 deficiency on sperm maturation in developing and growing male rats. *Congenit Anom (Kyoto)*, 43 (1): 57-64.

Watkins, A. J., Dias, I., Tsuro, H., Allen, D., Emes, R. D., Moreton, J., Wilson, R., Ingram, R. J. M. & Sinclair, K. D. (2018) Paternal diet programs offspring health through sperm- and seminal plasma-specific pathways in mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 115 (40): 10064-10069.

Watson, A. A. (1962) Seminal vitamin B12 and sterility. Lancet, 2 (7257): 644.

Weisberg, S. P., McCann, D., Desai, M., Rosenbaum, M., Leibel, R. L. & Ferrante, A. W., Jr. (2003) Obesity is associated with macrophage accumulation in adipose tissue. *J Clin Invest*, 112 (12): 1796-1808.

Weiss, E. P., Reeds, D. N., Ezekiel, U. R., Albert, S. G. & Villareal, D. T. (2017) Circulating cytokines as determinants of weight loss-induced improvements in insulin sensitivity. *Endocrine*, 55 (1): 153-164.

Wellen, K. E. & Hotamisligil, G. S. (2005) Inflammation, stress, and diabetes. *J Clin Invest*, 115 (5): 1111-1119.

Werstuck, G. H., Lentz, S. R., Dayal, S., Hossain, G. S., Sood, S. K., Shi, Y. Y., Zhou, J., Maeda, N., Krisans, S. K., Malinow, M. R. & Austin, R. C. (2001) Homocysteineinduced endoplasmic reticulum stress causes dysregulation of the cholesterol and triglyceride biosynthetic pathways. *J Clin Invest*, 107 (10): 1263-1273.

Wicks, S. E., Vandanmagsar, B., Haynie, K. R., Fuller, S. E., Warfel, J. D., Stephens, J. M., Wang, M., Han, X., Zhang, J., Noland, R. C. & Mynatt, R. L. (2015) Impaired mitochondrial fat oxidation induces adaptive remodeling of muscle metabolism. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 112 (25): E3300-3309.

Widmer, J., Fassihi, K. S., Schlichter, S. C., Wheeler, K. S., Crute, B. E., King, N., Nutile-McMenemy, N., Noll, W. W., Daniel, S., Ha, J., Kim, K. H. & Witters, L. A. (1996) Identification of a second human acetyl-CoA carboxylase gene. *Biochem J*, 316 (Pt 3) 915-922.

Wild, R., Weedin, E. A. & Wilson, D. (2015) Dyslipidemia in pregnancy. *Cardiol Clin*, 33 (2): 209-215.

Willer, C. J., Sanna, S., Jackson, A. U., Scuteri, A., Bonnycastle, L. L., Clarke, R., Heath, S. C., Timpson, N. J., Najjar, S. S., Stringham, H. M., Strait, J., Duren, W. L., Maschio, A., Busonero, F., Mulas, A., Albai, G., Swift, A. J., Morken, M. A., Narisu, N., Bennett, D., Parish, S., Shen, H., Galan, P., Meneton, P., Hercberg, S., Zelenika, D., Chen, W. M., Li, Y., Scott, L. J., Scheet, P. A., Sundvall, J., Watanabe, R. M., Nagaraja, R., Ebrahim, S., Lawlor, D. A., Ben-Shlomo, Y., Davey-Smith, G., Shuldiner, A. R., Collins, R., Bergman, R. N., Uda, M., Tuomilehto, J., Cao, A., Collins, F. S., Lakatta, E., Lathrop, G. M., Boehnke, M., Schlessinger, D., Mohlke, K. L. & Abecasis, G. R. (2008a) Newly identified loci that influence lipid concentrations and risk of coronary artery disease. *Nat Genet*, 40 (2): 161-169.

Wood, I. S., Wang, B., Jenkins, J. R. & Trayhurn, P. (2005) The pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-18 is expressed in human adipose tissue and strongly upregulated by TNFalpha in human adipocytes. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 337 (2): 422-429.

Woolley, D. W. (1953) Evidence for the Synthesis of Vitamin B(12) by Spontaneous Tumors. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 39 (1): 6-18.

Wuerges, J., Garau, G., Geremia, S., Fedosov, S. N., Petersen, T. E. & Randaccio, L. (2006) Structural basis for mammalian vitamin B12 transport by transcobalamin. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 103 (12): 4386-4391.

Yadav, H., Quijano, C., Kamaraju, A. K., Gavrilova, O., Malek, R., Chen, W., Zerfas, P., Zhigang, D., Wright, E. C., Stuelten, C., Sun, P., Lonning, S., Skarulis, M., Sumner, A. E., Finkel, T. & Rane, S. G. (2011) Protection from obesity and diabetes by blockade of TGF-β/Smad3 signaling. *Cell metabolism*, 14 (1): 67-79.

Yajnik, C. S. (2014) Transmission of obesity-adiposity and related disorders from the mother to the baby. *Ann Nutr Metab*, 64 Suppl 1 8-17.

Yajnik, C. S., Deshpande, S. S., Jackson, A. A., Refsum, H., Rao, S., Fisher, D. J., Bhat, D. S., Naik, S. S., Coyaji, K. J., Joglekar, C. V., Joshi, N., Lubree, H. G., Deshpande, V. U., Rege, S. S. & Fall, C. H. (2008) Vitamin B12 and folate concentrations during pregnancy and insulin resistance in the offspring: the Pune Maternal Nutrition Study. *Diabetologia*, 51 (1): 29-38.

Yamada, K., Aiba, K., Kitaura, Y., Kondo, Y., Nomura, N., Nakamura, Y., Fukushi, D., Murayama, K., Shimomura, Y., Pitt, J., Yamaguchi, S., Yokochi, K. & Wakamatsu, N. (2015) Clinical, biochemical and metabolic characterisation of a mild form of human short-chain enoyl-CoA hydratase deficiency: significance of increased N-acetyl-S-(2carboxypropyl)cysteine excretion. *J Med Genet*, 52 (10): 691-698.

Yamada, S., Riittinen, L., Majuri, R., Fukuda, M. & Grasbeck, R. (1991) Studies on the transcobalamin receptor in hog kidney. *Kidney Int*, 39 (2): 289-294.

Yılmaz Sezgin1, S. B. (2018) Comparison of serum lipid parameters and serum vitamin B12 levels.

Yu, J., Loh, K., Song, Z. Y., Yang, H. Q., Zhang, Y. & Lin, S. (2018) Update on glycerol3-phosphate acyltransferases: the roles in the development of insulin resistance. *Nutr Diabetes*, 8 (1): 34.

Zhang, Y., Hodgson, N. W., Trivedi, M. S., Abdolmaleky, H. M., Fournier, M., Cuenod, M., Do, K. Q. & Deth, R. C. (2016) Decreased Brain Levels of Vitamin B12 in Aging, Autism and Schizophrenia. *PloS one*, 11 (1): e0146797-e0146797.

Zhang, Y., Proenca, R., Maffei, M., Barone, M., Leopold, L. & Friedman, J. M. (1994) Positional cloning of the mouse obese gene and its human homologue. *Nature*, 372 (6505): 425-432.

Zhao, H., Matsuzaka, T., Nakano, Y., Motomura, K., Tang, N., Yokoo, T., Okajima, Y., Han, S. I., Takeuchi, Y., Aita, Y., Iwasaki, H., Yatoh, S., Suzuki, H., Sekiya, M., Yahagi, N., Nakagawa, Y., Sone, H., Yamada, N. & Shimano, H. (2017) Elovl6 Deficiency Improves Glycemic Control in Diabetic db/db Mice by Expanding beta-Cell Mass and Increasing Insulin Secretory Capacity. *Diabetes*, 66 (7): 1833-1846.

Zheng, R., Cao, L., Cao, W., Chu, X., Hu, Y., Zhang, H., Xu, J., Sun, H., Bao, W., Liu, K. & Liu, C. (2016) Risk Factors for Hypogonadism in Male Patients with Type 2 Diabetes. *J Diabetes Res*, 2016 5162167.

Zietz, B., Buchler, C., Herfarth, H., Muller-Ladner, U., Spiegel, D., Scholmerich, J. & Schaffler, A. (2005) Caucasian patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus have elevated levels of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 that are not influenced by the -2518 A->G promoter polymorphism. *Diabetes Obes Metab*, 7 (5): 570-578.

Publications





Article

Seminal but not Serum Levels of Holotranscobalamin are Altered in Morbid Obesity and Correlate with Semen Quality: A Pilot Single Centre Study

Jinous Samavat ^{1,+}, Giulia Cantini ^{2,+}, Maria Lorubbio ³, Selene Degl'Innocenti ³, Antonysunil Adaikalakoteswari ^{1,4}, Enrico Facchiano ⁵, Marcello Lucchese ⁵, Mario Maggi ^{2,3,6}, Ponnusamy Saravanan ^{1,7,*}, Agostino Ognibene ³ and Michaela Luconi ^{2,3,*}

D

- ¹ Division of Health Sciences, Warwick Medical School, University of Warwick, Coventry CV4 7AL, UK
- ² Endocrinology Unit, Department of Experimental and Clinical Biomedical Sciences "Mario Serio"-University of Florence, 50139 Florence, Italy
- ³ Azienda Ospedaliero-Universitaria Careggi, 50134 Florence, Italy
- ⁴ Department of Biosciences, School of Science and Technology, Nottingham Trent University, Clifton, Nottingham NG11 8NS, UK
- ⁵ Santa Maria Nuova Hospital, 50122 Florence, Italy
- ⁶ Istituto Nazionale Biostrutture e Biosistemi (INBB), viale delle Medaglie d'Oro 305, 00136 Rome, Italy
- ⁷ Diabetes and Endocrinology Centre, George Eliot Hospital NHS Trust, College Street, Nuneaton, Warwickshire CV10 7DJ, UK
- * Correspondence: P.Saravanan@warwick.ac.uk (P.S.); michaela.luconi@unifi.it

(M.L.); Tel.: +44-24-76865329 (P.S.); +39-055-2758239 (M.L.) ⁺ These authors equally contributed to the study.



Received: 7 May 2019; Accepted: 3 July 2019; Published: 8 July 2019

Abstract: Vitamin B12 (cobalamin) is an essential cofactor in the one-carbon metabolism. One-carbon metabolism is a set of complex biochemical reactions, through which methyl groups are utilised or generated, and thus plays a vital role to many cellular functions in humans. Low levels of cobalamin have been associated to metabolic/reproductive pathologies. However, cobalamin status has never been investigated in morbid obesity in relation with the reduced semen quality. We analysed the cross-sectional data of 47-morbidly-obese and 21 lean men at Careggi University Hospital and evaluated total cobalamin (CBL) and holotranscobalamin (the active form of B12; holoTC) levels in serum and semen.

¹. Introduction

B12 (cobalamin, CBL) is a water-soluble vitamin synthesized only in bacteria [1]. Humans require an external source of this vitamin, primarily through dietary intake or from pharmacological supplementation, as it cannot be absorbed from the intestinal microbiota production [2]. This

Both seminal and serum concentrations of holoTC and CBL were lower in morbidly obese compared to lean men, although the difference did not reach any statistical significance for serum holoTC. Seminal CBL and holoTC were significantly higher than serum levels in both groups.

Significant positive correlations were observed between seminal holoTC and total sperm motility (r = 0.394, p = 0.012), sperm concentration (r = 0.401, p = 0.009), total sperm number (r = 0.343, p = 0.028), and negative correlation with semen pH (r = -0.535, p = 0.0001). ROC analysis supported seminal holoTC as the best predictor of sperm number (AUC = 0.769 ± 0.08 , p = 0.006). Our findings suggest that seminal rather than serum levels of holoTC may represent a good marker of semen quality in morbidly obese subjects.

Keywords: active vitamin B12; cobalamin; morbid obesity; body mass index; sperm; seminal plasma vitamin is crucial for homeostasis and growth as it acts as a coenzyme for the synthesis of methionine, a precursor of S-adenosyl methionine which provides the methyl groups for the methylation processes of macromolecules such as DNA, lipids, proteins, and neurotransmitters acting in the one-carbon-metabolism [3,4]. Around 10%–30% of circulating CBL is bound to the carrier transcobalamin in a complex named holotranscobalamin (holoTC), which is considered the bioactive vitamin B12 [5]. HoloTC has been proposed to represent a better marker than CBL of the vitamin deficiency status [6–8]. Another metabolic marker inversely associated with cobalamin is methylmalonic acid used to detect CBL deficiency at tissue levels [6], however, it is not routinely available for clinical testing.

Data present in the literature supports an association between CBL serum concentrations and metabolic pathologies, including obesity. Morbidly obese subjects [9–11] and patients with insulin resistance [12] present low concentrations of serum CBL. A positive association between CBL and dyslipidemia was found in two ethnic groups with type 2 diabetes (T2D) [13]. Similarly, an association was described between CBL and lower cord blood HDL in White Europeans [14]. A recent systemic review failed to establish any inverse association between circulating CBL and body mass index (BMI) when considering studies including not only obese but also underweight subjects [12]: this relation resulted in a J-shaped association. However, the very large heterogeneity in the meta-analyses considered in that study might have significantly affected the results [12]. Moreover, folate and age but not circulating CBL remained independently associated with the number of metabolic syndrome components in a large cohort of morbidly obese subjects following multivariate analysis [12]. Finally, the very recent analysis of the data from the nationwide population-based study in the U.S (National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, NHANES), demonstrated the association of serum cobalamin with obesity by showing that those individuals with higher serum cobalamin levels were less likely to be obese [15].

It is known that morbid obesity is associated with sub-fertility [16-19], reduced semen quality [19-22], impaired sperm acrosome reaction [23], and sperm fatty acid composition and functions [24,25]. In particular, a large population study performed in men (n = 4,860), classified according to their BMI (underweight: n = 45, normal weight: n = 1,330, overweight: n = 2,493, obese: n = 926, and morbidly obese: n = 57), has shown that at both extremes of BMI (underweight and morbidly obese subjects), semen parameters were significantly worse and associated with lower sperm epididymal maturation compared to the other BMI classes [22]. Similar results have been found in a recent observational study conducted on 3,966 sperm donors in China for the underweight and overweight classes, but not for the obese class [26]. This may be due to enrolment bias (sperm donor bank) and the involvement of a small percentage of obese men (0.9%) (see also [19]).

Conflicting data is still present in the literature about the relation between low circulating CBL and male infertility [27–29]. However, a strong correlation was found between seminal CBL and sperm concentrations in a cohort of couples undergoing assisted reproductive techniques for infertility [30].

Altered absorption of CBL has been described in morbid obesity [9], however CBL and holoTC in serum and semen of these subjects have never been investigated and related to semen quality.

Therefore, the aim of the present cross-sectional observational study was to investigate the possible relationship between holoTC/CBL status and semen quality in a cohort of 47 morbidly obese versus 21 lean men. In particular, we compared holoTC versus CBL concentrations in serum and semen, and

analysed their relationship with seminal parameters with no aim to use them for the diagnosis of vitamin deficiency.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Patients

Morbidly obese men who were on the waiting list for bariatric surgery at the Bariatric Unit of Careggi University Hospital in Florence (AOUC) were recruited to the proposed study. Any bias with infertility was avoided as the morbidly obese patients were not recruited in andrology centres. Inclusion criteria: BMI \geq 38 Kg/m², age between 20 and 65 years. Exclusion criteria: restrictive diet regimen, gastric balloon insertion, previous bariatric intervention, vitamin B12 supplementation, and tumour pathologies. A standard non-restrictive balanced diet had been prescribed to all patients by the Unit's dieticians. Lean men were enrolled among subjects undergoing routine semen analysis for couple infertility at the Andrology Unit at AOUC. Inclusion criteria: 18.5 Kg/m² \leq BMI < 25 Kg/m², age between 20 and 65 years. Exclusion criteria: couple infertility due to male factor, restrictive diet regimen, vitamin B12 supplementation, and tumour pathologies. The study was approved by the Local Ethical Committee and Institutional Review Board (approval protocol number 83/13 of 10.25.2003). All patients provided signed informed consent after receiving written and oral information on the study.

2.2. Biochemical and Anthropometric Measurements

- 1) Anthropometric measures: Height, weight, and waist circumference were measured in each subject and blood was drawn in the morning before seminal analysis.
- 2) Vitamin B12: CBL and holoTC concentrations were measured in frozen serum and semen samples using the respective competitive and chemiluminescent enzyme immunoassays (ADVIA Centaur B12 and ADVIA Centaur Active-B12 Assays, Siemens Healthcare, Milan, Italy) based on LOCI technology on the Dimension Vista System (Siemens). Before holoTC determination, semen samples were diluted (1:3) with Multi-Diluent 13 (Siemens), centrifuged at 2,700g for 10 minutes and the supernatant was analysed. CBL and holoTC concentrations were expressed in pmol/L.
- 3) Biochemical and sex steroid hormones: Glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c) was measured on the wholeblood samples by high-performance liquid chromatography ion exchange chromatography on a VARIANT II instrument (Biorad Laboratories, Milan, Italy). HbA1c values were used for the diagnosis of T2D at the 6.5% threshold. Serum levels of total testosterone (TT), sex-hormone-binding-globulin (SHBG), estradiol (E2), and the gonadotropin follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH) and luteinizing hormone (LH) were measured by immunoassay (Immulite 2000, M-Medical System, Italy); assay analytical sensitivity: 0.5 nM (TT), 55 pM (E2), 0.02 nM (SHBG),

20.1 mIU/ml (FSH) and 0.05 mIU/ml (LH). Free testosterone (cFT) was calculated on SHBG and TT, as previously described [31].

2.3. Semen Analysis

Human semen was obtained by masturbation according to the World Health Organization procedure [32] together with a blood sample on the same day or within one week. Semen parameters were analysed by a routine procedure [21,32]. Briefly, sperm morphology and motility were assessed by optical microscopy. Sperm morphology was evaluated as the percentage of normal and abnormal forms with Diff-Quick staining, scoring at least 100 spermatozoa/slide. Sperm motility was reported as the percentage of progressive motile, non-progressive motile, and immotile spermatozoa on at least 200 sperm/slide, total sperm motility was defined as progressive and non-progressive motile [21].

2.4. Statistical Analysis

Data was expressed as mean ± SD and as median (interquartile range, IQR) for normally and notnormally distributed parameters, respectively. All statistical analyses were performed on SPSS 24.0 for Windows (Statistical Package for the Social Sciences, Chicago, USA). Kolmogoroff–Smirnov's test was used to determine the parametric distribution of data. CBL and holoTC data and most of the seminal parameters had a not-normally distributed distribution, while BMI, weight, and waist circumference were normally distributed. The Mann–Whitney U test was used for comparing two groups of not-normally distributed data, while the two-tailed Student's t-test was applied for comparison of normally distributed data. Correlations were assessed using Spearman's method for not-normally distributed parameters. ROC analysis was performed to evaluate accuracy, as well as sensitivity and specificity of the assessment of semen and serum holoTC and CBL concentrations in predicting semen quality. A p < 0.05 value was used for statistical significance.

3. Results

Anthropometric characteristics of morbidly obese and lean patients are reported in Table 1, along with the circulating levels of sex steroid hormones (TT, fT, E2, FSH, and LH), SHBG, and HbA1c. The prevalence of hypogonadism (TT < 12 nM) [33] and T2D (HbA1c \geq 6.5%) was 66% and 28% in the morbidly obese cohort, while 22% and 0% in the lean cohort, respectively. Smokers and alcohol consumers are reported as percentages (Table 1).

Table 1. Biochemical and anthropometric characteristics of the patients: Anthropometric data and circulating levels of sex steroid hormones, SHBG and HbA1c are reported along with the prevalence of hypogonadism (TT < 12 nM), T2D (HbA1c \ge 6.5), smokers (at least 1 cigarette/day), and alcohol consumers (at least 2 drinks/day) in each cohort. Data was normally distributed and reported as mean \pm SD. Two-tailed Student's t-test *p* values for comparison between obese and lean subjects are shown; χ^2 was applied for comparison of non-continuous parameters (hypogonadism, T2D, smokers, alcohol consumers). Significant p values are indicated in italics.

	Morbidly Obese <i>n=</i> 47	Lean n= 21	p
Age (years)	42.0 [±] 11.6	38.4 [±] 7.9	0.207
BMI (Kg/m²)	46.5 [±] 7.7	25.2 [±] 3.9	0.0001
Weight (Kg)	149.5 [±] 26.6	79.1 [±] 10.0	0.0001
WC (cm)	142.7 [±] 18.5	96.6 [±] 4.0	0.0001
FSH (mIU/L)	4.47 [±] 2.88	4.10 [±] 1.47	0.740
LH (mIU/L)	2.98 [±] 1.93	3.21 [±] 1.86	0.757
TT (nM)	9.19 [±] 4.31	14.44 [±] 6.39	0.005
fT (nM)	0.219 [±] 0.104	0.319 [±] 0.104	0.015
E2 (pM)	139.2 [±] 53.4	101.8 [±] 35.2	0.024
SHBG (nM)	23.0 [±] 9.8	28.3 [±] 10.5	0.168
HbA1c (%)	6.2 [±] 1.2	4.8 [±] 0.3	0.0001

Hypogonadism (%)	66	22	0.029
T2D (%)	28	0	0.045
Smokers (%)	16	19	0.786
Alcohol consumers (%)	21	15	0.567

BMI: body mass index; WC: waist circumference; FSH: follicle stimulating hormone; LH: luteinizing hormone; TT: testosterone; fT: free-testosterone; T2D: type 2 diabetes.

CBL and holoTC concentrations were measured in the serum and semen of morbidly obese and lean subjects as shown in Table 2. CBL immunoassay had an analytical sensitivity of 37 pmol/L [34]. According to our measurements, the intra-assay and inter-assay coefficients of variation (CV%) in serum were 3.38 and 4.37 respectively, while in semen the values were 1.73 and 2.15, respectively. The values of analytical accuracy were evaluated according to CLSI EP05-A3 [35].

Table 2. CBL and holoTC concentrations in serum and semen: HoloTC and CBL concentrations are reported for morbidly obese and lean subjects as median (IQR) for not-normally distributed parameters and the Mann–Whitney U test was applied for comparison between obese and lean subjects. Statistical significance between seminal and circulating concentrations of holoTC and CBL: Significant *p* values are indicated in italics for comparison between morbidly obese and lean subjects.

	Morbidly Obese <i>n</i> =	Morbidly Obese n= Lean	
	47	<i>II-</i> Z1	Mann–Whitney U
Serum concentrations			
holoTC (pmol/L)	64.5 (51.7)	95.1 (52.1)	0.780
CBL (pmol/L)	233.5 (99.2)	328.0 (259.0)	0.012
Semen concentrations			
holoTC (pmol/L)	83.9 (95.1) *	148.3 (67.0) *	0.025
CBL (pmol/L)	811.3 (477.0) **	1074 (456.0) **	0.006

CBL: cobalamin; holoTC: holotranscobalamin; * p < 0.005 and ** p < 0.001.

The ADVIA Centaur AB12 assay for holoTC in serum had the Limit of Detection (LOD) of 1.08 pmol/L and the Limit of Quantification (LOQ) of 5.00 pmol/L, determined as described in the CLSI

documentation EP17-A2 [36]. The linearity was maintained for values 5.00–146.00 pmol/L, evaluated according to the protocol CLSI EP6-A [37]. According to our measurements, the intra-assay and inter-assay repeatability CVs% obtained in serum were 2.38 and 4.36 respectively, and in semen, 3.11 and 4.36, respectively.

CBL deficiency, defined as <148 pmol/L serum concentrations [38], was present in 8% of the morbidly obese men and not in the lean cohort.

HoloTC strongly correlated with CBL in both semen and serum in the whole population (Figure 1A,B). Conversely, only holoTC significantly correlated between semen and serum (r = 0.538, $r^2 = 0.290$, P = 0.014), while CBL did not.



Figure 1. Positive correlations between CBL and holoTC concentrations in semen (**A**) and serum (**B**) in all subjects. Correlations were evaluated by Spearman's test for not-normally distributed data in a univariate analysis: r, r^2 , and p from linear regression are indicated. CBL: cobalamin; holoTC: holotranscobalamin.

In both cohorts, CBL and holoTC concentrations were significantly higher in semen versus serum samples (CBL: P < 0.001, and holoTC: P < 0.005, Table 2, Figure 2). Morbidly obese subjects presented significantly lower concentrations of both CBL (p = 0.006) and holoTC (p = 0.025) in semen compared to lean subjects (Table 1, Figure 2), while the differences between the two cohorts reached a statistical significance in the serum for CBL only (p = 0.012, Table 1, Figure 2). Not-statistically significant correlations were found between holoTC/CBL and BMI, weight, waist circumference (WC), sex steroid hormones, and HbA1c.



Figure 2. CBL and holoTC concentrations in serum and seminal samples from morbidly obese and lean subjects. Data is not-normally distributed and reported as box charts for holoTC (**A**) and CBL (**B**) serum and semen concentrations; p derived from the Mann-Whitney U test analysis is indicated. MOB: morbidly obese subjects; LEAN: lean subjects.

Thequalityofseminalparameterswassignificantlyreducedinthemorbidlyobesecohortcompared to the lean subjects, in particular when considering total sperm motility, vitality, concentration, and total number, as well as semen volume and pH (Table 3). In order to investigate the relationship between CBL and semen quality, seminal characteristics and sperm parameters were evaluated in the whole population. A statistically significant positive association was found between seminal holoTC, CBL, and total sperm motility, concentration and total number, as well as a negative correlation with semen pH (Table 4). Conversely, no association was found between any parameter and holoTC and CBL in both semen and serum.

Table 3. Seminal parameters: Seminal parameters of morbidly obese and lean subjects are reported as mean

 ± SD for normally distributed and median (IQR) for not-normally distributed parameters and analysed with

Sominal Darameter	Morbidly Obese n=	Lean	р	
Seminal Parameter	47	<i>n</i> = 21	Mann–Whitney U	
Progressive Motility (%)	45.0 (31.0)	55.0 (19.5)	0.017	
Total Motility (%)	52.0 (25.0)	65.0 (18.5)	0.004	
Normal Morphology (%)	3.0 (5.0)	5.0 (6.0)	0.167	
Vitality (%)	69.0 (29.0)	80.0 (6.0)	0.013	
Total Sperm Number (millions)	34.5 (161.8)	220.0 (328.5)	0.001	
Sperm Concentration(million/ml)	10.0 (52.6)	52.5 (75.0)	0.013	
Volume (ml)	3.1 [±] 1.7	4.2 [±] 1.4	0.019	
рН	7.6 [±] 0.3	7.4 [±] 0.2	0.001	
Abstinence (days)	4.5 [±] 3.8	3.8 [±] 2.0	0.707	

the Mann–Whitney U test for comparison between obese and lean subjects. Significant *p* values are indicated in italics.

Table 4. Correlations between seminal holoTC or CBL and seminal parameters. r and p values of Spearman's correlation are indicated. The analysis was performed on the whole population.

	Seminal HoloTC	Seminal CBL
Total Sperm Motility (%)	r = 0.394 p = 0.012	r = 0.345 p = 0.027
Total Sperm Number (millions)	r = 0.401 p = 0.009	<i>r</i> = 0.482 <i>p</i> = 0.001
Sperm Concentration (mil/ml)	r = 0.343 p = 0.028	<i>r</i> = 0.465 <i>p</i> = 0.002
рН	r = 0.535 p = 0.0001	r = 0.481 p = 0.001

When the whole cohort of morbidly obese and lean subjects were stratified in two classes of holoTC concentrations, according to the median value of holoTC (118 pmol/L) derived from the seminal distribution of the whole cohort, total sperm number and seminal volume were significantly higher and pH significantly lower in those subjects with high seminal holoTC (Figure 3A–C). Similar results were obtained for total sperm number and pH (Figure 3D,E) but not for semen volume (Figure 3F) when subjects were stratified according to the median seminal CBL levels (1,069 pmol/L).



Figure 3. Seminal parameters stratified for seminal holoTC and CBL in the total population of obese and lean subjects. Data reported as box charts indicates sperm number (**A**,**B**), seminal pH (**C**,**D**), and volume (**E**,**F**) in all subjects stratified for low and high seminal holoTC (**A**,**C**,**E**) and CBL (**B**,**D**,**F**), respectively. Cut-off values were chosen as the median value of holoTC (118 pmol/L) and CBL (1,069 pmol/L) distribution in the whole population; p values were calculated with the Mann-Whitney U test.

Finally, in order to compare the sensitivity and specificity of seminal and serum holoTC and CBL in predicting semen quality, a ROC analysis was performed. A statistically significant accuracy in predicting sperm number and concentration was found for seminal holoTC and CBL (Figure 4A–D), but not for serum values. The cut-off values identifying the best combination of sensitivity and specificity of the methods are indicated. These cut-off values were similar to the median values of holoTC and CBL distribution in semen (see Figure 3).

А

В



Figure 4. ROC analysis of seminal holoTC and CBL potency in predicting sperm number and concentration. ROC analysis of seminal holoTC predictive power for sperm number (**A**) and sperm concentration (**B**), and for seminal CBL predictive power for sperm number (**C**) and sperm concentration (**D**). Accuracy \pm SD (AUC) and *p* value are indicated for each analysis, along with the cut-off value of holoTC and CBL associated with the best value of sensitivity (sens) and specificity (spec) of the method.

Table 5 reports the mean values of the different parameters when all subjects were stratified by the best cut-off values of seminal holoTC and CBL, as identified in the ROC analysis. Parameters of statistically significant differences between the two groups are shown in Table 5.

Table 5. Stratification of the whole subject cohort according to seminal holoTC and CBL cut-off values identified by ROC analysis. Data is reported as median (IQR) for each parameter when all subjects were stratified in two groups according to the indicated cut-off values of seminal holoTC and CBL identified by ROC analysis. Significant *p* values after the Mann–Whitney U test are indicated.

	[≥] 85.7	<85.7					p	[≥] 958	<958 (pmol/L)	
	(pmol/L)	(pmol/L)					•	(pmol/L)		
BMI (Kg/m²)	40.1 (39.0)	42.6 (15.8)					0.120	30.8 (27.1)	43.2 (36.1)	0.
		142.0 (58.0)	0.032	120.0 (67.5)	144.0 (81.8)	0.018	_			
		52.0 (75.0])	0.034	65 (61.0)	54.0 (75.0)	0.066	_			
		30.8 (281.0)	0.001	162.4 (567.6)	41.6 (408.0)	0.018	_			
	44.0	78(06)	0.0001	74(12)	76(08)	0.005	_	44.0		
ml)	(306.0)	7.8 (0.8)	0.0001	7.4 (1.2)	7.0 (0.8)	0.005	9. 0.001	(178.1)	10.0 (213.0)	0.

4. Discussion

We observed some interesting and novel findings in this study. In line with the higher holoTC and CBL concentrations found in semen compared to serum in the whole population of subjects studied, it is likely that CBL may concentrate from the circulation to the seminal compartment. The higher concentrations found for holoTC and CBL in semen might support a role of CBL in controlling semen quality. Accordingly, a recent review showed that CBL and antioxidant supplementation can improve semen quality, in particular enhancing sperm count and motility [27].

Secondly, we found that seminal CBL and holoTC concentrations were significantly lower than serum levels in morbidly obese compared to lean subjects. This suggests that alterations associated with high grades of obesity may somehow affect the process of local concentration in the reproductive tract, at least in the ejaculate, thus contributing to the reduced semen quality observed in morbidly obese men [17–22]. Indeed, we found a significant positive correlation between seminal holoTC/CBL and some seminal parameters, which lost statistical significance when serum holoTC/CBL concentrations

were considered. In particular, this was found for both holoTC and CBL and total sperm motility, total number, concentration, and seminal pH. Conversely, a not-statistically significant correlation with normal sperm morphology was evident. This finding indicates an active role of seminal B12 in controlling semen quality at the post-testicular level, such as in the epididymis, where spermatozoa are concentrated and acquire active motility [39], as well as in semen production, acting on the prostate and seminal vesicles. Interestingly, alterations at the post-testicular level in the control of sperm maturation have also been hypothesized to contribute to the reduced semen quality found in morbid obesity [17–22]. The extreme obesity may affect sperm quality at a post-testicular level, which was confirmed by the absence of any effect on the normal morphology parameter and conversely related to testicular maturation as previously shown [19].

The correlation between morbid obesity and hypogonadism has been extensively validated [17,18,40], and the high prevalence of hypogonadism in this type of obesity has been further confirmed. However, in our study no significant correlations were found between seminal holoTC or CBL and sex steroid hormones, and no influence of hypogonadism on CBL was evident, suggesting that hypogonadism does not contribute to regulate holoTC and CBL concentrations.

The role of seminal CBL in the post-testicular control of semen quality was further suggested by the significant difference observed in total sperm number and semen pH between subjects stratified according to low and high holoTC and CBL. In particular, seminal holoTC, but not CBL concentrations, significantly differentiated patients for semen volume, which was substantially lower in subjects with low seminal holoTC. Interestingly, semen volume was one of the parameters strictly associated with prostate and seminal vesicle functionality [41]. Finally, according to the higher level of accuracy and best sensitivity/specificity associated with seminal holoTC evaluation compared to CBL, seminal holoTC turned out to be the best predictor of semen quality (sperm number and concentration), suggesting that this parameter could be considered as a potential useful marker of patients' fertility.

One of the limitations recognized in our study was the limited number of subjects enrolled. Accordingly, our results should be considered as preliminary. However, the number of morbidly obese

subjects enrolled was in line with the other studies conducted on morbidly obese subjects recruited in bariatric surgery programs [17,18,21,42–44]. To exclude that the difference in the number of subjects in the two cohorts could somehow affect the difference observed in holoTC and CBL, we calculated Cohen's *d* values (Cd) for holoTC and CBL in semen and serum of the morbidly obese and lean groups. The values obtained (moderate level: semen holoTC Cd = 0.70, serum holoTC Cd = 0.77; high level: semen CBL Cd = 1.11, serum CBL Cd = 2.82) indicate that the small size of the groups was unlikely to affect the results. Our sample selection has two key strengths compared to previous papers [16,19,26]: a) absence of any recruitment bias – the morbidly obese subjects were not recruited in andrology centres, thus this does not affect fertility conditions, and b) parallel measurements of both holoTC and CBL concentrations in semen and serum of the same subjects.

5. Conclusions

In conclusion, our findings suggest that seminal rather than serum holoTC might represent a good marker of semen quality in morbidly obese subjects, whereby, despite the normal serum levels, low CBL and holoTC were found. Further studies investigating the local levels of holoTC on large populations including mildly obese/overweight subjects and elucidating the mechanisms which could affect semen quality are warranted.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization: M.L. (Michaela Luconi), J.S., P.S. and M.M.; Methodology, J.S., A.O., M.L. (Maria Lorubbio), E.F. and M.L. (Marcello Lucchese); Software: G.C. and S.D.; Formal Analysis: J.S., A.A. and P.S.;

Investigation: J.S., G.C., A.O., M.L. (Maria Lorubbio), E.F. and S.D.; Resources: M.L. (Michaela Luconi), M.L. (Marcello Lucchese) and M.M.; Data Statistics: G.C.; Writing – Original Draft Preparation: M.L.(Michaela Luconi), P.S., J.S. and M.M.; Writing – Review & Editing: M.L. (Michaela Luconi), P.S. and M.M.; Supervision: M.L.

(Michaela Luconi) and P.S.; Project Administration: M.L.(Michaela Luconi); Funding Acquisition: M.L. (Michaela Luconi). All authors approved the final manuscript as submitted.

Funding:This work was supported by Fondazione Ente Cassa di Risparmio di Firenze Research Grant2016-RF-2016.0773-PRIN2015 prot. 2015ZTT5KB (Italian Ministry of University and Research- Progetti di Ricerca di
Rilevante Interesse Nazionale) to Michaela Luconi; Sir Jules Thorn charitable trust funded the PhD fellowship to Jinous
Samavat, and part of Ponnusamy Saravanan's time was supported by the MRC Newton fund (MR/N006232/1).

Acknowledgments: We thank all participants who have contributed to the current study.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- 1. LeBlanc, J.G.; Milani, C.; de Giori, G.S.; Sesma, F.; van Sinderen, D.; Ventura, M. Bacteria as vitamin suppliers to their host: A gut microbiota perspective. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* **2013**, *24*, 160–168. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Smith, A.D.; Warren, M.J.; Refsum, H. Vitamin B12. Adv. Food Nutr. Res. 2018, 83, 215–279. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 3. Banerjee, R.V.; Matthews, R.G. Cobalamin-dependent methionine synthase. *Faseb J.* **1990**, *4*, 450–1459. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Ducker, G.S.; Rabinowitz, J.D. One-Carbon Metabolism in Health and Disease. *Cell Metab.* 2017, 25, 27–42. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 5. Rush, E.C.; Katre, P.; Yajnik, C.S. Vitamin B12: One carbon metabolism, fetal growth and programming for chronic disease. *Eur. J. Clin. Nutr.* **2014**, *68*, 2–7. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Nexo, E.; Hoffmann-Lücke, E. Holotranscobalamin, a marker of vitamin B-12 status: Analytical aspects and clinical utility. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 2011, *94*, 359S–365S. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Heil, S.G.; de Jonge, R.; de Rotte, M.C.; van Wijnen, M.; Heiner-Fokkema, R.M.; Kobold, A.C.; Pekelharing, J.M.; Adriaansen, H.J.; Sanders, E.; Trienekens, P.H.; et al. Screening for metabolic vitamin B12 deficiency by holotranscobalamin in patients suspected of vitamin B12 deficiency: A multicentre study. *Ann. Clin. Biochem.* 2012, 49, 184–189. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Lloyd-Wright, Z.; Hvas, A.M.; Møller, J.; Sanders, T.A.; Nexo, E. Holotranscobalamin as an indicator of dietary vitamin B12 deficiency. *Clin. Chem.* 2003, *49*, 2076–2078. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Li, Z.; Gueant-Rodriguez, R.M.; Quilliot, D.; Sirveaux, M.A.; Meyre, D.; Gueant, J.L.; Brunaud, L. Folate and vitamin B12 status is associated with insulin resistance and metabolic syndrome in morbid obesity. *Clin. Nutr.* 2018, *37*, 1700–1706. [CrossRef]

- Knight, B.A.; Shields, B.M.; Brook, A.; Hill, A.; Bhat, D.S.; Hattersley, A.T.; Yajnik, C.S. Lower Circulating B12 Is Associated with Higher Obesity and Insulin Resistance during Pregnancy in a Non-Diabetic White British Population. *PLoS ONE* 2015, *10*, e0135268. [CrossRef]
- Krzizek, E.C.; Brix, J.M.; Herz, C.T.; Kopp, H.P.; Schernthaner, G.H.; Schernthaner, G.; Ludvik, B. Prevalence of Micronutrient Deficiency in Patients with Morbid Obesity Before Bariatric Surgery. *Obes. Surg.* 2018, *28*, 643– 648. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 12. Wiebe, N.; Field, C.J.; Tonelli, M. A systematic review of the vitamin B12, folate and homocysteine triad across body mass index. *Obes. Rev.* **2018**, *19*, 1608–1618. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Adaikalakoteswari, A.; Jayashri, R.; Sukumar, N.; Venkataraman, H.; Pradeepa, R.; Gokulakrishnan, K.; Anjana, R.M.; McTernan, P.G.; Tripathi, G.; Patel, V.; et al. Vitamin B12 deficiency is associated with adverse lipid profile in Europeans and Indians with type 2 diabetes. *Cardiovasc. Diabetol.* 2014, *13*, 129. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 14. Adaikalakoteswari, A.; Vatish, M.; Lawson, A.; Wood, C.; Sivakumar, K.; McTernan, P.G.; Webster, C.; Anderson, N.; Yajnik, C.S.; Tripathi, G.; et al. Low maternal vitamin B12 status is associated with lower cord blood HDL cholesterol in white Caucasians living in the UK. *Nutrients* **2015**, *7*, 2401–2414. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Sun, Y.; Sun, M.; Liu, B.; Du, Y.; Rong, S.; Xu, G.; Snetselaar, L.G.; Bao, W. Inverse Association Between Serum Vitamin B12 Concentration and Obesity Among Adults in the United States. *Front. Endocrinol.* 2019. [CrossRef]
- Bieniek, J.M.; Kashanian, J.A.; Deibert, C.M.; Grober, E.D.; Lo, K.C.; Brannigan, R.E.; Sandlow, J.I.; Jarvi, K.A. Influence of increasing body mass index on semen and reproductive hormonal parameters in a multiinstitutional cohort of subfertile men. *Fertil. Steril.* 2016, 106, 1070–1075. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 17. Luconi, M.; Samavat, J.; Seghieri, G.; Iannuzzi, G.; Lucchese, M.; Rotella, C.; Forti, G.; Maggi, M.; Mannucci, E. Determinants of testosterone recovery after bariatric surgery: Is it only a matter of reduction of body mass index? *Fertil. Steril.* **2013**, *99*, 1872–1879.e1. [CrossRef]
- 18. Rosenblatt, A.; Faintuch, J.; Cecconello, I. Abnormalities of Reproductive Function in Male Obesity Before and After Bariatric Surgery-A Comprehensive Review. *Obes. Surg.* **2015**, *25*, 1281–1292. [CrossRef]
- Belloc, S.; Cohen-Bacrie, M.; Amar, E.; Izard, V.; Benkhalifa, M.; Dalléac, A.; de Mouzon, J. High body mass index has a deleterious effect on semen parameters except morphology: Results from a large cohort study. *Fertil. Steril.* 2014, 102, 1268–1273. [CrossRef]
- 20. Ramaraju, G.A.; Teppala, S.; Prathigudupu, K.; Kalagara, M.; Thota, S.; Kota, M.; Cheemakurthi, R. Association between obesity and sperm quality. *Andrologia* **2018**, *50*. [CrossRef]
- Samavat, J.; Cantini, G.; Lotti, F.; Di Franco, A.; Tamburrino, L.; Degl'Innocenti, S.; Maseroli, E.; Filimberti, E.; Facchiano, E.; Lucchese, M.; et al. Massive Weight Loss Obtained by Bariatric Surgery Affects Semen Quality in Morbid Male Obesity: A Preliminary Prospective Double-Armed Study. *Obes. Surg.* 2018, 28, 69–76. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Luque, E.M.; Tissera, A.; Gaggino, M.P.; Molina, R.I.; Mangeaud, A.; Vincenti, L.M.; Beltramone, F.; Larcher, J.S.; Estofán, D.; Fiol de Cuneo, M.; et al. Body mass index and human sperm quality: Neither one extreme nor the other. *Reprod. Fertil. Dev.* 2017, 29, 731–739. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Samavat, J.; Natali, I.; Degl'Innocenti, S.; Filimberti, E.; Cantini, G.; Di Franco, A.; Danza, G.; Seghieri, G.; Lucchese, M.; Baldi, E.; et al. Acrosome reaction is impaired in spermatozoa of obese men: A preliminary study. *Fertil. Steril.* 2014, 102, 1274–1281. [CrossRef]
- 24. Andersen, J.M.; Rønning, P.O.; Herning, H.; Bekken, S.D.; Haugen, T.B.; Witczak, O. Fatty acid composition of spermatozoa is associated with BMI and with semen quality. *Andrology* **2016**, *4*, 857–865. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Ferigolo, P.C.; Ribeiro de Andrade, M.B.; Camargo, M.; Carvalho, V.M.; Cardozo, K.H.M.; Bertolla, R.P.; Fraietta, R. Sperm functional aspects and enriched proteomic pathways of seminal plasma of adult men with obesity. *Andrology* 2019, 7, 341–349. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Ma, J.; Wu, L.; Zhou, Y.; Zhang, H.; Xiong, C.; Peng, Z.; Bao, W.; Meng, T.; Liu, Y. Association between BMI and semen quality: An observational study of 3966 sperm donors. *Hum. Reprod.* 2019, *34*, 155–162. [CrossRef]
- 27. Banihani, S.A. Vitamin B12 and Semen Quality. Biomolecules 2017, 7, E42. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Dhillon, V.S.; Shahid, M.; Husain, S.A. Associations of MTHFR DNMT3b 4977 bp deletion in mtDNA and GSTM1 deletion, and aberrant CpG island hypermethylation of GSTM1 in non-obstructive infertility in Indian men. *Mol. Hum. Reprod.* 2007, *13*, 13–22. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 29. Murphy, L.E.; Mills, J.L.; Molloy, A.M.; Qian, C.; Carter, T.C.; Strevens, H.; Wide-Swensson, D.; Giwercman, A.;

Levine, R.J. Folate and vitamin B12 in idiopathic male infertility. Asian J. Androl. 2011, 13, 856-861. [CrossRef]

- Boxmeer, J.C.; Smit, M.; Weber, R.F.; Lindemans, J.; Romijn, J.C.; Eijkemans, M.J.; Macklon, N.S.; Steegers-Theunissen, R.P. Seminal plasma cobalamin significantly correlates with sperm concentration in men undergoing IVF or ICSI procedures. *J. Androl.* 2007, *28*, 521–527. [CrossRef]
- 31. Vermeulen, A.; Verdonck, L.; Kaufman, J.M. A critical evaluation of simple methods for the estimation of free testosterone in serum. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* **1999**, *84*, 3666–3672. [CrossRef]
- 32. World Health Organization. *WHO Laboratory Manual for the Examination and Processing of Human Semen*; WHO Press: Geneva, Switzerland, 2010.
- 33. Bhasin, S.; Pencina, M.; Jasuja, G.K.; Travison, T.G.; Coviello, A.; Orwoll, E.; Wang, P.Y.; Nielson, C.; Wu, F.; Tajar, A.; et al. Reference ranges for testosterone in men generated using liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry in a community-based sample of healthy nonobese young men in the Framingham Heart Study and applied to three geographically distinct cohorts. *J. Clin. Endocrinol Metab.* **2011**, *96*, 2430–2439. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Allin, K.H.; Friedrich, N.; Pietzner, M.; Grarup, N.; Thuesen, B.H.; Linneberg, A.; Pisinger, C.; Hansen, T.; Pedersen, O.; Sandholt, C.H. Genetic determinants of serum vitamin B12 and their relation to body mass index. *Eur. J. Epidemiol.* 2017, *32*, 125–134. [CrossRef]
- Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute. Evaluation of Precision of Quantitative Measurement Procedures, 3rd ed.; Approved Guideline; CLSI Document EP05-A3; Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute: Wayne, PA, USA, 2014.
- Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute. Evaluation of Detection Capability for Clinical Laboratory Measurement Procedures, 2nd ed.; Approved Guideline; CLSI Document EP17-A2; Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute: Wayne, PA, USA, 2012.
- Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute. Evaluation of Linearity of Quantitative Measurement Procedures: A Statistical Approach; Approved Guideline; CLSI Document EP-6A; Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute: Wayne, PA, USA, 2010.
- Hannibal, L.; Lysne, V.; Bjørke-Monsen, A.L.; Behringer, S.; Grünert, S.C.; Spiekerkoetter, U.; Jacobsen, D.W.;
 Blom, H.J. Biomarkers and Algorithms for the Diagnosis of Vitamin B12 Deficiency. *Front. Mol. Biosci.* 2016, *3*, 27. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Luconi, M.; Forti, G.; Baldi, E. Pathophysiology of sperm motililty. Front. Biosci. 2006, 11, 1433–1447. [CrossRef]
 [PubMed]
- Samavat, J.; Facchiano, E.; Lucchese, M.; Forti, G.; Mannucci, E.; Maggi, M.; Luconi, M. Hypogonadism as an additional indication for bariatric surgery in male morbid obesity? *Eur. J. Endocrinol.* 2014, *171*, 555–560. [CrossRef]
- Lotti, F.; Corona, G.; Colpi, G.M.; Filimberti, E.; Innocenti, S.D.; Mancini, M.; Baldi, E.; Noci, I.; Forti, G.; Maggi, M. Seminal vesicles ultrasound features in a cohort of infertility patients. *Hum. Reprod.* 2012, *27*, 974–982. [CrossRef]
- El Bardisi, H.; Majzoub, A.; Arafa, M.; AlMalki, A.; Al Said, S.; Khalafalla, K.; Jabbour, G.; Basha, M.; AlAnsari, A.; Sabanegh, E., Jr. Effectofbariatricsurgeryonsemenparametersandsexhormoneconcentrations: A prospective study. *Reprod. Biomed. Online* **2016**, *33*, 606–611. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 43. MacDonald, A.A.; Herbison, G.P.; Showell, M.; Farquhar, C.M. The impact of body mass index on semen parameters and reproductive hormones in human males: A systematic review with meta-analysis. *Hum. Reprod. Update* **2010**, *16*, 293–311. [CrossRef]
- Corona, G.; Rastrelli, G.; Monami, M.; Saad, F.; Luconi, M.; Lucchese, M.; Facchiano, E.; Sforza, A.; Forti, G.; Mannucci, E.; et al. Body weight loss reverts obesity-associated hypogonadotropic hypogonadism: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur. J. Endocrinol.* 2013, *168*, 829–843. [CrossRef]



© 2019 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

List of manuscripts awaiting publication

List of manuscripts awaiting publication

- **J Samavat,** A Adaikalakoteswari, J Boachie, P Saravanan. Vitamin B12 deficiency leads to adipocyte dysfunction by enhancing triglyceride biosynthesis and impairing fatty-acid oxidation: a new protagonist in metabolic disease?
- **J Samavat,** A Adaikalakoteswari, J Boachie, P Saravanan. Increased proinflammatory cytokine production in vitamin B12 deficient adipocytes
- J. Samavat, A.Adaikalakoteswari, J. Boachie, I. Goljan, P.Saravanan. Expressions of Transcobalamin receptor CD32O and transporter TCN2 in low vitaminB12 treated human adipocytes

List of conference presentations

List of conference poster presentations

- Samavat J. et al. "Vitamin B12 Deficiency Leads To Fatty Acid Metabolism Dysregulation and Increased pro-inflammatory cytokine production in Human Adipocytes and Maternal Subcutaneous and Omental Adipose Tissue". 73° annual conference of Society of Endocrinology SfE BES 11-13 November 2019, Brighton -United Kingdom
- Samavat J. et al "Vitamin B12 Deficiency Increases pro-inflammatory cytokine production in Human Adipocytes and Maternal Subcutaneous and Omental Adipose Tissue" ° World Congress of Developmental Origins of Health and Disease DOHaD 20-23 October 2019, Melbourne, Australia.
- Samavat J. et al. "Vitamin B12 Deficiency Leads To Fatty Acid Metabolism Dysregulation and Increased pro-inflammatory cytokine production in Human Adipocytes and Maternal Subcutaneous and Omental Adipose Tissue". CPHBAT 2019 Brown and white adipose in metabolism -Plasticity and metabolic crosstalk, 3-4 June, Copenhagen, Denmark
- Samavat J. et al. "Vitamin B12 deficiency leads to adipocyte dysfunction by decreasing fatty-acid oxidation: a new protagonist in metabolic disease?18th International Congress of Endocrinology and 53rd SEMSDA Congress 1-4 December, Cape Town, South Africa
- Samavat J. et al. 72° annual conference of Society of Endocrinology SfE BES 19-21 November 2018, Glasgow, United Kingdom. "Increased pro-inflammatory cytokine production in vitamin B12 deficient adipocytes"; "Vitamin B12 deficiency leads to adipocyte dysfunction by enhancing triglyceride biosynthesis and impairing fatty-acid oxidation: a new protagonist in metabolic disease?"
- Samavat J. et al. Warwick Medical School's annual Postgraduate Research Student Symposium 22nd -23rd May 2018, Coventry,United Kingdom "VitaminB12 deficiency triggers adipocyte dysfunction by enhancing triglyceride biosynthesis and pro-inflammatory cytokine production: a new agonist in metabolic disease?" Poster presentation winner
- Samavat J. et al. 71° annual conference of Society of Endocrinology SfE BES 6-8 November 2017, Harrogate, United Kingdom "VitaminB12 deficiency triggers adipocyte disfunction enanching fatty acid biosynthesis and pro-inflammatory cytokine production: a new protagonist in Metabolic Disease?"

- Samavat J. et al. "Expression of Transcobalamin receptor CD32O and transporter TCN2 result increased in low vitaminB12 treated human adipocytes"; 10° World Congress of Developmental Origins of Health and Disease DOHaD 15-18 October 2017 Rotterdam, The Netherlands
- Samavat J. et al. "VitaminB12 deficiency triggers adipocyte dysfunction by enhancing triglyceride biosynthesis and pro-inflammatory cytokine production: a new agonist in metabolic disease?" 10° World Congress of Developmental Origins of Health and Disease DOHaD 15-18 October 2017 Rotterdam, The Netherlands
- Samavat J. et al. Warwick Medical School's annual Postgraduate Research Student Symposium 6-7 June 2017, Coventry, United Kingdom.

List of conference Oral presentations

- Samavat J. et al. "Vitamin B12 Deficiency Leads To Dysregulation of Fatty Acid Metabolism in Human Adipocytes and Maternal Subcutaneous and Omental Adipose Tissue" 11° World Congress of Developmental Origins of Health and Disease DOHaD 20-23 October 2019, Melbourne, Australia.
- Samavat J. et al. "The Role of Vitamin B12 Deficiency on Lipid Handling by Adipocytes: a new protagonist in metabolic disease?". 3rd Midlands Academy of Medical Sciences Research Festival 27th March 2019, Birmingham, United Kingdom.
- **Samavat J. et al.** Effect of vitamin B12 on obesity and metabolic disorders 21st May 2019 PGR symposium Warwick Medical School
- **Samavat J. et al.** 3rd Midlands Academy of Medical Sciences Research Festival 23rd March 2018, Loughborough University, United Kingdom "VitaminB12 deficiency triggers adipocyte dysfunction by enhancing triglyceride biosynthesis and pro-inflammatory cytokine production: a new agonist in metabolic disease?"
- **Samavat J. et al** PRiDE annual conference, University of Warwick, UK, 2017 Sep 2017 Effect of vitamin B12 deficiency on adipose metabolism of lipids.

Vitamin B12 Deficiency Leads To Fatty Acid Metabolism Dysregulation and Increased pro-inflammatory cytokine production in Human Adipocytes and Maternal Subcutaneous and Omental Adipose Tissue

Samavat J.¹, Adaikalakoteswari A.^{1, 2}, Boachie J.¹, Jackish L.¹, McTernan P.G. ², Christian M.¹, Saravanan P. ^{1,3}

¹Division of Metabolic and Vascular Health, Clinical Sciences Research Laboratories, Warwick Medical School, University of Warwick, Coventry CV2 2DX, United Kingdom

²Department of Biosciences, School of Science and Technology, Nottingham Trent University, Clifton, Nottingham, NG11 8NS, UK.

³Diabetes Centre, George Eliot Hospital NHS Trust College Street, Nuneaton, Warwickshire, United Kingdom, CV10 7DJ

Vitamin B12(B12)is an essential micronutrient required for several metabolic reactions. Animal and clinical studies show that B12-deficiency is associated with the metabolic syndrome. Given the key metabolic role of adipose tissue we investigated whether B12 deficiency may affect triglyceride synthesis and lipid metabolism leading to adipose tissue inflammation. The AbdSc pre-adipocyte cell line(Chub-S7) and human AbdSc primary pre-adipocytes were differentiated under different B12 concentrations (25pM,100pM,1nM,500nM).Human Om,Sc-AT and blood samples were collected from 106 pregnant women at delivery.SerumB12 and relevant metabolic risk factors were measured.Gene expression was performed by q-RTPCR, de novo triglyceride synthesis was quantified by radioactive tracing, ß-oxidation and palmitate-induced oxygen consumption rate was determined using seahorse-XF analyser.Adipocytes cultured in low-B12 conditions showed significantly increased expression(P<0.01)of triglyceride biosynthesis genes(ELOVL6,SCD,GPAT,LPIN1 and DGAT2), a significantly decreased expression(P<0.01)of **B**-oxidation genes(FAT/CD36,CPT1-B,ACADL,ECHS1 andACAA2) and an increased expression (P<0.01) of pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-1, IL-6, IL-8, IL-18, TGF- β , TNF- α and MCP-1). These data were also confirmed in the AT of B12-deficient pregnant women. Additionally, real-time fatty acid flux synthesis and fattyacid-oxidation induced by palmitate were significantly altered(P<0.05)in B12-deficient adipocytes. Our data highlights that B12-deficiency has profound effects on adipocyte dysfunction, opening new insights into the pathogenesis of maternal obesity and the relevance of micronutrient supplementation for pregnant mothers.

Vitamin B12 Deficiency Increases pro-inflammatory cytokine production in Human Adipocytes and Maternal Subcutaneous and Omental Adipose Tissue

Samavat J.¹, Adaikalakoteswari A.^{1, 2}, Boachie J.¹, Jackish L.¹, McTernan P.G. ², Christian M. Saravanan P. ^{1,3}

¹Division of Metabolic and Vascular Health, Clinical Sciences Research Laboratories, Warwick Medical School, University of Warwick, Coventry CV2 2DX, United Kingdom

²Department of Biosciences, School of Science and Technology, Nottingham Trent University, Clifton, Nottingham, NG11 8NS, UK.

³Diabetes Centre, George Eliot Hospital NHS Trust College Street, Nuneaton, Warwickshire, United Kingdom, CV10 7DJ

Background: Vitamin B12 (B12) is an essential micronutrient required for optimal hematopoietic, neurologic and other several metabolic reactions. Longitudinal studies and animal models showed that low maternal vitaminB12 deficiency is associated with the maternal obesity, development of insulin resistance and metabolic syndrome phenotype suggesting the crucial role of B12 in adipose tissue function. Although the mechanisms underpinning metabolic disorders remain poorly defined, the pathophysiology of obesity-induced metabolic diseases has been strongly related to white adipose tissue dysfunction through several mechanisms such as fibrosis, apoptosis and inflammation. Therefore, we investigated the role B12 deficiency in lipid metabolism arising from human abdominal subcutaneous adipocytes (AbdSc Ad), Subcutaneous (Sc) and Omental (Om) adipose tissue(AT). Therefore, the aim of this study is to investigate the role of B12 inflammation in human adipocytes.

Methods: AbdSc pre-adipocytes cell line (Chub-S7) and human AbdSc primary preadipocyte cells were differentiated under different B12 concentrations (25pM, 100pM, 1nM, 500nM) to assess B12 deficiency effects. Human Om, Sc AT and blood samples were also collected from 106 white pregnant women at delivery. Serum B12 as well as relevant metabolic risk factors were measured. Gene expression was performed by q-RTPCR.

Results: Adipocytes cultured in low vitamin B12 conditions showed significantly increased gene expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines (P<0.01) such as interleukin-1 (IL-1) interleukin-6 (IL-6), interleukin-8 (IL-8), interleukin-18 (IL-18), transforming growth factor beta (TGF- β), tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α), monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1/CCL2). These data were also confirmed in both Omental and Subcutaneous AT of pregnant women with B12 deficiency. Our data highlights that low B12 induces higher gene expression and secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines, which might lead to adipocyte dysfunction. This link between vitamin B12 deficiency and metabolic inflammation opens new insights into the pathogenesis of maternal obesity and the relevance of micronutrient supplementation for pregnant mothers.

Increased pro-inflammatory cytokine production in vitamin B12 deficient adipocytes.

Samavat J.¹, Adaikalakoteswari A.^{1, 2}, Boachie J.¹, Jackish L.¹, McTernan P.G. ², Christian M. Saravanan P. ^{1,3}

¹Division of Metabolic and Vascular Health, Clinical Sciences Research Laboratories, Warwick Medical School, University of Warwick, Coventry CV2 2DX, United Kingdom

²Department of Biosciences, School of Science and Technology, Nottingham Trent University, Clifton, Nottingham, NG11 8NS, UK.

³Diabetes Centre, George Eliot Hospital NHS Trust College Street, Nuneaton, Warwickshire, United Kingdom, CV10 7DJ

Vitamin B12 (B12) is an essential micronutrient required for optimal hematopoietic, neurologic and other several metabolic reactions. Longitudinal studies and animal models showed that low maternal vitaminB12 deficiency is associated with the maternal obesity, development of insulin resistance and metabolic syndrome phenotype suggesting the crucial role of B12 in adipose tissue function. Although the mechanisms underpinning metabolic disorders remain poorly defined, the pathophysiology of obesity-induced metabolic diseases has been strongly related to white adipose tissue dysfunction through several mechanisms such as fibrosis, apoptosis and inflammation. Therefore, the aim of this study is to investigate the role of B12 inflammation in human adipocytes.

Human pre-adipocytes cell line (Chub-S7) and primary adipocytes were obtained from lean, obese and morbid obese patients, grown to confluence, differentiated for one week, maintained in nutrition media for next 7 days (day 14) and then used for further experimental analysis. In order to analyse B12 deficiency effects, customized media with different concentrations of B12 (25pM, 100pM, 1nM, 500nM) were used. Gene expression was performed by q-RTPCR

Chub-S7 and primary adipocytes cultured in low vitamin B12 conditions showed significantly increased gene expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as interleukin-1 (IL-1) interleukin-6 (IL-6), interleukin-8 (IL-8), interleukin-18 (IL-18), transforming growth factor beta (TGF- β), tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α), monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1/CCL2). Our data highlights that low B12 in adipocytes induces higher gene expression and secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines, which might lead to adipocyte dysfunction. This link between vitamin B12 deficiency and metabolic inflammation opens new insights into the pathogenesis of maternal obesity and the relevance of micronutrient supplementation for pregnant mothers.

VitaminB12 deficiency leads to adipocyte dysfunction by decreasing fatty-acid oxidation: a new protagonist in metabolic disease?

J. Samavat¹, A. Adaikalakoteswari^{1, 2}, J. Boachie¹ M. Christian¹ and P. Saravanan^{1,3}

¹Division of Metabolic and Vascular Health, Clinical Sciences Research Laboratories, Warwick Medical School, University of Warwick, Coventry CV2 2DX, United Kingdom

²Interdisciplinary Science and Technology Centre, School of Science and Technology, Nottingham Trent University, Clifton, Nottingham NG11 8NS, United Kingdom

³Diabetes Centre, George Eliot Hospital NHS Trust College Street, Nuneaton, Warwickshire, United Kingdom, CV10 7DJ

Vitamin B12 (B12) is an essential micronutrient required several metabolic reactions. Longitudinal studies and animal models showed that pregnancy B12 deficiency is associated with the maternal obesity, development of insulin resistance and metabolic syndrome phenotype. Although the mechanisms underpinning metabolic disorders remain poorly defined, it has become increasingly clear that dysregulation of lipids is associated with obesity and its comorbidities. Therefore, the aim of this study is to investigate the role of B12 in lipid metabolism in human adipocytes. Human preadipocytes cell line (Chub-S7) were grown to confluence (day 0), differentiated for one week, maintained in nutrition media for next7 days (day 14) and harvested for RNA analysis. In order to analyse B12 deficiency effects, customized media with different concentrations of B12 (25pM, 100pM, 1nM,500nM) were used. Gene expression was performed by q-RTPCR and in order to Measure real-time fatty acid oxidation Seahorse XF Analyzer was conducted. Adipocytes cultured in low B12 conditions showed significantly decreased expression of genes involved in ß-oxidation such as Fatty acid traslocase (FAT/CD36), Carnitine palmitoyltransferase I (CPT1-B), Acyl-CoA Dehydrogenase Long Chain (ACADL), Enoyl-CoA Hydratase Short Chain 1(ECHS1) and Acetyl-CoA Acyltransferase 2 (ACAA2). In addition, we also observed that real-time fatty acid oxidation induced by palmitate was significantly decreased in B12 deficient cells. Our data highlights that low B12 cause a decrease of fatty acid metabolism, which might lead to adipocyte dysfunction and suggest a possible role of B12 deficiency into metabolic disorders.

Expressions of Transcobalamin receptor CD32O and transporter TCN2 in low vitaminB12 treated human adipocytes

J. Samavat¹ A.Adaikalakoteswari¹, J. Boachie¹, I. Goljan², P.Saravanan^{1,2}

1Division of Metabolic and Vascular Health, Clinical Sciences Research Laboratories, Warwick Medical School, University of Warwick, Coventry CV2 2DX, United Kingdom.

2 Academic Department of Diabetes, Endocrinology and Metabolism, George Eliot Hospital, Nuneaton CV10 7DJ, United Kingdom.

Background: Vitamin B12 (cobalamin) is an essential micronutrient in humans. Cellular uptake of B12 is facilitated by a complex process involving transcobalamin, a plasma protein and a cell surface receptor that specifically binds transcobalamin saturated with cobalamin. Earlier clinical studies and animal models showed that low maternal B12 deficiency is associated with maternal obesity, development of insulin resistance and metabolic syndrome, suggesting the crucial roleof B12 inadipose tissue function. Although several studies explored the expression of cellular B12receptor (CD320) and transporters (TCN2) that may regulate cellular uptake and storage of cobalamin in several tissues like placenta, liver and brain, no study have been conducted on adipocytes so far. Therefore the aim of this study is to investigate the expression of cobalamin receptor and transporter and intracellular B12 levels in human adipocyte

Methods: Human pre-adipocyte cell line (Chubs S7), and human primary pre-adipocytes were grown to confluence (day 0), differentiated in differentiation media for one week and maintained in nutrition media for a further7 days (day 14). In order to analyse B12 deficiency effects, customized media withdifferent concentrations ofB12(0pM, 25pM, 100pM, 1nM, 10nM, 100nM, 500nM) wereusedat all stages. On day 14, condition media were collected, cells were harvested for RNA analysis and stored at -80°C until use. Intracellular B12 concentration and their corresponding conditioned media were determined by electrochemiluminescent immunoassay using a Roche Cobas immunoassay analyzer (Roche Diagnostics UK, Burgess Hill, UK). Gene expression was performed by RT-PCR. Results: Intracellular levels of B12 in adipocytes cultured in low B12 (25pM and 100pM) showed 300-500% higher concentrations of B12 compared to the condition media. However, increasing concentrations of B12 in the condition media to 1nM, 10nM, 100nM and 500nM resulted in progressive reduction incellular uptake of B12 to 9.1%, 3.9%, 1.6% and 1.3%, respectively. However, the intracellular levels are still higher than the normal physiological levels seen in humans. We also observed there was a significant increase in the gene expression of B12 transporter transcobalamin II (TCN2) and transcobalamin receptor (TCblR) (CD320) in adipocytes under each B12 condition.

Conclusion:Our study thus provides novel evidence that when extracellular B12 levels are low (0-100pM), the intracellular B12 levels and the gene expression of receptor and transporter are higher, whereas opposite effects are seen at higher extracellular B12 levels (1-500nM). This suggests active transport of B12 in adipocytes at low concentrations. In

addition, there might be a threshold for the B12 entry at the membrane levelinhigher concentrations of B12. Our findings support that optimal physiological levels of B12 is required. Further studies are required to assess whether the effects of non-physiological concentrations of B12 (low or high)result in adipocyte dysfunction.

Vitamin B12 Deficiency Leads To Dysregulation of Fatty Acid Metabolism in Human Adipocytes and Maternal Subcutaneous and Omental Adipose Tissue

<u>Samavat J.</u>, Adaikalakoteswari A.^{1, 2}, Boachie J.,Jackish L.¹, McTernan P.G. ²,Christian M. Saravanan P. ^{1,3}

¹Division of Metabolic and Vascular Health, Clinical Sciences Research Laboratories, Warwick Medical School, University of Warwick, Coventry CV2 2DX, United Kingdom

²Department of Biosciences, School of Science and Technology, Nottingham Trent University, Clifton, Nottingham, NG11 8NS, UK.

³Diabetes Centre, George Eliot Hospital NHS Trust College Street, Nuneaton, Warwickshire, United Kingdom, CV10 7DJ

Background: Vitamin B12 (B12) is an essential micronutrient required for two key metabolic reactions.Longitudinal studies showed that B12 deficiency during pregnancy is associated with maternal obesityand metabolic syndrome phenotype. Although the mechanisms underpinning metabolic disorders remain poorly defined, it has become increasingly clear that dysregulation of lipids is associated with obesity and its comorbidities.Therefore, we investigated the role B12 deficiency in lipid metabolism in human adipocytes (and maternal Subcutaneous(Sc) and Omental(Om) adipose tissue(AT).

Methods: AbdSc pre-adipocytes cell line (Chub-S7) and human AbdSc primary preadipocyte cells were differentiated under different B12 concentrations (25pM,100pM,1nM,500nM) to assess B12 deficiency effects. Human Om, Sc ATand blood samples were also collected from 106 white pregnant women at delivery. Serum B12 as well as relevant metabolic risk factors were measured. Gene expression was performed by q-RTPCR, de novo triglycerides synthesis was quantified using radioactive tracing technique by incorporation of ¹⁴C-oleate and β-oxidation and palmitate-induced oxygen consumption rate(OCR) was determined using seahorse XF analyser.

Results: Adipocytes cultured in low B12 condition showed significantly increased expression of genes involved in triglyceride biosynthesis (P<0.01) such as elongation of very long chain fatty acids protein 6(ELOVL6), stearoyl-CoA desaturase(SCD), glycerol-3-phosphate acyltransferases(GPAT), phosphatidate phosphatase(LPIN1), diacylglycerol O-acyltransferase 2 (DGAT2) and a significantly decreased expression of genes involved in β-oxidation (P<0.01) such as fatty acid translocase(FAT/CD36), carnitine palmitoyltransferase I(CPT1-β), acyl-CoA dehydrogenase long chain(ACADL), enoyl-CoA hydratase short chain 1(ECHS1) and acetyl-CoA acyltransferase 2(ACAA2). These data were also confirmed in the Sc and Om AT from pregnant women with B12 deficiency. We also observed the real-time fatty acid flux synthesis and fatty acid oxidation induced by palmitate was significantly altered in B12 deficient adipocytes.

Conclusion: Our data highlights that low B12 induces a dysregulation of fatty acid metabolism, which might lead to adipocyte dysfunction and suggest a possible role of B12 deficiency in metabolic disorders.

The Role of Vitamin B12 Deficiency on Lipid Handling by Adipocytes: a new protagonist in metabolic disease?

J. Samavat¹, A. Adaikalakoteswari^{1, 2}, J. Boachie¹, L Jackish¹, P.G. McTernan², Christian M. P. Saravanan^{1,3}

¹Division of Metabolic and Vascular Health, Clinical Sciences Research Laboratories, Warwick Medical School, University of Warwick, Coventry CV2 2DX, United Kingdom

²Department of Biosciences, School of Science and Technology, Nottingham Trent University, Clifton, Nottingham, NG11 8NS, UK.

³Diabetes Centre, George Eliot Hospital NHS Trust College Street, Nuneaton, Warwickshire, United Kingdom, CV10 7DJ

Vitamin B12 (B12) is an essential micronutrient required for several metabolic reactions. Longitudinal studies and animal models showed that B12 deficiency during pregnancy is associated with maternal obesity, development of insulin resistance and metabolic syndrome phenotype. Although the mechanisms underpinning metabolic disorders remain poorly defined, it has become increasingly clear that dysregulation of lipids is associated with obesity and its comorbidities. Therefore, the aim of this study is to investigate the role of B12 deficiency in lipid metabolism arising from human abdominal subcutaneous adipocytes (AbdSc Ad) and Omental (Om) adipose tissue (AT). An AbdSc pre-adipocytes cell line (Chub-S7) and human AbdSc primary pre-adipocyte cells (lean, overweight, obese and morbid obese) were differentiated under low and high B12 concentrations (25pM, 100pM, 1nM, 500nM) to assess B12 deficiency effects. Human Abd Om AT and blood samples were also collected from 106 white pregnant women at delivery. Abd Sc was also assessed. Serum B12 as well as the relevant metabolic risk factors were measured. In vitro and ex vivo analysis of differentiated AbdSc Ad and OmAT respectively was performed for q-RTPCR, triglycerides synthesis quantified using radioactive tracing (¹⁴C-oleate), whilst ß-oxidation and palmitate-induced oxygen consumption rate (OCR) was determined using seahorse XF analyser. Adipocytes cultured in low B12 condition showed significantly increased expression of genes (P<0.05) involved in triglyceride biosynthesis such as elongation of very long chain fatty acids protein 6(ELOVL6), stearoyl-CoA desaturase (SCD), glycerol-3-phosphate acyltransferases (GPAT), phosphatidate phosphatase (LPIN1), diacylglycerol Oacyltransferase 2 (DGAT2) and a significantly decreased expression of genes (P<0.05) involved in B-oxidation such as fatty acid translocase (FAT/CD36), carnitine palmitoyltransferase I (CPT1-B), acyl-CoA dehydrogenase long chain (ACADL), enoyl-CoA hydratase short chain 1(ECHS1) and acetyl-CoA acyltransferase 2 (ACAA2). These data were also confirmed in the AT tissue from pregnant women with B12 deficiency. In addition, we also observed the real-time fatty acid flux synthesis and fatty acid oxidation induced by palmitate was significantly altered in B12 deficient adipocytes.

Our data highlights that low B12 cause a dysregulation of fatty acid metabolism, which might lead to adipocyte dysfunction and suggest a possible role of B12 deficiency in metabolic disorders.

Vitamin B12 Deficiency Triggers Adiposcyte Dysfunction by Enhancing Triglyceride Biosynthesis And Pro-inflammatory Cytokine Production: A New Agonist In Metabolic Disease?

Jinous Samavat, A Adaikalakoteswari, J Boachie, Christian M., P Saravanan

1Division of Metabolic and Vascular Health, Clinical Sciences Research Laboratories, Warwick Medical School, University of Warwick, University Hospital-Walsgrave Campus, Coventry CV2 2DX, United Kingdom

Background: Vitamin B12 (B12) is an essential micronutrient required for optimal hematopoietic, neurologic and other several metabolic reactions. Longitudinal studies and animal models showed that low maternal vitaminB12 deficiency is associated with the maternal obesity, development of insulin resistance and metabolic syndrome phenotype. Although the mechanisms underpinning metabolic disorders remain poorly defined, it has become increasingly clear that dysregulation of lipids and metabolic inflammation is associated with obesity and its comorbidities. Therefore, the aim of this study is to investigate the role of B12 in lipid regulation and inflammation in human adipocytes. Methods: Human preadipocytes cell line (Chubs S7) and human primary preadipocytes were grown to confluence (day 0), differentiated in differentiation media for one week and maintained in nutrition media for next 7 days (day 14). In order to analyse B12 deficiency effects, customized media with different concentrations of B12 (25pM/L 100pM/L, 1nM/L, 500nM/L) were used. On day 14, the condition media were collected and the cells were harvested for RNA and protein analysis and stored at -80°C until use. Cellular triglycerides (TG) synthesis was quantified using radioactive tracing technique by incorporation of 14C-oleate. Results: Adipocytes cultured in low vitaminB12 conditions showed a significant increased expression of genes involved in triglyceride synthesis such as Elongation Of Very Long Chain Fatty Acids Protein 6 (ELOLV6), Stearoyl-CoA Desaturase (SCD), Glycerol-3-phosphate acyltransferases (GPAT), acylglycerol phosphate acyltransferase (AGPAT), phosphatidate phosphatase (LIPIN1) and Diacylglycerol O-Acyltransferase 2 (DGAT2). Also the expression of Fatty acid binding protein (FABP4), a key adipogenic gene that regulates lipid trafficking and is responsible for the formation of mature adipocytes resulted significantly increased in low B12 treated adipocytes. Cellular uptake of radio-labelled fatty acid (¹⁴C-oleate) for de novo TG biosynthesis assessed by scintillation was significantly higher in low B12 condition. In addition, we also observed that the gene expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as interleukin-6 (IL-6), interleukin-8 (IL-8), interleukin-18 (IL-18), transforming growth factor beta (TGF-β), Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1/CCL2) and were significantly increased. We analysed the levels of interleukin-1 beta (IL-1) in the condition media using the enzyme-linked immunoassorbent assay (ELISA) as well and an interesting significant increase expression of this cytokine was observed. **Conclusion:** Our data highlights that low B12 induces excess triglycerides biosynthesis and high gene expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines which might lead to adipocyte dysfunction. This link between vitamin B12 deficiency and metabolic inflammation opens new insights into the pathogenesis of maternal obesity and the relevance of micronutrient supplementation for pregnant mothers.